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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

OTTAWA, Thursday, September 7, 2006
(17)

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 9:05 a.m., in room 2, Victoria Building, the
Chair, the Honourable Donald H. Oliver, Chair, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Campbell, Cools, Day, Fraser, Lebreton, P.C., Mercer, Milne,
Oliver, Segal, Stratton, and Zimmer (11).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Comeau (1).

In attendance:Kristen Douglas and Sebastian Spano, Analysts,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, June 27, 2006, the committee continued its
consideration of Bill C-2, providing for conflict of interest rules,
restrictions on election financing and measures respecting
administrative transparency, oversight and accountability. (For
complete text of Order of Reference, see proceedings of the
committee, Issue No. 3.)

WITNESSES:

Conservative Party of Canada:

Michael D. Donison, Executive Director.

Liberal Party of Canada:

Steven MacKinnon, National Director.

Bloc Québécois:

Gilbert Gardner, General Director;

Martin Carpentier, Organization Director.

The Chair made an opening statement.

Mr. Donison made a statement and answered questions.

At 10:00 a.m., the committee suspended.

At 10:15 a.m., the committee resumed.

The Chair made a statement.

Mr. MacKinnon made a statement and answered questions.

At 11:22 a.m., the committee suspended.

At 11:26 a.m., the committee resumed.

The Chair made a statement.

Mr. Gardner made a statement and, with Mr. Carpentier,
answered questions.

At 11:55 a.m. the committee suspended.

At 11:59 a.m., the committee resumed.

PROCÈS-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le jeudi 7 septembre 2006
(17)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui, à 9 h 5, dans la salle 2 de
l’édifice Victoria, sous la présidence de l’honorable Donald H.
Oliver (président).

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs
Campbell, Cools, Day, Fraser, Lebreton, C.P., Mercer, Milne,
Oliver, Segal, Stratton et Zimmer (11).

Autre sénateur présent: L’honorable sénateur Comeau (1).

Également présents: De la Bibliothèque du Parlement: Kristen
Douglas et Sebastian Spano, analystes.

Aussi présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément à l’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
27 juin 2006, le comité poursuit son examen du projet de
loi C-2, Loi prévoyant des règles sur les conflits d’intérêts et des
restrictions en matière de financement électoral, ainsi que des
mesures en matière de transparence administrative, de supervision
et de responsabilisation. (Le texte complet de l’ordre de renvoi
figure au fascicule no 3 des délibérations du comité.)

TÉMOINS:

Parti conservateur du Canada:

Michael D. Donison, directeur exécutif.

Parti libéral du Canada:

Steven MacKinnon, directeur national.

Bloc québécois:

Gilbert Gardner, directeur général;

Martin Carpentier, directeur de l’organisation.

Le président fait une déclaration d’ouverture.

M. Donison fait une déclaration puis répond aux questions.

À 10 heures, la séance est interrompue.

À 10 h 15, la séance reprend.

Le président fait une déclaration.

M. MacKinnon fait une déclaration puis répond aux questions.

À 11 h 22, la séance est interrompue.

À 11 h 26, la séance reprend.

Le président fait une déclaration.

M. Gardner fait une déclaration puis, aidé de M. Carpentier,
répond aux questions.

À 11 h 55, la séance est interrompue.

À 11 h 59, la séance reprend.
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It was agreed that, because of technical difficulties,
Mr. Gardner and Mr. Carpentier resume their testimony at the
committee’s next meeting.

At 12:00 p.m, the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Thursday, September 7, 2006
(18)

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 1:04 p.m., in room 2, Victoria Building, the
Chair, the Honourable Donald H. Oliver, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Campbell, Day, Joyal, P.C., Losier-Cool, Milne, Oliver, Stratton
and Zimmer (8).

In attendance:Kristen Douglas and Sebastian Spano, Analysts,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, June 27, 2006, the committee continued its
consideration of Bill C-2, providing for conflict of interest rules,
restrictions on election financing and measures respecting
administrative transparency, oversight and accountability. (For
complete text of Order of Reference, see proceedings of the
committee, Issue No. 3.)

WITNESSES:

Bloc Québécois:

Gilbert Gardner, General Director;

Martin Carpentier, Organization Director.

Green Party of Canada:

Jean Langlois, Executive Director.

Animal Alliance Environment Voters Party of Canada:

Stephen Best, Director.

Canadian Action Party:

Will Arlow, Representative.

Christian Heritage Party of Canada:

Ron Gray, Leader.

Libertarian Party of Canada:

Jean-Serge Brisson, Leader.

Marxist-Leninist Party of Canada:

Anna Dicarlo, Secretary of Democratic Renewal.

Communist Party of Canada:

Marvin Glass, Representative.

Il est convenu qu’en raison de difficultés techniques,
MM. Gardner et Carpentier poursuivront leur témoignage à la
prochaine séance du comité.

À 12 heures, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’à nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTÉ:

OTTAWA, le jeudi 7 septembre 2006
(18)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui à 13 h 4 dans la pièce 2 de
l’édifice Victoria, sous la présidence de l’honorable Donald H.
Oliver (président).

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs
Campbell, Day, Joyal, C.P., Losier-Cool, Milne, Oliver,
Stratton et Zimmer (8).

Sont présents: Kristen Douglas et Sebastian Spano, analystes,
Bibliothèque du Parlement.

Sont également présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément à l’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mardi 27 juin 2006, le comité poursuit l’examen du projet de
loi C-2, Loi prévoyant des règles sur les conflits d’intérêts et des
restrictions en matière de financement électoral, ainsi que des
mesures en matière de transparence administrative, de supervision
et de responsabilisation. (Le texte intégral de l’ordre de renvoi
figure dans le fascicule no 3 des délibérations du comité.)

TÉMOINS:

Bloc québécois:

Gilbert Gardner, directeur général;

Martin Carpentier, directeur de l’organisation.

Parti Vert du Canada:

Jean Langlois, directeur exécutif.

Animal Alliance Environment Voters Party of Canada:

Stephen Best, directeur.

Parti Action Canadienne:

Will Arlow, représentant.

Parti de l’Héritage Chrétien du Canada:

Ron Gray, chef.

Parti Libertarien du Canada:

Jean-Serge Brisson, chef.

Parti marxiste-léniniste du Canada:

Anna Dicarlo, secrétaire du renouveau démocratique.

Parti communiste du Canada:

Marvin Glass, représentant.
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Mr. Gardner and Mr. Carpentier answered questions.

At 1:12 p.m., the committee suspended.

At 1:20 p.m., the committee resumed.

The Chair made a statement.

Mr. Best, Mr. Langlois and Mr. Arlow each made statements
and answered questions.

At 2:55 p.m., the committee suspended.

At 3:15 p.m., the committee resumed.

The Chair made a statement.

Mr. Gray, Mr. Brisson, Ms. Dicarlo and Mr. Glass each made
statements and answered questions.

At 5:10 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

ATTEST:

Gérald Lafrenière

Clerk of the Committee

OTTAWA, Friday, September 8, 2006
(19)

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 9:05 a.m., in room 2, Victoria Building, the
Chair, the Honourable Donald H. Oliver, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Baker, P.C., Campbell, Chaput, Cools, Day, Hays, Joyal, P.C.,
Milne, Oliver, Segal, Stratton, and Zimmer (12).

In attendance:Kristen Douglas and Sebastian Spano, Analysts,
Library of Parliament; Gérald Lafrenière, Clerk of the
Committee.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, June 27, 2006, the committee continued its
consideration of Bill C-2, providing for conflict of interest rules,
restrictions on election financing and measures respecting
administrative transparency, oversight and accountability. (For
complete text of Order of Reference, see proceedings of the
committee, Issue No. 3.)

WITNESSES:

As an individual:

Pierre F. Côté;

Aaron Freeman, Professor, University of Ottawa, Faculty of
Law.

The Chair made an opening statement.

MM. Gardner et Carpentier répondent aux questions.

À 13 h 12, la séance est suspendue.

À 13 h 20, la séance reprend.

Le président fait une déclaration.

MM. Best, Langlois et Arlow font chacun une déclaration et
répondent aux questions.

À 14 h 55, la séance est suspendue.

À 15 h 15, la séance reprend.

Le président fait une déclaration.

MM. Gray et Brisson, Mme Dicarlo et M. Glass font chacun
une déclaration et répondent aux questions.

À 17 h 10, le comité s’ajourne jusqu’à nouvelle convocation de
la présidence.

ATTESTÉ:

Le greffier du comité,

OTTAWA, le vendredi 8 septembre 2006
(19)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui à 9 h 5 dans la pièce 2 de
l’édifice Victoria, sous la présidence de l’honorable
Donald H. Oliver (président).

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs Baker,
C.P., Campbell, Chaput, Cools, Day, Hays, Joyal, C.P., Milne,
Oliver, Segal, Stratton et Zimmer (12).

Sont présents: Kristen Douglas et Sebastian Spano, analystes,
Bibliothèque du Parlement.

Sont également présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément à l’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
27 juin 2006, le comité poursuit l’examen du projet de loi C-2, Loi
prévoyant des règles sur les conflits d’intérêts et des restrictions en
sa matière de financement électoral, ainsi que des mesures en
matière de transparence administrative, de supervision et
responsabilisation. (Le texte intégral de l’ordre de renvoi qui
figure dans le fascicule no 3 des délibérations du comité.)

TÉMOINS:

À titre personnel:

Pierre F. Côté;

Aaron Freeman, professeur, Université d’Ottawa, Faculté de
droit.

Le président faite une déclaration.
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Mr. Côté and Mr. Freeman made statements and answered
questions.

At 11:24 a.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

ATTEST:

Till Heyde

Acting Clerk of the Committee

MM. Côté et Freeman font chacun une déclaration et
répondent aux questions.

À 11 h 24, le comité s’ajourne jusqu’à nouvelle convocation de
la présidence.

ATTESTÉ:

Le greffier intérimaire du comité,
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EVIDENCE

OTTAWA, Thursday, September 7, 2006

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs, to which was referred Bill C-2, providing for conflict of
interest rules, restrictions on election financing and measures
respecting administrative transparency, oversight and
accountability, met this day at 9:05 a.m. to give consideration
to the bill.

Senator Donald H. Oliver (Chairman) in the chair.

[English]

The Chairman: Honourable senators, I wish to call this meeting
of the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs to order. Today, we are studying Bill C-2, providing for
conflict of interest rules, restrictions on election financing, and
measures respecting administrative transparency, oversight and
accountability. The bill is more commonly known as the proposed
federal accountability act. As senators, our witnesses and
members of the public, both here in this room and those
Canadians watching these proceedings on television, know, this
bill reflects a central portion of the new government’s agenda and
is one of the most significant pieces of legislation brought before
Parliament in recent years.

I know that the committee will give the bill the extensive,
careful and detailed study it deserves. The hearings commenced in
June and this week the committee is focusing on more precise
aspects of this bill. Subjects that will be covered this week will be
accountability generally, ethics, and conflict of interest and
political financing. In particular, we are hearing today from
different political parties. Our hearings will then continue in the
next few weeks on other important aspects of this bill.

Our first witness today is Mr. Michael D. Donison, of the
Conservative Party of Canada.

[Translation]

On behalf of the committee I want to thank you for joining us.
Without further ado, I would like to turn the floor over to you.
After that, we will go to questions and have a discussion, which
should prove very beneficial to committee members.

[English]

Before you begin, I will remind honourable senators that
today, unlike other days, we have one hour for each witness.
When it does come to question period, please keep that in mind so
all honourable senators will have a chance to pose questions to
our witnesses.

Welcome. You now have the floor.

TÉMOIGNAGES

OTTAWA, le jeudi 7 septembre 2006

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles, auquel a été renvoyé le projet de loi C-2, Loi
prévoyant des règles sur les conflits d’intérêts et des restrictions en
matière de financement électoral, ainsi que des mesures en matière
de transparence administrative, de supervision et de
responsabilisation, se réunit aujourd’hui à 9 h 05 pour examiner
le projet de loi.

Le sénateur Donald H. Oliver (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président:Mesdames et messieurs les sénateurs, la séance du
Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles est ouverte. Nous examinons aujourd’hui le
projet de loi C-2, Loi prévoyant des règles sur les conflits
d’intérêts et des restrictions en matière de financement électoral,
ainsi que des mesures en matière de transparence administrative,
de supervision et de responsabilisation. Le projet de loi est mieux
connu sous le nom de loi fédérale sur la responsabilité. Comme le
savent les honorables sénateurs, nos témoins, les membres du
public ici présents et les Canadiens qui nous regardent à la
télévision, ce projet de loi est un élément central du programme du
nouveau gouvernement et l’une des plus importantes mesures
législatives dont le Parlement ait été saisi au cours des dernières
années.

Je sais que le comité va consacrer à ce projet de loi l’examen
approfondi et minutieux qu’il mérite. Les audiences ont débuté en
juin dernier et, cette semaine, le comité se penche sur des aspects
plus précis du projet de loi. Il examinera notamment la
responsabilité dans son ensemble, l’éthique, les conflits
d’intérêts et le financement politique. Nous entendrons
aujourd’hui des représentants de divers partis politiques. Nos
audiences se poursuivront au cours des prochaines semaines et
porteront sur d’autres aspects importants du projet de loi.

Aujourd’hui, notre premier témoin est M. Michael D.
Donison, du Parti conservateur du Canada.

[Français]

Le comité tient à vous remercier de votre présence. Sans plus
tarder, je vous cède la parole, après quoi nous passerons à la
période des questions et aux discussions qui, j’en suis sûr, seront
très utiles pour les membres du comité.

[Traduction]

Avant de vous céder la parole, j’aimerais rappeler aux
honorables sénateurs que, contrairement aux autres jours, nous
avons une heure pour chaque témoin. Je vous prie de vous en
rappeler lorsque viendra la période de questions, afin que tous les
sénateurs aient une chance de poser des questions à nos témoins.

Bienvenue. Vous avez maintenant la parole.
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Michael D. Donison, Executive Director, Conservative Party of
Canada: I have distributed to all members of the committee, in
both official languages, the text of my remarks. I will make a few
introductory remarks and then I will answer questions.

Thank you, honourable senators, for your invitation for me to
be here today with you. I was remarking to one of my staff that
this is the first time I have ever had the opportunity to appear
before a Senate committee. Therefore, I consider it a privilege to
be able to meet with you.

I should like to extend thanks on behalf of the Conservative
Party of Canada to the chair, as the bill’s sponsor, and to the bill’s
critic, Senator Day, for the excellent work that your committee
has been doing.

This committee has a mandate to examine legislation and
matters relating to legal and constitutional affairs generally,
including such things as federal-provincial relations, the judiciary
and the administration of justice and law reform. That is in part
why I am here today, because the bill deals with legal electoral
reform. I am here to address those provisions of Bill C-2 that deal
specifically with Canada’s electoral process and the proposed
amendments to the Canada Elections Act that relate to the reform
of the financing of Canada’s political parties.

Bill C-2 introduces two basic electoral reforms: First, changes
in contribution limits to political parties, as well as to candidates,
nomination contestants, electoral district associations of political
parties and leadership contestants of those parties; and, second, a
long overdue change in the method of the appointment of
returning officers. I am specifically referencing in a substantive
sense, for reference of honourable senators, the main substantive
provisions that are referable here, namely, clause 45 of the bill.
That is found at page 58 of the bill that is now before you. That
clause specifically proposes to amend section 401.(1) of the
Canada Elections Act in regard to limits of contributions.
I reference now clause 174 of the bill, on page 128 of the bill
before you, which proposes to amend subsection 24.(1) of the act,
dealing with the appointment power of returning officers.

The Canada Elections Act governs campaign donations and
the financing of political parties and candidates. The act ensures
transparency and regulates the financial operations of political
parties. As all honourable senators are aware, Bill C-2 limits
contributions by individuals to registered political parties to
$1,000 per calendar year. It lowers, from $5,000 to $1,000, the
annual limit on contributions that an individual can make to
particular entities of the same political party. I am talking about
candidates, nomination contestants and electoral district
associations as defined in the statute. The actual reduction in
contribution limits is not going from $5,000 to $1,000 for
individuals but from $5,000 to $2,000.

Bill C-2 also lowers, from $5,000 to $1,000, a separate pocket
which is for contributions that an individual can make to
leadership contestants of a particular political party during a
year that that particular party is conducting a leadership contest.

Michael D. Donison, directeur exécutif, Parti conservateur du
Canada: J’ai distribué à tous les membres du comité le texte de
mon allocution, dans les deux langues officielles. Ma déclaration
préliminaire sera brève, et je répondrai ensuite aux questions.

Merci aux honorables sénateurs de m’avoir invité ici
aujourd’hui. Comme je le faisais remarquer à un membre de
mon personnel, c’est la première fois que j’ai l’occasion de
témoigner devant un comité sénatorial et je considère qu’il s’agit
d’un privilège.

Je tiens également à remercier, au nom du Parti conservateur
du Canada, le président du comité, qui est le parrain du projet de
loi, de même que le critique du projet de loi, le sénateur Day, pour
l’excellent travail que votre comité a réalisé.

Votre comité est chargé d’examiner la législation et des
questions d’ordre général liées aux affaires juridiques
et constitutionnelles, notamment les relations fédérales-
provinciales, l’appareil judiciaire et l’administration de la
réforme de la justice et du droit, ce qui explique, en partie,
pourquoi je suis ici aujourd’hui, puisque le projet de loi C-2 traite
de la réforme électorale. Je suis donc ici pour parler des
dispositions de ce projet de loi qui portent précisément sur le
processus électoral au Canada et des modifications proposées à la
Loi électorale du Canada ayant trait à la réforme du financement
des partis politiques du Canada.

Les deux principales réformes électorales proposées dans le
projet de loi C-2 sont les suivantes: premièrement, des
changements aux limites des contributions pouvant être versées
aux partis politiques et aux candidats, aux candidats à
l’investiture, aux associations de circonscription et aux
candidats à la direction; deuxièmement, des changements, requis
depuis longtemps, au processus de nomination des directeurs de
scrutin. Je fais donc expressément référence à l’article 45 du projet
de loi, auquel je renvoie les honorables sénateurs. Cet article se
trouve à la page 58 du projet de loi faisant l’objet de votre étude et
vise précisément à modifier le paragraphe 401(1) de la Loi
électorale du Canada portant sur les limites des contributions.
Je fais aussi référence à l’article 174 du projet de loi, à la
page 128, qui propose de modifier le paragraphe 24(1) de la loi,
portant sur la nomination des directeurs de scrutin.

La Loi électorale du Canada régit les contributions aux
campagnes électorales et le financement des partis politiques et
des candidats. Elle assure la transparence et réglemente les activités
financières des partis politiques. Comme tous les sénateurs le
savent, le projet de loi C-2 limite à 1 000 $ les contributions que
peut verser annuellement un particulier à un parti politique
enregistré. Il réduit — de 5 000 à 1 000 $ — la limite annuelle
des contributions qu’un particulier peut faire aux entités d’un
même parti politique. Il s’agit des candidats, des candidats à
l’investiture et des associations de circonscription, comme le précise
le texte législatif. La limite des contributions des particuliers ne
passe donc pas de 5 000 à 1 000 $, mais de 5 000 à 2 000 $.

En outre, le projet de loi C-2 réduit— de 5 000 à 1 000 $— les
contributions qu’un particulier peut verser aux candidats à la
direction d’un parti durant une année où ce parti lance une course
à la direction.
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This bill also establishes provisions to terminate all
contributions from corporations, unions or unincorporated
associations. In essence, honourable senators, individual
Canadian citizens or landed immigrants will now be the only
legal persons, as lawyers say, that can make political
contributions. That is as it should be. For instance, in the
United States, in France, and in the provinces of Quebec and
Manitoba, they have already banned corporate donations to
political parties. Bill C-2 will extend this practice to our country
for federal political activity.

The intention of these provisions is to ensure that money —
that is, campaign contributions — does not have the ear of
government. It should be Canadians who have the ear of
government. These changes will level the playing field amongst
individual contributions and encourage political parties to engage
individual Canadians in the electorate more directly.

It is important to note that the vast and overwhelming majority
of all political contributions in this country come from individual
Canadians currently in amounts well under $1,000. Introducing
a $1,000 limit on contributions limits the capacity and even the
appearance of such capacity for interests or Canadians of
substantial financial means to be seen to or assert or extract
financial influence in our country’s electoral process.

No one could seriously argue that a contribution of $1,000 to a
political party or a candidate could even appear to give such a
contributor any unnecessary undue influence in the electoral
process. These limits rebuild public confidence and assure that
influence is seen not to be brought through large political
donations. That is how government earns the trust of Canadians.

The second major electoral reform that Bill C-2 would enact is
a long-overdue change in the appointment of returning officers.
Honourable senators, I would like to repeat what I said when I
appeared before the House of Commons committee on this bill.
The continuation of the practice in this country of having the
senior state official responsible for the conduct of a federal
election or by-election within an electoral district being a cabinet
appointee is simply unacceptable, in our view, in a modern
democratic electoral process. For some time, the Chief Electoral
Officer has been calling for the appointment power for returning
officers to be shifted from the political executive — that is, the
cabinet — to his office in his capacity as an independent officer of
Parliament.

I would make particular reference to the recommendations
of the current Chief Electoral Officer that he gave arising
from the 38th general election, entitled Completing the Cycle of
Electoral Reforms, which was reported to the Speaker of the
House of Commons pursuant to section 525 of the act,
September 29, 2005. If honourable senators will look at
pages 14 to 17 of that report they will see that Mr. Kingsley
recommended that the power to appoint returning officers under
the act be transferred from the Governor-in-Council to his office.

Ce projet de loi comporte également des dispositions visant à
éliminer toutes les contributions des entreprises, des syndicats et
des associations sans personnalité morale. Ainsi, mesdames et
messieurs les sénateurs, les seules personnes morales, comme les
appellent les avocats, pouvant verser des contributions aux partis
politiques seront les citoyens canadiens et les immigrants reçus,
comme cela devrait être le cas. Par exemple, les États-Unis, la
France et les provinces du Québec et du Manitoba interdisent
déjà les dons de sociétés aux partis politiques, et le projet de
loi C-2 permettra d’appliquer cette mesure au Canada, pour
l’activité politique fédérale.

L’intention de ces dispositions est de faire en sorte que l’argent
— les contributions aux campagnes électorales— n’influence pas
le gouvernement. Ce sont les Canadiens qui devraient jouer ce
rôle. Ces changements assureront des conditions équitables et
encourageront les partis politiques à s’adresser plus directement à
l’électorat.

Il importe de noter qu’une majorité écrasante de toutes les
contributions politiques au Canada sont faites par des particuliers
et sont bien inférieures à 1 000 $. En fixant un montant maximal
de 1 000 $, nous limitons la capacité, ou même l’apparence de
capacité, de certains intérêts ou de Canadiens ayant d’importants
moyens financiers d’exercer une influence financière sur le
processus électoral du pays.

Personne ne peut sérieusement soutenir qu’une contribution de
1 000 $ à un parti politique ou à un candidat pourrait donner
l’impression que le donateur exerce une influence indue sur le
processus électoral. Ces limites permettront de regagner la
confiance du public et assureront qu’il est impossible d’acheter
de l’influence par des dons importants. Voilà comment le
gouvernement gagne la confiance des Canadiens.

La deuxième réforme électorale majeure prévue par le projet de
loi C-2 est un changement, attendu depuis longtemps, au
processus de nomination des directions de scrutin. Mesdames et
messieurs les sénateurs, je répète ce que j’ai dit lorsque j’ai
témoigné devant le comité de la Chambre des communes chargé
d’étudier le projet de loi. Il est tout simplement inacceptable, dans
le cadre d’un processus électoral moderne et démocratique, que
les hauts fonctionnaires responsables de la conduite des élections
fédérales — générales ou partielles — soient nommés par le
Cabinet. Depuis un certain temps déjà, le directeur général des
élections demande que le pouvoir de nommer les directeurs de
scrutin soit retiré de l’exécutif politique— c’est-à-dire du Cabinet
— et soit conféré à son propre bureau, en sa capacité de haut
fonctionnaire indépendant du Parlement.

Je fais particulièrement référence aux recommandations faites
par le directeur général des élections à la suite des 38e élections
générales dans un document intitulé Parachever le cycle des
réformes électorales, soumis au Président de la Chambre des
communes en vertu de l’article 525 de la loi et daté du
29 septembre 2005. Aux pages 14 à 17 de ce rapport,
M. Kingsley recommande que le pouvoir de nomination des
directeurs de scrutin conféré par la loi soit transféré du bureau du
gouverneur en conseil à son propre bureau.
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I would further make reference to the 13th report of the
Standing Committee on Procedure and House Affairs of the
House of Commons dated June of this year, entitled Improving the
Integrity of the Electoral Process: Recommendations for
Legislative Change. This report was made by that committee
pursuant to House Standing Order 108(3)(a)(vi) and was that
committee’s direct response to the September 2000 report I just
referenced of the Chief Electoral Officer.

Honourable senators, in that report at page 4 it is clearly
indicated that a majority of the members of that House committee
basically agreed with this recommendation, i.e., that the
appointment of returning officers should be in the hands of the
impartial Chief Electoral Officer, not in the hands of the political
executive.

The Conservative Party is particularly pleased that the
government has chosen to propose, finally, this overdue reform
and incorporate it into Bill C-2.

To conclude, I am well aware of the tradition of collegiality
that exists among senators and Senate committees. I look forward
to hearing the insight and input of all honourable senators
regarding my remarks and the provisions of the bill.

Senator Stratton: I like your comment about collegiality. For
the most part it is collegial; the odd time we get into a little tussle.

My question has to do with the reasoning behind the reduction
of the limit from $5,000 to $1,000. The $1,000 limit does not seem
like a lot of money in today’s terms; the $5,000 is a much more
significant sum. Having been involved in fundraising before, I
know it is much easier to get a few $5,000 contributions than
many more $1,000 or less contributions. How will the reduction in
the limit from $5,000 to $1,000 affect your party? The principle
behind this is to expand the base of fundraising to the citizens of
Canada rather than the large donors. How will you pick up the
slack that you lose with the reduction of the $5,000 contribution?

Mr. Donison: There is no question that lowering these limits
will make the work of political parties and fundraising more
difficult. The bill is reflective of what I will call the new reality of
fundraising. This is the case in the United Kingdom, the United
States and across modern western democracies. The reality of
modern fundraising is its small donations from individual
Canadian citizens. Our party for some time has been working
hard, as are some of the other parties as well, and our emphasis
has been on enhancing and increasing that individual donor base,
but it continues to be a challenge.

In my role as executive director, there is nothing I like better
than to see those $5,000 cheques coming across party desks.
The rationale for the limit is that, for most working-class and
middle-class Canadians, anything over $1,000 is a great deal of
money. It is important to keep in mind that when individual
Canadians make contributions to political parties or candidates,
they are making them out of those hard-earned after-tax dollars.

Je cite également le 13e rapport du Comité permanent de la
procédure et des affaires de la Chambre, daté de juin 2006 et
intitulé Amé l iorer l’ intégrité du processus é lectoral:
Recommandations de modifications législatives. Ce rapport a été
préparé conformément au sous-alinéa 108(3)a)(vi) du Règlement
de la Chambre des communes, directement en réponse au rapport
du directeur général des élections de septembre 2005, dont je viens
de parler.

Mesdames et messieurs les sénateurs, il est clairement indiqué
dans ce rapport, à la page 4, qu’une majorité des membres de ce
comité de la Chambre appuie cette recommandation, à savoir que
la nomination des directeurs de scrutin doit être confiée au
directeur général des élections, qui est impartial, plutôt qu’à
l’exécutif politique.

Le Parti conservateur du Canada est ravi que le gouvernement
propose enfin cette réforme tant attendue et l’intègre au projet de
loi C-2.

Pour conclure, je suis bien conscient de la tradition de
collégialité qui existe parmi les sénateurs et au sein des comités
sénatoriaux. Je suis dans l’impatience de connaître le point de vue
des honorables sénateurs sur mes observations et les dispositions
du projet de loi.

Le sénateur Stratton: J’aime vos commentaires concernant la
collégialité. Nous agissons en collégialité la plupart du temps,
quoiqu’il nous arrive de nous disputer un peu.

Ma question a trait au raisonnement sous-jacent à la réduction
de la limite des contributions, qui passe de 5 000 à 1 000 $. Mille
dollars, cela ne semble pas beaucoup aujourd’hui,
comparativement à 5 000 $. Ayant déjà participé à des activités
de financement, je sais qu’il est beaucoup plus facile de recueillir
quelques contributions de 5 000 $ qu’un grand nombre de
contributions de 1 000 $ ou moins. Comment la réduction de
5 000 à 1 000 $ affectera-t-elle votre parti? Le principe sous-jacent
à cette réduction consiste à faire en sorte que les simples citoyens
contribuent davantage au financement que les grands donateurs.
Comment al lez-vous combler le manque à gagner
qu’occasionnera l’élimination des contributions de 5 000 $?

M. Donison: Il ne fait aucun doute que la réduction de ces
limites rendra le travail et le financement des partis politiques plus
difficiles. Le projet de loi est un reflet de ce que j’appelle la
nouvelle réalité du financement. C’est ce que l’on retrouve au
Royaume-Uni, aux États-Unis et dans l’ensemble des démocraties
occidentales modernes. Aujourd’hui, le financement consiste à
recueillir des contributions modestes auprès des citoyens
canadiens. Depuis un certain temps, notre parti s’est attelé à la
tâche, comme d’autres partis, et nous cherchons à augmenter le
nombre de donateurs, mais c’est toujours un défi.

En tant que directeur exécutif, il n’y a rien que j’aime le plus
que de voir ces chèques de 5 000 $ aboutir sur les bureaux du
parti. On veut limiter les contributions parce que, pour la plupart
des Canadiens de la classe ouvrière et de la classe moyenne, tout
ce qui dépasse 1 000 $ représente beaucoup d’argent. Il faut
garder à l’esprit que lorsque des particuliers versent des
contributions aux partis politiques ou aux candidats, ce sont des
dollars qu’ils ont durement gagnés et qui leur restent après impôt.
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Senators are familiar with what is called the political tax
credit, with which the bill does not deal. It currently allows up
to $1,275 per year for credit. Once you get beyond $1,000 for the
average Canadian, there is not even a tax benefit. Perception is
important in politics, and I feel concerned about, as someone who
calls himself a practitioner in politics, the fact that there is much
cynicism out there about the political process. The bill goes a long
way to speak to average working-class and middle-class
Canadians, because for most Canadians $5,000 in after-tax
dollars is an insurmountable figure. Reducing it to two
pockets — it is actually $2,000, two small manageable
$1,000 pockets — helps us in the perception department. In the
reality of modern political financing, that is where the 90 per cent
or more of the contributions are coming from anyway. We will
continue our efforts in that direction.

Senator Stratton: The other question I have is with regard to
the ongoing battle, of which you are well aware, between the
constituency associations and the national party. Constantly you
hear complaints from constituency associations that the national
party — it does not matter which party — takes the lion’s share
and the constituency associations are out in left field, as it were.
Do you think this bill will improve that situation or will we still
have the same problem? The smaller contributions would allow
for the local party associations to raise money more conveniently.
Or are we still in the same fight?

Mr. Donison: Senator, it will definitely help. This is an issue
across all parties. There is certainly a perception at the local
electoral district and candidate levels in all parties that the
national parties are treading in their waters, if you like. They are
getting donations and denying the flow to the local people.

As you know, currently there is one pocket. It is currently
$5,000, or $5,200 after adjusting for inflation, amongst the party
and all its emanations. There is built-in competition in the current
legislation. What we particularly like about this bill is that it
creates two pockets. There is a new, $1,000 national pocket and a
$1,000 local pocket. Once the $1,000 limit has been reached for
our party, our plans will be to notify a donor who tries to send us
more money and send it back, but encourage the donor to give it
to his or her local district association.

This will improve that situation and give more opportunity to
the local people to raise those small donations.

Senator Stratton: If they are not happy, can they always give
you a call?

Mr. Donison: They know where to reach me.

Senator Zimmer: We have had three eminent witnesses who
have come before us in the last several days: Professor Franks,
Professor Aucoin and Professor Pal. All three had individual
statements that I found interesting. I would like to lay out at this
time what they had said.

Les sénateurs connaissent bien ce qu’on appelle le crédit
d’impôt pour contributions politiques, qui n’est pas visé par le
projet de loi. À l’heure actuelle, on permet jusqu’à 1 275 $ par
année au titre de ce crédit. Pour le Canadien moyen, il n’y a même
pas d’avantage fiscal lorsque vous allez au-delà de 1 000 $. La
perception est importante en politique et, à titre de praticien dans
ce domaine, je m’inquiète du cynisme entourant le processus
politique. Le projet de loi s’adresse particulièrement aux
Canadiens de la classe ouvrière et de la classe moyenne parce
que, pour la plupart, 5 000 $ après impôt, c’est une somme
énorme. En limitant les contributions à deux enveloppes — il
s’agit en fait de 2 000 $ répartis en deux plus petites enveloppes de
1 000 $ — on contribue à donner une meilleure perception des
choses. Dans la réalité du financement politique moderne, c’est ce
qui constitue 90 p. 100 ou plus des contributions, de toute façon.
Nous poursuivrons nos efforts dans ce sens.

Le sénateur Stratton: Mon autre question porte sur la bataille
que se livrent les associations de circonscription et le parti
national, dont vous êtes bien au courant. Les associations de
circonscription se plaignent constamment que le parti national —
peu importe le parti — se garde la part du lion et que ces
associations sont laissées pour compte. Croyez-vous que ce projet
de loi permettra d’améliorer les choses ou que le problème va
perdurer? La limite des contributions étant réduite, ce sera plus
pratique pour les associations locales de recueillir des fonds. Ou
bien allons-nous nous livrer à la même bataille?

M. Donison: Sénateur, ce sera certainement plus facile. Ce
problème existe au sein de tous les partis. Les circonscriptions et
les candidats de toutes les allégeances ont certes l’impression que
les partis nationaux empiètent sur leur terrain, si vous voulez. Ces
derniers reçoivent des dons et refusent d’en faire profiter les
circonscriptions.

Comme vous le savez, il y a actuellement une seule
enveloppe. La limite actuelle est de 5 000 $, ou 5 200 $ après
inflation, pour l’ensemble du parti et toutes ses entités. La loi
actuelle favorise la concurrence. Le projet de loi crée deux
enveloppes, et c’est ce que nous aimons en particulier. Il y a une
nouvelle enveloppe nationale de 1 000 $ et une enveloppe locale
de 1 000 $ également. Lorsque la limite de 1 000 $ aura été
atteinte pour notre parti, nous allons en aviser le donateur qui
essaie de nous envoyer une somme supplémentaire et nous allons
la lui retourner, en l’encourageant toutefois à la donner à son
association de circonscription.

Cette façon de faire améliorera la situation et permettra aux
gens dans les régions de recueillir davantage de petites
contributions.

Le sénateur Stratton: S’ils ne sont pas satisfaits, peuvent-ils
toujours vous appeler?

M. Donison: Ils savent où me trouver.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Trois éminents témoins ont comparu
devant nous au cours des derniers jours: les professeurs Franks,
Aucoin et Pal. Tous les trois ont fait des déclarations que j’ai
trouvées intéressantes. J’aimerais en faire un résumé.
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One of them said the federal accountability act appears to
imply a deep mistrust. There are legitimate concerns that the plan
goes too far in the control, punishment and mistrust direction.

Another said the accountability act now before Parliament,
such as the changes to Canada Elections Act respecting campaign
contributions, have little or nothing to do with government
accountability.

The third one indicated that there is a distinct advantage for
the government in power to raise funds and, in his opinion, this
bill is politically motivated.

Do you have any comments?

Mr. Donison: Those eminent academics have their opinions.
First, on the issue of political motivation, I respectfully do not
agree with them. The purpose of the bill, as I said earlier, is to
reflect the new reality of financing for political parties across the
Western democracies and to ensure that the limits are such that
no one can reasonably say there is excess reliance on large
donations. With all due respect, I do not agree with their opinion
about political motivation.

Senator Zimmer: I thought that is what you would say. I would
like to discuss some of the functions that your party has been
doing recently. I would like to talk about the Conservative
convention where they did not produce receipts. We are now
looking at delegate fees that party members are charged to attend
conventions. My understanding is that in your last convention,
that was not included. What was the fee of your last convention
that you had?

Mr. Donison: I believe the fee was around $500. I would have
to double-check that.

Senator Zimmer: How many people attended? Do you have
any idea?

Mr. Donison: I do not have those figures in front of me, but I
can certainly get those numbers for you.

Senator Zimmer: Do you have a rough idea?

Mr. Donison: No. I would not even hazard a guess. In terms of
actual paying delegates, I do not know.

The Chairman: Mr. Donison, would you mind getting the
figures and sending them to the clerk so that we can distribute
them to all members of the committee?

Mr. Donison: I will dig up those numbers, senator and
chairman, and give them to the clerk.

The Chairman: Thank you for that.

Senator Zimmer: My understanding is it was over $1 million,
but please provide that information for us.

L’un d’eux a dit que la loi fédérale sur la responsabilité semble
impliquer une profonde méfiance. On se demande à juste titre si la
loi ne va pas trop loin au chapitre du contrôle, du châtiment et de
la méfiance.

Un autre témoin a dit que la loi sur la responsabilité qu’étudie
présentement le Parlement, notamment les changements apportés
à la Loi électorale du Canada au sujet des contributions
électorales, a très peu à voir, sinon rien du tout, avec la
responsabilité du gouvernement.

Le troisième a indiqué que le parti au pouvoir avait un
avantage évident au chapitre du financement et que, à son avis, le
projet de loi repose sur des motifs politiques.

Avez-vous des commentaires?

M. Donison: Ces éminents universitaires ont leurs opinions.
Tout d’abord, concernant les motifs politiques, je dois dire, en
toute déférence, que je ne suis pas d’accord avec eux. Comme je
l’ai mentionné plus tôt, l’intention du projet de loi consiste à
refléter la nouvelle réalité du financement des partis politiques
dans l’ensemble des démocraties occidentales et à garantir que les
limites sont telles que personne ne puisse raisonnablement dire
qu’il y a une dépendance excessive sur les grands donateurs. Avec
tout le respect que je leur dois, je ne suis pas d’accord avec eux
pour ce qui est des motifs politiques.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Je me doutais bien que vous alliez dire
cela. J’aimerais parler de certaines activités auxquelles votre parti
s’est adonné récemment. J’aimerais parler du congrès du Parti
conservateur pour lequel on n’a pas produit de reçus. Nous
parlons des droits dont les membres du parti doivent s’acquitter
pour assister à des congrès. Je crois comprendre que cela n’était
pas inclus lors de votre dernier congrès. Quels étaient les frais de
participation au dernier congrès que vous avez tenu?

M. Donison: Je crois que c’était environ 500 $. Il faudrait que je
vérifie ce chiffre.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Combien de personnes y ont assisté? En
avez-vous une idée?

M. Donison: Je n’ai pas ces chiffres ici, mais je peux
certainement vous les faire parvenir.

Le sénateur Zimmer: En avez-vous une petite idée?

M. Donison: Non. Je n’essaierais même pas de deviner.
Concernant les délégués qui ont payé, je ne sais pas.

Le président: Monsieur Donison, pourriez-vous obtenir les
chiffres et les communiquer au greffier pour qu’ils puissent être
distribués à tous les membres du comité?

M. Donison: Je vais trouver ces chiffres, monsieur le sénateur et
monsieur le président, et je les remettrai au greffier.

Le président: Je vous en remercie.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Je crois comprendre que c’était plus d’un
million de dollars, mais je vous prie de nous fournir cette
information.
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We know from the testimony Mr. Baird gave before the House
committee that you did not present the members of your party
who attended the convention with receipts for this convention,
which is not standard practice for other major political parties,
who do offer receipts. The Chief Electoral Officer of this country
has asked to look at your party’s books concerning this
convention. Have you complied with that request?

Mr. Donison: Yes, we have. I would reference to you a press
statement that I issued at the time. It is very short. With your
indulgence, I would like to read it into the record. This was issued
on June 29 of this year.

The party’s convention arrangements in 2005 fully respected
the law. The fees we charged our delegates to attend did not
exceed the cost of running the convention. The fees covered
such things as meals, hall rental, security and the like, and
there was no net revenue earned by the party. Consistent
with interpretation of the Elections Act and the Income Tax
Act issued by Elections Canada and the Canada Revenue
Agency and applied many times in the past concerning the
price of admission to political events, receipts for political
contributions were therefore not issued for any part of the
delegate fee. The President of the Treasury Board, the
Honourable John Baird, was quoted correctly when he was
in committee as saying that the party did not issue receipts
for the 2005 convention. He made no statement that the
party thereby did anything contrary to political financing
legislation.

I would like to add that this matter is in fact with Elections
Canada and we are working through it. I think this is one of those
situations where it is very much a matter of interpretation. As far
as we are concerned, we have complied with the law and we will
comply with the law in the future, whatever is determined in this
regard.

Senator Zimmer: I believe the public has the right to know
exactly what the contributions were, if there were any sizable
contributions made to your party, and I am sure you will comply
with that when you publish that information.

Mr. Donison: We are dealing with Elections Canada on that
matter and we will comply with whatever requirements they have.

Senator Zimmer: Do you believe the committee should
recommend exempting convention fees from the donation
limits? In certain situations, where the limit is $1,000, if
convention fees are in the range of $750 to $1,000, there is
nothing left throughout that year to contribute to anything else.
What is your opinion regarding exempting convention fees from
political donations?

Mr. Donison: Our opinion is that is not necessary. Our view is
that if a political party is to hold a national convention, the
convention is used partly as a fundraiser. I do not think there is

À la lumière du témoignage que M. Baird a rendu devant le
comité de la Chambre, nous savons que vous n’avez pas remis de
reçu aux membres de votre parti qui ont assisté au congrès, ce qui
n’est pas la pratique courante des autres grands partis politiques,
qui offrent effectivement des reçus. Le directeur général des
élections du Canada a demandé à examiner les livres de votre
parti concernant ce congrès. Avez-vous donné suite à cette
demande?

M. Donison: Oui. Je vous renvoie à une déclaration que j’ai
faite à la presse à ce moment-là. C’est très court. Avec votre
indulgence, j’aimerais lire ce texte pour le compte rendu. Cette
déclaration a été faite le 29 juin dernier. Voici en substance ce que
j’ai dit.

Les dispositions prises lors du congrès du parti
en 2005 étaient tout à fait conformes à la loi. Les frais
qu’ont payés nos délégués n’ont pas excédé les coûts du
congrès. Ces frais ont servi à couvrir, entre autres, les repas,
la location de salles et la sécurité, et le parti n’a réalisé aucun
revenu net. Conformément à l’interprétation de la Loi
électorale du Canada et de la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu
faite par Élections Canada et l’Agence du revenu du
Canada, et appliquée à de nombreuses reprises par le
passé au sujet des frais d’admission aux événements
politiques, aucun reçu pour contributions politiques n’a
donc été délivré pour une partie quelconque des frais des
délégués. Le président du Conseil du Trésor, l’honorable
John Baird, a été cité correctement lorsqu’il a comparu
devant un comité, et il a dit effectivement que le parti n’avait
pas délivré de reçu pour le congrès de 2005. Il n’a fait
aucune déclaration selon laquelle le parti aurait ainsi
contrevenu à la loi sur le financement des partis politiques.

J’aimerais ajouter qu’Élections Canada est saisi de ce dossier et
que nous travaillons à régler cette affaire. À mon avis, il s’agit
d’une question d’interprétation. En ce qui nous concerne, nous
avons respecté la loi et nous continuerons de le faire, peu importe
quelles seront les conclusions.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Je crois que la population a le droit de
savoir exactement ce qu’ont été les contributions, si des
contributions importantes ont été faites à votre parti, et je suis
convaincu que vous répondrez à cette attente lorsque vous
publierez cette information.

M. Donison: Nous collaborons avec Élections Canada à ce
sujet et nous nous conformerons à toutes ses exigences.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Croyez-vous que le comité devrait
recommander que la limite des contributions ne s’applique pas
aux frais de participation à des congrès? Dans certaines situations,
si la limite est fixée à 1 000 $ et que les frais de participation à un
congrès oscillent entre 750 $ et 1 000 $, il n’y a plus de marge de
manœuvre au cours de cette année-là pour contribuer à autre
chose. Que pensez-vous d’exclure les frais des congrès des
contributions politiques?

M. Donison: Nous croyons que ce n’est pas nécessaire. Selon
nous, si un parti politique tient un congrès national, ce dernier
sert en partie d’activité de financement. Je ne crois pas qu’il y ait
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any disagreement. When a political party holds an event, whether
it is a fundraiser or a convention, if it makes a profit, if it becomes
a net revenue generator for the party, we have no disagreement
that in those situations, contributions would have to be receipted.
All I can suggest to you is that I do not think the difficulty arises
for your party out of the legislation itself; it arises out of the fact
that you are charging a $995 delegate fee.

Senator Zimmer: Senator Mercer and I work closely on
fundraising for conventions. We budget to try to break even.
There are times when we make a little money and there are times
when we lose money, but our original intent is to break even. It is
not considered a fundraiser. At conventions, many times the
expectation is for good attendance, but there are times this does
not happen, based on a number of factors. We try to budget in a
way that we break even and it is not considered a fundraiser.

Mr. Donison: If the national convention turns out not to be a
net fundraiser for you, our view, subject to Elections Canada, is
that there are no contributions and there is no receipting to do.
That is obviously a matter of interpretation that we will have to
work through.

Senator Zimmer: You mentioned Quebec, as far as not having
corporate limits. In fact, Quebec does not allow contribution from
companies. However, there is a report being considered now from
the Chief Electoral Officer, a report submitted by retired Superior
Court Judge Jean Moisan. In it he recommends that corporate
donations be allowed up to $15,000 and individual donations up
to $5,000. Quebec is now reconsidering their whole scenario and
considering a change to the limits in the amounts of $15,000 and
$5,000. What is your opinion?

Mr. Donison: I respectfully disagree with that. The reason I
disagree is because corporations, unions and unincorporated
associations do not vote. They have not had votes for a long time.
It seems to me that what we should be encouraging is citizen
participation in politics. Canadian citizens, whose ultimate act is
voting — the other one is donating money and supporting the
political party of their choice— are the individuals who should be
involved financially in politics, and not other legal persons,
whether it be corporations or unions. I would respectfully
disagree with the former Chief Electoral Officer’s opinion.

Senator Zimmer: There was a rather odd situation the other
day, if I can respond to you on that. While we were in hearings, a
very strong fundraiser of your party in Manitoba was sick with
the flu. He turned the television on to CPAC, where we were
discussing the issue of corporate donations and companies. He
immediately sent me an email in which he said that he strongly
believes that we have to encourage the $1,000 donations.

On your point that they do not vote, Minister Baird said that,
and it was a good answer. I have thought about it. Over the last
month, I have received many emails, letters and phone calls from

de mésentente à ce sujet. Lorsqu’un parti politique organise une
activité, que ce soit une activité de financement ou un congrès, s’il
fait un profit ou si l’activité génère un revenu net pour le parti,
nous convenons que, dans ce cas, des reçus doivent être délivrés
en échange des contributions. Tout ce que je peux vous dire, c’est
que le problème ne vient pas de la loi en soi, mais bien du fait que
vous demandez à vos délégués de payer 995 $.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Le sénateur Mercer et moi travaillons en
étroite collaboration au financement des congrès. Nous
établissons un budget afin de couvrir les frais. Parfois, nous
faisons un peu d’argent et parfois nous en perdons, mais notre
intention au départ est de couvrir les frais. Nous ne considérons
pas qu’il s’agit d’une activité de financement. Bien souvent, nous
nous attendons à une bonne assistance, ce qui ne se produit pas
toujours, à cause de divers facteurs. Nous essayons d’établir un
budget de façon à couvrir les frais et selon nous, ce n’est pas une
activité de financement.

M. Donison: Si le congrès national ne génère pas de recettes
nettes, sous réserve de ce que dira Élections Canada, nous
sommes d’avis qu’il n’y a aucune contribution et qu’il n’est pas
nécessaire de délivrer des reçus. Il s’agit évidemment d’une
question d’interprétation que nous devrons tirer au clair.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Vous avez mentionné le Québec, en
parlant des limites aux contributions des sociétés.
En fait, le Québec interdit toute contribution des entreprises.
Toutefois, le directeur général des élections examine
actuellement un rapport soumis par le juge à la retraite
Jean Moisan, de la Cour supérieure. Ce dernier recommande
que les sociétés puissent verser des contributions maximales
de 15 000 $ et que les contributions des particuliers puissent
atteindre les 5 000 $. Québec réexamine maintenant son scénario
et envisage de modifier les limites, à la hauteur de 15 000 $ et
de 5 000 $. Qu’en pensez-vous?

M. Donison: En toute déférence, je ne suis pas d’accord et ce,
parce que les sociétés, les syndicats et les associations sans
personnalité morale ne votent pas. Ils ne votent pas depuis
longtemps. Il me semble que nous devrions plutôt encourager les
citoyens à participer à la vie politique. Les citoyens canadiens,
dont le geste ultime consiste à voter — l’autre consiste à donner
de l’argent et à soutenir le parti politique de leur choix — sont les
personnes qui devraient participer financièrement à la vie
politique, et non les autres personnes morales, que ce soit des
entreprises ou des syndicats. Je ne suis pas d’accord avec l’ancien
directeur général des élections.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Je me suis trouvé dans une situation plutôt
étrange l’autre jour, si je peux vous répondre à ce sujet. Nous
tenions des audiences et un très important collecteur de fonds de
votre parti au Manitoba, qui était grippé, s’est mis à nous regarder
sur les ondes de CPAC, alors que nous discutions des contributions
des sociétés et des entreprises. Il m’a immédiatement envoyé un
courriel me disant qu’il croyait fermement que nous devions
encourager les contributions de 1 000 $.

Vous dites que ces entités ne votent pas; le ministre Baird a dit
cela aussi et c’était une bonne réponse. J’y ai réfléchi. Au cours du
mois dernier, j’ai reçu de nombreux courriels, lettres et appels

6:14 Legal and Constitutional Affairs 8-9-2006



a variety of political parties, saying: In fact, we do vote. My
company will have an opportunity to participate in the
democratic process of this country, and by not allowing me or
my company to be able to contribute to a party that I believe in,
on their fiscal responsibility, takes away a demographic right.

They are saying to me in many ways that yes, they do vote,
they vote through their company’s beliefs. I am sure we will
disagree on that, too, but I wanted to put that on the table. There
is another opinion out there and it is an interesting comment,
their contention that there is an opportunity for a company to
vote through the democratic responsibility and the right to make
a political donation.

Mr. Donison: Was this a federal Conservative or provincial
Conservative fundraiser? I am not asking for the name. I am just
not familiar with that.

Senator Zimmer: Federal.

Mr. Donison: Most working-class and middle-class Canadians
are employed. That is their source of income. They are not
incorporated, they do not have a company and they do not carry
on business through a corporation. Those individual business
persons will be allowed to use their $1,000 limit. I am of the view
that why should they be able to do it twice? Why should they have
extra participation in financing a party simply because they are
incorporated? Our view is to keep it to individual Canadians and
landed immigrants who we want to encourage to eventually
become citizens, and that is where it should stay.

Senator Zimmer: If I could counter that. I would just like to
add that a lot of them do not make donations individually, and
then they want the opportunity to do that through their company.

Given the $1,000 limit being proposed and the $1,000 most of
your party would charge to attend a fundraiser, I understand
there are cocktail receptions being conducted in October by your
party for which they are requesting is $2,000: $1,000 to the party
and $1,000 to the constituency.

Do you know anything about that or these fundraisers that are
coming up in the near future by Mr. Harper?

Mr. Donison: I am not aware of that particular aspect.
Again, there may be situations where the national party will
hold joint fundraisers, as all parties will be able to do, with
particular electoral district associations so that contributors can
give $1,000 to the party, as the act specifies, and a separate
$1,000 to the EDA, but I am not aware of those particular
arrangements. I would think if they were properly documented
they will not violate the spirit or the text of the statute.

Senator Zimmer: Thank you, Mr. Donison. I have enjoyed the
banter.

téléphoniques de divers partis politiques me disant le contraire.
On me dit « mon entreprise aura l’occasion de participer au
processus démocratique de notre pays et en m’interdisant, à moi
ou à mon entreprise, de contribuer au financement d’un parti
dans lequel je crois, sur la foi de sa responsabilité financière, on
brime un droit démocratique. »

De bien des façons, ils me disent qu’ils votent effectivement,
qu’ils votent de par les croyances de leur entreprise. Nous serons
certainement en désaccord sur ce point également, mais je voulais
le dire. Il existe une autre opinion et il est intéressant de connaître
ce point de vue, à savoir qu’une entreprise peut voter en exerçant
sa responsabilité démocratique et son droit de verser une
contribution à un parti politique.

M. Donison: Était-ce un agent de financement du Parti
conservateur fédéral ou provincial? Je ne veux pas de nom. Je
ne suis tout simplement pas au courant de cela.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Du parti fédéral.

M. Donison: La plupart des Canadiens de la classe ouvrière et
de la classe moyenne sont des employés. Leur emploi est leur
source de revenu. Ils ne sont pas constitués en personne morale,
n’ont pas d’entreprise et ne mènent pas des affaires par le
truchement d’une société. Ces gens d’affaires pourront utiliser
leur limite de 1 000 $. Pourquoi devraient-ils pouvoir l’utiliser
deux fois? Pourquoi devraient-ils participer davantage au
financement d’un parti tout simplement parce qu’ils sont
constitués en sociétés? Nous voulons limiter les contributions
aux particuliers, que ce soit des citoyens canadiens ou des
immigrants reçus, que nous voulons encourager à obtenir la
citoyenneté canadienne, et c’est là où il faut en rester.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Si vous me permettez de répliquer.
J’aimerais simplement ajouter qu’un bon nombre ne versent pas
de contribution personnelle et souhaitent pouvoir le faire par
l’entremise de leur entreprise.

Compte tenu de la limite proposée de 1 000 $ et des frais de
1 000 $ que la plupart de vos organisateurs exigeront pour
assister à une activité de levée de fonds, je crois comprendre que
votre parti tiendra des cocktails en octobre dont les frais de
participation seront de 2 000 $: 1 000 $ pour votre parti et
1 000 $ pour la circonscription.

Êtes-vous au courant de cela ou des activités de levée de fonds
que M. Harper va tenir très bientôt?

M. Donison Je ne suis pas au courant de cet aspect particulier.
Encore une fois, il peut arriver que le parti national organise des
activités conjointes de levée de fonds, comme tous les partis seront
en mesure de le faire, avec les associations de circonscription; les
participants peuvent alors donner 1 000 $ au parti, comme le
précise la loi, et une somme distincte de 1 000 $ à l’association,
mais je ne suis pas au courant de ces arrangements. Si les
organisateurs sont dûment renseignés, j’imagine qu’ils n’iront pas
à l’encontre de l’esprit ou du texte de la loi.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Merci, monsieur Donison. J’ai bien aimé
la plaisanterie.
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Senator Segal: The most difficult job in the country is being the
national director of any political party. Expectations are massive,
resources are limited and when you cannot blame anybody else,
you always blame party headquarters — in all political parties. It
is a matter of course.

I would like to ask a question of the national director of the
Conservative Party, as someone who is obviously a Conservative,
about the increasing role of the state in election financing that
these rules will, by definition, generate. To be fair, it was Prime
Minister Chrétien who began that process in a previous
administration. If you reduce the amount of contribution that
can be made by individuals, if you take out corporations and
trade unions, and if you accept for a moment that the cost of
elections — the democratic process, campaigning locally and
nationally — has no prospect of reduction but rather is going up
with media costs and all the attendant pressures, I would be
interested in your sense of how that gap will be addressed.

It may be addressed by more effective fundraising by the
existing political parties as they develop their skill sets, and that
would be a good thing. However, I worry that if you assume there
are always people thinking about how they can get around the
system, this may have the inadvertent impact of generating more
of that kind of activity, not in any particular political party but in
all the political parties. I want you to deal with that.

I also would like you to give me your view on the difference
between political patronage and bureaucratic patronage. The
government’s initiative with respect to de-partisanizing the
appointment of returning officers is a superb reinforcement of
the democratic principle. It has been my experience, however, that
to the extent that one says to the political side of the measure, this
is no longer your decision to make. If that is downloaded to the
democratic part of process — and I say that with the highest
regard for the Chief Electoral Officer, who is an absolute
professional in every respect — one kind of patronage is being
replaced with another. I would be interested in your perspective,
as the national director of the Conservative Party, with respect to
the fairness of that process.

I assume that once legislation is passed, regulations will have to
be put into effect relative to the actual practical application of
such. Is there any advice you might be able to give the committee,
either now or in the future, with respect to how that process might
roll out in a way that protects the notion that election workers in
the riding should be reflective of no partisan interest or, at least,
be reflective of a multi-partisan view that represents all the parties
in the mix?

The final question relates to the legislation before us and the
coming into effect date — whatever that ends that up being —
when and if it passes this chamber and when and if it is given
Royal Assent and a proclamation date is set.

Is it a matter of substance to you, as the national director of the
Conservative Party, whether the coming into effect date of any of
the provisions is immediately upon Royal Assent or a different

Le sénateur Segal: L’emploi le plus difficile au pays, c’est celui
de directeur national d’un parti politique quelconque. Les attentes
sont énormes, les ressources sont limitées et lorsque vous ne
pouvez blâmer personne d’autre, vous jetez toujours le blâme sur
le bureau central du parti — c’est vrai pour tous les partis
politiques. Il en est toujours ainsi.

J’aimerais poser une question au directeur national du Parti
conservateur, qui est évidemment un conservateur, au sujet du
rôle croissant de l’État dans le financement électoral que ces
règles, par définition, entraîneront. Pour être juste, il faut dire que
c’est le premier ministre Chrétien qui a amorcé ce processus, dans
une administration antérieure. Si vous réduisez la limite des
contributions pouvant être versées par des particuliers, si vous
excluez les sociétés et les syndicats et si vous admettez pour un
instant que le coût des élections — le processus démocratique, les
campagnes aux niveaux local et national — n’ira pas en
diminuant, mais plutôt en augmentant compte tenu des coûts
des médias et autres, j’aimerais que vous nous disiez comment cet
écart sera comblé.

Il est possible qu’il soit comblé du fait que les partis politiques
existants mèneraient des activités de financement plus efficaces en
devenant plus compétents dans ce domaine, et ce serait une bonne
chose. Toutefois, en présumant qu’il y aura toujours des
personnes qui chercheront à déjouer le système, je me demande
si, par inadvertance, on encouragera davantage ce type de
comportement et ce, dans tous les partis politiques. J’aimerais
vous entendre à ce sujet.

J’aimerais aussi savoir quelle est, selon vous, la différence entre
le favoritisme politique et le favoritisme bureaucratique. Les
efforts du gouvernement visant à dépolitiser la nomination des
directeurs de scrutin renforcent énormément le principe
démocratique. Toutefois, selon mon expérience, si on enlève aux
partis politiques ce pouvoir de décision pour le confier à la partie
démocratique du processus — et je le dis avec le plus grand
respect pour le directeur général des élections, qui est un
professionnel à tous les égards — on remplace un type de
favoritisme par un autre. À titre de directeur national du Parti
conservateur, j’aimerais savoir ce que vous pensez de l’équité de ce
processus.

Je présume qu’une fois le projet de loi adopté, un règlement
d’application devra être mis en œuvre. Pourriez-vous donner des
conseils au comité, maintenant ou plus tard, sur la façon dont ce
processus pourrait se dérouler de manière à garantir que le
personnel électoral d’une circonscription donnée ne projette
aucun intérêt partisan ou, du moins, qu’il projette un point de
vue multipartite, représentant toutes les parties en cause?

Ma dernière question porte sur le projet de loi à l’étude et sur la
date de son entrée en vigueur — peu importe ce qui en
restera — une fois qu’il aura été adopté par le Sénat, qu’il aura
reçu la sanction royale et que la loi aura été édictée.

À titre de directeur national du Parti conservateur, est-ce
important pour vous que l’une ou l’autre des dispositions entre en
vigueur dès la sanction royale ou à un autre moment? Une date
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date? A specific date, perhaps January 15, 2007, would give
parties a chance to adjust to whatever implications may emerge,
not only parties but also the larger public service in a sense,
because of the broad range of this legislation. I would be
appreciative of any advice you could give the committee on those
points.

Mr. Donison: I will try to answer the questions in the order you
put them to me.

The first was your concern about the fact we were limiting
individual contributions and eliminating corporate entirely,
cutting off some sources of revenue. I think you said it best.
The political parties are just going to have to work harder, sir.
That is the price to be paid. I am happy with that for the reasons I
already gave in the rationale to the committee as to why it should
be $1,000. It is the price that we need to pay, and it will make my
job harder and that of all of us in the process harder, but it is a
challenge and it is worth it. The parties will have to make up the
gap by the hard work. That is all I can say.

You mentioned that the effect may be, because it is more
restrictive, to increase the chances of people getting around the
rules. That is always possible. It is my observation with such rules,
whether it is the area of accountability, or ethics or elections, that
Parliament, with all due respect, can pass statutes. However, the
Elections Act has been based on the assumption of the common
decency and honesty of 99 per cent of Canadians. To a certain
extent, we have to proceed on that basis. It may increase that
possibility, senator, but I am not concerned about it. The parties
will to have to distance themselves in this area.

You asked me about bureaucratic versus pure political
patronage. It is not my expertise to talk about that in a general,
government-wide context but in the context specifically of the
Chief Electoral Officer and the issue of the appointment of
returning officers. I, too, have always been concerned that in the
end there are only two types of patronage. However, in this
particular case, if we resolve bureaucratic patronage — if that is
what it is — due respect to the Chief Electoral Officer, I am in
support of that. He is not just a mere bureaucrat; he is also an
officer of this Parliament. I am satisfied that, through his offices,
impartiality at the local level will be maintained. There have been
concerns or a perception, if not actual cases, where local returning
officers were perceived to be quite partisan— being appointees of
the government of the day, so to speak. This bill eliminates that. If
there is more bureaucratic patronage, that is a small price to pay
in terms of that value.

Regarding the issue of coming into effect, the Conservative
Party has no difficulty in terms of the effect date. I am sure with
all the national parties we have a computerized system. At the
moment, it is programmed at the $5,000 level. We will just shift
our systems over to $1,000. We do not have any difficulty as to
when this bill comes into effect on the operational side.

précise, disons le 15 janvier 2007, donnerait aux partis la chance
de s’adapter à tout ce que cette loi implique, non seulement les
partis, mais aussi l’ensemble de la fonction publique, compte tenu
de la vaste portée de cette mesure législative. Les conseils que vous
pourriez donner au comité sur ces points seraient appréciés.

M. Donison: Je vais essayer de répondre aux questions dans
l’ordre où vous me les avez posées.

Premièrement, vous dites que nous limitons les contributions
des particuliers et supprimons entièrement celles des sociétés, ce
qui élimine certaines sources de revenu. Je crois que vous l’avez
bien dit. Les partis politiques vont simplement devoir travailler
plus fort. C’est le prix à payer. J’en suis heureux pour les raisons
que j’ai déjà données au comité en expliquant pourquoi la limite
doit être de 1 000 $. C’est le prix que nous devons payer, et ce ne
sera que plus difficile pour moi et pour nous tous, mais c’est un
défi qui en vaut la peine. Les partis devront combler le manque à
gagner en travaillant fort. C’est tout ce que je peux dire.

Vous avez dit qu’en raison des restrictions, les gens pourraient
être davantage portés à vouloir contourner les règles. C’est
toujours possible. Avec des règles semblables, que ce soit dans le
domaine de la responsabilité, de l’éthique ou des élections, le
Parlement, avec tout le respect que je lui dois, peut adopter des
lois. Toutefois, la Loi électorale a été fondée sur la présomption
que 99 p. 100 des Canadiens font preuve de décence et
d’honnêteté. Dans une certaine mesure, nous devons nous
appuyer sur ce fondement. La chose est possible, monsieur le
sénateur, mais je ne m’en inquiète pas. Les partis devront se
distancier de cela.

Vous m’avez posé des questions sur le favoritisme
bureaucratique et le favoritisme purement politique. Je n’ai pas
l’expertise voulue pour parler de ce sujet dans le contexte global
du gouvernement, mais plutôt en ce qui a trait au directeur
général des élections et à la nomination des directeurs de scrutin.
Moi aussi, j’ai toujours redouté qu’il y ait, au bout du compte,
seulement deux types de favoritisme. Toutefois, dans ce cas
particulier, si nous réglons la question du favoritisme
bureaucratique — s’il s’agit de cela — avec tout le respect que
je dois au directeur général des élections, je suis en faveur de cette
mesure. Ce n’est pas un simple bureaucrate; il est aussi un haut
fonctionnaire du Parlement. Je suis convaincu que par son
intermédiaire, l’impartialité au niveau local sera assurée. Certains
ont cru, et peut-être à juste titre, que les directeurs de scrutin
locaux étaient plutôt partisans — ayant été nommés par le
gouvernement en place. Ce projet de loi élimine cette possibilité.
S’il y a davantage de favoritisme bureaucratique, c’est un moindre
prix à payer en échange.

Quant à la date d’entrée en vigueur, cette question n’a pas
d’importance pour le Parti conservateur. Je suis certain qu’avec
tous les partis nationaux, nous avons un système informatisé.
Pour l’instant, le système est programmé à 5 000 $. Nous allons
simplement le modifier pour abaisser le seuil à 1 000 $. Sur le plan
des opérations, la date d’entrée en vigueur de cette loi nous est
bien égale.
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In that regard, there have been comments that when it comes
to electoral legislation, usually you want to have a firm cut-off
date at the beginning. I want to remind Honourable Senators that
there were some major amendments to the Canada Elections Act
in 1997, I believe, and again in 2000 by previous governments,
and in all those cases the cut-off was in the middle of the year; one
was even on the redistribution. There was supposed to be a
one-year waiting period, and I believe all those bills became law
and in effect in the middle of the calendar year. We got used to
that, so there is nothing magical about that. Therefore, we have
no operational problem with dates, Senator.

Senator Segal: On the issue of talent, one of your jobs — as is
the case of your colleagues in the other parties — is to generate
talent: bright, young people across the country who want to be
involved in the political process as volunteers, who care about
their country, have different political views, and bring different
ethnic and professional backgrounds to the process. It is the kind
of politics we believe in in this country.

Is there any provision in this bill that causes you concern about
attracting bright young people into the process either as
volunteers, as potential candidates or as folks who will
participate in the process for the long haul? Are you
comfortable that the full measure of this legislation will be quite
positive in every respect?

Mr. Donison: I am quite comfortable that it will be. I do not
think that the legislation speaks to volunteers.

If I could add a point, though, other than fundraising, that is
another big challenge that all of us face in politics.

I have not been involved in politics for as long as you, but over
the years I have seen a substantial drop of volunteer involvement
in all parties. There is a real problem getting individual Canadians
to be motivated, particularly at the local level. It is a problem our
party and all parties have. I do not think the bill speaks to that
issue, but it does not stand in the way of our ability to enhance
that kind of involvement.

Senator Milne: Mr. Donison, you said in your statement that
the United States, France and the provinces of Quebec and
Manitoba already ban corporate donations to political parties,
and Bill C-2 will extend that to the country at the federal level.

What is the limit of donations that can be made in these
different constituencies to political parties by individuals?

Mr. Donison: I must confess that I do not have that
information with me. Are you talking about France?

Senator Milne: Yes.

Mr. Donison: I am not deeply familiar with their individual
contribution limits. That is a good question, but I do not have an
answer for that.

Senator Milne: Do you know about the provincial statutes for
Québec and Manitoba?

À cet égard, certains ont dit que lorsqu’une loi électorale est en
cause, vous voulez habituellement avoir une date-butoir au
départ. J’aimerais rappeler aux honorables sénateurs que des
modifications importantes ont été apportées à la Loi électorale du
Canada en 1997, je crois, puis en 2000 par les gouvernements
précédents, et dans tous ces cas, la date-butoir arrivait au milieu
de l’année; l’une des modifications visait même le redécoupage. Il
devait y avoir une période d’attente d’un an, et je crois que tous
ces projets de loi ont été adoptés et sont entrée en vigueur au
milieu de l’année civile. Nous nous y sommes habitués, alors il n’y
a rien de magique dans tout cela. En conséquence, nous ne voyons
aucun problème opérationnel pour ce qui est des dates, monsieur
le sénateur.

Le sénateur Segal: L’une de vos tâches — à l’instar de vos
collègues des autres partis — consiste à dépister les gens
talentueux: de jeunes gens brillants, partout au pays, qui veulent
participer au processus politique à titre bénévole, qui aiment leur
pays, qui ont des points de vue politiques différents et qui
amènent avec eux un bagage professionnel et ethnique différent.
Voilà le genre de politique à laquelle nous croyons au Canada.

Y a-t-il des dispositions dans le projet de loi qui pourraient
vous empêcher d’attirer des jeunes gens brillants soit à titre de
bénévoles, de candidats potentiels ou d’individus qui
participeront au processus à long terme? Croyez-vous que
toutes les mesures prévues dans ce projet de loi auront un effet
positif à tous les égards?

M. Donison: Oui, je le crois. Je ne pense pas que cette mesure
législative touche les bénévoles.

Si je peux ajouter un point, mis à part le financement, il y a un
autre grand défi que nous devons tous relever en politique.

Je ne m’occupe pas de politique depuis aussi longtemps que
vous, mais au fil des années, j’ai remarqué une baisse substantielle
du bénévolat dans tous les partis. C’est vraiment difficile de
motiver des individus, en particulier au niveau local. C’est un
problème pour notre parti et pour tous les autres. Je ne crois pas
que le projet de loi traite de cette question, mais il ne nuit
aucunement aux efforts faits pour stimuler cette participation.

Le sénateur Milne: Monsieur Donison, vous dites dans votre
déclaration que les États-Unis, la France et les provinces du
Québec et du Manitoba interdisent déjà aux sociétés de
contribuer au financement des partis politiques et que le projet
de loi C-2 permettra d’appliquer cette mesure au Canada, au
niveau fédéral.

Dans ces pays et provinces, quelle est la limite des
contributions qu’un particulier peut verser à un parti politique?

M. Donison: Je dois avouer que je n’ai pas cette information ici.
Parlez-vous de la France?

Le sénateur Milne: Oui.

M. Donison: Je ne sais pas très bien quelles sont les limites des
contributions des particuliers. C’est une bonne question, mais je
n’ai pas de réponse.

Le sénateur Milne: Savez-vous ce qu’il en est au Québec et au
Manitoba?
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Mr. Donison: No, I do not know offhand. It is in the record, in
their statute. I am not sure what their limits are.

Senator Milne: In the U.S., do you know if they ban corporate
donations to PACs — political action committees — the system
they have that is used to get around any kind of ban?

Mr. Donison: I will not pretend to be an expert on the very
complicated vagaries of United States election law.

From what I understand, PACs were eliminated. I believe there
were legislative changes that eliminated that process. I am not
particularly familiar with the arcana of American politics.
Although I have an interest, I do not know a lot about political
financing in their system.

Senator Milne: You say that we should be encouraging
Canadian citizens to participate in the political process. This
$1,000 limit that is mandated in this bill is actually a $2,000 limit,
so let us not play around with words. It is a $2,000 limit.

In my opinion, that figure seems to limit Canadians from
actually participating in the political process. They cannot
support the political party of their choice up to an amount that
they would like, let alone equal to an amount they can donate to
any charitable organization. They can give more money to the
Canadian Cancer Society than to a political party. What is your
feeling about that?

Mr. Donison: Well, first of all, as I said earlier, all the evidence
I have seen indicates that 90 per cent north of all contributions for
many years to all political parties, locally and nationally, have
been in small donations anyway. That has been the reality.

The other thing, of course, is there is a $1,275 political tax
credit limit. With charities, it goes beyond that limit.

The statistical evidence indicates that the vast majority of
Canadians do not intend to donate the amount of $1,000 anyway,
so I do not see that limit as a bar to the overwhelming majority of
Canadian citizens.

Senator Milne: Do you think that the $2,000 limit should be
indexed? Five or ten years from now, that limit will effectively be
a great deal less.

Mr. Donison: That is an excellent technical question. I am not
sure of the answer.

With respect to the current limits that were brought in
by Bill C-24, there was an inflationary indexing clause added.
Senator Mercer may have more knowledge about this than I do,
but I believe that clause still exists in the bill.

I believe there will be indexing built into the limit so the
$1,000 figure will start going up each calendar year. That is my
understanding of the bill, but I stand to be corrected.

Senator Milne: Maybe Senator Mercer can answer that
question for us.

M. Donison: Non, je ne le sais pas. C’est écrit dans leurs
documents officiels, dans leurs lois. Je ne suis pas certain de ce que
sont leurs limites.

Le sénateur Milne: Savez-vous si les États-Unis interdisent aux
sociétés de verser des contributions aux comités d’action
politique, le système en place qui sert à contourner tous les
types d’interdiction?

M. Donison: Je ne prétends pas tout connaître des vicissitudes
très complexes de la loi électorale des États-Unis.

Que je sache, les comités d’action politique ont été éliminés, au
moyen de changements législatifs, je crois. Je ne m’y connais pas
tellement dans les mystères de la politique américaine. Bien que je
m’y intéresse, j’en sais peu sur le financement des partis politiques
aux États-Unis.

Le sénateur Milne: Vous dites que nous devrions encourager les
citoyens canadiens à participer au processus politique. La limite de
1 000 $ qui est fixée dans ce projet de loi est en fait une limite de
2 000 $, alors ne jouons pas sur les mots. C’est une limite de 2 000 $.

Selon moi, ce chiffre limite la participation des Canadiens dans
le processus politique. Ils ne peuvent soutenir le parti politique de
leur choix en lui versant la somme qu’ils souhaiteraient, même à la
hauteur de ce qu’ils peuvent donner à une œuvre de charité. Ils
peuvent donner plus d’argent à la Société canadienne du cancer
qu’à un parti politique. Que pensez-vous de cela?

M. Donison: Eh bien, tout d’abord, comme je l’ai dit plus tôt,
toutes les données que j’ai vues montrent que, depuis de
nombreuses années, au moins 90 p. 100 de toutes les
contributions versées à tous les partis politique, aux niveaux
local et national, étaient des sommes modestes. Voilà la réalité.

D’autre part, le crédit d’impôt pour contributions politiques est
limité à 1 275 $. C’est davantage pour les contributions versées
aux oeuvres de charité.

Les statistiques montrent que la vaste majorité des Canadiens
n’ont pas l’intention de donner 1 000 $ de toute façon, alors je ne
crois pas que cette limite soit un obstacle à la grande majorité des
citoyens canadiens.

Le sénateur Milne: Croyez-vous que la limite de 2 000 $ devrait
être indexée? Dans cinq ou dix ans, cette somme sera
effectivement beaucoup moins importante.

M. Donison: C’est une excellente question d’ordre technique. Je
ne suis pas certain de connaître la réponse.

Concernant les limites actuelles qui ont été fixées dans le projet
de loi C-24, une disposition a été ajoutée pour tenir compte de
l’indice d’inflation. Le sénateur Mercer en sait peut-être plus que
moi à ce sujet, mais je crois que cette disposition existe toujours
dans le projet de loi.

Je crois que la limite de 1 000 $ sera indexée de sorte qu’elle
augmentera à chaque année civile. C’est ce que je crois
comprendre, mais qu’on me corrige si je me trompe.

Le sénateur Milne: Peut-être que le sénateur Mercer pourra
répondre à cette question pour nous.
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The current government provides funding for political parties.
If this ever-increasing gap that you spoke about between the cost
of running elections and the amount of money parties can raise
continues to increase, do you foresee future governments trying to
step in to fill that gap?

It appears that increasing government donations for elections
is actually interfering greatly with the democratic process because
this bill discourages Canadians from donating to a party of their
choice.

Also, because they are no longer free to give what they can to
the party of their choice, and the government is already giving
money to the parties, the government may start to put limitations
on political parties and narrow down the freedom of choice of a
party to say what it wants. That may begin to interfere with its
source of money from the government. Am I making myself clear
at all?

Mr. Donison: That is a difficult question to answer. I do
understand the question. I will try to keep my answer short.

There has already been state involvement. For over 25 years,
rebates have been provided to parties in Canada of 50 per cent.
That is taxpayers’ money. The political tax credit itself is a form
of taxpayers’ money to small donors.

I cannot speculate on what a future government will do. Are
you suggesting that future governments will be under pressure to
increase the statutory allowances to public subsidy?

Senator Milne: Yes, mainly because of the effects of this bill.

Mr. Donison: I will repeat what I said before: It will be up to
the political parties to do the job of getting small donations, doing
the work and resisting that temptation. I do not think the bill
increases that possibility, but I cannot speculate what a future
government might do.

Senator Comeau: Are you sensing any changes or trends in the
way fundraising is being planned for the future, any changes from
the past because of the limits that are now being imposed?

Mr. Donison: I think the act simply recognizes the current
reality, which has been a trend line for several years. Again, the
reality of modern political party financing is the small donor.

I saw a statistic somewhere that said for the 2008 election, it is
anticipated that over 65 per cent of the donations for President of
the United States will be amounts of less than $200. That is the
reality of modern party financing.

The bill simply recognizes that. I think that has been the trend
for several years, and the act will just encourage us to continue to
work in that direction.

Le gouvernement actuel fournit un financement aux partis
politiques. Si l’écart dont vous avez parlé entre le coût des
campagnes électorales et les sommes que les partis peuvent
recueillir continue de s’accroître, prévoyez-vous que les futurs
gouvernements essaieront d’intervenir pour combler cet écart?

Le fait d’augmenter les contributions du gouvernement à des
élections nuit grandement au processus démocratique, puisque ce
projet de loi dissuade les Canadiens de contribuer au financement
du parti de leur choix.

En outre, puisqu’ils ne sont plus libres de donner ce qu’ils
peuvent au parti de leur choix et que le gouvernement donne déjà
de l’argent aux partis, le gouvernement pourrait commencer à
imposer des restrictions aux partis politiques et limiter leur liberté
de parole. Cela pourrait affecter la somme qu’ils reçoivent du
gouvernement. Comprenez-vous ce que je dis?

M. Donison: Il est difficile de répondre à cette question. Je
comprends la question, et je vais essayer de donner une réponse
brève.

L’État est déjà intervenu. Depuis plus de 25 ans, des remises de
50 p. 100 sont versées aux partis au Canada. Il s’agit de l’argent
des contribuables. D’ailleurs, c’est aussi l’argent des contribuables
qu’on remet aux petits donateurs en accordant un crédit d’impôt
pour contributions politiques.

Je ne peux prévoir ce que fera un futur gouvernement.
Êtes-vous en train de dire que les futurs gouvernements seront
forcés d’augmenter les affectations législatives au titre des
subventions gouvernementales?

Le sénateur Milne: Oui, principalement en raison des
conséquences de ce projet de loi.

M. Donison: Je répète ce que j’ai dit tout à l’heure: ce sera aux
partis politiques d’aller chercher les petites contributions, de faire
le travail et de résister à cette tentation. Je ne crois pas que le
projet de loi fasse augmenter cette possibilité, mais je ne peux
prévoir ce qu’un futur gouvernement pourrait faire.

Le sénateur Comeau: Voyez-vous des changements ou des
tendances dans la façon dont on planifie le financement dans
l’avenir, des façons de faire différentes de par le passé en raison
des limites qui sont maintenant imposées?

M. Donison: À mon avis, la loi ne fait que reconnaître la
réalité, c’est-à-dire une tendance observée depuis plusieurs années.
Encore une fois, le financement des partis politiques est
aujourd’hui assuré par les petits donateurs.

J’ai lu quelque part qu’on prévoit, pour les élections
de 2008, que plus de 65 p. 100 des contributions versées pour la
présidence des États-Unis seront de moins de 200 $. Voilà la
réalité d’aujourd’hui.

Le projet de loi ne fait que reconnaître cette réalité. Je crois que
cette tendance a été observée depuis plusieurs années et la loi ne
fait que nous encourager à continuer à travailler dans ce sens.
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Senator Comeau: You used the word ‘‘reality,’’ and it is on this
reality parties are currently planning their strategy.

On the question of gifts, my understanding is it is now $500 for
a gift. If it is above $500, the returning officer must evaluate the
nature of the gift, and that is not in private to the legislation.

Mr. Donison: I believe that appears in section 92.

Senator Comeau: Have you had a chance to evaluate the
impact of this provision as to what in fact constitutes a gift?
Could it include gasoline in a vehicle or a trip to let us say a
fishing lodge? What would be considered a gift?

Mr. Donison: The reason I have not been too concerned about
this provision is because there is a specific section that says a
contribution as defined in the act is not covered by that.

I think this is a provision dealing with some issue of trust funds
and money being paid out of that. I believe it is meant to enact
that.

I have not looked at it in detail because I do not think it
practically affects the operations of political parties. Anything
that meets the definition of contribution under the act is not
caught by that section.

I believe there is an intent provision, the idea that someone is
giving money for the sole purpose of influencing a public official.
I have not looked at it very carefully because I do not see that it
has much of an implication internally.

Senator Comeau: Have you looked at the issue from the point
of view of a candidate being offered a gift from a corporation,
given that corporations are no longer capable of providing
donations? You have not seen this as a kind of problem, have
you?

Mr. Donison: No, I do not see it as a problem.

Senator Comeau: This question is a follow-up to Senator
Segal’s question concerning poll workers. Historically, and I think
it is still the case, the returning officer was recommended by the
governing party. The number two person, the clerk, was
recommended by the other party, which created a check and
balance in the returning office. In the constituency returning
office at least two people from different parties could perform
that check and balance function. With this no longer being the
case under the provisions of the new act, wherein the chief
returning officer is given the duty to hire, are you aware of any
means by which this historical check and balance might be
respected? Do you know whether returning officers will try to be
mindful of this?

Mr. Donison: If this bill is passed that will be more
bureaucratization, to use Senator Segal’s word, and we have no
difficulty with that. I suspect what will happen in practice,
senator, is that returning officers will still be looking to the

Le sénateur Comeau: Vous utilisez le mot « réalité », et c’est en
fonction de cette réalité que les partis planifient actuellement leur
stratégie.

Concernant les cadeaux, je crois comprendre que la limite
actuelle est de 500 $. Si on reçoit davantage, le directeur du
scrutin doit évaluer la nature du cadeau, et cela ne se fait pas dans
le secret, conformément à la loi.

M. Donison: Je crois que cette disposition se trouve à
l’article 92.

Le sénateur Comeau: Avez-vous eu l’occasion d’évaluer
l’incidence de cette disposition, à savoir ce qui constitue un
cadeau? Pourrait-il s’agir d’une certaine quantité d’essence dans
un véhicule ou encore un voyage de pêche? Que pourrait-on
considérer comme un cadeau?

M. Donison: Je ne me suis pas préoccupé de cette disposition
puisqu’il est précisé dans un article qu’une contribution, telle que
définie dans la loi, n’est pas visée par cette mesure.

Je crois qu’il y a une disposition portant sur les fonds détenus
en fiducie et l’argent pouvant en être retiré. Je crois qu’elle a été
prévue à cette fin.

Je ne m’y suis pas arrêté parce que je ne crois pas que cette
mesure affecte, à toutes fins pratiques, les activités des partis
politiques. Tout ce qui correspond à la définition de contribution
au sens de la loi n’est pas visé par cet article.

Il y a, je crois, une disposition concernant l’intention, l’idée
qu’une personne pourrait donner de l’argent dans le seul but
d’influencer un représentant public. Je ne l’ai pas examinée très
attentivement parce que je ne crois pas qu’elle ait une incidence
importante à l’interne.

Le sénateur Comeau: Avez-vous examiné la question du point
de vue d’un candidat qui se verrait offrir un cadeau par une
entreprise, étant donné que les entreprises ne sont plus autorisées
à verser des contributions monétaires? Cela ne vous a pas paru
problématique, n’est-ce pas?

M. Donison: Non, je ne vois pas cela comme un problème.

Le sénateur Comeau:Ma question fait suite à celle qu’a posée le
sénateur Segal au sujet du personnel des bureaux de vote. Depuis
toujours, et je crois que c’est encore le cas, le directeur de scrutin
est choisi sur la recommandation du parti au pouvoir. Son
subordonné immédiat, le secrétaire, est quant à lui choisi sur la
recommandation de l’autre parti, ce qui crée un équilibre au sein
du bureau du directeur de scrutin. C’est donc dire que dans ce
bureau, au moins deux personnes d’allégeances différentes
peuvent assurer une surveillance. Ce ne serait toutefois plus le
cas en vertu de cette nouvelle loi, qui confère au directeur général
des élections la tâche d’embaucher le personnel. Connaissez-vous
des moyens qui nous permettraient de maintenir cet équilibre qui
a toujours existé? Pensez-vous que les directeurs de scrutin se
préoccuperont de cet aspect?

M. Donison: Si le projet de loi est adopté, cela créera une plus
grande bureaucratisation, pour reprendre le mot qu’a utilisé le
sénateur Segal, et je dois dire que cela ne nous pose aucun
problème. Je présume que dans la pratique,sénateur, les directeurs
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candidates from the various parties for suggested names. I think it
will be a practice. Although, you are right; it will no longer be
enshrined in statute.

Senator Comeau: With the office of the returning officer being
in Ottawa, it is difficult for him to get out to over 300 ridings to
ensure there is the historically adequate balance to keep the whole
procedure fair.

Mr. Donison: My understanding, senator, is that the returning
officer is in the riding. The Chief Electoral Officer will appoint
returning officers. The returning officers will appoint poll clerks.
Thus, the returning officer will be a local person in the community
as has always been the case.

Senator Comeau: Does the legislation state that it is the
returning officer who will appoint the poll clerks?

Mr. Donison: That is my understanding of it, senator, yes. I am
open to correction.

Senator Comeau:Whoever winds up being the returning officer
could be very powerful.

Senator Day: Mr. Donison, thank you for being here. I
appreciate your comments.

I support, as do you, the initiatives with respect to the
returning officer. I agree that it is long overdue and I look
forward to the new regime when it comes about.

First, I would like to return to Senator Segal’s question
with respect to coming into force. You gave two examples
of changes that were made in 1997 and 2000. There was
another change to the legislation in 2003. It provided
for a special exemption for any political party that might be
involved in a convention before the coming into force of
the act, Bill C-24 amendments on January 1, 2004. On
December 27, 2003, the Conservative Party called its convention
to take advantage of that. I think what Senator Segal is getting at
is if Bill C-2 provided for certain aspects of the bill not coming
into force until January 1, 2007, you would not have any
difficulty with that, would you?

Mr. Donison: As executive director of a political party, I am in
the hands of Parliament. Whatever Parliament decides, I will live
with.

You made reference to Bill C-24. It is important that
honourable senators be reminded that that bill received Royal
Assent on June 19, 2003. At that time, the Conservative Party of
Canada did not even exist. The two parties had not merged. There
was no prospect of a leadership convention affecting our party or
either of our previous legacy parties.

With all due respect, everyone knew there was a pending
leadership contest in your party, senator.

de scrutin continueront de demander aux différents partis de
proposer des candidats. Je crois qu’ils procèderont ainsi. Vous
avez toutefois raison; cette pratique ne sera plus enchâssée dans la
loi.

Le sénateur Comeau: Étant donné que le bureau du directeur de
scrutin se trouve à Ottawa, il est difficile pour lui de se rendre
dans plus de 300 circonscriptions pour vérifier que l’équilibre qui
a toujours existé est maintenu, de sorte que l’ensemble du
processus soit juste.

M. Donison: Je crois savoir, sénateur, que les bureaux des
directeurs de scrutin se trouvent dans les circonscriptions. C’est le
directeur général des élections qui nommera les directeurs de
scrutin, qui eux, nommeront les secrétaires de bureaux de scrutin.
Ainsi, le directeur de scrutin sera une personne issue de la
collectivité, comme cela a toujours été le cas.

Le sénateur Comeau: Est-ce que le projet de loi précise que c’est
le directeur de scrutin qui nommera le secrétaire?

M. Donison: C’est ce que je comprends, sénateur. Qu’on me
corrige si j’ai tort.

Le sénateur Comeau: La personne qui occupera le poste de
directeur de scrutin pourrait avoir beaucoup de pouvoir.

Le sénateur Day: Monsieur Donison, je vous remercie d’être ici
aujourd’hui. J’ai bien aimé vos commentaires.

J’appuie, comme vous, les mesures touchant les directeurs de
scrutin. Nous attendions des changements à cet égard depuis
longtemps, et j’ai bien hâte que le nouveau système soit mis en
place.

Premièrement, j’aimerais revenir sur la question du sénateur
Segal concernant l’entrée en vigueur de la loi. Vous avez donné
deux exemples de changements qui ont été apportés en 1997 et
en 2000. Une autre modification a été faite en 2003. On a établi
une exemption spéciale pour tout parti politique qui tiendrait un
congrès avant l’entrée en vigueur du projet de loi C-24, soit
le 1er janvier 2004. Le 27 décembre 2003, le Parti conservateur a
annoncé la tenue de son congrès pour profiter de cette exemption.
Je pense que le sénateur Segal veut faire valoir que, si le projet de
loi C-2 prévoit que certains éléments de cette mesure n’entreront
pas en vigueur avant le 1er janvier 2007, cela ne vous poserait
aucun problème, n’est-ce pas?

M. Donison: En tant que directeur exécutif d’un parti politique,
je dois me plier aux décisions du Parlement. Peu importe le choix
qu’il fera, je le respecterai.

Vous avez parlé du projet de loi C-24. Il est important de
rappeler aux honorables sénateurs que ce projet de loi a obtenu la
sanction royale le 19 juin 2003. À cette époque, le Parti
conservateur du Canada n’existait même pas. Les deux partis
n’avaient pas encore fusionné. Aucun congrès d’investiture n’était
prévu pour aucun des deux anciens partis.

Sauf tout le respect que je vous dois, je dois dire que tout le
monde savait qu’une course à la direction de votre parti
s’annonçait, sénateur.
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I want to make it clear that that legislation was passed by a
majority Liberal Parliament. It decided to use a cut-off date of
January 1. As a result, neither the Liberal Party nor the
Conservative Party leadership conventions were governed by the
new legislation. It was an even playing field for both parties in
that respect. I want senators to know that.

Senator Day: I want to make it clear that I am not trying to put
you on the defensive; I am trying to work with you on this. We are
trying to work with legislation that takes into consideration
current political realities. That is the reason for my question.

The limitations on the amount of contribution beg the
question, why are we not seeing more limitations on total
political party spending? Would you support some initiative in
that regard?

Mr. Donison: The current law provides caps for the election
period itself.

Senator Day: I said, ‘‘total.’’

Mr. Donison: Are you talking about pre-writ?

Senator Day: I mean total political party spending. If the
political party can raise funds, and there are limits on how much
can be raised from corporations and individuals, should there be
limits on the total amount that can be spent by the political party?

Mr. Donison: That could be argued, senator. I do not have a lot
of concern about that.

Traditionally, for over 30 years now, we have regulated
expenses during the writ period. One of the difficulties may be
that political parties engage in all sorts of pre-writ, pre-election
activities. I assume you are suggesting that there be some
maximum limit on what we spend on everything. Is that what
you are saying?

Senator Day: Yes.

Mr. Donison: Certainly from my point of view I would not be
supportive of that. Again, if Parliament chose to enact such a
measure, we would have to live with it.

Senator Day: As my final question, let me understand fully
your interpretation with respect to conventions. Your
interpretation is that convention expenses do not need to be
declared as a political expense if no profit is made. Did I
understand that correctly?

Mr. Donison: I would again reference the statement I read into
the record, senator. This matter is now before the commissioner
and we are waiting for the results.

Senator Day: I would like to refer to Senator Zimmer’s
question because I am not sure that I understood your answer to
him. If it turns out that your interpretation is not correct and fees
for political conventions — whether policy or leadership — have
to be included as part of the annual contribution, would you be
supportive of an increase to the $1,000 limit?

Il faut rappeler clairement que cette mesure législative a été
adoptée par un gouvernement libéral majoritaire. Il a décidé de
fixer la date au 1er janvier. Par conséquent, ni le congrès
d’investiture du Parti libéral ni celui du Parti conservateur
n’étaient assujettis à cette nouvelle loi. Les règles du jeu étaient
les mêmes pour les deux partis à cet égard. Je veux que les
sénateurs le sachent.

Le sénateur Day: Sachez que je ne cherche pas à ce que vous
soyez sur la défensive. J’essaie de collaborer avec vous. Nous
essayons de travailler ensemble sur ce projet de loi qui tient
compte de la réalité politique actuelle. C’est la raison pour
laquelle je pose cette question.

Les limites qui ont été fixées pour les contributions m’amènent
à me demander pourquoi nous ne restreignons pas davantage les
dépenses globales des partis politiques. Seriez-vous en faveur
d’une mesure à cet égard?

M. Donison: La loi actuelle prévoit des plafonds pour les
périodes électorales.

Le sénateur Day: J’ai parlé des dépenses globales.

M. Donison: Voulez-vous parler des activités pré-électorales?

Le sénateur Day: Je veux dire les dépenses globales des partis
politiques. Il existe une somme maximale que les partis peuvent
recueillir auprès des sociétés et des particuliers, alors ne devrait-il
pas exister une limite quant au montant total qu’ils peuvent
dépenser?

M. Donison: On pourrait débattre de cette question, monsieur
le sénateur, mais elle ne me préoccupe pas beaucoup.

Cela fait plus de trente ans que nous avons réglementé les
dépenses visant les activités pré-électorales. Ce qui pose un
problème notamment, c’est que les partis politiques mènent toutes
sortes d’activités pré-électorales. Vous laissez entendre je présume
qu’une certaine somme maximale devrait être fixée pour
l’ensemble des dépenses. Est-ce bien cela?

Le sénateur Day: Oui.

M. Donison: Je peux vous dire que je ne serais pas en faveur de
cela, mais je le répète, si le Parlement adoptait une loi en ce sens,
nous devrions la respecter.

Le sénateur Day: Pour terminer, je veux m’assurer que j’ai bien
compris votre interprétation en ce qui a trait aux congrès. D’après
vous, les dépenses liées aux congrès n’ont pas besoin d’être
déclarées au titre des dépenses politiques si aucun profit n’est
réalisé. Ai-je bien compris?

M. Donison: Je vous renvoie encore une fois à l’énoncé que j’ai
lu tout à l’heure, sénateur. Le commissaire est actuellement saisi
de cette question, et nous attendons les résultats.

Le sénateur Day: J’aimerais revenir sur la question du sénateur
Zimmer, car je n’ai pas bien compris je crois la réponse que vous
lui avez donnée. S’il s’avère que votre interprétation est erronée,
c’est-à-dire que les dépenses relatives aux congrès politiques —
qu’il s’agisse des congrès d’orientation ou d’investiture— doivent
effectivement faire partie de la contribution annuelle, seriez-vous
en faveur d’une augmentation de la limite de 1 000 dollars?
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Mr. Donison: I guess we would have to consider that at the
time. I do not think so. The point I made earlier is that the bulk of
donations people make to political parties are not just under
$1,000 but are under $200.

If a political party can run a national convention on a
break-even basis, or even on a profitable basis, if the $1,000 limit
becomes the ruling, it will not severely interfere with that. I would
not be supportive of that.

Senator Mercer: With regard to the comment about receipting
of conventions, if you do not receipt conventions I believe it is a
way to get around all the rules by having money flow into a
political party that is not regulated. A convention has to be paid
for by one means or another. If you charge $5 admission to the
convention and it costs $1 million to put it on and someone
donates the full amount, then that, in my opinion, is a major
contravention of the intention of all legislation, whether it
be Bill C-24 or Bill C-2.

I wish to talk about transparency. There is a lot of talk around
Parliament about transparency, in particular when it comes to
this bill. I am concerned that this bill does not address the issue of
transparency with respect to current members of Parliament who
have been — now or in the past — candidates for the leadership
of their political parties or previous political parties as they
existed. Mr. MacKay and Mr. Harper have both run for the
leadership of various political parties over the past number of
years. Mr. Harper has not disclosed his list of contributors to the
2002 Canadian Alliance convention.

Where is the transparency when we do not know who has
contributed? Are any of the companies that are getting lucrative
contracts with the government today on the list today of donors
to Mr. Harper? Similarly, Mr. MacKay had a very large debt
after his run at the leadership of the Conservative Party, and the
debt has now been retired. He has not disclosed the donors who
helped retire that debt. He is now in a position of influence where
contracts are being awarded. He has influence over Mr. Baird, as
has the Prime Minister, and they are handing out millions of
dollars of government contracts. I want to know, why are we not
addressing this issue of transparency so we can find out who gave
the money to Mr. Harper and Mr. MacKay?

Mr. Donison: The current law did regulate leadership
conventions. They were never regulated before. Are you
suggesting that Parliament retroactively legislate disclosure
requirements?

Senator Mercer: I would be happy with that in this case.

Senator Cools: How far back did you want to go?

Senator Mercer: I am concerned about the discussion about the
bureaucratization of the appointments of returning officers. I
have been personally opposed to this for a long time, and I
continue to oppose it because, quite frankly —

The Chairman: Opposed to letting it go to the Chief Electoral
Officer?

M. Donison: Je crois que nous devrions envisager cela. Je ne
crois pas que ce serait nécessaire toutefois. Comme je l’ai souligné
tout à l’heure, la majorité des contributions que versent les
particuliers aux partis politiques s’établissent en deçà de
200 dollars.

Si un parti politique peut tenir un congrès national sans faire de
déficit, ou même en réalisant un profit, si la limite de 1 000 dollars
doit être respectée, cela n’aurait aucune incidence. Je ne serais pas
en faveur d’une augmentation.

Le sénateur Mercer: Je veux revenir sur les propos concernant
la délivrance de reçus dans le cadre des congrès. Si aucun reçu
n’est donné, il s’agit là d’une façon je crois de contourner toutes
les règles, c’est-à-dire en permettant le versement de fonds non
déclarés à un parti politique. Un congrès doit se payer d’une
manière ou d’une autre. Si le droit d’entrée est de cinq dollars,
qu’il en coûte un million de dollars pour tenir le congrès et qu’une
personne fait un don représentant la somme totale du coût, il
s’agit là à mon avis d’une importante infraction à n’importe quelle
loi, que ce soit le projet de loi C-24 ou le projet de loi C-2.

Je veux parler de la transparence. On en parle beaucoup au
Parlement, surtout dans le cadre du présent projet de loi. Je crains
que cette mesure ne règle pas la question de la transparence en ce
qui concerne les députés actuels qui ont été— ou qui le sont en ce
moment — candidats à la direction de leur parti ou d’anciens
partis. M. MacKay et M. Harper ont tous les deux été candidats
à la direction de divers partis politiques ces dernières années.
M. Harper n’a pas divulgué la liste des donateurs qui ont
contribué au congrès de l’Alliance canadienne en 2002.

Où est la transparence? Nous ne savons pas qui a contribué. Y
a-t-il des sociétés auxquelles le gouvernement actuel accorde de
lucratifs contrats qui figurent sur la liste des donateurs de
M. Harper? De même, au terme de sa campagne à la direction du
Parti conservateur, M. MacKay était aux prises avec une dette
très lourde, qui est maintenant effacée. Il n’a pas dévoilé l’identité
des donateurs qui l’ont aidé à effacer cette dette. Il occupe
maintenant un poste d’influence qui lui permet d’attribuer des
contrats. Il exerce une influence sur M. Baird, à l’instar du
premier ministre. Le gouvernement verse des millions de dollars
en contrats. Je veux savoir pourquoi nous ne nous attaquons pas
à la question de la transparence de sorte que nous puissions savoir
qui a donné de l’argent à M. Harper et à M. MacKay.

M. Donison: La loi actuelle contient des dispositions visant les
congrès d’investiture. Ce sont les toutes premières règles à cet
égard. Laissez-vous entendre que le Parlement devrait légiférer de
manière rétroactive en matière de divulgation?

Le sénateur Mercer: Dans ce cas-ci, je serais ravi.

Le sénateur Cools: Jusqu’à quand voulez-vous remonter?

Le sénateur Mercer: Je suis préoccupé par la bureaucratisation
des nominations des directeurs de scrutin. Je m’oppose à cela
depuis longtemps et je continue de m’y opposer parce que, très
honnêtement...

Le président: Vous être contre le fait que ce serait le directeur
général des élections qui procéderait aux nominations?
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Senator Mercer: Yes. The system now works, and there are
occasions where you have problems. Senator Comeau commented
about having checks and balances, and having people appointed
who represent at least two of the political parties involved in a
race is a good way to have checks and balances. It goes back to
the days when we used to have an enumeration in this country,
and you had two enumerators, one from each of the two parties
that had the largest number of votes in the previous election. It
worked very well. We never had major problems with this.

I contend, and you have heard me say this before, that the
Chief Electoral Officer does not hire enough political people. He
does not have people who do politics practically. That does not
mean I want him to hire all Liberals. I do not want him to hire
Liberals, because I want them to work in the field, but I think he
should hire Conservatives and Bloc Québécois members and New
Democrats, and when they come in the door, they hang up their
political partisanship but not their political experience that allows
him to understand how politics works practically.

Mr. Donison: I repeat, I am not concerned. The conduct of a
federal general election is so central to our democracy that it is
important that it appear to be administered by totally impartial
officials. I have no difficulty with the increased bureaucratization
at this level. I do have those concerns elsewhere in government,
although; but I have no particular concern about this situation.

Senator Cools: I should like to begin by thanking Mr. Donison
for coming before us, and I especially thank him for his clear-
mindedness and lucidity and excellent explanation of the issues. I
had some questions, but I will pass on them so to assist the
committee to move ahead in time. Perhaps I can discover some of
this at another time.

I am very amazed at the enormity of organizing the issuance of
receipts, the actual machinery the party uses to process cheques,
donations of $10 here and $20 there and everywhere. I have
always been interested in getting insights into the actual
machinery and organizational models that one uses, because it
must be a daunting task. I shall find that out another time.

In addition to that, I wish to also thank you, Mr. Donison. A
political party is probably one of the world’s largest volunteer
organizations. You are dealing with armies of volunteers. As a
person who has run and been engaged in electoral politics, I know
the difficulties of just processing the names of these people. I want
to thank you for that.

Most important of all, I thank you for your own contribution
to what I would describe as a genesis. You have been piecing
together a party out of many disparate parts over the last many
years. I commend you for that, because that is no simple matter.
It is a gargantuan challenge, and you have been meeting that
challenge tremendously well. I do not think people understand the
enormity of it. Three years ago, this party did not exist, so, as they
used to say, you have come a long way, baby.

Le sénateur Mercer: Oui. Le système fonctionne bien, même si
à l’occasion il y a des problèmes. Le sénateur Comeau a parlé d’un
équilibre. En nommant des personnes qui représentent au moins
deux des partis politiques, il s’agit là d’une bonne façon d’établir
un équilibre. Cela rappelle l’époque où on nommait deux
recenseurs, soit un provenant de chacun des deux partis qui
avaient obtenu le plus grand nombre de votes aux élections
précédentes. Cela fonctionnait très bien; nous n’avons jamais
connu de graves problèmes.

Je le répète, j’estime que le directeur général des élections
n’embauche pas suffisamment de politiciens. Son personnel n’en
compte pratiquement aucun. Cela ne signifie pas que je souhaite
qu’il embauche tous les libéraux. En fait, je ne veux pas qu’il en
engage parce que je veux qu’ils travaillent sur le terrain, mais je
pense qu’il devrait embaucher des conservateurs, des bloquistes et
des néo-démocrates, qui, lorsqu’ils se présentent aux portes,
feraient abstraction de leur allégeance, mais non pas de leur
expérience en politique, qui leur permet de comprendre les
rouages du domaine.

M. Donison: Je le répète, je ne suis pas préoccupé. Les élections
fédérales occupent une place tellement importante dans notre
démocratie qu’il est essentiel qu’elles soient perçues comme étant
gérées par des personnes totalement objectives. Une plus grande
bureaucratisation ne me pose aucun problème dans ce cas-là. Cela
m’inquiète ailleurs au sein du gouvernement, mais dans ce cas-ci,
je n’ai aucune préoccupation.

Le sénateur Cools: Je veux d’abord remercier M. Donison de
comparaître devant nous et je le remercie particulièrement pour sa
lucidité et ses excellentes explications. J’avais des questions à
poser, mais je vais laisser faire pour que le comité puisse passer à
la prochaine partie de sa séance. Je pourrai peut-être obtenir des
réponses à un autre moment.

J’ai été très étonnée par l’ampleur de la tâche à accomplir pour
délivrer des reçus et traiter les chèques, qu’ils constituent des dons
de 10 $, de 20 $ ou d’autres sommes. Je me suis toujours
intéressée à l’organisation des partis politiques, car leur
fonctionnement semble être lourd. J’en apprendrai là-dessus à
une autre occasion.

Je veux aussi vous remercier, monsieur Donison. Les partis
politiques comptent probablement parmi les plus importants
organismes bénévoles du monde. Vous devez gérer une armée de
bénévoles. J’ai moi-même été candidate lors d’élections, et je
connais les difficultés que peut présenter le simple traitement des
noms de ces personnes. Je tiens donc à vous remercier.

Par-dessus tout, je vous remercie pour votre contribution. Ces
dernières années, vous avez réussi à bâtir un parti à partir de
nombreuses pièces disparates. Je vous félicite, car ce n’est pas une
tâche simple. C’est un défi gigantesque que vous avez su relever
extrêmement bien. Je ne crois pas que les gens saisissent l’ampleur
de la tâche. Il y a trois ans, ce parti n’existait pas, vous avez donc
fait beaucoup de chemin.
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On a passing note of levity, since it is fair to say that the days of
the old bagmen in politics are past and that that era is behind us,
in respect of patronage and bureaucratic patronage and political
patronage, a very old senator who had been a famous bagman
said to me one day, ‘‘Annie, there are only two kinds of
patronage. There is good patronage and bad patronage; there is
our patronage and their patronage.’’

Mr. Donison: Thank you for your remarks. I want to say that it
is certainly not me alone. There is the large and growing staff of
professional, paid people in Ottawa and out in the regions, and
also that army of volunteers that we depend upon to get the job
done.

Senator Cools: I should like to pay tribute to them also.
Government is a highly professional business, but the business of
actually mobilizing people on the ground is a fairly amateurish
business, but that is the nature of human beings. It is the nature of
this process and system that, at the end of the day, the entire
machinery of government sits and stands on that massive army of
volunteers around the country.

The Chairman: I thank the witness for coming. He has been fair
and candid. He handled our questions well, and we appreciate his
contributions to our deliberations.

Mr. Donison: It has been a privilege.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, our next witness is
Mr. Steven MacKinnon. Mr. MacKinnon, please proceed.

[Translation]

Mr. Steven MacKinnon, National Director, Liberal Party of
Canada: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to
comment on Bill C-2, which will have a major impact on the way
our electoral process works. It is entirely appropriate that you
take the time to thoroughly review the bill’s provisions.

Despite the very short time frame, we, like our counterparts
from the other parties, had an opportunity to share our views
about the legislation with the House of Commons committee. The
Liberal Party is an important stakeholder in this debate and I am
grateful for the chance to appear before this committee.

[English]

I am proud to be the National Director of the Liberal Party of
Canada, and I am proud to be here before you today. We will
have a formal submission that will be filed with the committee
and we hope you will give it due consideration. Today, I will sum
up our key recommendations and proposed amendments to this
legislation.

The proposed federal accountability act, we believe, is in
general — and the Liberal Party believes in general — a very
flawed act. A senior public servant recently told me that the
hardest problems to fix are the problems that do not exist. With
the Bill C-24 legislation of Prime Minister Chrétien, Liberal
legislation — the most sweeping electoral reform legislation
anywhere in the western world — we have today a modern

Il est juste de dire que l’époque des collecteurs de fonds en
politique est révolue. En ce qui a trait au favoritisme, politique et
bureaucratique, un très ancien sénateur m’a dit un jour ceci:
« Annie, il existe seulement deux types de favoritisme. Le bon et le
mauvais; le nôtre et le leur. »

M. Donison: Je vous remercie pour vos bons mots. Je tiens à
dire que je ne travaille pas seul. Je peux compter sur une
importante équipe de professionnels, des gens rémunérés qui
travaillent à Ottawa et dans les régions, ainsi que sur une armée de
bénévoles, comme vous l’avez dit.

Le sénateur Cools: Je tiens à leur rendre hommage également.
Le gouvernement est une entreprise hautement professionnelle, et
celle qui s’occupe de mobiliser les gens sur le terrain est plutôt
amateur, mais c’est là qu’on y trouve la vraie nature de l’être
humain. C’est sur cette importante armée de bénévoles que
s’appuie l’appareil gouvernemental.

Le président: Je remercie le témoin d’être venu. Il a été très
franc. Il a très bien répondu à nos questions, et nous lui sommes
reconnaissants d’avoir contribué à nos délibérations.

M. Donison: C’était un privilège pour moi.

Le président: Honorables sénateurs, notre prochain témoin est
M. Steven MacKinnon. Monsieur MacKinnon, allez-y s’il vous
plaît.

[Français]

Steven MacKinnon, directeur national, Parti libéral du Canada:
Monsieur le président, je vous remercie de me donner l’occasion
de commenter les dispositions du projet de loi C-2, projet de loi
qui aura un impact majeur sur les opérations et sur la conduite de
notre processus électoral. Il est tout à fait approprié que vous
preniez le temps d’étudier en profondeur ces dispositions.

Malgré un délai très court, nous avons eu, comme mes
homologues des autres partis, l’occasion de commenter cette
législation au comité de la Chambre des communes. Le Parti
libéral est un intervenant important dans ce débat et j’apprécie de
pouvoir comparaître seul devant vous.

[Traduction]

Je suis fier d’être le directeur national du Parti libéral du
Canada et de comparaître devant vous aujourd’hui. Nous
présenterons au comité un mémoire officiel qu’il examinera,
nous l’espérons, comme il se doit. Aujourd’hui, je vais résumer
nos principales recommandations et les amendements que nous
proposons à cette mesure législative.

Le projet de loi fédéral sur la responsabilisation est à notre avis
dans l’ensemble — et c’est ce que croit le Parti libéral en
général — une mesure législative qui comporte de nombreuses
lacunes. Un haut fonctionnaire m’a dit récemment que les
problèmes les plus difficiles à régler sont ceux qui n’existent pas.
Grâce au projet de loi C-24 du premier ministre Chrétien, une
mesure libérale — la Loi sur la réforme électorale la plus
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political system, a state-supported political system and a system
that we think has achieved some measure of equilibrium. That is
not to state that we endorse every provision of Bill C-24, but we
certainly endorse its philosophy and its provisions. As Liberals,
we are proud to have been the progenitors of that particular piece
of legislation. It is one of the critical parts of Mr. Chrétien’s
legacy that Bill C-24 is now the law of the land. We are happy to
live by that and we do live by that.

We believe the proposed federal accountability act, as it
impacts on political parties and the political process, will not
achieve stated aims. Moreover, and perhaps more troubling, we
believe it is a politically motivated piece of legislation that uses
Parliament as a blunt instrument to insert the law into the middle
of a planned democratic process of a political party. I refer
specifically — and that brings me to my first recommendation on
the bill — to the coming into force of this bill. We support
Mr. Kingsley’s intervention before the House committee; we
support the Bloc Québécois in their recommendation that the
coming into force of this bill not occur until January 1 of the year
following Royal Assent.

In terms of our leadership campaign, here we have 10 or
11 men and women who have made what I think all of you would
recognize to be very important life decisions to run for the
leadership of a political party. They have planned their lives
around that and have budgeted campaigns around that only to be
told that the rules may change in the middle of the game. While
their difficulty in raising money has been widely noted, I do note
some good improvement in that area. I think it would be patently
unfair — arguably antidemocratic — for Parliament, for no
compelling reason, to insert the law into the middle of a Liberal
leadership race.

I did hear Mr. Donison’s presentation and I want to underline
one thing that would contradict the philosophy that underlies
having this bill come into the force in the middle of year, against
the wishes of both the Chief Electoral Officer and most political
parties, and that is the planning of the Conservative leadership
convention. The Conservatives, to be clear about what they did,
met on Christmas Eve 2003 to formally call their leadership
convention so that they could duck and subtract themselves from
both the transparency and the political financing provisions of
Bill C-24. That is a matter of fact and that is a matter of public
record that anyone can check. For them to turn around today and
say, ‘‘While we snuck through a loophole in the law, we intend to
close that loophole today for the Liberal party,’’ arguably in the
middle of the biggest popular consultation in the history of our
party — disingenuous at least; antidemocratic, perhaps. We think
that the coming into force provisions of the act are onerous and
vexatious.

Second, conventions. I see Senator LeBreton here, a former
Progressive Conservative. She has received tax receipts for her
participation at Progressive Conservative Party conventions. That
is also a matter of public record. That is the way things operated
in the past; that is the way things have always operated. That is

ambitieuse en Occident — nous avons aujourd’hui un régime
politique moderne, qui nous a permis d’atteindre, nous croyons,
un certain équilibre. Il ne faut pas penser que nous appuyons
chacune des dispositions du projet de loi C-24, mais nous
soutenons sa philosophie et l’ensemble de son contenu. En tant
que libéraux, nous sommes fiers d’avoir donné naissance à cette
mesure législative. C’est un des plus importants éléments qui fait
partie de l’héritage laissé par M. Chrétien. Nous sommes ravis de
vivre selon cette loi.

Nous pensons que le projet de loi fédéral sur la
responsabilisation, compte tenu de ses incidences sur les partis et
le processus politiques, ne permettra pas d’atteindre les objectifs
prévus. De plus, ce qui est peut-être encore plus inquiétant, nous
pensons qu’il s’agit d’une mesure fondée sur des motivations
politiques et qui permet d’utiliser le Parlement comme un simple
moyen d’intégrer la loi dans un processus démocratique planifié
d’un parti politique. Je parle précisément— et cela m’amène à ma
première recommandation — de la date d’entrée en vigueur du
projet de loi. Nous sommes d’accord avec l’intervention de
M. Kingsley au Comité de la Chambre des communes; nous
approuvons la recommandation du Bloc québécois à l’effet que le
projet de loi C-2 entre en vigueur seulement le 1er janvier de l’année
suivant la sanction royale.

En ce qui a trait à notre course à la direction, nous avons
ici 10 ou 11 hommes et femmes qui ont pris la décision, sans doute
l’une des plus importantes de leur vie, de se porter candidats à la
direction d’un parti politique. Ils ont planifié leur vie en
conséquence et mené des campagnes électorales, et tout cela
pour se faire dire que les règles pourraient changer en cours de
route. Même si leur difficulté à amasser des fonds est bien connue,
j’ai constaté une certaine amélioration. Je pense qu’il serait
profondément injuste — voire antidémocratique — que le
Parlement adopte la loi en pleine course à la chefferie au sein
du Parti libéral.

J’ai entendu l’exposé de M. Donison et je tiens à souligner un
élément qui vient contredire l’argument du gouvernement visant à
mettre cette loi en vigueur en plein milieu de l’année, contre la
volonté du directeur général des élections et de la majorité des
partis politiques, et c’est la tenue du Congrès à la direction du
Parti conservateur. Je m’explique: les conservateurs se sont
rencontrés à la veille de Noël 2003 dans le cadre de leur congrès
à la direction afin de se soustraire aux dispositions relatives
à la transparence et au financement politique du projet de
loi C-24. C’est du domaine public, et n’importe qui peut le
vérifier. C’est comme s’ils nous disaient: « Notre parti contourne
la loi, mais nous voulons empêcher les libéraux d’en faire
autant », au beau milieu des plus importantes consultations de
toute l’histoire de notre parti. C’est de la mauvaise foi, c’est même
antidémocratique. Nous considérons que les dispositions
concernant l’entrée en vigueur de la loi sont sévères et vexatoires.

Parlons maintenant des congrès. Je vois le sénateur LeBreton
ici, une ancienne progressiste-conservatrice. Elle a obtenu des
reçus aux fins de l’impôt pour sa participation à des congrès du
Parti progressiste-conservateur. Cela aussi, c’est bien connu. Les
choses se passent ainsi depuis toujours. C’est ainsi que fonctionne
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the way the Liberal Party operates and the way at least the
Progressive Conservative Party and we believe the Reform Party
operated. That is the way that the New Democratic Party
operates. Conventions are a critical component in party
democracy. They set policy, they attract volunteers and energy,
and they are a compelling mix of democracy and show and
speech, and a meeting place in the crossroads of political parties
that have formed the underpinnings and the important basis of
much of Canadian public policy over the years, regardless of
political party. It has always been the case, at least as long as
political contributions have been regulated, that delegate fees to
those conventions have been tax deductible, and tax deductible on
the basis of another well-known principle, which is that the
amount of personal benefit, a lunch, a briefcase and whatnot,
would be deducted from that receiptable amount, but the amount
of money spent by a party on speakers, lights, carpeting, stages
and screens was not deducted from that amount.

That is the way charities operate. That is the way charity golf
tournaments operate. That is the way charity fundraising dinners
operate. That is the way political party conventions have
operated.

This bill does not address conventions. However, conventions
are very expensive. As Senator Zimmer correctly pointed out, the
Liberal Party budgets to break even on conventions. That is
generally the financial performance of conventions. We do not
use them as fundraisers, contrary to what Mr. Donison has said.

It was a telling moment when Mr. Baird came before you and
said, ‘‘I cannot find my tax receipt from the last convention.’’ He
was demonstrating that that was the first time that he had ever
really thought about it. A contribution limit of $1,000 that must
include the amount of a delegate fee to a political party
convention is fundamentally undemocratic and fundamentally
deters people from participating in the activities of their chosen
political party.

The Liberal Party of Canada calls upon you to consider an
amendment that would exempt convention delegate fees from
whatever contribution limit you choose fit to keep or change in
this bill.

There are a number of ways that that could occur. I leave it to
you to think about it or to consult with Elections Canada or the
Chief Electoral Officer on that. Much akin to the way
nominations are conducted, we could simply register a
convention and register a convention fee and allow anyone who
has paid that convention fee to be exempted by that amount in the
contributions limits. That is our second recommendation.

The third recommendation has to do with the contribution
limit itself. Senator Zimmer again referenced the report of retired
Judge Jean Moisan in Quebec.

[Translation]

Let us be clear on the meaning here. Justice Moisan makes a
reference to Pierre-F. Côté. Mr. Côté is internationally renowned
for his work in the elections field. He has presided over two

le Parti libéral, de même que le Parti progressiste-conservateur, à
tout le moins, et probablement aussi le Parti réformiste. C’est
aussi la façon dont agit le Nouveau Parti démocratique. Les
congrès sont essentiels à l’exercice de la démocratie au sein d’un
parti. On y établit des politiques, on y attire des bénévoles et des
gens dynamiques. Ce sont des tribunes importantes pour
renforcer la démocratie, faire des présentations, des discours et
des échanges pour les partis politiques ayant établi, au fil des ans,
le fondement de la plupart des politiques publiques canadiennes.
Il en a toujours été ainsi, depuis au moins aussi longtemps que les
contributions politiques sont réglementées, que les droits
d’inscription des délégués à ces congrès sont déductibles, et ce,
en fonction d’un autre principe bien connu, soit que le montant
des avantages personnels — un repas, un porte-documents, et
cetera— est soustrait des sommes admissibles, mais pas la somme
engagée par un parti pour le son, l’éclairage, les tapis, les estrades
et les écrans.

C’est ainsi que fonctionnent les organisations à but non
lucratif, celles qui font des tournois de golf ou des soupers pour
trouver de l’argent, et c’est la même chose pour les congrès
politiques.

Ce projet de loi ne traite pas des congrès. Toutefois, les congrès
coûtent très cher. Comme le sénateur Zimmer l’a fait remarquer à
juste titre, le Parti libéral équilibre son budget de façon à rentrer
dans ses frais. C’est le mieux qu’on puisse espérer. Il ne s’en sert
pas pour recueillir des fonds, contrairement à ce que pense
M. Donison.

Lors de sa comparution devant le comité, M. Baird nous a
dit qu’il ne trouvait plus son reçu du dernier congrès. Je trouve
cela très révélateur. Cela ne faisait que démontrer que c’était la
première fois qu’il y pensait réellement. Je considère qu’une limite
de contribution de 1 000 $, incluant le montant des droits
d’inscription des délégués aux congrès, est profondément
antidémocratique et empêche les gens de participer aux activités
du parti politique qui a leur faveur.

Le Parti libéral du Canada vous demande d’envisager un
amendement visant à exclure les droits d’inscription des délégués
aux congrès de la limite de contribution que vous déciderez de
garder ou de changer dans ce projet de loi.

Cela pourrait se produire de différentes façons. Je vous laisse le
soin d’y réfléchir ou de consulter Élections Canada ou le directeur
général des élections à ce sujet. Comme cela se fait pour la
procédure de nomination, nous pourrions simplement inscrire un
congrès ainsi que les droits d’inscription et permettre à quiconque
ayant payé ces droits de ne pas tenir compte de ce montant dans
les limites de contribution fixées. Il s’agit là de notre deuxième
recommandation.

La troisième recommandation vise le plafond des contributions
lui-même. Le sénateur Zimmer s’est une fois de plus reporté au
rapport du juge à la retraite, Jean Moisan, du Québec.

[Français]

Soyons clairs sur ce que cela signifie. Le juge Moisan fait
référence à Pierre-F. Côté. M. Côté a une renommée
internationale dans le domaine de la direction d’élections.
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referendums and over some of the most divisive elections in
this country’s history. Pierre-F. Côté also implemented
the 1978 legislation alluded to by Mr. Harper. This legislation
on political party financing was brought in by the government of
René Lévesque.

Today, Pierre-F. Côté is calling on the Government of Quebec
to amend this legislation to allow corporations, unions and
associations, that is corporations or individuals, to participate in
the political process by way of contributions.

This is a very significant development. I would expect that the
committee will be hearing from Mr. Côté and questioning him
about his position. However, I simply want to point out that
Pierre-F. Côté, the person responsible for implementing this
legislation championed by René Lévesque, is today
acknowledging that some of the legislative provisions were flawed.

[English]

Let us look around the world at western democracies and
G8 countries, which are countries that are analogous to Canada.
We are very fond of Australia these days. We are fond of the fact
that they have no contribution limits to political parties. New
Zealand similarly has no limits. Sweden has no limits. The U.K.
has no limits. In the U.S., the limit is $27,500. I am using
approximate Canadian dollars in all cases. In Japan, the amount
is $145,150; Spain, $60,500; Italy, $14,600; Ireland, $8,900; and
the next lowest — the lowest other than Canada — is France at
$6,500. The vast majority of those countries also permit
businesses, corporations, associations and unions to contribute
to political parties.

Let us talk about Canada. Canada has a limit of $5,000 in
Bill C-24, which was subsequently indexed, which in the Canadian
context is low, certainly low from unlimited. It has never been
studied or analyzed, we have never looked at this, but that was the
amount that was established as a sort of trade for the ability of
parties to derive funds from corporations, individuals in amounts
over that, and so on. We have never analyzed if that is the case.
We now have periods of minority governments at short intervals
with elections that cost $18 million. None of these things was
considered in Bill C-24. Philosophically, the underpinnings
of Bill C-24 were that there would always be a majority
government and a four-year cycle when parties would be able to
benefit from public financing to fundraise and then to pay this
$18-million cost and other costs that Mr. Donison referenced, and
come out without these onerous debts.

The Chairman: Can I ask you how much longer you intend to
make your presentation? Honourable senators would like some
time to ask questions.

Il a présidé deux référendums et des élections parmi les
plus déchirantes de l’histoire de notre pays. Pierre-F. Côté a
aussi implanté la loi dont fait mention M. Harper, soit celle
de 1978, sous le gouvernement de René Lévesque, sur le
financement des partis politiques.

Pierre-F. Côté recommande aujourd’hui au gouvernement du
Québec que cette loi soit modifiée pour permettre aux sociétés,
aux syndicats et aux associations de participer au processus
politique par le biais de contributions. On parle ici de personnes
morales ou d’individus.

Cette démarche est très significative. J’ose croire que vous
entendrez M. Côté et que vous lui poserez des questions sur son
point de vue. Toutefois, je souligne l’importance de son
intervention. Pierre-F. Côté, ayant été celui qui à l’époque fut
chargé d’implanter cette loi de René Lévesque, aujourd’hui avoue
que certaines de ses dispositions ont été un échec.

[Traduction]

Voyons ce qui se passe ailleurs dans le monde, dans les
démocraties occidentales et les pays du G-8, qui sont analogues au
Canada. Nous envions particulièrement l’Australie ces temps-ci,
car elle n’impose aucune limite de contribution aux partis
politiques, tout comme la Nouvelle-Zélande, la Suède et le
Royaume-Uni. Aux États-Unis, le plafond est fixé à 27 500 $. Je
parle ici en dollars canadiens approximatifs. Au Japon, la limite
est établie à 145 150 $; en Espagne, à 60 500 $; en Italie,
à 14 600 $; en Irlande, à 8 900 $. La France arrive en deuxième
position — tout juste après le Canada — avec une limite
de 6 500 $, ce qui est très peu. La grande majorité de ces pays
permettent également aux entreprises, aux sociétés, aux
associations et aux syndicats de contribuer aux caisses des partis
politiques.

Parlons maintenant du Canada. Le projet de loi C-24 prévoit
une limite de 5 000 $, qui sera par la suite indexée. Dans le
contexte canadien, une contribution de ce montant est minime,
surtout par rapport à une contribution illimitée. Ce plafond n’a
jamais fait l’objet d’une étude ou d’une analyse, et nous ne nous
en sommes jamais préoccupés, mais c’est le montant qui a été
établi, étant donné la possibilité qu’ont les partis de recueillir des
fonds beaucoup plus élevés auprès de sociétés, de particuliers, et
cetera Nous n’avons jamais cherché à savoir si c’était réellement le
cas. Nous sommes maintenant dirigés par des gouvernements
minoritaires, avec des élections à intervalles rapprochés qui
coûtent aux Canadiens plus de 18 millions de dollars. Pourtant, le
gouvernement n’en a pas tenu compte dans le projet de
loi C-24. Dans le fond, le projet de loi C-24 a été créé en
partant du principe qu’il y aurait toujours un gouvernement
majoritaire et des élections tous les quatre ans, et que les partis
pourraient bénéficier de fonds publics pour se financer et ainsi
assumer les 18 millions de dollars et les autres coûts mentionnés
par M. Donison, sans finir lourdement endettés.

Le président: Puis-je vous demander dans combien de temps
vous prévoyez terminer votre exposé? Les honorables sénateurs
aimeraient pouvoir poser des questions.
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Mr. MacKinnon:With your indulgence, I have very little left to
go, Senator Oliver.

Let us look at Alberta. Is Alberta to be described as
unaccountable for having a $15,000 limit, with $30,000 in an
election year? Is B.C. to be described as unaccountable for having
no limits? Is Ontario to be described as unaccountable for having
a $14,000 limit, or Quebec at $3,000? Is New Brunswick
unaccountable at $6,000? Richard Hatfield’s legislation,
arguably the best electoral legislation in the country, passed in
1982, allows corporations or individuals to give $6,000.

This is an amount that has been established by Mr. Harper and
his government as an amount they believe will adversely affect the
fortunes of the Liberal Party. We understand this. We understand
that the Liberal Party will abide by the law and obey it. In fact, we
are already progressing, as Mr. Donison noted, very quickly in
that direction. We have vastly improved our capacity to fundraise
among individuals. However, $1,000 from a $5,000 limit that has
never been studied is, we think, unfair. The Liberal Party policy is
the same as the policy that Mr. Chrétien implemented, which is
that the limit should stay as it is— that is, $5,000, plus subsequent
indexation. I would commend you to the comments of Judge
Moisan, and Pierre-F. Côté, who have the experience of dealing
with outright ban on political contributions by businesses, unions
and so on, and ask you, the chamber of sober second thought, to
consider the point of view of that much esteemed individual.

Our last recommendation and suggested amendment that we
commend to your attention is that of ensuring further
accountability. There have been leadership conventions in the
past 10 years— I would say 10 is a fair number. This bill accepts
retroactivity. In fact, Senator Segal has decried the application of
retroactivity in this bill, but it must be, if he is decrying it,
something the government finds acceptable to retroactively apply.
However, we do not propose, as other parts of the bill do, to
retroactively apply sanctions. We want to retroactively apply
accountability. We suggest, therefore, that any members of the
cabinet or the Prime Minister who have participated in the
leadership activities or the leadership choice processes of a
registered political party in the last 10 years be required to fully
disclose all the donations received by them.

This would include Mr. MacKay, as Senator Mercer pointed
out. It would include the Prime Minister himself. It would include
Mr. Clement, as well as Mr. Brison, who I think has,
commendably, already done so voluntarily, Mr. Prentice and
others who have participated in such activities.

We would ask why this headlong quest for accountability
would stop at the doorstep of the Prime Minister and ministers,
who now are accountable to Canadians, from disclosing the
financial influence that may or may not have been exerted on
them by these contributors to their leadership campaigns, which
are hidden, secret, undisclosed, and under the carpet.

M. MacKinnon: Si vous me le permettez, sénateur Oliver, je
n’en ai plus pour longtemps.

Prenons l’Alberta. Est-elle non redevable parce qu’elle
a une limite de 15 000 $ par année et de 30 000 $ au cours
d’une année électorale? La même question se pose pour la
Colombie-Britannique, qui n’a aucune limite, l’Ontario, avec une
limite de 14 000 $, le Québec, avec une limite de 3 000 $ et le
Nouveau-Brunswick, avec une limite de 6 000 $. Ces provinces
n’ont-elles de comptes à rendre à personne? La loi de Richard
Hatfield, adoptée en 1982, sans doute la meilleure loi électorale au
pays, permet aux sociétés et aux particuliers de faire une
contribution de 6 000 $.

Le gouvernement Harper a fixé cette limite en sachant qu’il
nuirait au Parti libéral. Nous comprenons tout cela. Et nous
comprenons aussi que le Parti libéral n’aura d’autre choix que de
respecter la loi. En fait, comme M. Donison l’a mentionné, nous
avons déjà fait des progrès en ce sens. Nous avons
considérablement amélioré notre capacité de recueillir des fonds
auprès des particuliers. Toutefois, nous trouvons injuste de
réduire à 1 000 $ une limite qui n’a jamais fait l’objet d’une
étude. Selon la politique du Parti libéral, mise en œuvre par
M. Chrétien, la limite devrait demeurer telle quelle — c’est-à-dire
à 5 000 $ — et ensuite être indexée. Je vous renvoie aux
commentaires du juge Moisan, et de Pierre-F. Côté, qui connaît
très bien l’interdiction des contributions politiques par les
entreprises, les syndicats, et cetera, et je vous demande, à vous
sénateurs, de considérer le point de vue de cet homme très
respecté.

Notre dernière recommandation et l’amendement que nous
portons à votre attention visent à assurer une meilleure reddition
de comptes. On a tenu des congrès à la direction au cours
des 10 dernières années — 10 me paraît juste. Ce projet de loi
prévoit d’appliquer le principe de rétroactivité. D’ailleurs,
le sénateur Segal a critiqué l’application de ce principe, mais
cela doit être quelque chose que le gouvernement juge bon
d’appliquer rétroactivement. Cependant, contrairement à d’autres
parties du projet de loi, nous ne proposons pas d’appliquer des
sanctions a posteriori, mais plutôt d’exiger des comptes
de façon rétroactive. Par conséquent, tous les membres du
Cabinet, y compris le premier ministre, ayant participé, au
cours des 10 dernières années, aux campagnes à la direction ou
aux processus de sélection des chefs de partis politiques
enregistrés devraient être tenus de déclarer tous les dons qu’ils
ont reçus.

Comme le sénateur Mercer l’a signalé, cette obligation viserait
non seulement M. MacKay, mais aussi le premier ministre
lui-même, M. Clement, de même que M. Brison qui, je pense,
l’a déjà fait spontanément, ce qui est louable, ainsi que
M. Prentice et d’autres ayant participé à ce genre d’activités.

Ne faudrait-il pas aussi demander des comptes au premier
ministre et aux ministres, qui ont maintenant une responsabilité
envers les Canadiens, sur l’influence financière qu’ont pu exercer
ces donateurs sur leurs courses à la direction, de manière cachée,
secrète, non divulguée et dissimulée?
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That sums up our four key recommendations on the bill. Our
brief will include others. I thank you, Senator Oliver, for your
indulgence, and I thank all senators.

The Chairman: When may we expect the paper you refer to?

Mr. MacKinnon: There are certain legal issues that we invoke
in that paper that I wish to run by further counsel, and then
obviously we will have it translated. We will have it before you as
soon as humanly possible, senator.

Senator Stratton: Thank you, Mr. MacKinnon, for attending
here today and appearing before us. As I have said throughout
these hearings, particularly on one occasion, no one around this
table would disagree that this bill is needed. That was the
concurrence of virtually all members of this committee. There is a
particular reason for it. It is to try to get over, for everyone’s sake,
the problems we consistently have as a country with what occurs
in politics.

I should like to read into the record just why this bill is
important. What I shall read comes from the Justice Gomery
report, chapter 16, on assigning responsibility. I wish to read it
into the record, and then ask you for your comments, because I
think this is the reason for this bill.

The Responsibility of the Liberal Party of Canada (Québec).
The method of providing for the financial needs of the
Québec wing of the Liberal Party of Canada, using
kickbacks obtained from Jacques Corriveau, from persons
deriving benefits from the Sponsorship Program, such as
Jean Brault (and probably others) is described elsewhere in
this report. The banality of the scheme makes
Mr. Corriveau’s participation particularly blameworthy.
The persons who accepted contributions in cash and other
improper benefits from Mr. Corriveau and Mr. Brault on
behalf of the LPCQ have brought dishonour upon
themselves and the political party they were supposed to
serve. For this reason, Michel Béliveau, Marc-Yvan Côté,
Benoît Corbeil and Joseph Morselli deserve to be blamed for
their misconduct, whether or not they derived personal
profit from the money which passed through their hands.
They disregarded the relevant laws governing donations to
political parties and contributed to the all-too-common
perception that many of those participating in the
democratic exercise of political activism are dishonest and
disreputable persons.

I take that as a personal affront, what they did.

The LPCQ, as an institution, cannot escape responsibility
for the misconduct of its officers and representatives. Two
successive Executive Directors were directly involved in
illegal campaign financing and many of its workers accepted
cash payments for their services when they should have
known that such payments were in violation of the Canada
Elections Act.

Cela résume nos quatre recommandations clés sur le projet de
loi. Notre mémoire en renfermera d’autres. Je vous remercie de
votre indulgence, sénateur Oliver, et merci aussi à tous les
sénateurs.

Le président: À quand le document auquel vous faites référence?

M. MacKinnon: Je dois d’abord consulter un conseiller
juridique sur certaines questions invoquées dans le document,
puis évidemment, nous devrons faire traduire le tout. Nous vous
le présenterons dès qu’il nous sera humainement possible de le
faire, sénateur.

Le sénateur Stratton: Merci beaucoup, monsieur MacKinnon,
d’être venu témoigner devant nous. Comme je l’ai dit tout au long
des audiences, particulièrement à une occasion, nul ne saurait nier
que ce projet de loi est nécessaire. Pratiquement tous les membres
du comité se sont entendus à ce sujet. Ce n’est pas pour rien. C’est
bien évidemment pour remédier aux problèmes politiques
auxquels notre pays doit constamment faire face.

Je vais vous lire un extrait du XVIe chapitre « Attribution de la
responsabilité » du rapport du juge Gomery, pour vous
démontrer l’importance de ce projet de loi. J’aimerais ensuite
recueillir vos commentaires sur cet extrait parce qu’à mon avis,
c’est la raison pour laquelle le gouvernement a présenté ce projet
de loi.

La responsabilité du Parti libéral du Canada (Québec). J’ai
décrit ailleurs dans ce rapport la méthode adoptée pour
combler les besoins financiers de l’aile québécoise du Parti
libéral du Canada, c’est-à-dire le système de pots-de-vin mis en
place par Jacques Corriveau, qui consistait à puiser dans les
bénéfices que le Programme de commandites rapportait à des
personnes comme Jean Brault, et probablement à d’autres. À
cause du caractère vénal de ce procédé malhonnête, la
participation de M. Corriveau est particulièrement
condamnable. Ceux qui ont accepté de M. Corriveau et de
M. Brault, au nom du PLCQ, des contributions en liquide et
d’autres avantages malhonnêtes se sont déshonorés et ont
déshonoré le parti politique qu’ils étaient censés servir. C’est
pour cette raison que l’on doit blâmer Michel Béliveau, Marc-
Yvan Côté, Benoît Corbeil et Joseph Morselli, même s’ils
n’ont pas personnellement tiré profit des sommes qui sont
passées entre leurs mains. Ils ont agi au mépris des lois
régissant les dons aux partis politiques et ont contribué à
entretenir la perception, beaucoup trop répandue, que bon
nombre des militants politiques qui participent à l’exercice
démocratique sont malhonnêtes et suspects.

J’y vois une attaque personnelle, tout comme eux.

L’institution qu’est le PLCQ est forcément responsable des
fautes de ses dirigeants et représentants. Deux directeurs
généraux successifs ont directement trempé dans des
opérations illégales de financement électoral, et de nombreux
travailleurs du Parti ont accepté d’être payés en liquide pour
leurs services alors qu’ils auraient dû savoir que cela était
contraire aux dispositions de la Loi électorale du Canada.
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I will stop there, and say this to you: The reason for this bill is
abundantly clear from what I have read to you. It is important
that this bill be passed expeditiously so that this does not occur
ever again. Could I have your comments?

Mr. MacKinnon: I have a number of comments, but let me start
here. I would like to read you a quote.

But to dismiss an entire party, or all its members in Quebec,
or an entire advertising industry, or all partisans in Quebec,
or an entire political generation, or all federalists in Quebec,
as being in one way or another part of one or several
criminal conspiracies is both over the top and likely more
about partisan excess, sovereignist self-righteousness or
anti-Quebec bigotry, dependent on the source.

Senator Hugh Segal.

Senator Stratton: I would quite agree with that.

Senator Day: You read quite a bit into the record. I think it is
only fair to let the witness answer.

Senator Stratton: I apologize for the interruption. I thought he
had finished.

Mr. MacKinnon: Depending on the source, it is self-righteous
or bigoted, according to Senator Segal, whose intervention I think
was welcome and lucid.

I know the Gomery report well. I am a member of the political
party that called the Gomery commission. As far as I know, I am
a member of the only political party that remains committed to
implementing the recommendations of Justice Gomery. The
proposed federal accountability act does nothing to implement
Justice Gomery’s recommendations. In fact, it is widely
acknowledged in the Conservative government that Justice
Gomery’s recommendations have been categorically rejected in
the accountability bill. Justice Gomery certainly did not
recommend that we change the fundamental underpinnings of
our elections act in the middle of this year. Justice Gomery did
not recommend that we lower our contribution limits or ban
corporations from being able to freely participate in the political
process. Justice Gomery did not believe that the Prime Minister
should fail to disclose his donations for political office, should
refuse repeatedly to disclose his donations for high political office.

I testified before Justice Gomery and gave him all of the
measures that have been put in place by the Liberal Party to
ensure that this would not happen again. I told him that we had
kicked out the five individuals you named. They are no longer
members of our party. I told him about the financial checks and
balances that we put in place. I told him about how we now relate
to our provincial and territorial associations and ensure that their
financial compliance is like ours, consolidated and within the
confines of the law at all times. I told Justice Gomery that,
whatever he determines the amount is that was wrongfully
obtained in the course of whatever happened in the sponsorship
affair, we would return it to the taxpayers. I told Justice Gomery
that when I testified before him.

Je vais conclure en disant que d’après ce que je viens de lire, il
est évident que ce projet de loi est nécessaire. Il est très important
que ce projet de loi soit adopté sans tarder pour éviter qu’un tel
scandale ne se reproduise. Pourrais-je avoir vos commentaires?

M. MacKinnon: J’ai plusieurs choses à dire, mais permettez-moi
d’abord de vous lire cette citation:

Mais considérer tout un parti, tous ses membres au Québec,
toute l’industrie de la publicité, tous les partisans au Québec,
toute une génération politique ou tous les fédéralistes au
Québec, comme ayant participé, de près ou de loin, à l’un ou
plusieurs de ces complots criminels, et s’en débarrasser, est
vraiment trop exagéré, et c’est la preuve d’une partisanerie
excessive, d’une outrecuidance souverainiste ou d’un
fanatisme anti-Québec, selon les cas.

Sénateur Hugh Segal.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je suis tout à fait d’accord.

Le sénateur Day: Vous avez suffisamment lu aujourd’hui. Il me
semble que ce serait la moindre des choses que de laisser répondre
le témoin.

Le sénateur Stratton: Pardon pour l’interruption. Je croyais
qu’il avait terminé.

M. MacKinnon: Selon les cas, c’est outrecuidant ou fanatique,
d’après le sénateur Segal. Son intervention est, à mon avis, claire
et opportune.

Je connais bien le rapport Gomery. Je suis membre du parti
politique ayant institué la Commission Gomery. À ma
connaissance, j’appartiens au seul parti politique déterminé à
mettre en œuvre les recommandations du juge Gomery. Le projet
de loi fédérale sur la responsabilité ne donne aucunement suite à
ses recommandations. En vérité, il est largement reconnu que le
gouvernement conservateur en a fait fi dans son projet de loi. Le
juge Gomery n’a certainement pas recommandé de modifier les
fondements de notre loi électorale en plein milieu de l’année, ni de
réduire la limite des contributions ou encore d’interdire aux
sociétés de participer librement au processus politique. Il ne
croyait pas que le premier ministre pouvait omettre de divulguer
des renseignements concernant les dons qu’il recevait en raison de
ses fonctions ou refuser continuellement de déclarer les dons qu’il
recevait à titre de haut responsable politique.

Lorsque j’ai comparu devant le juge Gomery, je l’ai informé de
toutes les mesures qu’avait prises le Parti libéral pour éviter qu’un
tel scandale ne se reproduise, notamment écarter les cinq
personnes que vous avez nommées. Ils ne sont plus membres de
notre parti. Je lui ai parlé du système de freins et de contrepoids
que nous avons mis en place. J’ai également expliqué comment
nous nous sommes rapprochés de nos associations provinciales et
territoriales pour nous assurer que leurs états financiers étaient, en
tout temps, conformes aux nôtres, consolidés et fidèles à la loi.
J’ai également dit au juge Gomery que nous rembourserions aux
contribuables la totalité de la somme, aussi importante soit-elle,
résultant des transactions frauduleuses réalisées dans le cadre du
programme des commandites. C’est ce que je lui ai dit lors de ma
comparution.
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The day Justice Gomery released the report from which you
quote, the Liberal Party delivered to the Receiver General of
Canada a cheque in the amount of $1.4 million, which represents
an amount beyond the amount identified by Justice Gomery in his
report. We did that all without federal accountability legislation,
senator. I was disgusted with what happened in sponsorship, as
was my predecessor. We corrected those problems. We made full
and complete restitution to the Government of Canada and the
taxpayers of Canada as a result of those problems. We have paid
a high political price for those problems. However, to call this
proposed act a response to that is like saying the Highway Traffic
Act of Ontario will stop all drunk driving. You may have a
member of your party today that you are unaware of doing
something akin to what occurred there. You do not know that.
This proposed act will not prevent that. People break the law.

The Chairman: There are seven other senators who wish to ask
questions of you today. I do not know if you were here at the
beginning of the sessions, but we have several political parties
today. Each party is being given an hour. You mentioned in your
opening remarks that you are appearing alone, and I would ask
that you give honourable senators an opportunity to put their
questions. As I asked the previous witness from the Conservative
Party, it would help us if your responses could be a little more
concise, so that all honourable senators can be heard.

Mr. MacKinnon: Thank you, senator. I believe I have finished
with that question.

Senator Stratton: I respect you for your response in the fact
that the party did do what it did. With due respect, that was the
correct thing to do.

It is true that you cannot prevent, that you can only try to limit
what transpires. I do not believe that in this day and age a
company should be allowed to donate $5,000. It has become a
matter of principle that people, not corporations or companies,
elect governments. It is important that the people of Canada have
the opportunity to say to themselves, if they make a contribution
of $50, that that contribution is significant, as compared to the
$5,000 contribution by a company. When people think of
a $50 contribution as compared to a $5,000 contribution by a
company, the perception is this: ‘‘Who gets to see the boss?’’ That
has got to stop.

Mr. MacKinnon: I am sorry. Could you repeat the last part of
what you said, senator?

Senator Stratton: Essentially, a $50 contribution by an
individual may be a significant sum for that individual. That
individual’s reaction to a contribution of $5,000 by a corporation
may be, ‘‘Guess who gets to see the boss.’’ That is the public
perception. It has got to end.

Mr. MacKinnon: Well, I guess who gets to see the boss are
those attending the private reception for the Conservative Party
of Canada in Montreal next month. Contrary to their stated
policy, selling a $2,000 ticket for a private cocktail reception,
Mr. Harper, I believe, said something about these private cocktail

Le jour où le juge Gomery a publié le rapport que vous avez
cité, le Parti libéral a remis au receveur général du Canada un
chèque de 1,4 million de dollars, soit d’un montant supérieur à
celui inscrit dans le rapport Gomery. Et nous l’avons fait sans loi
fédérale sur la responsabilité, sénateur. J’ai été dégoûté par toute
l’affaire des commandites, tout comme l’était mon prédécesseur.
Nous avons réparé les dégâts. Nous avons entièrement remboursé
le gouvernement du Canada et les contribuables. Nous avons
certes payé un fort prix politique. Toutefois, dire que ce projet de
loi est une panacée, ce serait comme dire que le Code de la route
de l’Ontario peut mettre un terme au problème de l’alcool au
volant. Un de vos collègues commet peut-être de pareilles fraudes
sans que vous ne le sachiez. Vous l’ignorez. Ce projet de loi
n’empêchera pas de telles choses. Les lois sont faites pour être
contournées.

Le président: Il y a sept autres sénateurs qui souhaitent vous
poser des questions aujourd’hui. Je ne sais pas si vous étiez là au
début de la séance, mais nous avons plusieurs partis politiques
aujourd’hui. Chaque parti a une heure. Vous avez mentionné
dans votre déclaration liminaire que vous comparaissiez seul, et je
vous demanderais de laisser aux sénateurs l’occasion de vous
poser des questions. Comme je l’ai demandé au témoin précédent
du parti conservateur, je vous prierais d’être un peu plus concis
dans vos réponses pour que tous les sénateurs puissent être
entendus.

M. MacKinnon: Merci, sénateur. Je pense que j’en ai terminé
de cette question.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je vous respecte pour votre réponse sur ce
que le parti a fait. En toute déférence, c’était la chose à faire.

Il est vrai qu’on ne peut rien prévenir qu’on ne peut qu’essayer
de limiter les dégâts apparents. Je ne pense pas qu’aujourd’hui,
une entreprise devrait pouvoir donner cinq mille dollars. C’est
devenu une question de principe que les personnes et non les
entreprises élisent les gouvernements. Il importe que les citoyens
du Canada puissent se dire que s’ils versent une contribution
de cinquante dollars, leur contribution est aussi importante que la
contribution de cinq mille dollars d’une entreprise. Lorsque les
gens réfléchissent à une contribution de cinquante dollars en
comparaison avec une contribution de cinq mille dollars d’une
entreprise, la perception est la suivante: qui réussit à parler au
patron? Cela doit cesser.

M. MacKinnon: Je suis désolé. Pouvez-vous répéter la dernière
chose que vous avez dites, monsieur le sénateur?

Le sénateur Stratton: En gros, une contribution personnelle
de cinquante dollars peut représenter une somme importante
pour la personne. La réaction de cette personne à une
contribution de cinq mille dollars d’une entreprise pourrait être:
devinez qui réussit à parler au patron? C’est la perception du
public. Cela doit cesser.

M. MacKinnon: Eh bien, je suppose que ceux qui réussissent à
parler au patron sont ceux qui vont participer à la réception
privée du Parti conservateur du Canada à Montréal le mois
prochain. Contrairement à ce qu’il dit dans sa politique,
M. Harper vend les billets deux milles dollars pour une
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receptions repeatedly. Apparently, the Minister of Citizenship
and Immigration has not spoken to the Prime Minister because he
will be attending for $2,000 in Westmount.

Senator Stratton: I disagree with that.

Mr. MacKinnon: Will any $50 donors be there?

[Translation]

I would like to quote an excerpt from the Moisan report. I
respect your views, senator. However, I also respect the opinions
of those who have worked on and given serious thought to the
Elections Act, to electoral principals and to the foundations of
our country’s electoral system.

Justice Moisan stated the following, and I quote:

Today, at a time when the dollar is constantly being
devalued and a party’s needs are constantly increasing, it is
not possible to influence in any way a party’s decisions or
directions by contributing a maximum of $10,000 or
$15,000 per party. Such contributions allow corporations
to express in a tangible way their support for a particular
party, one that in their minds, best represents causes near
and dear to them, or one that eventually can achieve for
them significant fringe or financial benefits.

That is the opinion of Justice Moisan who chaired the Quebec
Commission of Inquiry into illegal political party contributions
further to allegations that the Parti Québécois had accepted illegal
contributions in violation of Quebec’s Election Act.

With all due respect, senator, I accept and support Judge
Moisan’s findings.

[English]

The Chairman: Mr. MacKinnon, I make the comment that I
made before. I have eight honourable senators who want to ask
questions. We have 25 minutes left. Your answers have been
extremely long, and I want to give honourable senators an
opportunity to put a question to you. I would ask for a little bit of
your cooperation.

Senator Zimmer: Mr. MacKinnon, thanks for your attendance
here today and for your insight into this area of political
donations.

I am interested in what you said about conventions. Why do
you think there is such little mention in this bill about
conventions, given we all agree it is an important part of the
democratic process?

Mr. MacKinnon: My theory is that it was completely missed in
the haste to draft a weighty, omnibus piece of legislation. My
theory — it is only a theory, so accept it as such — is that the
Conservative Party just missed this. The party forgot that they
should have issued receipts to their convention. The Conservative
Party did not realize, in drafting the bill, that this would have an

réception privée, et je pense qu’il a souvent parlé de ces petites
réceptions privées. De toute évidence, le ministre de la
Citoyenneté et de l’Immigration n’a pas parlé au premier
ministre, parce qu’il va participer à la réception de Westmount
pour deux milles dollars.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je ne suis pas d’accord.

M. MacKinnon: Y aura-t-il des donateurs de cinquante dollars?

[Français]

Laissez-moi vous lire une citation du rapport Moisan. Je
respecte vos opinions, sénateur. Mais je respecte d’autant plus les
opinions de ceux qui ont œuvré, travaillé, réfléchi et songé à la loi
électorale, aux principes électoraux et aux fondements électoraux
du pays.

Le juge Moisan a dit, et je cite:

Une contribution maximale de 10 000 $ ou 15 000 $ par
parti ne peut permettre d’exercer une influence quelconque
sur les décisions et l’orientation d’un parti, à une époque où
le dollar subit une constante dévaluation, où les besoins des
partis sont en constante augmentation. Elle permet alors aux
personnes morales de manifester tangiblement leur soutien
au parti de leur choix, celui qui dans leur esprit correspond
le mieux aux causes qui leur sont chères, ou celui qui peut
éventuellement leur apporter des avantages sociaux ou des
bénéfices financiers importants.

C’est l’opinion du juge Moisan qui a présidé à une commission
d’enquête au Québec sur la question des contributions illégales
aux partis politiques suite à des allégations selon lesquelles des
contributions illégales avaient été versées au Parti québécois
menant ainsi à un bris de la loi électorale du Québec.

Avec respect, sénateur, j’accepte les réflexions du juge Moisan
et j’appuie les réflexions du juge Moisan.

[Traduction]

Le président: Monsieur MacKinnon, je vous répète ce que je
vous ai déjà dit. Il y a huit sénateurs qui veulent poser des
questions. Il nous reste 25 minutes. Vos réponses sont
extrêmement longues, et je veux permettre aux sénateurs de
vous poser une question. Je vous demanderais un peu de
coopération.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur MacKinnon, je vous remercie
de votre présence ici aujourd’hui et de votre point de vue sur les
dons politiques.

Ce que vous avez dit sur les congrès a suscité mon intérêt.
Pourquoi pensez-vous qu’on fait si peu mention des congrès dans
ce projet de loi, compte tenu que nous sommes tous d’accord qu’il
s’agit d’une partie importante du processus démocratique?

M. MacKinnon: Ma théorie, c’est que ce sujet a été
complètement omis dans la rédaction hâtive d’un projet de loi
lourd et englobant. Ma théorie (et ce n’est qu’une théorie, je le
reconnais), c’est que le Parti conservateur a omis cet aspect. Le
parti a oublié qu’il devait remettre des reçus à son congrès. Le
Parti conservateur ne s’est pas rendu compte, lorsqu’il a rédigé ce
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adverse effect on conventions, and now are trying to stonewall to
cover that important and flagrant miss — because ignorance of
the law is no defence, as you know.

I repeat: Millions of dollars of undisclosed contributions to the
Conservative Party put behind a wall, contributions that we may
never find about. People may have over-contributed to the
Conservative Party, and we will never know about it. To take this
to it its fullest possible extent, the Conservative Party could have a
$10,000 delegate fee to a convention, and we would never know
because they could always claim they broke even on the
convention, so it would create a huge loophole for political
parties to hide, shield and keep under the carpet a huge
contribution.

To take it to its fullest possible extent, the Conservative Party’s
position on conventions is wrong. It is wrong traditionally, and it
is wrong in how the proposed act — it is wrong in terms of how
practice has evolved over the years. The Chief Electoral Officer is
fundamentally saying, in diplomatic terms, that it is wrong, and
the proposed act in ignoring the treatment of conventions is also
wrong. It fundamentally deters people from attending and
participating in political party conventions. Liberals,
Conservatives and New Democrats think that is wrong.

Senator Zimmer: Regarding your fourth recommendation, is
your party comfortable with going back 10 years in disclosure?

Mr. MacKinnon: Absolutely, and to my knowledge,
participants in our leadership processes have voluntarily
disclosed all contributions.

Senator Zimmer: Regarding the level of donations you have
talked about around the world on the subject of corporate and
union donations — you mentioned many countries around the
world — where does your party stand? Where do you stand?
What do you think the recommendation should be in terms of
levels?

Mr. MacKinnon: We support the position of former Prime
Minister Chrétien’s government, and we support Bill C-24, which
lowered the limits to levels, as I have demonstrated, that are the
lowest in the Western world and among the lowest, if not the
lowest, in Canada and the provinces. We think it has achieved
some level of equilibrium, although we do yearn for a chance to
participate in a proper evaluation and study of that legislation.

Senator Zimmer: You have a large staff that is dealing with the
regulations from Bill C-24. There has been no formal study of
that bill’s effectiveness as proscribed in the bill. If we were to
conduct a study today, what do you believe it would tell us about
how effective Bill C-24 has been in achieving its objectives?

projet de loi, qu’il aurait un effet négatif sur les congrès et il est en
train d’essayer de faire de l’obstruction pour empêcher la
réparation de cette omission importante et flagrante, parce que
l’ignorance de la loi ne constitue pas une défense en droit, comme
vous le savez.

Je le répète: des millions de dollars de contributions non
divulguées au Parti conservateur ont été faites derrière des portes
closes, des contributions dont nous ne pourrions jamais entendre
parler. Il y a peut-être des gens qui ont trop contribué à la caisse
du Parti conservateur, mais nous ne le saurons jamais. Pour
pousser la chose à l’extrême, le Parti conservateur pourrait
charger 10 000 $ par délégué pour participer à un congrès, et nous
ne le saurions jamais parce qu’il pourrait toujours affirmer rentrer
dans ses frais pour ce congrès, donc cela créerait une énorme
échappatoire pour les partis politiques, un moyen de camoufler
d’énormes contributions.

Si on la pousse à l’extrême, la position du Parti conservateur
sur les congrès est vraiment reprochable. La façon dont il agit
depuis longtemps est reprochable, la façon dont la loi proposée
est rédigée est reprochable, la façon dont l’usage a évolué au fil
des années est reprochable. Le directeur général des élections dit
essentiellement, de façon diplomatique, que cette position est
reprochable et que le projet de loi est reprochable aussi quant à la
façon dont il reste muet sur le traitement des congrès.
Cela empêche fondamentalement les gens de participer aux
congrès des partis politiques. Les libéraux, les conservateurs et
les néo-démocrates estiment que c’est reprochable.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Concernant votre quatrième
recommandation, votre parti serait-il prêt à accepter de
divulguer les contributions remontant jusqu’à il y a dix ans?

M. MacKinnon: Absolument, et à ma connaissance, les
participants à notre course au leadership divulguent
volontairement toutes les contributions.

Le sénateur Zimmer: À propos du montant des dons dont vous
avez parlé dans le monde pour les dons des entreprises et des
syndicats (vous avez mentionné beaucoup de pays du monde),
quelle est la position de votre parti? Où vous situez-vous? Quelle
devrait être la recommandation, selon vous, concernant le
montant des dons?

M. MacKinnon: Nous appuyons la position du gouvernement
de l’ancien premier ministre Chrétien et appuyons le projet de
loi C-24, qui abaissait les limites, comme je l’ai montré, au niveau
le plus bas des pays occidentaux et parmi les niveaux les plus bas,
sinon le plus bas, au Canada et dans les provinces. Nous pensons
avoir atteint un certain équilibre, bien que nous ayons très envie
de pouvoir participer à une évaluation en bonne et due forme de
ce projet de loi.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Vous avez beaucoup de personnel qui
s’occupe du règlement du projet de loi C-24. Il n’y a eu aucune
étude officielle sur l’efficacité du projet de loi, tel que le prescrivait
le projet de loi. Si nous effectuions cette étude aujourd’hui, que
croyez-vous qu’elle nous révélerait sur l’efficacité du projet de
loi C-24 dans l’atteinte de ses objectifs?
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Mr. MacKinnon: Bill C-24 has gone a long way and certainly
put Canada at the front of the pack in ensuring accountability,
transparency and efficiency in our electoral process.

However, it has had some adverse effects. One is the
professionalization of politics. Every riding association now
needs an auditor, a CA, and that person must be paid. That
person cannot be a volunteer. It has gone a long way in making
political parties unwieldy bureaucracies in terms of administering
and complying with the law. For that, we need professionals such
as legal counsel, professional accountants and others who are
expert in financial systems and other things. Those effects have
not been truly measured.

However, the overriding thing that Bill C-24 has done is
impose a burden on volunteers of all political parties. I know that
the Conservative Party as well as my counterparts in the other
party are preoccupied about the paper burden on volunteers.
People do not get into politics to fill out Elections Canada forms
and financial forms. People get into politics because they love
their country and want to improve it. However, we have snowed
volunteers of all political stripes under a mountain — an
avalanche — of forms and compliance that I would say is a
perverse effect of this rush to accountability and transparency,
and some simplification of that process should be contemplated.

The Chairman: I would ask the honourable witness to provide
an opportunity to all honourable senators who want to ask
questions to do so within our time constraints. I also ask for
cooperation from all of whom would like an opportunity to ask a
question.

Mr. MacKinnon: I will endeavour to be as concise at possible.

Senator Mercer: I am the one person around this table who
carries more scars from Bill C-24 than perhaps anyone else.

You have talked about compliance. I want to put on the record
the burden that Bill C-24 has put on political parties. What
percentage of your staff today is dedicated to compliance with
Bill C-24 and other regulations imposed by government?

Mr. MacKinnon: In the national office, three quarters.

Senator Mercer: What would that be in terms of the budget of
your professional staff?

Mr. MacKinnon: Probably three quarters, same proportion.

Senator Mercer: I want to say they are all very competent and
dedicated people because I know them all.

I just need to get on the record that there is a large price to be
paid for this — political parties should pay — and we should
recognize that.

M. MacKinnon: Le projet de loi C-24 a fait beaucoup de
chemin et a certainement mis le Canada à l’avant-plan pour ce qui
est d’assurer la responsabilité, la transparence et l’efficacité dans
notre processus électoral.

Cependant, il a eu quelques effets négatifs. L’un d’eux est la
professionnalisation de la politique. Toutes les associations de
circonscription ont maintenant besoin d’un vérificateur, d’un
comptable agréé, et cette personne doit être payée. Elle ne peut
pas travailler bénévolement. Il a contribué beaucoup à faire des
partis politiques des bureaucraties lourdes et complexes pour ce
qui est de l’administration et de l’observation de la loi. Pour cette
raison, nous avons besoin de professionnels comme des avocats,
des comptables et d’autres experts des systèmes financiers, entre
autres. L’ampleur de ces effets n’a pas vraiment été mesurée.

Quoi qu’il en soit, le principal effet du projet de loi C-24 a été
d’imposer un fardeau aux bénévoles de tous les partis politiques.
Je sais que le Parti conservateur, tout comme mes homologues de
l’autre parti, se préoccupe de la paperasse imposée aux bénévoles.
Les gens n’entrent pas en politique pour remplir des formulaires
financiers et des formulaires d’Élections Canada. Les gens entrent
en politique parce qu’ils aiment leur pays et qu’ils veulent
l’améliorer. Cependant, nous ensevelissons les bénévoles de toute
allégeance politique sous une montagne, une avalanche de
formulaires et de mesures d’observations de la loi, ce qui, à
mon avis, est un effet pervers de cette course pour la
responsabilité et la transparence. Il serait bon d’envisager des
moyens de simplifier ce processus.

Le président: Je demanderais à notre témoin de laisser à tous les
sénateurs qui veulent lui poser des questions la chance de le faire
dans nos limites de temps. Je demanderais également la
collaboration de tous ceux d’entre vous qui voudriez poser une
question.

M. MacKinnon: Je vais m’efforcer d’être le plus concis possible.

Le sénateur Mercer: Je suis la personne autour de cette
table qui porte le plus grand nombre de cicatrices du projet de
loi C-24.

Vous avez parlé d’observation de la loi. J’aimerais parler
officiellement du fardeau que le projet de loi C-24 impose aux
partis politiques. Quel est le pourcentage de votre personnel,
aujourd’hui, qui se consacre au respect du projet de loi C-24 et
des autres règlements imposés par le gouvernement?

M. MacKinnon: Au bureau national, les trois quarts.

Le sénateur Mercer: Quelle proportion du budget prévu pour
votre personnel professionnel cela représente-t-il?

M. MacKinnon: Probablement les trois quarts, la même chose.

Le sénateur Mercer: Je tiens à dire que ce sont toutes des
personnes très compétentes et appliquées, parce que je les connais
toutes.

Je tiens seulement à souligner officiellement qu’il y a un grand
prix à payer pour cela, un prix pour les partis politiques, et qu’il
faut le reconnaître.
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Senator Milne: Mr. MacKinnon, Mr. Donison pointed out the
countries and provinces that ban corporate donations, and that of
course includes Quebec.

Why do you think Judge Moisan and Mr. Côté have changed
their minds about corporate donations?

Mr. MacKinnon: Justice Moisan relies heavily on Mr. Côté in
coming to his conclusions. They speak, as Senator Segal has
spoken, of a moral hazard, of enacting regulations that are so
stringent that they become unenforceable and people find their
way around them.

To refer back to an earlier question, our party has not been
immune from that, even pre-dating current electoral legislation.
Other parties, I will argue, will not be immune from it in the
future.

If you create a rule that is hard not only to enforce but to live
by, bad people will find a way around it. I just described to
Senator Mercer the very significant investment we make in
compliance. Despite those investments, there are individuals —
for example, 200,000 people in the country walk around with a
Liberal card. Fundamentally, that is all one of these five people in
the sponsorship scandal did, walk around with a Liberal card
claiming they were someone they were not with authority they did
not have. That could be occurring today in the Conservative
Party. We do not know that. The proposed federal accountability
act will be a piece of dust to those people.

If rules are made that people will seek to get around, then a
moral hazard is created that, I would submit, Parliament should
not put in front of the Canadian people. Mr. Moisan agrees with
that, as well as perhaps the best expert in the country on this issue,
Mr. Côté. After 13 or 14 years of supervising that very law, he
also has come to that conclusion.

Senator Milne: In your opinion, do you think that the
contribution provisions in this bill would withstand a Charter
challenge? Would you argue that these provisions unnecessarily
limit the right of Canadians to participate in the political process?

Mr. MacKinnon: I am not a lawyer. As Senator Segal knows, as
one of my former professors at Queen’s, I am more inclined to the
business side of the industry.

Incidentally, I have to talk to you, Senator Segal, about my
mark in that course at some point.

Seriously, I do not believe that many provisions of this
proposed act will survive the Charter challenge. The Supreme
Court will rely heavily on a case called Harper v. Canada
(Attorney General) in coming to that conclusion.

Le sénateur Milne: Monsieur MacKinnon, M. Donison a
nommé les pays et provinces qui interdisent les dons
d’entreprises, et cela comprend bien sûr le Québec.

Pourquoi pensez-vous que le juge Moisan et M. Côté ont
changé d’idée sur les dons des entreprises?

M. MacKinnon: Le juge Moisan s’est fié beaucoup à M. Côté
pour tirer ses conclusions. Comme le sénateur Segal l’a dit, ils
parlent du danger moral d’adopter un règlement si strict qu’il
devient inapplicable et que les gens trouvent le moyen de le
contourner.

Pour revenir à une autre question, notre parti n’est pas à l’abri
de cela et il ne l’était pas même avant la loi électorale actuelle. Je
dirais que les autres partis n’en seront pas à l’abri non plus à
l’avenir.

Si l’on crée une règle qui est difficile non seulement à appliquer,
mais aussi à respecter, les personnes mal intentionnées trouveront
le moyen de la contourner. Je viens de décrire au sénateur Mercer
l’investissement énorme que nous faisons pour respecter la loi.
Malgré cet investissement, il y a des personnes, comme les
200 000 personnes qui détiennent une carte du Parti libéral au
Canada... En gros, c’est ce qu’a fait l’une des cinq personnes dans
le scandale des commandites, elle se promenait avec une carte du
Parti libéral en affirmant être une personne qu’elle n’était pas et
avoir des pouvoirs qu’elle n’avait pas. Cela pourrait arriver
aujourd’hui au Parti conservateur. Nous ne le savons pas. Le
projet de loi fédéral sur la responsabilité ne sera presque rien pour
ces personnes.

Si l’on adopte des règles que les personnes vont essayer de
contourner, alors on crée un danger moral que le Parlement ne
devrait pas imposer au peuple canadien à mon avis. M. Moisan
est d’accord avec cela, de même que celui qui est probablement le
meilleur spécialiste de la question au pays, M. Côté. Après 13 ou
14 ans à superviser cette loi, il en vient lui aussi à cette conclusion.

Le sénateur Milne: À votre avis, les dispositions de ce projet de
loi sur les contributions pourraient-elles résister à une
contestation fondée sur la Charte? Diriez-vous que ces
dispositions limitent inutilement le droit des Canadiens de
participer au processus électoral?

M. MacKinnon: Je ne suis pas avocat. Comme le
sénateur Segal le sait, puisqu’il a déjà été l’un de mes
professeurs à l’Université Queen’s, je penche plutôt du côté des
affaires de l’industrie.

En passant, je dois vous parler un bon jour de ma note dans ce
cours, monsieur Segal.

Blague à part, je ne pense pas qu’il y a beaucoup de
dispositions dans ce projet de loi qui survivraient à une
contestation fondée sur la Charte. La Cour suprême s’inspirera
beaucoup à l’affaire Harper c. Canada (procureur général) pour
tirer ses conclusions.
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The early sections of the Charter — freedom of expression and
freedom of association — are adversely impacted. That is the
conclusion our counsel has come to and, I believe, the conclusion
the courts will come to. That is all conjecture for another day.

It is subject to challenge, will be challenged and I have no
doubt many provisions of this law, the electoral financing and
others, will be struck down at some point. Seeds sewn in
sanctimony yield a bitter harvest.

Senator LeBreton: I think Canadians watching the proceedings
here today will see a classic example of what is wrong with the
political system.

We had a witness, Mr. Donison, who addressed the provisions
of the bill, and when questions were put to him, in a very
respectful way to all Senate colleagues, did not throw around
terms such as ‘‘stonewalling’’ and ‘‘ignorance.’’ It points to why
people are so cynical about the political system. Your testimony
today underlines again why the Liberal Party delivered a message
in the last election.

Mr. MacKinnon: Can I ask you what part of my testimony
underlines that fact?

Senator LeBreton: You can check the record. You used terms
such as ‘‘stonewalling’’ and ‘‘ignorance.’’ You personally attacked
Mr. Harper a couple of times. I did not see Mr. Donison doing
the same to Mr. Chrétien or Mr. Martin.

Mr. MacKinnon: Specifically, I would like to know where I —

Senator LeBreton: I will leave it up to you, Mr. MacKinnon. I
think if you look at the testimony, you have not served the
political process or the Liberal Party very well today.

In terms of your testimony, I want to put on the record there
was no Christmas Eve decision to exempt the party leadership
race from Bill C-24. The party was formed, as you know, publicly
by merger in early December, and the leadership was called by the
terms of that merger. It was, therefore, automatically exempt
from Bill C-24 because it was already under way.

You throw around statements using flowery language that just
happen not to be accurate. I want to make it clear that there was
public disclosure of donations for that leadership, as there was to
the Progressive Conservative leadership where Mr. MacKay,
Mr. Prentice and Mr. Brison were candidates.

I am not sure what website Mr. Brison’s donors appear on, but
the donor list to those conventions is on the website of the
Conservative Party of Canada. The former Progressive
Conservative Party of Canada appears on the website of the
Conservative Party of Canada.

Les premiers articles de la Charte, ceux sur la liberté
d’expression et la liberté d’association, sont bafoués. C’est la
conclusion de notre avocat et je pense bien que c’est la conclusion
à laquelle en arriveront les tribunaux aussi. Nous le verrons bien
un jour.

Ces dispositions sont susceptibles d’être contestées, elles le
seront, et je n’ai aucun doute que bon nombre des dispositions de
cette loi, sur le financement électoral et le reste, seront révoquées
un moment donné. Lorsqu’on adopte un ton moralisateur, on en
récolte des fruits amers.

Le sénateur LeBreton: Je pense que les Canadiens qui suivent
nos délibérations ici aujourd’hui verront un exemple classique de
ce qui cloche dans le système politique.

Nous avons reçu un témoin, M. Donison, qui s’est exprimé sur
les dispositions du projet de loi, et lorsqu’on lui a posé des
questions, en toute déférence envers tous mes collègues du Sénat,
il n’a pas parlé d’ignorance de la loi ni d’obstruction. Cela nous
montre pourquoi les gens sont si cyniques concernant le système
politique. Votre témoignage d’aujourd’hui nous rappelle encore
une fois pourquoi le Parti libéral nous a transmis un message à la
dernière élection.

M. MacKinnon: Pouvez-vous me dire quelle partie de mon
témoignage souligne ce fait?

Le sénateur LeBreton: Vous pouvez vérifier le compte rendu.
Vous avez utilisé des mots comme « obstruction » et
« ignorance ». Vous avez attaqué personnellement M. Harper à
quelques reprises. Je n’ai pas vu M. Donison faire la même chose
à l’égard de M. Chrétien ou de M. Martin.

M. MacKinnon: Plus précisément, j’aimerais savoir où j’ai...

Le sénateur LeBreton: Je vais vous laisser vérifier cela,
monsieur MacKinnon. Je pense que si vous regardez le
témoignage, vous verrez que vous n’avez pas agi dans le bien du
processus politique ni du Parti libéral aujourd’hui.

Pour revenir à votre témoignage, j’aimerais dire pour
le compte rendu qu’il n’y a pas eu de décision prise le soir de
Noël pour exclure la course au leadership du parti du projet de
loi C-24. Comme vous le savez, le parti a été formé publiquement
par fusion au début décembre, et la course au leadership a été
déclenchée de suite. Par conséquent, elle a été exclue de
l’application du projet de loi C-24, parce qu’elle était déjà
commencée.

Vous faites de grandes déclarations en utilisant de grands mots
qui ne sont tout simplement pas exacts. J’aimerais qu’il soit bien
clair que les dons versés dans cette course au leadership ont été
divulgués publiquement comme pendant la course au leadership
du Parti progressiste-conservateur où M. MacKay, M. Prentice et
M. Brison étaient candidats.

Je ne sais pas avec certitude sur quel site Web la liste des
donateurs de M. Brison apparaît, mais la liste des donateurs lors
de ces congrès apparaît sur le site Web du Parti conservateur du
Canada. L’ancien Parti progressiste-conservateur du Canada
apparaît sur le site Web du Parti conservateur du Canada.
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Mr. MacKinnon, you state motives of the Conservatives and
Prime Minister Harper to deliberately cause damage to the
Liberal Party. The fact of the matter is that our intention vis-à-vis
the proposed federal accountability act was announced in
November 2005, before the election was called and before the
government was defeated in the House. It was talked about
every single day of the election campaign, right up until
January 23. The amount of political donations from individuals
was well known to be $1,000.

We are now in September 2006. Mr. Martin on election night
announced he was not going to stay on as leader of the Liberal
Party and he named an interim leader. All of your leadership
candidates and your party knew that you were going into a
leadership race. The existing limits of $5,400, with inflation, were
still in effect. What have the leadership candidates in your party
been doing since January 23, 2006? You could be raising money
at the old rate.

I should like to hear your answer to that question, but I would
request that you cease impugning motives to others that are
factually incorrect.

Mr. MacKinnon: It does not surprise me that you would find
much of what I said to be contrary to your opinions.

What does surprise me, however — I do not know you, but I
have followed your career with some interest. I know you to be a
devoted and loyal servant of your party and someone who was
there when your party was at its lowest ebb. I admire and respect
you for that. You hung in when times were tough. The shoe was
on the other foot, and I believe the shoe will once again be on the
other foot at some point in the very near future.

I would ask you to rely on that experience and consider, along
with Senator Segal who has had similar experience, that what goes
around in politics truly does come around and that seeds sown in
sanctimony yield a bitter harvest.

We are complying with the law. Leadership candidates are
complying with the law. I should note that leadership candidates
have forgone the right to raise funds from sources previously
available to them, available to Mr. Harper. They have not
received the corresponding public subsidy that political parties
have received. That will be the case for your next leadership
convention, as it is the case for ours today. We are complying with
the law.

Of course they knew what Mr. Harper’s intentions were. I do
not think that prevents them, like me, from saying at every stop
they make in Canada that it is wrong, that it is morally wrong,
that it is wrong in any sense of fair play, that it is wrong in any
democratic sense.

Why is there urgency in enacting these provisions in a year
when the Chief Electoral Officer has said before the House of
Commons, ‘‘Please do not do that’’? The Chief Electoral Officer
of the land has said, ‘‘Please do not enact these provisions now.
Give us time to communicate with stakeholders.’’ I like his expert

Monsieur MacKinnon, vous prêtez des intentions aux
conservateurs et au premier ministre Harper pour causer
délibérément des dommages au Parti libéral. Le fait est que
notre intention à propos du projet de loi fédéral sur la
responsabilité a été annoncée en novembre 2005, avant le
déclenchement de l’élection et avant que le gouvernement soit
défait à la Chambre. On en a parlé tous les jours pendant la
campagne électorale, jusqu’au 23 janvier. Il était bien entendu que
le montant des dons politiques personnels était de 1 000 $.

Nous sommes en septembre 2006. Le soir de l’élection,
M. Martin a annoncé qu’il ne resterait pas à la tête du Parti
libéral et a nommé un chef intérimaire. Tous vos candidats au
leadership et les membres de votre parti savaient que vous
auriez bientôt une course au leadership. Les limites existantes
de 5 400 $, avec l’inflation, étaient toujours applicables. Que les
candidats au leadership de votre parti font-ils depuis le 23 janvier
2006? Vous pourriez lever des fonds selon l’ancienne limite.

J’aimerais entendre votre réponse à cette question, mais je vous
prierais de cesser de prêter de fausses intentions aux autres.

M. MacKinnon: Je ne suis pas surpris que la plupart de mes
opinions soient contraires aux vôtres.

Ce qui me surprend, cependant... Je ne vous connais pas, mais
je suis votre carrière avec un certain intérêt. Je sais que vous êtes
dévouée et loyale envers votre parti et que vous étiez là quand
votre parti était dans son plus piètre état. Je vous admire et vous
respecte pour cela. Vous avez tenu bon en temps difficiles. Les
rôles étaient inversés, et je pense qu’ils le seront de nouveau dans
un avenir très rapproché.

Je vous demanderais, à vous et au sénateur Segal, qui une
expérience similaire à la vôtre, de tabler sur votre propre
expérience et de réfléchir au fait que ce qui se passe en politique
arrive et que lorsqu’on agit avec un ton moralisateur, on en
récolte des fruits amers.

Nous respectons la loi. Les candidats au leadership respectent
la loi. Je souligne que les candidats au leadership ont renoncé à
leur droit de recueillir des fonds de sources auxquelles ils avaient
accès auparavant, auxquelles M. Harper avait accès. Ils n’ont pas
reçu la subvention publique correspondante que les partis
politiques ont reçue. Ce sera votre cas aussi lors de votre
prochain congrès d’investiture, comme c’est notre cas
aujourd’hui. Nous respectons la loi.

Évidemment, ils connaissaient les intentions de M. Harper. Je
ne pense pas que cela les empêche, comme c’est mon cas, de dire
partout où ils s’arrêtent au Canada que cela est mal, que cela est
mal du point de vue moral, que cela est mal du point de vue de
l’esprit de franc-jeu et que cela est mal du point de vue de la
démocratie.

Quelle est l’urgence de mettre en oeuvre ces dispositions au
cours d’une année où le directeur général des élections a dit
devant la Chambre des communes: « S’il vous plaît, ne le faites
pas «? Le directeur général des élections du pays a dit: « S’il vous
plaît, ne mettez pas ces dispositions en oeuvre maintenant.
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word on this and I ask: Why is there this urgency? Peace in the
Middle East is urgent. Action on HIV/AIDS is urgent. This is
merely pressing.

I do not know why we need to enact these provisions in the
middle of a Liberal leadership race, the biggest consultation in the
history of our party, when we live under onerous and stringent
transparency provisions that are already at the cutting edge of the
western world politically. Why do we need to enact this
accountability legislation today?

Senator LeBreton: The bill is before the Senate committee now.
By the time it is back into the Senate and passed into law there
will be just one month between the time of the passing of the law
and your convention.

How is your party handling the loans that are being made to
the various Liberal leadership candidates? How will you report
them? Will they eventually be put down as contributions? What
about the interest on those loans? It is on the public record that
most of the candidates are having difficulty raising money, even
under the present limit of $5,400. I would like to know how you
will handle the whole issue of loans to candidates.

Senator Day: Is the honourable senator suggesting there
should be amendments to this bill to include provisions relating
to loans?

Senator LeBreton:No, I am not. I am just asking how the party
will handle publicly the reporting of loans or donations and
whether they will factor into the party’s fundraising efforts.

Senator Day: We have been working really hard on
Bill C-2, trying to improve it and move it along. I would like to
tie this question into something in Bill C-2. Is the honourable
senator able to help me?

Senator LeBreton: It is very relevant. Right now, candidates are
allowed to raise money under the existing laws. Under the existing
law or the proposed new law how will the Liberal Party of
Canada handle the large loans that have been taken out by the
various leadership candidates?

Mr. MacKinnon: I would be happy to answer that question.

Senator Day: I do not want to take up any more time.
However, there is nothing in this bill about loans.

Mr. MacKinnon: The Canada Elections Act lays out in
eloquent terms for everyone to see how such loans are to be
treated. To the best of my knowledge, and we look closely, those
provisions are being and will be followed to the letter. The fact
that the honourable senator knows about these loans is a
testament to the transparency with which this race is being
conducted.

Donnez-nous le temps de communiquer avec les intéressés. « C’est
un expert en la matière et j’aime ce qu’il a dit et je demande: « Où
est l’urgence? La paix au Moyen-Orient est une urgence. Agir
contre le VIH-sida est une urgence. Cette question est une
question pressante uniquement.

Je ne sais pas pourquoi nous devons mettre en oeuvre ces
dispositions au beau milieu d’une course à la direction du Parti
libéral, la plus vaste consultation dans l’histoire de notre parti,
alors que nous vivons déjà avec des règles lourdes et strictes en
matière de transparence qui sont déjà à l’avant-garde de ce qui se
fait en politique dans le monde occidental. Pourquoi avons-nous
besoin de mettre en oeuvre cette loi sur la responsabilité
aujourd’hui?

Le sénateur LeBreton: Le projet de loi se trouve devant le
comité du Sénat maintenant. Avant qu’il revienne au Sénat et
qu’il devienne loi, il ne restera plus qu’un mois entre le moment de
l’adoption de la loi et votre congrès d’investiture.

Comment votre parti traite-t-il les prêts qui sont consentis aux
différents candidats à la course à la direction du Parti libéral?
Comment allez-vous les déclarer? Finira-t-on par les inscrire
comme des contributions? Qu’en est-il des intérêts sur ces prêts?
C’est un fait connu que la plupart des candidats ont de la
difficulté à réunir des fonds, même en vertu de la limite actuelle de
5 400 $. J’aimerais savoir comment vous allez traiter toute la
question des prêts consentis aux candidats.

Le sénateur Day: Est-ce que le sénateur propose qu’il devrait y
avoir des amendements au projet de loi pour inclure des
dispositions portant sur les prêts?

Le sénateur LeBreton: Non, ce n’est pas le cas. Je demande
simplement comment le parti traitera publiquement la déclaration
des prêts ou des dons et si ces derniers seront pris en compte dans
les efforts de financement du parti.

Le sénateur Day: Nous avons travaillé très fort sur le projet de
loi C-2 pour essayer de l’améliorer et de le faire avancer.
J’aimerais rattacher cette question à quelque chose dans le
projet de loi C-2. Est-ce que le sénateur peut m’aider?

Le sénateur LeBreton: C’est très pertinent. À l’heure actuelle,
les candidats sont autorisés à recueillir des fonds en vertu des lois
existantes. En vertu des lois existantes ou de la nouvelle loi
proposée, comment le Parti libéral du Canada traitera-t-il les prêts
énormes qui ont été contractés par divers candidats à la direction
du parti?

M. MacKinnon: Je serais heureux de répondre à la question.

Le sénateur Day: Je ne veux pas utiliser plus de temps.
Toutefois, il n’y a rien dans ce projet de loi au sujet des prêts.

M. MacKinnon: La Loi électorale du Canada précise en termes
clairs que tout le monde peut lire comment on doit traiter de tels
prêts. À ma connaissance, et nous avons examiné la chose
attentivement, ces dispositions sont respectées et seront respectées
à la lettre. Le fait que le sénateur connaît l’existence de ces prêts
témoigne de la transparence avec laquelle cette course se déroule.
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I would ask you: When will we know about the loans made to
Mr. MacKay’s campaign in the Progressive Conservative race?
When will we know about the loans made to Mr. Harper in the
Canadian Alliance race? Once again I repeat for the record that
Mr. Harper has not revealed 99 per cent of his donors to
the 2002 Canadian Alliance leadership bid that he made. That is a
matter of public fact. You do not have to rely on me for that fact.
You can rely on CTV for it. You can rely on Duff Conacher. You
can rely on anyone you like. Mr. Harper has not revealed those
donors. If you want to call that a personal attack, so be it.

Senator Stratton: Neither did Paul Martin.

Mr. MacKinnon: Yes, he did.

Senator Mercer: Yes, he did.

The Chairman:Honourable senators, we are out of time for this
witness. Senators Comeau, Fraser, Segal and Day have been
waiting and have not been afforded an opportunity to put
questions to this witness. With the permission of honourable
senators I would like to extend the hearing.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Senator Fraser: Mr. Chairman, I am sure all honourable
senators will be delighted to know that my question has been
asked and answered.

Senator Comeau: I would like to get back to the question of the
delegate fees. I think you asked that delegate fees to conventions
be exempt. Would those delegate fees not include the cost of the
convention, such as the hiring of caterers, et cetera? In some cases,
there would be a donation component to the delegate fees. Are
you asking that the whole convention cost be exempted or just the
part that is the donation?

[Translation]

Mr. MacKinnon: This is a highly complex matter. For example,
if you attend a Conservative Party convention, you are issued a
tax receipt for your donation. The amount appearing on the
receipt includes any contribution to the party, minus the pro rata
portion of the personal benefit you derive from the convention,
namely a meal, a travel bag, a book and so forth. This principle is
widely recognized by Elections Canada and the Canada Revenue
Agency. Convention goers do not have to absorb the costs of the
leader’s suite, the carpets, microphones, entertainment and so
forth. This principle was recognized by the Progressive
Conservative Party and continues to be recognized by our party
and by the New Democratic Party.

A convention will be held this weekend and receipts will be
issued. That is how it works today and how it has always worked.
I am not accusing the Conservative Party of some criminal
conspiracy. However, the disclosure of this matter has not served

Je vous poserais la question suivante: quand allons-nous avoir
des précisions sur les prêts consentis à M. MacKay au moment de
la course à la direction du Parti conservateur? Quand aurons-nous
des précisions sur les prêts consentis à M. Harper au moment de la
course à la direction de l’Alliance canadienne? Encore une fois, je
répète aux fins du compte rendu que M. Harper n’a pas
révélé l’identité de 99 p. 100 des donateurs qui ont contribué
à sa campagne pour devenir chef de l’Alliance canadienne
en 2002. C’est un fait connu publiquement. Vous n’avez pas à
vous fier à moi pour le savoir. Vous pouvez vous fier à CTV. Vous
pouvez vous fier à Duff Conacher. Vous pouvez vous fier à qui
vous voulez. M. Harper n’a pas révélé l’identité de ces donateurs. Si
vous voulez appeler cela une attaque personnelle, qu’il en soit ainsi.

Le sénateur Stratton: Paul Martin non plus.

M. MacKinnon: Oui, il l’a fait.

Le sénateur Mercer: Oui, il l’a fait.

Le président: Honorables sénateurs, nous avons épuisé le temps
réservé à ce témoin. Les sénateurs Comeau, Fraser, Segal et Day
n’ont pas eu l’occasion de lui poser des questions. Avec la
permission des sénateurs, j’aimerais prolonger la séance.

Des voix: D’accord.

Le sénateur Fraser: Monsieur le président, je suis certaine que
tous les sénateurs seront enchantés d’apprendre que ma question
a été posée et qu’on y a répondu.

Le sénateur Comeau: J’aimerais revenir à la question des droits
d’inscription des délégués. Je pense que vous avez demandé que
les droits d’inscription des délégués aux congrès soient exemptés.
Est-ce que ces droits d’inscription des délégués n’incluent pas le
coût du congrès, comme l’embauche de traiteurs, et cetera? Dans
certains cas, il y aurait un élément de contribution dans les droits
d’inscription des délégués. Est-ce que vous demandez que le coût
total du congrès soit exempté ou uniquement la partie qui
correspond à une contribution?

[Français]

M. MacKinnon: Ce sujet est très compliqué. Par exemple, si
vous allez à un congrès du Parti conservateur, vous obtenez un
reçu d’impôt pour votre contribution. Le montant qui apparaît
sur votre reçu inclut tout paiement au parti moins la partie
prorata du bénéfice personnel que vous retirez de ce congrès: un
dîner, un sac de voyage, un livre, ainsi de suite. C’est un principe
bien reconnu par Élections Canada et l’Agence du revenu du
Canada. Vous n’avez pas à subir les coûts de la suite du chef, du
tapis sur le plancher, des microphones, des divertissements,
et cetera. C’est un principe qui fut reconnu par le Parti
progressiste conservateur, qui l’est encore par nous et par le
Nouveau parti démocratique.

Cette fin de semaine, ils auront un congrès et ils émettront des
reçus. C’est de cette manière que cela fonctionne et que cela a
toujours fonctionné. Je n’accuse pas le Parti conservateur d’un
complot criminel, mais la divulgation de cet état de choses ne les a
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them well. They tried to hide the fact, instead of admitting they
had made a mistake and would be prepared to correct if the act
had been violated.

That is my understanding of the situation. I feel confident that
the facts will be confirmed by Elections Canada and the
Conservative Party will suffer the consequences.

Senator Comeau: You have not really answered my question.
You can resort to your political commentary if you wish, but my
question is about the convention and the amount of the
donations.

Take the Liberal Party as an example. A fee of $955 will be
charged to those wishing to attend the convention in December.
What portion of this amount will go to cover convention costs,
and what proportion will represent an actual donation? I would
like you to do the math for me.

Mr. MacKinnon: Our party’s formal constitution requires that
I draw up a budget for the convention that makes no provision
for a profit of any kind.

However, your analysis, or premise if you will, is faulty. No
part of the fee charged represents a donation or is used to offset
the cost of staging the convention. A tax receipt could be issued to
cover part or all of the delegate registration fees, provided no
personal benefits such as a meal, a bag or a book are offered. This
is quite separate from the costs of staging the convention. The
practice is simple and this is how things have always been done.

For example, if a delegate receives a book, a bag or a meal, the
amounts in question will be deducted from the delegate fees on a
pro rata basis. For example, if the registration fee for delegates is
$995 and a delegate receives $95 worth of personal benefits,
setting aside the speakers, screens and microphones, that delegate
will be issued a tax receipt for a $900 donation to our party.

This is a simple, straightforward procedure. The Conservative
Party missed the mark and admitted as much. We will leave it up
to Elections Canada to rule on this in due course.

Senator Comeau: You say that the portion deemed to be a
donation represents personal benefits in the form of a bag or a
meal. The remainder goes toward offsetting the convention costs.
In other words, you would issue a receipt for $50 or $75.

Mr. MacKinnon: A personal benefit is a defined term.

Senator Comeau: And a portion does not go to offset the costs
associated with the convention.

Mr. MacKinnon: That is correct.

Senator Comeau: Several newspapers, The Hill Times included,
and several documents have reported that the Liberals, and in
particular the Liberal senators, want to delay the implementation
of this bill until January. We have already heard a number of
comments about this. Are the reports correct? If so, has your
party and its members, as parliamentarians, talked about delaying
the bill’s implementation until December, that is until after the
Liberal convention has been held?

pas bien servis. Ils ont essayé de cacher le fait au lieu de dire qu’ils
avaient fait une erreur et qu’ils redresseraient la situation si la loi
avait été enfreinte.

C’est ma compréhension de la situation. J’ai confiance que ce
sera confirmé par Élections Canada, et le Parti conservateur en
subira les conséquences.

Le sénateur Comeau: Vous n’avez pas vraiment répondu à ma
question. Vous pouvez faire vos commentaires politiques si vous
le voulez, mais ma question concerne les coûts de la convention et
le montant de la donation.

Prenons l’exemple du Parti libéral. Pour assister au congrès qui
aura lieu au mois de décembre, on exigera 995 $. Quelle partie de
cette somme ira pour couvrir les coûts du congrès et quelle partie
représentera un don ? J’aimerais que vous fassiez le calcul.

M. MacKinnon: La constitution, le document solennel de la
fondation de notre parti, m’oblige à budgétiser le congrès de
façon à ne réaliser aucun bénéfice.

Mais votre analyse ou prémisse est fautive. Aucune partie du
montant ne représente un don ou n’ira pour couvrir les coûts de la
convention. Une partie ou la totalité de ces frais de délégué
pourra faire l’objet d’un reçu d’impôt, si aucun bénéfice
personnel, tel un dîner, un sac ou un livre, n’est offert, et ce
sans égard aux coûts du congrès. La pratique est simple et c’est
ainsi qu’elle s’est toujours déroulée.

Si le délégué reçoit, par exemple, un livre, un sac ou un
dîner, on déduira du frais de délégué ces montants au prorata.
Par exemple, si les frais de délégué sont de 995 $ et que l’on
offre 95 $ de bénéfices personnels, sans compter les haut-parleurs,
les écrans et les micros, on émettra un reçu pour contribution
politique à notre parti de 900 $.

Cette pratique est simple et me paraît claire. Le Parti
conservateur a manqué ce point, et ils l’avouent. On s’en
remettra donc à Élection Canada en temps et lieu.

Le sénateur Comeau: Vous dites donc que la partie considérée
comme étant un don représenterait les bénéfices personnels sous
forme d’un sac ou un dîner. Le reste ira pour couvrir les coûts du
congrès. En d’autres mots, vous émettrez un reçu au montant
de 50 $ ou 75 $.

M. MacKinnon: Le bénéfice personnel est un terme défini.

Le sénateur Comeau: Et il ne comporte pas une partie pour
payer des coûts reliés au congrès.

M. MacKinnon: En effet.

Le sénateur Comeau: Nous avons pu lire dans plusieurs
journaux, dont le Hill Times, et dans différents documents, que
les libéraux, et surtout les sénateurs, veulent retarder
l’implantation de ce projet de loi au mois de janvier. Plusieurs
commentaires ont été faits à cet effet. Est-ce vrai ? Et si c’est le
cas, est-ce qu’il y a eu discussion entre vous comme parti et les
parlementaires à titre de parlementaires afin de retarder
l’implantation de ce projet de loi au mois de décembre afin de
pouvoir attendre que le congrès libéral se soit déroulé ?
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Mr. MacKinnon: No.

Senator Comeau: That was a categorical response.

Mr. MacKinnon: Yes, it was.

[English]

Senator Segal: I want to get back to the core source of the
entire problem. When this bill was introduced in the Senate, I
said, and I believe as I sit here— call it naivety or just my view of
public service — that whatever the findings of the Gomery
commission, which was pursued in good faith, whatever may
emerge in the various court proceedings and police investigations
which may still be going on, I never thought for a moment there
was ever corrupt intent on the part of the Liberal Party leadership
or the government or the Prime Minister or senior ministers of the
Crown, as far as we know.

Having said that, there was corrupt activity, which we now
have documented. This legislation follows upon measures
introduced by Reg Alcock, the former Treasury Board minister,
and the previous administration to deal with the genuine concern
about the expenditure of public funds and the treatment of those
funds in a fashion that respects the fact that they do not belong to
us but to someone else.

If the federal government and the federal taxpayer were
defrauded, I suspect there is ample evidence that the Liberal Party
of Canada was defrauded and stolen from in the process by
individuals who pursued their own activities in ways that all
political parties from time to time face— namely, about their own
personal illegal, inappropriate benefit and not about respecting
the system— in violation of the premise of voluntary compliance
and good faith which we take as given.

I think it would be truly helpful to the country and to viewers if
you could share with us, either today or perhaps at a later day, if
we do not have sufficient time, what you have done as national
director of the Liberal Party to prevent the Liberal Party being in
any way involved or victimized by this sort of activity in any
Canadian province in the future. We are dealing with a series of
measures that now deal with closing barn doors after events have
transpired, which is what government tends to do. What have you
been able to do to insulate and provide prophylactic protection
for the system going forward in terms of your own people and
your own organization?

The Chairman: The witness has already answered that question.
He said that he appeared before the Gomery commission and
explained what he and the Liberal Party have done to answer just
what you have asked. Am I correct?

Mr. MacKinnon: Yes, but I might build on what I did say
earlier. I do commend the committee to that testimony, which is
on the record. I would say for the record that I volunteered to
appear before Justice Gomery and did lay out in some detail and
tabled mountains of documents as evidence in terms of that
inquiry and what we had done to ensure that that would never

M. MacKinnon: Non.

Le sénateur Comeau: Votre non est catégorique.

M. MacKinnon: En effet.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Segal: Je veux revenir sur la source principale du
problème. Lorsque ce projet de loi a été présenté au Sénat, j’ai dit,
et j’en suis fermement convaincu — appelez cela de la naïveté ou
mon point de vue de la fonction publique — que quelles que soit
les constatations de la Commission Gomery, qui a été réalisée de
bonne foi, et quoi qui puissent émerger des divers procès et
enquêtes policières qui pourraient être en cours, je n’ai jamais
pensé un seul instant qu’il y ait jamais eu une intention de
corruption de la part de la direction du Parti libéral, ou du
gouvernement, ou du premier ministre, ou des ministres
principaux de la Couronne, que nous sachions.

Ceci dit, il y a eu une activité de corruption, que nous avons
maintenant documentée. Cette législation fait suite à des mesures
mises de l’avant par Reg Alcock, l’ancien ministre du Conseil du
Trésor, et par l’administration précédente pour faire face à la
préoccupation réelle concernant les dépenses des fonds publics et
du traitement de ces fonds d’une manière qui respecte le fait qu’ils
ne nous appartiennent pas à nous, mais à quelqu’un d’autre.

Si le gouvernement fédéral et le contribuable fédéral ont été
fraudés, je soupçonne qu’il y a amplement d’indications que le
Parti libéral du Canada a été fraudé et pillé dans le cadre de ce
processus par des personnes qui avaient leurs propres activités,
comme cela arrive à tous les partis politiques à l’occasion — à
savoir, leurs propres intérêts personnels, illégaux, inappropriés et
en faisant fi du système — en violation des principes de
conformité volontaire et de bonne foi que nous tenons pour
acquis.

Je pense qu’il serait très utile pour le pays et pour les
téléspectateurs que vous puissiez nous dire, soit aujourd’hui soit
plus tard, si nous n’avons pas suffisamment de temps, ce que vous
avez fait en tant que directeur national du Parti libéral pour
empêcher que le Parti libéral soit mêlé de nouveau, de quelque
façon que ce soit, à ce genre d’activité, ou qu’il en soit victime,
dans n’importe quelle province canadienne dans l’avenir. Nous
faisons face à une série de mesures qui consistent à fermer la porte
de la grange après que le cheval s’est échappé, ce que le
gouvernement a tendance à faire. Qu’avez-vous pu faire du côté
de vos gens et de votre propre organisation pour immuniser et
protéger le système dans l’avenir?

Le président: Le témoin a déjà répondu à cette question. Il a dit
qu’il a comparu devant la Commission Gomery pour expliquer ce
que lui et le Parti libéral ont fait pour répondre justement à la
question que vous avez posée. Ai-je raison?

M.MacKinnon: Oui, mais je pourrais renchérir sur ce qu’il a dit
plus tôt. Je recommande effectivement au comité de lire ce
témoignage qui est public. Je dirais aux fins du compte rendu que
je me suis porté volontaire pour comparaître devant le juge
Gomery pour décrire avec un certain détail ce que nous avons fait
pour nous assurer que cela ne se reproduise plus jamais et j’ai
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happened again. We have a new relationship, financial
compliance and others, with our provincial and territorial
wings; it requires aggressive consolidation of all financial data.
Our data that we submit to Elections Canada, for example, for
the first time in history, represents the entire portrait of the
Liberal Party and its provincial and territorial wings.

When we say we are out of debt, we are out of debt everywhere,
and in a consolidated way. I am proud to say that we are out of
debt. We have re-established, after two elections in quick
succession, some degree of financial stability to the party, and I
am proud of that accomplishment.

I thank you for your question because it presupposes that we
have taken those measures. While Senator Comeau was reading
the Hill Times, I was reading your commendable speech on the
proposed federal accountability act. In my mind, it is the
reflection of someone who has deeply thought about and
participated in the affairs of his party and his nation.
Conservative senators and Conservatives everywhere would be
well served to reflect and read those remarks and think about
them as you weigh this very important and sweeping piece of
legislation.

Senator Day: There has been a number of references, including
the most recent reference, to other documents. It would be
helpful, it seems to me, if we could have the clerk deal with
Mr. MacKinnon and obtain copies of those various submissions.

The Chairman: Mr. MacKinnon has said that he does not have
a written submission today but will be filing one later. He can
attach to that submission any documents he wishes, and they will
become part of the public record once filed with the committee.

Senator Day: If it would be easy for you either to give us a
reference to your submissions to Justice Gomery or copies of the
material, it would help in completing the picture. A reference as well
to Harper v. Canada (Attorney General) would be helpful to us.

I wish to thank you for your frank and clear answers. It does
not help any of us, in dealing with a bill as complex and important
as the one before us, to fall into the tempting trap of either
defending a political party’s position or attacking another
political party. Neither do I think it helps us in any way to talk
about the manner in which certain questions were answered by
witnesses, either this witness or other.

I thank you for being here, and I hope you did not feel that you
were on the defensive by this committee. We try to work
constructively towards better legislation.

Mr. MacKinnon: I appreciate the opportunity. I wish to thank
all honourable senators for that opportunity and for hearing our
views on this important piece of proposed legislation.

déposé une montagne de documents comme éléments de preuve
dans le cadre de cette enquête. Nous avons établi une nouvelle
relation, comportant des mesures de conformité financière et
autres, avec nos ailes provinciales et territoriales; cela nécessite
une consolidation rigoureuse de toutes les données financières.
Par exemple, pour la première fois de l’histoire, les données que
nous avons présentées à Élections Canada dressent le portrait
complet du Parti libéral et de ses ailes provinciales et territoriales.

Lorsque nous disons que nous n’avons plus de dette, nous
n’avons plus de dette nulle part, et d’une manière consolidée. Je
suis fier de dire que nous n’avons pas de dettes. Après deux
élections en succession rapide, le parti est parvenu à retrouver un
certain degré de stabilité financière et je suis fier de cette réussite.

Je vous remercie de cette question parce qu’elle présuppose que
nous avons pris ces mesures. Pendant que le sénateur Comeau
lisait le Hill Times, je lisais votre discours louable sur la loi
fédérale sur la responsabilité proposée par le gouvernement. Dans
mon esprit, il s’agit de la réflexion de quelqu’un qui a mûrement
réfléchi et qui a participé aux affaires de son parti et de son pays.
Les sénateurs conservateurs et tous les conservateurs auraient
intérêt à lire ces observations, à y réfléchir et à les garder à l’esprit
lorsqu’ils soupèsent ce texte législatif très important et qui
propose un changement radical.

Le sénateur Day: Il y a eu un certain nombre de documents de
référence, y compris les renvois les plus récents à d’autres
documents. Il me semble qu’il serait utile que le greffier traite
avec M. MacKinnon pour obtenir des copies de ces divers
documents.

Le président: M. McKinnon a dit qu’il n’avait pas de mémoire
aujourd’hui, mais qu’il allait en présenter un plus tard. Il peut
joindre à ce mémoire tout document qu’il désire et ces derniers
deviendront publics dès qu’ils auront été reçus par le comité.

Le sénateur Day: Si vous pouviez nous donner soit une
référence à vos mémoires présentés au juge Gomery soit des
exemplaires de ce matériel, cela aiderait à compléter le portrait.
Une référence à l’arrêt Harper c. Canada (Procureur général)
nous serait également utile.

Je désire vous remercier pour vos réponses claires et franches.
En traitant d’un projet de loi aussi complexe et aussi important
que celui qui est devant nous, cela n’aide personne que de tomber
dans le piège consistant soit à défendre la position d’un parti
politique soit à attaquer un autre parti politique. Et je pense qu’il
ne serait d’aucune utilité non plus de parler de la manière dont
certaines questions ont été répondues par les témoins, que ce soit
le présent témoin ou un autre.

Je vous remercie de votre présence et j’espère que vous ne vous
êtes pas senti sur la défensive devant le présent comité. Nous
essayons de travailler de manière constructive pour améliorer la
législation.

M. MacKinnon: Je suis heureux de cette occasion. Je désire
remercier tous les honorables sénateurs de cette occasion et
d’avoir accepté d’entendre nos points de vue sur ce texte législatif
important.
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The Chairman: Honourable senators, normally the chair
thanks the witnesses but it has been done already.

[Translation]

Our next witnesses represent the Bloc Québécois. The
committee welcomes Gilbert Gardner, General Director, and
Martin Carpentier, Organization Director.

We want to thank you for joining us. Without further ado, I
will turn the floor over to you, following which we will have
questions and a discussion that I hope will prove beneficial to
committee members.

Mr. Gilbert Gardner, General Director, Bloc Québécois: Thank
you, Mr. Chairman. First of all, I want to say that overall the
Bloc Québécois was receptive to Bill C-2. Various committees
examined the proposed legislation, certain changes were
recommended and the Bloc Québécois was involved in some of
these meetings. Basically, I would like to focus on two points that
we raised in the course of our previous presentations and on
another situation that arose recently, given the fact that the bill is
silent on these matters.

One of the main issues is the date of the coming into force of
the provisions respecting party financing. I would like to reiterate
comments made earlier. When the rules respecting political party
financing are amended — and this is true for all federal,
provincial or Quebec legislation — it would not be at all
unusual to set out a process for properly informing the public
of these new provisions. Quite apart from what is currently
happening, there is no justification for taking precipitous action
and for immediately seeking Royal Assent. We have proposed
that the legislation come into force on January 1, further to it
receiving Royal Assent.

As a rule, riding organizations plan their fund-raising activities
over several months. They need to know exactly what rules are
going to apply to them once Royal Assent has been given,
whenever that might be. They must arrange for printed material
and documents based on their fund-raising activities. Members of
the public who get involved in democratic fund-raising for
political parties need to know what rules apply and they need to
comply with the legislation.

Another very important issue concerns the appointment of
returning officers. We are pleased to note that nearly 30 years
after the fact, the Government of Canada is following the lead of
the 1976 Parti Québécois government headed by René Lévesque
which enacted important legislation respecting the appointment
of returning officers. For some years now, the Bloc Québécois has
been demanding that returning officers be appointed on the basis
of merit through a public competition process. The proposed
legislation provides for such a measure. However, there is no
requirement that the 308 returning officers currently on the job
meet the merit test. We have recommended that the 308 current
returning officers be required to meet the merit test within a time
frame to be determined by the Chief Electoral Officer, bearing in

Le président: Honorables sénateurs, normalement le président
remercie les témoins, mais cela est déjà fait.

[Français]

Nos prochains témoins sont des représentants du Bloc
québécois. Nous accueillons Gilbert Gardner, directeur général,
et Martin Carpentier, directeur de l’organisation.

Le comité tient à vous remercier de votre présence. Je vous cède
maintenant la parole, et nous passerons ensuite à une période de
questions et de discussions qui sera, je l’espère, très utile pour les
membres du comité.

Gilbert Gardner, directeur général, Bloc québécois: Merci.
monsieur le président. D’entrée de jeu, je tiens à souligner que
le Bloc québécois a globalement accueilli favorablement le projet
de loi C-2. Différents comités ont étudié le projet de loi C-2 et des
représentations pour bonifier ce projet de loi ont eu lieu et le Bloc
québécois a participé à certaines de ces réunions. Je reprendrai
essentiellement les deux points que nous avons fait valoir lors de
nos présentations antérieures ainsi qu’un autre aspect qui a pris
place dans l’actualité, compte tenu du silence du projet de loi sur
ces questions.

L’un des principaux sujets est la date d’entrée en vigueur des
dispositions sur le financement populaire. Je reprendrai des
propos tenus ici et ailleurs, lorsqu’on modifie les règles régissant le
financement des partis politiques, il est tout à fait normal — et
tous les autres projets de loi du gouvernement du Canada ou des
gouvernements de différentes provinces ou du Québec — de
prévoir des modalités permettant une information adéquate aux
citoyens sur les nouvelles dispositions. Au-delà des activités dans
l’actualité, présentement, il n’y a pas de justification de
précipitation pour obliger la mise en vigueur immédiate de la
sanction royale. Nous avons proposé que l’entrée en vigueur soit
le 1er janvier, suite à la sanction royale.

Les organisations de circonscription planifient généralement,
sur plusieurs mois, des activités de financement. Il faut qu’ils
puissent savoir, au-delà du hasard de la sanction royale,
exactement quelles sont les règles qui régiront leurs activités. Il
y a des imprimés, des publications faites en fonction des activités
de financement et il faut permettre aux citoyens qui s’impliquent
dans le financement démocratique des partis politiques, de savoir
sur quelle base ils doivent agir et être respectueux de la loi.

Un autre sujet très important concerne la nomination des
directeurs de scrutin. On est heureux de constater que le
gouvernement du Canada rejoint, près de 30 ans après, ce qui a
été une des importantes lois du gouvernement du Parti québécois
de 1976 dirigé par M. René Lévesque concernant la nomination
des directeurs de scrutin. Depuis plusieurs années, le Bloc
québécois réclamait que les directeurs de scrutin soient nommés
par concours publics, au mérite de leurs capacités à remplir ces
fonctions. Le présent projet de loi introduit cette mesure.
Cependant, il n’y a pas d’obligation pour l’ensemble
des 308 directeurs de scrutin actuels, de subir ce test du mérite.
Nous avons proposé que les 308 directeurs de scrutin actuels
passent le test du mérite selon un calendrier que le directeur
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mind as well the current political situation and the possibility of
an eventual election. We have seen from past examples that merit
does not always translate into good behaviour.

The third issue that we want to focus on is the fact that the bill
is silent on the question of fees and dues charged for activities,
conventions and so forth. We have said that it would be better to
amend the bill to take into account the fees charged and to impose
a ceiling on such fees. Quite conceivably, unlimited fees could be
charged for attending meetings, symposiums and conventions.
Clearly, opinion differs from party to party as to what constitutes
or not a donation and inevitably, the issue will end up before the
courts.

Consider a scenario where the court ruled that membership
dues are not donations. This could result in all kinds of excesses
that the legislation was endeavouring to prevent.

In essence, these are the three issues that we wanted to bring to
your attention at this time.

Senator Fraser: I am quite intrigued by your comments about
convention costs, particularly those associated with a leadership
convention, a topic that is very much in the news these days. I
know that it has been quite a while since your party has had a
leadership race. Nonetheless, you are an expert observer. What do
you feel an appropriate ceiling would be?

Mr. Gardner: There is a tradition in Quebec, particularly
among sovereigntist parties, that is both the Parti Québécois and
the Bloc Québécois, not to charge delegates attending annual
conventions, not leadership conventions, any registration fees.
Each delegate pays for his or her own accommodation and meals,
but no registration fee is charged. All party members, and this
goes for the Bloc as well as for the PQ, are entitled to vote. This
approach is substantially different from that of the traditional
Canadian parties.

What amount would you propose? We have not committed to
any one amount, but we must not end up with a figure that would
allow someone to do indirectly what the legislation seeks to
prohibit more directly.

Senator Fraser: I have a second question. I believe you were in
attendance this morning and heard the testimony of the previous
witnesses.

Mr. Gardner: Only the testimony of the last witness.

Senator Fraser: That is the person to whom I am referring. He
provided some details about financial control systems in place in
other jurisdictions. He spoke of one case, which I cannot recall
specifically, where in a normal year, X dollars were raised,
whereas in an election year, if memory serves me correctly, twice
that amount was collected. We are working on the premise that
Bill C-24 was drafted with a majority government in mind, where
elections would be held every four years. However, we have

général des élections se donnera, en tenant compte aussi de
l’actualité politique, d’une éventuelle élection. Les exemples du
passé nous ont prouvé que le mérite avait parfois des couleurs et
des saveurs qui s’éloignaient de la bonne conduite.

Le troisième volet concerne le fait que le projet de loi reste
muet sur les frais d’adhésion et les frais de cotisation à des
activités, congrès ou autres. On a indiqué qu’il nous semblerait
plus judicieux que le projet de loi soit amendé pour tenir compte
de ces frais et qu’on plafonne ces frais parce que la création d’un
membre honoraire avec des frais d’adhésion illimités pourrait
survenir, des frais d’activité de forum, de colloque, de congrès à
des montants illimités pourraient survenir et c’est évident que les
avis, à savoir si c’est une contribution ou pas, divergent selon
certains partis et que tout cela va se retrouver inévitablement
devant les tribunaux.

Prenons l’hypothèse ou le tribunal considérerait que ces frais
d’adhésion ou de contribution ne soient pas des contributions ; à
ce moment, on serait face à un buffet ouvert où tous les excès que
la loi voulait prévenir seraient possibles.

Donc essentiellement, ce sont les trois points que nous voulions
vous faire valoir aujourd’hui.

Le sénateur Fraser: J’ai été très intéressée par vos remarques
sur les frais pour les congrès, surtout à la chefferie et c’est le cas
dont on parle beaucoup en ce moment. Je sais que cela fait un
petit bout de temps que votre parti n’a pas eu de course à la
chefferie, mais quand même, vous êtes un observateur expert.
Quel serait selon vous un bon plafond ?

M. Gardner: Il y a une tradition au Québec particulièrement
dans les partis souverainistes, autant au Parti québécois qu’au
Bloc québécois, non pas dans les courses à la chefferie mais dans
les congrès annuels, selon laquelle il n’y a pas de frais
d’inscription. Chaque délégué débourse directement ses frais
d’hôtellerie, ses frais de repas, mais il n’y a pas de frais
d’inscription. Le mode d’élections prévu, autant au Bloc
québécois qu’à un autre parti, est au suffrage universel des
membres. C’est bien différent des partis traditionnels canadiens.

Donc quel serait le montant ? On ne s’est pas commis sur un
ordre de grandeur mais il ne faudrait pas que ce montant permette
de faire indirectement ce que le projet de loi veut interdire.

Le sénateur Fraser: J’aurais une deuxième question. Je pense
que vous étiez ici ce matin. Vous avez entendu les témoins qui
vous ont précédés.

M. Gardner: Seulement le dernier.

Le sénateur Fraser: C’est de lui dont je parle. Quand il nous
donnait des détails sur les régimes de contrôle de financement
dans d’autres juridictions, il y en avait un, j’ai oublié lequel, où le
montant dans une année normale était X et dans une année où il y
avait une élection, c’était, si ma mémoire est bonne,
deux fois X. On a déjà pris comme hypothèse que le projet de
loi C-24, qui est le régime actuel, avait été écrit avec une vision de
gouvernement majoritaire, donc avec des élections tous les quatre
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elected a number of minority governments and while we do not
know if the trend will continue, the possibility of more frequent
elections is very real.

So then is it possible that in another jurisdiction — the record
will show which one — a political party could well receive more
donations in an election year?

Mr. Martin Carpentier, Organization Director: The problem, as
I see it, is that until such time as we have fixed election dates, no
one can foretell when an election will take place or in what year.
Bill C-24 allowed for the possibility of dual contributions in an
election year. A person could donate two times the allowable
amount of $5,400 to a candidate in an election year, or up to
$10,800. The suggested amount in this instance is $2,000. Clearly
the new financing rules will mean a lot of changes. A greater effort
will have to be made to raise more money. A candidate who,
in an election year, wished to make a regular contribution of
$5,000 plus a $5,000 contribution to his election campaign, was
able to do so, but this will no longer be an option for him. The
maximum allowable amount will now be $1,000, plus an
additional $1,000 in an election year. The problem is that the
election date will never be known in advance.

It is fairly safe to assume that there will not be an election in
2006. As I see it, if we do not institute fixed election dates, we will
be hard-pressed to implement these financing provisions.

Senator Fraser: Exactly. Let us suppose that something comes
up — because strange things do happen, as we saw with the
budget— and an election is called for November. Far be it for me
to impute motives to anyone, but things do happen. All political
parties had to finance an election campaign earlier this year and
they will find themselves in a very tight spot if this scenario were
ever to play out. We do not know when the next election will be
held, but during the official campaign period, as Mr. MacKinnon
hypothesized, all parties would experience some kind of problem.

Mr. Carpentier: The only way to remedy that would be to
increase the ceiling on contributions by candidates and other
individuals, but only for the duration of the election campaign. As
a general rule, individuals make donations to the candidate’s
official agent. Therefore, we might consider allowing individuals
to contribute twice or three times the allowable amount during an
election. In other words, instead of donating $1,000, they would
be able to donate $2,000 or $3,000, provided they go through the
candidate’s official agent who issues the appropriate receipt to
them. That would be one way of controlling contributions.

Senator Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for
your indulgence, given that I am not a regular member of this
committee.

ans, mais on a connu des gouvernements minoritaires, on ne sait
pas si cela va se poursuivre ou pas, mais cela crée le risque
d’élections plus fréquentes.

Est-ce qu’il serait intéressant d’avoir dans une autre juridiction,
le témoignage qu’on va imprimer va le nommer, la possibilité
qu’un parti politique reçoive des contributions plus élevées dans
des années d’élections ?

Martin Carpentier, directeur de l’organisation, Bloc québecois:
Le problème que je vois, c’est que tant et aussi longtemps qu’on
n’aura pas d’élection à date fixe, personne n’est en mesure de
présumer à l’avance quelle sera la date et l’année électorale. Ce
que le projet de loi C-24 permettait, c’était d’avoir une double
cotisation en années électorales qui était de 5 400 $ pour les
individus. Si je prends le cas d’un candidat, il pouvait cotiser
jusqu’à 10 800 $ dans une année électorale. On se retrouve
avec 2 000 $. Il est clair que dans le mode de financement, cela va
changer beaucoup de choses. Dans les capacités d’aller chercher
les montants, il faudra un travail plus large afin d’aller chercher
plus de montants. Un candidat qui en années électorales voulait
donner 5 000 $ de contribution régulière et 5 000 $ à sa campagne
électorale pouvait le faire mais cela ne sera plus possible. On
diminuera à 1 000 $ plus 1 000 $ en campagne électorale. Le
problème reste qu’on ne saura jamais à l’avance quand sera
l’année électorale.

On peut présumer qu’en 2006, il n’y aura pas d’élections. À
mon avis, si on n’a pas de date fixe d’élections, on ne peut pas en
arriver à cette méthode.

Le sénateur Fraser: Justement. Mettons que par un accident
quelconque, parce que les accidents arrivent, on l’a vu avec le
budget, il y aurait une élection au mois de novembre. Je ne prête
pas de mauvaises intentions à qui que ce soit, mais des choses
arrivent. Tous les partis politiques ont justement eu à financer une
élection plus tôt cette année, ils vont tous se retrouver dans une
situation très difficile si jamais cela arrive. On ne sait pas quand il
y aura une élection, mais on pourrait dire que pendant la période
officielle d’une campagne électorale — c’est une hypothèse
mentionnée par M. MacKinnon—vous comme tout le monde,
tous les partis auraient des problèmes à ce moment.

M. Carpentier: La seule façon de remédier à cette proposition,
c’est de permettre à un candidat en cours de campagne
électorale et à d’autres individus d’augmenter le plafond de
contribution mais seulement pendant la campagne électorale.
Normalement, la méthode est à suivante. C’est que les gens font
des contributions à l’agent officiel du candidat. Donc on pourrait
envisager dans la loi cette possibilité de permettre, en période
électorale, que la contribution soit le double, le triple, donc au lieu
de 1000 $, qu’elle soit de 2 000 $ ou 3 000 $ mais faite par
l’entremise de l’agent officiel du candidat qui émet le reçu et tout
le processus bureaucratique qui s’enclenche par la suite. Donc il y
aurait une méthode de contrôle.

Le sénateur Fraser: Merci, monsieur le président. Je vous
remercie de votre indulgence, étant donné que je ne suis pas un
membre régulier de ce comité.
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[English]

Senator LeBreton: Before I start, may I offer my condolences
on the tragic passing of Mr. Sauvageau, who was very active on
the Commons side in dealing with the proposed federal
accountability act and who contributed greatly to the debate. It
is a very sad happening.

I have a follow-up on Senator Fraser’s remarks. I agree, the
situation is very difficult. First, one cannot anticipate when an
election may take place. One of the things that is factored into it,
which people are overlooking, is the payment back from the
taxpayer for every vote.

It is a significant consideration in terms of whether we could
even consider making provisions that are different for an election
year. As a matter of fact, I think it would be quite impossible. It
would contribute to the public’s confusion over what is allowable
and what is not. I wanted your thoughts on that particular aspect,
the credit. The Canadian taxpayer is subsidizing all political
parties based on the number of votes they receive in a given
election.

[Translation]

Mr. Gardner: On the one hand, yes. On the other hand, we
must not lose sight of the fact that 50 per cent of election expenses
are refunded and that this also comes out of our tax dollars.
Therefore, in view of these two provisions, when a regular election
is called, parties really do not encounter any problems.

Inevitably, with minority governments, there is a greater
likelihood of more frequent elections. That is what happens
when the voters’ express their will. Perhaps there is some wisdom
to this phenomenon.

Personally, I am not in favour of introducing a dual
mechanism whereby when issuing a loan, the money can be
repaid at the end of an election period. I think this would result in
some confusion, in the same way that confusion would be created
if the legislation came into force before the Chief Electoral Officer
and the parties had time to plan for these new important party
financing rules.

Moving precipitously to implement the financial rules as soon
as Royal Assent is given would be an example of partisanship. If
the aim is to clean up politics, we must not look at taking action
in the short term, that is on November 3, or December 2, but
rather consider the situation from a more structured perspective.

As a general rule, legislation comes into force on the first day
of January following Royal Assent. This delay gives everyone
time to adapt and allows the Chief Electoral Officer time to
inform the public of the new rules so that no one unwittingly finds
himself or herself in a situation where the law is broken.

Senator Segal: First of all, I want to thank Mr. Gardner for his
comments and for his opening remarks.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur LeBreton: Avant de débuter, puis-je adresser mes
condoléances à l’occasion du décès tragique de M. Sauvageau qui
était très actif du côté de la Chambre des communes dans l’étude
de la loi fédérale sur la responsabilité et qui a beaucoup contribué
au débat. C’est une triste situation.

J’ai quelque chose à dire sur les observations du sénateur
Fraser. Je suis d’accord, la situation est très difficile.
Premièrement, on ne peut prévoir à quel moment des élections
peuvent avoir lieu. Un des facteurs qui entrent en ligne de compte,
et que les gens oublient, c’est le paiement que le contribuable fait
pour chaque vote.

Il s’agit d’une considération importante pour ce qui est de
savoir si nous pouvons même envisager de prendre des
dispositions qui sont différentes pour une année électorale. En
fait, je pense que ce serait assez impossible. Cela contribuerait à
accroître la confusion dans l’esprit du public quant à savoir ce qui
est admissible et ce qui ne l’est pas. Je voulais avoir votre avis sur
cet aspect particulier, le crédit. Le contribuable canadien
subventionne tous les partis politiques en fonction du nombre
de votes qu’ils reçoivent à une élection donnée.

[Français]

M. Gardner: Oui, d’une part. Et d’autre part, il ne faut pas non
plus oublier le remboursement de 50 p. 100 des dépenses
électorales, qui provient aussi de nos impôts. Donc, ces deux
dispositions font en sorte, effectivement, que lors d’un mandat
régulier le problème ne se pose à aucun des partis.

Les gouvernements minoritaires impliquent inévitablement des
élections plus fréquentes. C’est là une des conséquences de la
volonté des électeurs. Il y a peut-être une sagesse à ce phénomène.

Personnellement, je ne serais pas nécessairement favorable à
l’idée d’un double mécanisme qui dirait qu’à l’émission des prêts
vous pouvez redonner l’argent à la fin de la période électorale. J’ai
l’impression que cela créerait une confusion, comme celle qui
existera si la date d’entrée vigueur n’est pas telle que l’on puisse
permettre au directeur général des élections et aux partis de
planifier l’entrée en vigueur de ces nouvelles dispositions
importantes quant au financement populaire.

Je ne vois pas autre chose que des arguments partisans, que de
se précipiter dès la sanction royale pour mettre en application les
règles sur le financement. Si on considère les choses en fonction
d’assainir les mœurs politiques, je crois qu’il ne faut pas penser à
court terme, soit le 2 décembre ou le 3 novembre, mais plutôt
dans une perspective plus structurante.

Généralement, c’est le 1er janvier suivant l’entrée en vigueur
d’une loi qu’elle s’appliquera. Cela permet à tout le monde de
s’adapter, au directeur général de faire de la publicité pour
informer les citoyens des nouvelles règles, pour ne pas placer le
citoyen dans une situation où il enfreindrait la loi sans faire
exprès.

Le sénateur Segal: J’aimerais tout d’abord remercier
M. Gardner de ses propos et de sa déclaration liminaire.
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My question is a two-parter. First, I want to hear about
Quebec’s experience with party financing. As you know, a
number of problems have been identified. Some large
corporations arrange it so that each employee can contribute
the amount allowed by law. Even if this amount does not
represent a donation, the effect can be the same, especially if, for
example, the members of a legal firm decide to band together in
support of a cause.

Would you have any advice for the committee to prevent
problems similar to the one that arose in Quebec and that have
been openly discussed from cropping up with the new provisions
respecting political party financing at the federal level? Are there
any lessons to be learned from Quebec’s experience to avoid these
kinds of problems with the federal funding system?

Part two of my question concerns the State’s role in the
administration of political parties. One fundamental issue, as far
as I am concerned, is freedom of expression. This is the very
essence of our democratic system. A party must be free to express
its views as it sees fit and to decide how it wants to select its
candidates. The process must be an open one and be decided by
each party, in accordance with the legislation.

Several European countries — and I will use Germany as an
example — have a broad public financing program in place
pursuant to which the State funds political parties based on the
number of votes garnered in the last election. Certain rules govern
the participation of young people in elections. A number of
conditions also apply depending on whether a party operates a
large policy research bureau. Not only must political parties
register to prove that they have long-standing ties to the country,
they must also show that they encourage the participation of
women and new immigrants in the electoral process.

As a result of the new provisions, State funding levels could
conceivably be increased. The legislation could limit taxpayer
donations, and for good reason. In five or ten years’ time,
Elections Canada could bring in new conditions to ensure that a
party is funded through the public system. Are you at all worried
about these possibilities?

Mr. Gardner: Regarding your first question as to whether there
are any lessons to be drawn from Quebec’s experiences, I did
mention one earlier, namely that returning officers should be
selected on the basis of merit. To my mind, that is one positive
lesson to be drawn.

It should also be remembered that when Quebec passed its
election financing legislation in 1976, a rather disastrous situation
prevailed at the time from a funding standpoint. The legislation
was introduced to correct the abuse which continued elsewhere in
Canada where similar legislation was not in place.

Ma question comporte deux volets. Le premier touche
l’expérience avec le financement populaire au Québec. Comme
vous savez, on a cité certains problèmes. Certaines grandes
compagnies font en sorte que chaque personne peut envoyer le
montant prescrit par la loi. Même si ce montant ne représente pas
un don, il peut avoir le même effet, surtout si, par exemple, tous
les avocats d’un cabinet décident d’agir conjointement pour une
cause.

J’aimerais savoir si vous auriez des conseils à offrir au comité
afin d’éviter que des problèmes similaires à ceux qu’on a retrouvé
au Québec, et qui ont été discutés ouvertement, ne se retrouvent
dans l’élaboration de notre propre démarche pour le financement
populaire au fédéral. Pouvons-nous tirer certaines leçons de
l’expérience du Québec afin que le système fédéral soit exempt de
ce genre de problèmes ?

Le deuxième volet de ma question touche le rôle de l’État dans
l’administration des partis politiques. Une des questions
primordiales pour moi est la liberté d’expression. C’est le
fondement même de notre système démocratique. Un parti doit
avoir la liberté d’exprimer ses propos comme il l’entend et de
décider de la façon dont il va choisir ses candidats. Cette
démarche doit se dérouler ouvertement et doit être propre à
chaque parti, conformément à la loi.

Dans plusieurs pays d’Europe, et je prendrai l’Allemagne
comme exemple, on a un grand programme de financement public
où l’État envoie beaucoup d’argent aux partis politiques selon,
par exemple, le nombre de votes obtenus aux dernières élections.
Dans l’administration électorale allemande, la participation des
jeunes, par exemple, est maintenant soumise à certaines
conditions. On impose certaines conditions également si le parti
possède un grand bureau de recherche pour la politique du parti.
Ces conditions exigent des partis politiques non seulement qu’ils
s’enregistrent pour démontrer qu’ils sont enracinés dans le pays,
mais pour démontrer si, par exemple, ils encouragent la
participation des femmes ou encouragent la participation des
nouveaux arrivants au pays.

Le nouveau processus pourrait faire en sorte que l’État
contribuera désormais plus d’argent. Il pourrait faire en sorte
que les contribuables soient limités dans leur donation, en vertu
de la loi, et pour des raisons valables. Il pourrait faire en sorte
qu’après une période de cinq ou dix ans, le bureau des élections
puisse ajouter des conditions pour qu’un parti soit financé à partir
du système public. Est-ce que cela suscite en vous certaines
craintes, ou êtes-vous tout à fait à l’aise avec ces possibilités ?

M. Gardner: Sur votre première question, est-ce qu’on peut
tirer des leçons de l’expérience vécue au Québec, je vous en citais
une tantôt, celle de nommer tous les directeurs de scrutin au
mérite. Je crois que c’est là une des bonnes leçons à tirer.

Il faut voir aussi qu’en 1976, lorsque la Loi sur le financement
populaire a été adoptée au Québec, il régnait une situation assez
désastreuse au point de vue démocratique quant au financement.
La loi a été introduite à ce moment pour corriger ces abus— abus
qui ont continué au Canada après 1976, la loi n’étant pas la
même.
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Bill C-24 sets more acceptable limits on contribution levels.
Mr. Côté has indicated that maybe the time has come to review
Quebec’s legislation to allow corporations and unions to
contribute a certain amount to elections. Historically, the Bloc
Québécois has supported the election financing legislation as it
currently stands. In our recommendations and in the position we
have taken with respect to Bill C-2 and the proposed changes to
the federal legislation, we have expressed support for the current
provisions of the Quebec legislation.

The fact that the State is donating increasingly large amounts
of money to political parties indeed gives it the right to ask for
transparent, clear reports on how these funds are expended.
However, I do not believe it is keeping with Quebec or Canadian
culture for the State, through Elections Canada, to impose
additional conditions or procedures or to require specific
representation of any kind.

I do not feel that this would be in keeping with our culture or
with the structure of our electoral system. After all, Elections
Canada is an independent organization operating outside the
reach of political powers. It would be surprising to say the least to
see it impose quotas in terms of representation by young people,
seniors, disabled persons or some other group.

Senator Segal: I have an additional question about this matter.
Could someone possibly mount a challenge under the Canadian
Charter of Rights and Freedoms over the question of the
allocation of funds to political parties —

The Chairman: We are experiencing some technical problems
with the sound. We will suspend the proceedings for a few
minutes to allow the technician time to rectify the problem.

[English]

Honourable senators, we will now resume our study of
Bill C-2.

First, I wish to apologize once again to the representatives of
the Bloc Québécois for the technical difficulties we experienced
earlier. Those difficulties have now been corrected and we are
ready to resume our meeting with you.

I turn to Senator Zimmer to put the next question.

Senator Zimmer: Gentlemen, thank you for your attendance
and especially for your recommendations in the area of
implementation and convention fees.

Before I ask my questions, as Senator LeBreton did on behalf
of Conservative Party, I wish to pass on our condolences to you
and the family of Benoît Sauvageau, who is in our prayers. To
show you what kind of a committed member of Parliament and
human being he was, irrespective of the political church he
belonged to, in May of this year Mr. Sauvageau attended a press
conference — you may have seen this in the newspaper or on the
news. A woman by the name of Nazanin Afshin-Jam came to
Ottawa and held a press conference with Belinda Stronach and
Benoît Sauvageau. The reason for the press conference was to

Depuis le projet de loi C-24, on a délimité les contributions à
un niveau plus acceptable. Effectivement, M. Côté a indiqué qu’il
serait peut-être temps de réviser la loi québécoise quant à une
autorisation de permettre aux compagnies, aux syndicats, de
financer à un certain niveau. Traditionnellement, le Bloc
québecois a toujours appuyé l’application de la Loi sur le
financement politique telle qu’elle est conçue actuellement. Dans
les propositions que nous avons amenées et dans les positions que
nous avons apprises sur le projet de loi C-2, nous avons maintenu
cet appui aux conditions actuelles de la loi québécoise en fonction
des modifications apportées à la loi fédérale.

Effectivement, le fait que l’État verse des sommes de plus en
plus importantes aux partis politiques autorise l’État à avoir des
rapports transparents et précis sur l’utilisation de ces sommes.
Cependant, je ne crois pas qu’il soit dans la culture québécoise ou
canadienne qu’une plus grande intervention de l’État par
Élections Canada amène d’autres critères, d’autres façons de
faire ou d’obliger une représentation sur quelque base que ce soit.

Je ne crois pas que cela fasse partie de la culture mais
également de la structure électorale. Élections Canada est quand
même un organisme indépendant du pouvoir politique. Il serait
très surprenant de le voir imposer un quota de jeunes ou de
personnes âgées, d’handicapés, d’immigrants ou que sais-je.

Le sénateur Segal: J’ai une question additionnelle à ce sujet.
Peut-on concevoir un défi selon la Charte canadienne des droits et
libertés qui pose la question de la distribution des fonds aux partis
politiques...

Le président: Il y a un problème technique. Nous avons un
problème avec le son. Nous allons suspendre la séance pour
quelques minutes, afin que le préposé puisse régler le problème de
son auquel nous faisons face.

[Traduction]

Honorables sénateurs, nous allons maintenant reprendre
l’étude du projet de loi C-2.

J’aimerais d’abord offrir encore une fois mes excuses aux
représentants du Bloc québécois au sujet des difficultés techniques
que nous avons éprouvées plus tôt. La situation a maintenant été
corrigée et nous sommes prêts à reprendre nos travaux.

J’invite le sénateur Zimmer à poser la prochaine question.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Messieurs, je vous remercie de votre
participation et surtout de vos recommandations dans le domaine
de la mise en application et des frais d’inscription aux congrès.

Avant de poser ma question, comme l’a fait le sénateur
LeBreton au nom du Parti conservateur, je désire vous présenter,
à vous ainsi qu’à la famille de Benoît Sauvageau, que nous
n’oublions pas dans nos prières, mes sincères condoléances. Pour
démontrer quel genre de député et quel genre d’homme engagé il
était, quelle que soit l’église politique à laquelle il appartenait, en
mai de cette année, M. Sauvageau a assisté à une conférence de
presse— vous pouvez avoir lu ou vu quelque chose à ce sujet dans
les médias. Une femme du nom de Nazanin Afshin-Jam est venue
à Ottawa et a tenu une conférence de presse en compagnie de

6:50 Legal and Constitutional Affairs 8-9-2006



help save the life of a woman in Iran who had been raped and who
was to be executed. It speaks volumes about the man and for what
he stood. He stood at a press conference with them, shoulder to
shoulder in support.

At that time, I took a picture of this woman Nazanin, who
happens to be Miss World 2003. He wanted that picture and I
told him as soon as I got back from summer vacation I would get
it to him. On behalf of this committee, I would ask you to pass it
along to his family to whom he spoke about this event. I know he
wanted them to have it.

Please pass on our condolences to the family. Here is the
picture. Please ensure his family gets it in memory of what he did
and tried to do for people around the world.

I should now like to move into the areas you talked about. I
agree with you on your recommendation concerning an
implementation date of January 1. That is the simplest thing we
can do based on when this bill is passed. It makes things clear and
clean.

I thought your suggestion concerning a cap on convention fees
was innovative. I would certainly support something like that
because it would certainly help solve some of these issues.

I am not sure if you have seen this report. A press release came
out about a report of a retired superior court judge, Jean Moisan,
wherein he recommended that corporate donations be at a level of
$15,000 and individual donations be at a level of $5,000. What are
your thoughts on that?

[Translation]

Mr. Gardner: First of all, rest assured that we will send this
photograph to Mr. Sauvageau’s family. Mr. Sauvageau worked
on Bill C-2 and succeeded in having the title amended to prevent
the use of an Anglicism. On the Thursday before he died, he told
me that we absolutely had to get together this week to plan this
meeting with the Senate. I will pass along the photograph to his
family.

As for capping contributions and Judge Moisan’s
recommendation, the Bloc Québécois has supported a move to
harmonize the federal and provincial acts. For that reason, the
Bloc Québécois has been fairly receptive to the provisions of
Bill C-2, which is a step in the same direction as the Quebec
legislation. However, the one anomaly, as I mentioned earlier this
morning, is the date on which the legislation would come into
force. To ensure compliance with the legislation — and the vast
majority of people customarily do comply — the public must be
properly informed of the rules. Organizations and volunteers
from the various parties who oversee fund-raising activities
must also be in a position to pass the correct information

Belinda Stronach et de Benoît Sauvageau. Le but de la conférence
de presse était d’aider à sauver la vie d’une femme en Iran qui a
été violée et qui est passible de la peine de mort. Cette histoire en
dit long sur l’homme et sur ses convictions. Il était présent à leur
côté à la conférence de presse, pour leur donner son appui.

À ce moment-là, j’ai pris une photographie de cette femme,
Nazanin, qui se trouve à être Miss Monde 2003. Il voulait cette
photographie et je lui ai dit que dès mon retour du congé estival,
je la lui remettrais. Au nom du présent comité, je vous demande
de la transmettre à sa famille à qui j’ai parlé de cet événement. Je
sais qu’il voulait que sa famille ait cette photo.

Veuillez transmettre nos condoléances à la famille. Voici la
photographie. Veiller à ce que la famille la reçoive en mémoire de
ce qu’il a fait et de ce qu’il a essayé de faire pour les gens dans le
monde.

J’aimerais maintenant parler du sujet qui nous intéresse. Je suis
d’accord avec votre recommandation concernant la date de mise
en application du 1er janvier. C’est la chose la plus simple que
nous puisions faire compte tenu du moment où ce projet de loi
sera adopté. Cela rend les choses claires et limpides.

Je trouve que votre suggestion concernant l’imposition d’un
plafond sur les frais d’inscription aux congrès est novatrice. Je
donnerais certainement mon appui à une solution de ce genre
parce que cela aiderait certainement à résoudre certaines des
difficultés.

Je ne suis pas certain si vous avez vu ce rapport. Un
communiqué de presse a été publié concernant un rapport
présenté par un juge de la Cour supérieure à la retraite, Jean
Moisan, dans lequel il recommande que la contribution des
sociétés puisse s’élever à 15 000 $ et celle des particuliers à
5 000 $. Qu’en pensez-vous?

[Français]

M. Gardner: Dans un premier temps, soyez assurés que nous
allons transmettre à la famille de M. Sauvageau cette photo.
M. Sauvageau a été un des parlementaires qui a travaillé sur le
projet de loi C-2, dont il a même fait modifier le titre pour éviter
qu’on utilise un anglicisme. Le jeudi précédent sa mort, il
m’indiquait qu’il fallait absolument se voir cette semaine afin de
planifier cette rencontre avec le Sénat. Je transmettrai donc cette
photo à sa famille.

Concernant votre question sur le plafond et la
recommandation du juge Moisan, le Bloc québécois a eu
comme position de tendre vers une harmonisation de la loi
fédérale avec la loi québécoise. C’est d’ailleurs pourquoi le Bloc
québécois a accueilli assez favorablement le contenu du projet de
loi C-2, qui se rapproche de la législation en vigueur au Québec.
Par contre, le seul élément qui nous apparaît anormal, comme je
l’ai mentionné plus tôt ce matin, c’est la date d’entrée en vigueur.
Il faut faire en sorte que les citoyens soient bien informés des
règles pour qu’ils puissent les observer — ce que la très grande
majorité font d’habitude — et permettre aussi aux organisations
et aux bénévoles des différents partis, qui organisent des activités
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along to potential contributors. Currently, the provisions of
Bill C-24 apply. A formal date must be set for the coming into
force of Bill C-2.

[English]

Senator Milne: I wish to follow up on that question. I noticed
in your appearance before the House of Commons committee,
you said: ‘‘For example, if Royal Assent is given on
October 1, bank authorizations following that date would no
longer be valid, whereas those made before that date would be.
Does the tax receipt apply to the elector’s entire contribution for
the calendar year, or only part of the calendar year? We think that
if you exclude partisan reasons in the tradition of the
implementation of this type of measure, the calendar year is
normally the reference year.’’

Are you suggesting strongly that the implementation date not
be the time of Royal Recommendation but be January 1 or some
other date the following year?

[Translation]

Mr. Gardner: Absolutely. For example, as a rule, bank
authorizations signed in January or February are valid
for 12 months. For personal or financial reasons, a person may
decide to contribute to a particular political party and spread his
or her contributions over a twelve-month period. Instructions are
given to the bank to make these contributions, in accordance
with the rules in place at the time. If the rules change over the
course of the year and the person wishes to contribute a different
sum of money, would the initial authorization still be valid,
if Bill C-2 were to be strictly interpreted? No, because the total
amount would exceed the new ceiling and the contributor would
be in violation of the new Elections Act, even though he never
initially intended that to be the case.

[English]

The Chairman: Thank you both very much. You have been
very clear. Your message has been heard and understood. We will
certainly take it very seriously in our consideration of the bill.

The committee adjourned.

OTTAWA, Thursday, September 7, 2006

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs, to which was referred Bill C-2, providing for conflict of
interest rules, restrictions on election financing and measures
respecting administrative transparency, oversight and
accountability, met this day at 1:04 p.m. to give consideration
to the bill.

de financement, d’informer de façon correcte l’ensemble des
membres et les citoyens qui désirent contribuer afin qu’ils puissent
le faire en toute connaissance de cause. Actuellement, c’est le
projet de loi C-24 qui s’applique. Il faut une date officielle et
connue pour l’application du projet de loi C-2.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Milne: J’aimerais poursuivre dans cette même
veine. J’ai remarqué dans votre comparution devant le comité de
la Chambre des communes que vous avez dit: « Par exemple, si la
sanction royale a lieu le 1er octobre, les autorisations bancaires
suivant cette date ne seraient plus valides, alors que celles faites
avant cette date le seraient. Le reçu d’impôt concerne-t-il
l’ensemble de la contribution de l’électeur pour l’année civile ou
pour une partie de l’année civile seulement? Nous pensons que si
on exclut les raisons partisanes, dans la tradition de l’application
de ce type de mesures, c’est normalement l’année civile qui est
l’année de référence. »

Proposez-vous, de manière ferme, que la date de mise en
application ne soit pas le moment de la sanction royale, mais le
1er janvier ou une autre date l’année suivante?

[Français]

M. Gardner: Tout à fait. Par exemple, sur le plan des
autorisations bancaires qui peuvent avoir été signées au mois de
janvier ou février, généralement, elles ont une durée de vie de
12 mois. Des prélèvements sont faits et la personne, lorsqu’elle a
décidé de contribuer un moment X à un parti politique et d’étaler
ses contributions sur 12 mois, elle le fait en fonction de ses revenus
et de sa volonté. Elle le fait en fonction de la loi telle qu’elle est au
moment où l’autorisation bancaire a été donnée. Si cette
autorisation fait en sorte que les règles du jeu sont modifiées en
cours d’année et que la personne aurait pu modifier sa
contribution pour verser le montant qu’elle avait décidé, est-ce
que l’autorisation bancaire serait valide quand même, si on a une
lecture rigide du projet de loi C-2 ? Non, parce que si le montant
total dépasse les nouveaux plafonds, la personne se trouverait en
infraction selon la loi électorale, bien que cela n’ait pas été, à
l’origine, son intention.

[Traduction]

Le président: Je vous remercie beaucoup tous les deux. Vous
avez été très clairs. Votre message a été entendu et compris. Nous
allons certainement en tenir compte de manière très sérieuse dans
notre étude de ce projet de loi.

La séance est levée.

OTTAWA, le jeudi 7 septembre 2006

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles, auquel a été renvoyé le projet de loi C-2, Loi
prévoyant des règles sur les conflits d’intérêts et des restrictions en
matière de financement électoral, ainsi que des mesures en matière
de transparence administrative, de supervision et de
responsabilisation, se réunit aujourd’hui à 13 h 04 pour étudier
le projet de loi.
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Senator Donald H. Oliver (Chairman) in the chair.

[English]

The Chairman: Honourable senators, I would like to call this
afternoon’s session of the Senate’s hearings on Bill C-2 to order.
Before going into the introduction of witnesses, Senator Stratton
has a point of order.

Senator Stratton: Honourable senators, forgive us for this
slight delay. I would like to have the entire testimony for the
session this morning printed off so that we can review the
comments made by Mr. MacKinnon. During this morning’s
testimony, Mr. MacKinnon of the Liberal Party testified that
during the hearings of the legislative committee on Bill C-2 earlier
this spring, the Chief Electoral Officer stated that he wished for
the provisions of Bill C-2 relating to election financing to be
delayed until January 1, 2007. We have reviewed the statement of
Mr. Kingsley from the legislative committee on Bill C-2 from
Tuesday, May 16, 2006. We can find Mr. Kingsley made no such
statement. The only statement he made with regard to this is as
follows: ‘‘The bill’s provisions respecting contributions would
come into effect on Royal Assent, which presupposes there is no
need or opportunity for Elections Canada to inform the public of
the change.’’ This was taken from the transcripts of the legislative
committee on Bill C-2 on Tuesday, May 16, 2006, in the morning
session. I trust this will clear up any mistaken impressions left in
the minds of honourable senators. I would like to have that
testimony printed off so that we can each review it.

The Chairman: You ask that it be printed off. The normal
practice is that the blues from committee transcripts will be
available within 24 hours.

Senator Stratton: I think it is crucial for tomorrow morning.
We are not sitting next week, as I understand it. If we do not have
the blues for 24 hours, that means the committee will not have the
opportunity to review it until tomorrow afternoon, when we will
be gone.

The Chairman: I am instructed by the clerk that the blues from
today will be available by tomorrow morning.

Senator Stratton: Will they be ready before we start the session
tomorrow?

The Chairman: He cannot make a promise, but he will make an
effort.

Senator Joyal: I wonder if we should have not only that
statement, but the question, as well as any additional questions.

Senator Stratton: We need the entire testimony by
Mr. MacKinnon.

Le sénateur Donald H. Oliver (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président: Chers collègues, je déclare ouverte la séance de cet
après-midi des audiences du Sénat sur le projet de loi C-2. Avant
de passer à la présentation des témoins, le sénateur Stratton a un
rappel au Règlement.

Le sénateur Stratton: Chers collègues, pardonnez-moi ce léger
retard. J’aimerais que la totalité des témoignages de ce matin soit
imprimée afin que nous puissions examiner les commentaires faits
par M. MacKinnon. Au cours du témoignage de ce matin,
M. MacKinnon du Parti libéral a indiqué qu’au cours des
audiences du comité législatif chargé d’étudier le projet de
loi C-2 au printemps dernier, le directeur général des Élections
avait indiqué qu’il souhaitait que les dispositions du projet de
loi C-2 portant sur le financement des élections soient reportées
au 1er janvier 2007. Nous avons examiné la déclaration faite par
M. Kingsley devant le comité législatif au sujet du projet de
loi C-2, le mardi 16 mai 2006. Nous constatons que M. Kingsley
n’a fait aucune déclaration en ce sens. La seule déclaration qu’il
ait faite à cet égard est la suivante: « Les dispositions du projet de
loi sur les contributions entreraient en vigueur le jour de la
sanction royale, ce qui ne laisse guère de temps à Élections
Canada pour renseigner le public sur ces changements. » Cet
extrait provient de la transcription des délibérations du comité
législatif sur les projets de loi C-2 du mardi 16 mai 2006, au cours
de la séance du matin. J’espère que cela permettra de dissiper
toute fausse impression qui pourrait subsister dans l’esprit de mes
collègues. J’aimerais que le témoignage soit imprimé pour que
nous puissions chacun en prendre connaissance.

Le président: Vous demandez qu’on imprime le témoignage.
Selon l’usage, les bleus provenant des transcriptions du comité
sont disponibles dans les 24 heures.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je considère qu’il est extrêmement
important que nous les ayons demain matin. Nous ne siégeons
pas la semaine prochaine, d’après ce que je crois comprendre. Si
nous devons attendre 24 heures avant d’avoir les bleus, cela
signifie que le comité n’aura pas l’occasion d’en prendre
connaissance avant demain après-midi, lorsque nous serons
partis.

Le président: Le greffier m’indique que les bleus de la séance
d’aujourd’hui seront disponibles d’ici demain matin.

Le sénateur Stratton: Seront-ils prêts avant que nous débutions
la séance de demain?

Le président: Il ne peut pas le promettre, mais il fera de son
mieux.

Le sénateur Joyal: Je me demande si nous ne devrions pas avoir
en plus de cette déclaration la question aussi, de même que toute
question supplémentaire.

Le sénateur Stratton: Il nous faut la totalité du témoignage de
M. MacKinnon.
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Senator Joyal: Senator Stratton can come back with his point
of order, and we will make sure it is printed.

Senator Stratton: Thank you. I will be able to provide the
testimony from the Chief Electoral Officer.

Senator Joyal: If the blues are not available tomorrow, despite
all due diligence, Senator Stratton can come back with his point
of order when they are available. I would have no objection.

The Chairman: I would like to proceed now with the meeting as
we continue our study of Bill C-2, providing for conflict of interest
rules, restrictions on election financing and measures respecting
administrative transparency, oversight and accountability. This bill
is more commonly known as the federal accountability act. As
senators, our witnesses and members of the public here in this
room and across Canada know, this bill reflects a central portion of
the new government’s agenda, and it is one of the most significant
pieces of legislation brought before Parliament in recent years. I
know that the committee will give the bill the extensive, careful and
detailed study it deserves. These hearings commenced in June, and
this week the committee is focusing on more precise aspects of the
bill. Subjects covered this week include accountability generally,
ethics and conflict of interest and political financing. We are
hearing today from different political parties. Our hearings will
then continue in the next few weeks on other important aspects of
the bill.

This afternoon we welcome representatives of a number of
political parties, and we are joined by Jean Langlois, the
Executive Director of the Green Party of Canada; Stephen Best,
the Executive Director of the Animal Alliance Environment
Voters Party of Canada; and, Will Arlow from Canadian Action
Party.

Stephen Best, Director, Animal Alliance Environment Voters
Party of Canada: I want to thank Senator Oliver for responding to
my request to appear here today. I am pleased. . This is the second
time I have been before this committee, and I am talking about
money once again.

The Animal Alliance Environment Voters Party of Canada is
one of Canada’s newest and smallest registered political parties. It
was founded so that people who appreciate both the need for
strong, environmental and animal protection laws and the crucial
role elected officials play in making those laws can participate
fully and effectively in federal elections.

Third party spending limits in the Canada Elections Act mean
that Canadians can now participate meaningfully in federal
elections only through a registered political party or candidate.
Therefore, legislation that further restricts their right to
participate must be approached with suspicion and skepticism

Le sénateur Joyal: Le sénateur Stratton peut présenter à
nouveau son rappel au Règlement et nous nous assurerons que le
témoignage est imprimé.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je vous remercie. Je serais en mesure de
fournir le témoignage du directeur général des Élections.

Le sénateur Joyal: Si les bleus ne sont pas disponibles demain,
malgré toute la diligence voulue, le sénateur Stratton pourra
représenter son rappel au Règlement lorsqu’ils seront disponibles.
Je n’ai aucune objection.

Le président: J’aimerais que nous passions maintenant à l’objet
de notre réunion, c’est-à-dire la poursuite de notre étude du projet
de loi C-2, Loi prévoyant des règles sur les conflits d’intérêts et
des restrictions en matière de financement électoral, ainsi que des
mesures en matière de transparence administrative, de supervision
et de responsabilisation. Le projet de loi est mieux connu sous le
titre de loi fédérale sur la responsabilisation. Comme les
sénateurs, nos témoins et les membres du public ici et ceux
d’ailleurs au Canada le savent, ce projet de loi représentent l’un
des principaux éléments du programme du nouveau
gouvernement et il est l’un des plus importants textes de loi
déposé devant le Parlement ces dernières années. Je sais que le
comité accordera au projet de loi toute l’attention qu’il mérite et
en fera une étude approfondie, soigneuse et détaillée. Les
audiences ont débuté en juin, et cette semaine le comité met
l’accent sur des aspects plus précis du projet de loi. Cette semaine,
nous aborderons entre autres la question de la responsabilisation
en général, de l’éthique, des conflits d’intérêts et du financement
des partis politiques. Nous entendrons aujourd’hui les
témoignages de divers partis politiques. Nos audiences se
poursuivront ensuite au cours des prochaines semaines et
porteront sur d’autres aspects importants du projet de loi.

Cet après-midi, nous accueillons des représentants d’un certain
nombre de partis politiques, entre autres Jean Langlois, directeur
exécutif du Parti Vert du Canada; Stephen Best, directeur exécutif
du Animal Alliance Environment Voters Party of Canada; et Will
Arlow, du Parti Action canadienne.

Stephen Best, directeur, Animal Alliance Environment Voters
Party of Canada: Je tiens à remercier le sénateur Oliver d’avoir
accédé à ma demande de comparaître devant vous aujourd’hui.
J’en suis heureux. C’est la deuxième fois que je comparais devant
le comité, et une fois de plus, pour parler d’argent.

Le Animal Alliance Environment Voters Party of Canada est
l’un des plus petits et plus récents partis politiques enregistrés au
Canada. Il a été fondé pour que ceux qui reconnaissent la
nécessité de lois solides pour la protection de l’environnement et
des animaux de même que le rôle primordial que jouent les
représentants élus dans l’élaboration de ces lois puissent participer
pleinement et efficacement aux élections fédérales.

Les limites aux dépenses faites par des tiers, prévues par la Loi
électorale du Canada, signifient que désormais, les Canadiens
peuvent participer véritablement à des élections fédérales
uniquement par l’intermédiaire d’un parti politique enregistré
ou d’un candidat. Par conséquent, la loi qui restreint encore
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and only enacted if the government can unequivocally
demonstrate that infringing individuals’ fundamental democratic
rights is indisputably warranted and no viable alternative exists.

The intent of Bill C-2, the federal accountability act, is to
diminish individual Canadian’s democratic rights, particularly the
right to financially support candidates for federal office and the
registered political parties of their choice. The right is implied in
numerous sections of the Charter of Rights and Freedoms
and in the Supreme Court of Canada decisions. The rationales
offered by the government for infringing this right by reducing
from $5,000 to $1,000 the annual political contributions
individuals are allowed to make to various political entities
include «reducing opportunities to influence politicians with
contributions.»

Bill C-2, in my view, is not a consequence of systemic failings of
the Canadian government or the electoral finance system but
rather the political environment and strategic opportunities
created by the so-called sponsorship scandal. Public outrage
over the criminal actions and ethical lapses of a few made it
possible to politically spin the alleged lack of personal integrity of
all politicians and civil servants into hot button election issues.
Election promises were made, votes harvested and Bill C-2 was
spawned.

The fact is that the Canadian government and the civil service
are not rife with corruption nor is there any evidence that the
current political contribution regime unduly influences
politicians. Justice John Gomery found, after many months of
investigation and sworn testimony during the commission of
inquiry into the sponsorship program and advertising activities,
that,

...the so-called sponsorship scandal was an aberration. The
vast majority of public servants are competent individuals
who serve the people of Canada with dedication in an
ethical manner, respecting laws, regulations, policies and
guidelines. We must not forget that only a handful of
government officials failed to live up to those standards in
the sponsorship program.

Even if there were widespread problems of corruption and
undue influencing of members of Parliament with political
contributions, as the government asserts, that Gomery did
not find, the problem lies not in how much an individual was
permitted to contribute annually in aggregate. The problem
lies in the amount parties and politicians who control the
government’s legislation, spending and appointments are
allowed to receive from an individual contributor.

davantage leur droit à participer doit être considérée avec
méfiance et scepticisme et adoptée uniquement si le
gouvernement parvient à prouver clairement que la suppression
des droits démocratiques fondamentaux d’un particulier est
justifiée indiscutablement et qu’aucune option de rechange
viable n’existe.

L’intention du projet de loi C-2, la loi fédérale sur la
responsabilisation, est de restreindre les droits démocratiques
des Canadiens, particulièrement le droit d’appuyer financièrement
des candidats qui briguent un siège au niveau fédéral et les partis
politiques enregistrés de leur choix. Ce droit est implicite dans de
nombreuses dispositions de la Charte des droits et libertés et dans
les arrêts de la Cour suprême du Canada. Le gouvernement a
entre autres invoqué comme raison, pour porter atteinte à ce droit
en réduisant de 5 000 $ à 1 000 $ les contributions politiques
annuelles que des particuliers sont autorisés à verser à diverses
entités politiques, qu’il faut réduire la possibilité d’influencer les
politiciens à l’aide des contributions.

À mon avis, le projet de loi C-2 n’est pas une conséquence des
défaillances systémiques du gouvernement canadien ni du système
de financement électoral mais plutôt de l’environnement politique
et des possibilités stratégiques créées par le soi-disant scandale des
commandites. L’indignation du public au sujet des actes criminels
et des manquements à l’éthique d’une poignée de gens a permis
d’utiliser à des fins politiques la prétendue absence d’intégrité
personnelle de l’ensemble des politiciens et des fonctionnaires afin
d’en faire un important enjeu électoral. Des promesses électorales
ont été faites, des votes ont été récoltés et ainsi est né le projet de
loi C-2.

Le fait est que la corruption n’est pas omniprésente au
gouvernement canadien ni à la fonction publique, pas plus qu’il
n’existe de preuve selon laquelle le régime de contributions
politiques actuel influence indûment les politiciens. Après de
nombreux mois d’enquête et de témoignage sous serment au cours
de la commission d’enquête sur le programme des commandites et
les activités de publicité, le juge John Gomery a constaté que

[...] le scandale des commandites fut une aberration. La très
grande majorité des fonctionnaires sont des personnes
compétentes qui agissent au service de la population avec
dévouement et de manière éthique, en respectant les lois, les
règlements, les politiques et les lignes directrices. Nous ne
devons pas oublier que seule une poignée de représentants
du gouvernement n’a pas respectée ces normes dans le cadre
du programme des commandites.

Même s’il existait des problèmes répandus de corruption
et d’influence indue de parlementaires par le biais de
contributions politiques, comme l’affirme le gouvernement —
ce qui ne correspond pas aux conclusions du juge
Gomery — le problème ne réside pas dans le montant
d’argent qu’un particulier est autorisé à contribuer
annuellement au total. Le problème réside dans le montant
que les partis et les politiciens qui contrôlent les lois, les
dépenses et les nominations du gouvernement sont autorisés à
recevoir de la part de donateurs individuels.
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There are two broad classes of political parties and politicians
in Canada: those who now form or could form the government,
and those who are unlikely or will never form a government, or, in
many cases, as with our party, are unlikely to even elect an MP. If
the government can demonstrate that limiting Canadians’
political contributions is necessary to avoid corruption, the two
classes of parties and politicians should be treated differently, just
as the law differentiates between the parties that are eligible for
public funding and the ones that are not.

Although it has failed to do so, the government may be able to
demonstrate that a $5,000 annual contribution from an individual
may unduly influence the Conservative Party of Canada, the
Liberal Party of Canada or their respective MPs because these
parties and politicians control or may control government
actions. The same cannot be said about a $5,000, $10,000 or
$20,000 contribution to one of the smaller parties.

Obviously, individuals do not contribute to smaller parties in
order to unduly influence politicians or curry government
favours, nor can the parties or politicians who receive good
faith contributions be plausibly accused of the corrupt behaviour
implied in Bill C-2. Consequently, there is no demonstrably
justifiable reason to infringe the rights of people who contribute
to smaller parties by arbitrarily lowering the limits of their
political contributions.

The appropriate legislation response to the problem of political
contributions that the government claims exists is not what is now
proposed in Bill C-2, the indiscriminate and universal reduction to
$1,000, an arbitrary and absurdly low figure that individuals can
contribute annually in aggregate in political donations to various
entities.

The appropriate response would be a graduated scale of limits
on how much parties and their candidates can receive in aggregate
from an individual. History has shown repeatedly that those most
prone to corrupt behaviour are the parties, candidates and MPs
who form the government. Therefore, if the problem exists, they
should be strictly limited to how much they can receive from any
one individual. The government recommends $1,000. Parties and
candidates with little or no chance of being in a position to unduly
influence government actions are rarely, if ever, tempted by
corruption. Consequently, the limit on what they can receive from
an individual should be much higher, perhaps $10,000 or more.
As for individuals, there is no reason to limit how much they can

Il existe deux grandes catégories de partis politiques et de
politiciens au Canada: ceux qui forment à l’heure actuelle le
gouvernement ou pourraient le former, et ceux qui ne sont pas
susceptibles de former un gouvernement ou qui ne formeront
jamais un gouvernement ou, dans bien des cas, comme dans celui
de notre parti, qui ne sont pas susceptibles de faire même élire un
député. Si le gouvernement peut trouver que la restriction des
contributions politiques des Canadiens est nécessaire pour éviter
la corruption, les deux catégories de partis et de politiciens
devraient être traitées différemment, tout comme la loi fait la
distinction entre les partis admissibles à un financement public et
ceux qui ne le sont pas.

Même s’il n’a pas réussi à le faire, le gouvernement pourrait
prouver qu’une contribution annuelle de cinq mille dollars de la
part d’un particulier peut influencer indûment le Parti
conservateur du Canada, le Parti libéral du Canada ou leurs
députés respectifs parce que ces partis et leurs politiciens
contrôlent ou peuvent contrôler les mesures gouvernementales.
Le même argument ne peut pas être invoqué à propos d’une
contribution de 5 000 $, 10 000 $ ou 20 000 $ versée à l’un des
petits partis.

De toute évidence, les particuliers ne versent pas de
contributions aux petits partis pour influencer indûment les
politiciens ou obtenir une faveur du gouvernement, pas plus que
les partis ou les politiciens qui reçoivent des contributions de
bonne foi peuvent être accusés de façon plausible du
comportement corrompu sous-entendu dans le projet
de loi C-2. Par conséquent, il n’existe aucune raison justifiable
pour porter atteinte aux droits de ceux qui versent des
contributions à de petits partis en abaissant de façon arbitraire
les montants limites de leurs contributions politiques.

La solution législative appropriée au problème des
contributions politiques qui existe, selon ce que prétend le
gouvernement, ne correspond pas aux dispositions proposées à
l’heure actuelle par le projet de loi C-2, à savoir établir de façon
systématique et universelle que le montant, d’ailleurs arbitraire et
ridiculement faible, que les individus peuvent contribuer chaque
année en tout sous forme de dons politiques à diverses entités est
de mille dollars.

La solution appropriée consisterait à établir une échelle
graduée des montants limites que les partis et leurs candidats
peuvent recevoir en tout de la part d’un particulier. L’histoire a
prouvé à maintes reprises que ce sont les partis, les candidats et les
députés qui forment le gouvernement qui sont les plus susceptibles
de corruption. Par conséquent, si le problème existe, ces derniers
devraient se voir imposer des limites strictes quant aux montants
qu’ils peuvent recevoir d’un particulier. Le gouvernement
recommande un montant de mille dollars. Les partis et les
candidats qui ont peu, sinon aucune chance d’influencer indûment
les mesures gouvernementales sont rarement, pour ne pas dire
jamais, tentés par la corruption. Par conséquent, le montant limite
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give annually if registered parties and their candidates and
independent candidates are limited to how much they can receive
and how much they can spend.

To conclude, a regime of graduated contribution limits that a
party or politician can receive from an individual based on the
control that the recipients exercise over government policy and
spending would serve all the purposes itemized by the government
while minimally infringing the democratic rights of individuals
enshrined in the Charter of Rights and Freedoms.

[Translation]

Jean Langlois, Executive Director, Green Party of Canada:
Honorable Senators, on behalf of the Green Party of Canada, I
would like to thank the members of the Committee for allowing
me to appear before you today. Most of my comments will be in
English.

[English]

By way of introduction, I wish to point out that those of you
who are familiar with the Green Party platform from the last
election will remember that there are notions in that platform
about an accountability act for federal legislation. The Green
Party of Canada is strongly in support of the measures in the
federal accountability act that will bring fairness and
transparency to political financing. However, there are a couple
of details that we would like to comment on about Bill C-2. Our
first comment deals with proposed section 43 of the Canada
Elections Act, which repeals the section regarding contributions
by corporations and trade unions. The effect of that proposed
section is to take the current $1,000 limit and reduce it to zero for
corporations and trade unions. The Green Party agrees in
principle with that provision. It was, in fact, a plank in our
platform. However, it is important to make a distinction with
regard specifically to contributions in kind to electoral district
associations. Our concern is that the effect of proposed
section 43 as written would be to curtail participation in the
political process for a simple matter like a local mom-and-pop
coffee shop providing coffee and doughnuts to the AGM of an
electoral district association. As stated, that would constitute an
illegal, in-kind contribution to an electoral district association.
The act really crosses the line when making that kind of welcomed
informal gesture of support into some kind of corrupt, undue
influence on the Canadian political system.

Our proposal is an amendment to that proposed section of the
federal accountability act, rather than the elimination of that
section of the Elections Act. Our amendment would permit
in-kind contributions of up to $1,000 by corporations and trade

qu’ils pourraient recevoir d’un particulier devrait être nettement
plus élevé, soit peut-être 10 000 $ ou plus. Quant aux particuliers,
il n’existe aucune raison de limiter le montant qu’ils peuvent
donner chaque année si des partis enregistrés et leurs candidats et
les candidats indépendants se voient imposer des limites quant
aux montants qu’ils peuvent recevoir et qu’ils peuvent dépenser.

Pour conclure, un régime de limite de contributions graduée
qu’un parti ou un politicien peut recevoir d’un particulier en
fonction du contrôle que les bénéficiaires exercent sur la politique
et les dépenses gouvernementales permettrait d’atteindre
l’ensemble des objectifs énoncés par le gouvernement tout en
empiétant le moins possible sur les droits démocratiques des
particuliers inscrits dans la Charte des droits et libertés.

[Français]

Jean Langlois, directeur exécutif, Parti Vert du Canada:
Honorables sénateurs, au nom du Parti Vert du Canada, je
remercie les membres du comité de me donner l’occasion de
comparaître aujourd’hui. Je ferai mes commentaires
majoritairement en anglais.

[Traduction]

En guise d’introduction, j’aimerais signaler à ceux d’entre vous
qui connaissent le programme électoral présenté par le Parti Vert
lors des dernières élections que ce programme contient des
notions à propos d’une loi fédérale en matière de
responsabilisation. Le Parti Vert du Canada appuie fermement
les mesures de la Loi fédérale sur la responsabilité qui assureront
l’équité et la transparence au financement politique. Cependant, il
y a quelques aspects du projet de loi C-2 que nous aimerions
commenter. Notre premier commentaire concerne l’article
proposé 43 de la Loi électorale du Canada, qui abroge les
dispositions concernant les contributions de la part de sociétés et
de syndicats. L’article proposé a pour effet de réduire la limite
actuelle de mille dollars à zéro pour ce qui est de contributions
provenant de sociétés et de syndicats. Le Parti Vert est d’accord
en principe avec cette disposition. Il s’agissait en fait d’un volet de
notre programme électoral. Cependant, nous tenons à faire une
distinction en ce qui concerne particulièrement les contributions
en nature à l’intention des associations électorales de
circonscriptions. Nous craignons que l’article 43 tel qu’il est
rédigé ait pour effet de freiner la participation au processus
politique au niveau local en empêchant une boulangerie locale
d’offrir le café et les beignes à l’occasion d’une réunion d’une
association de circonscription. Comme nous l’avons indiqué, un
tel geste serait considéré comme une contribution en nature
illégale à une association de circonscription. La loi va vraiment
trop loin lorsqu’elle considère un tel geste d’appui informel et
apprécié comme une façon quelconque de corrompre ou
d’influencer indûment le système politique canadien.

Nous proposons que l’on modifie l’article proposé de la loi
fédérale sur la responsabilisation plutôt que d’éliminer l’article en
question de la Loi électorale. Notre amendement permettrait des
contributions en nature jusqu’à concurrence de 1 000 $ de la part
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unions, to cover off that type of contribution of services or goods,
in-kinds, at the local level. ‘‘In-kind at the local level,’’ is the
qualifier on that amendment.

The second real substantive concern that we have, that I know
you have heard already, is around proposed section 46 of the
Canada Elections Act and, in particular, the timing of the
implementation. This proposed section changes the limit of
individual contributions from $5,000 down to $1,000 per year.
The Green Party of Canada supports that provision, in principle.
The concern is around the timing of the implementation and the
problems that would be caused by having that proposed section
come into effect during the calendar year. Doing that would mean
that some Canadians who contribute $5,000 to a political party in
2006 would do so lawfully, while other Canadians who make the
same level of contribution, depending on the timing, find
themselves inadvertently violating the act. There is no valid
reason for putting Canadians in that position. We also feel that
there is an added administrative burden associated with
distinguishing between those two cases, for the purposes of
income tax credits. It would require Revenue Canada to
distinguish between someone who did monthly installments
versus someone who made a one-time contribution, and
whether that contribution was made before or after the date
that the bill receives Royal Assent. We feel that is a waste of
resources to make those kinds of distinctions, when the simple
solution
is to amend the bill so that that proposed section takes effect
on January 1. We are presuming January 1, 2007 as the
convenient date for that change in the limit to come into force.
The technical wording in our brief is that it would come into force
on January 1, following Royal Assent, allowing for the provision
that it may not actually be this coming January 1.

We support the bill, in principle, as it affects electoral finances,
and we are pleased to see such specific planks from the Green
Party of Canada platform being implemented by Parliament, so
we congratulate you on that.

Will Arlow, Representative, Canadian Action Party: I am here
as a delegate for the Canadian Action Party. I have been
desperately trying to get up to speed in the last few days. I was
handed this assignment because our leader was away at
convention in Victoria. I want to thank the committee for the
opportunity to hear my concerns.

I have been able to read through the summary and look at the
some 48 points that the bill appears to touch on. I have been
through some of the speeches from some of the members of the
House of Commons who had concerns about the bill. I have not
been able to access the bill.

I am a four-time federal election candidate for the Canadian
Action Party, running twice in Elgin—Middlesex—London, and
twice in my riding of Port Moody—Coquitlam—Port Coquitlam.

des sociétés et des syndicats afin d’autoriser les contributions de
services ou de produits en nature, au niveau local. L’amendement
en question préciserait donc qu’il s’agit de contribution « en
nature au niveau local ».

Le deuxième aspect qui nous préoccupe beaucoup et dont vous
avez déjà entendu parler concerne l’article 46 proposé de la Loi
électorale du Canada, et en particulier le moment de sa mise en
œuvre. L’article proposé modifie le montant limite des
contributions individuelles qui passe de 5 000 $ à 1 000 $ par
année. Le Parti Vert du Canada appuie cette disposition en
principe. Ce qui nous préoccupe, c’est le moment de sa mise en
œuvre et les problèmes qu’entraînerait la mise en œuvre de cet
article proposé au cours de l’année civile. Cela signifierait que
certains Canadiens qui contribuent 5 000 $ à un parti politique en
2006 agiraient de la sorte en toute légalité tandis que d’autres
Canadiens qui feraient une contribution équivalente à un autre
moment se trouveraient par inadvertance à enfreindre la loi. Il
n’existe aucune raison valable pour mettre les Canadiens dans une
telle position. Nous considérons également qu’on alourdit le
fardeau administratif en établissant une distinction entre ces deux
cas, aux fins des crédits d’impôt. Revenu Canada serait tenu de
faire la distinction entre ceux qui font des versements mensuels et
ceux qui font une contribution en une seule fois et devrait
déterminer si la contribution a été versée avant ou après
la date à laquelle le projet de loi reçoit la sanction royale.
Nous considérons que ce genre de distinctions est un
gaspillage des ressources, alors que la solution simple consiste à
modifier le projet de loi afin que l’article proposé entre en
vigueur le ler janvier. Nous partons du principe que le ler janvier
2007 représenterait une date pratique pour l’entrée en vigueur du
changement concernant la limite des contributions. Selon le libellé
que nous proposons dans notre mémoire, le changement entrerait
en vigueur le ler janvier, à la suite de la sanction royale, en
prévoyant qu’il ne s’agirait pas forcément du ler janvier prochain.

Nous appuyons le projet de loi, en principe, en ce qui concerne
les finances électorales, et nous sommes heureux de constater que
certains éléments du programme électoral du Parti Vert du
Canada sont en train d’être mis en œuvre par le Parlement, et
nous vous en félicitons.

Will Arlow, représentant, Parti Action canadienne: Je suis ici en
tant que délégué du Parti Action canadienne. J’ai travaillé
d’arrache-pied au cours des derniers jours. Notre chef m’a
confié ce travail parce qu’il était à un congrès à Victoria. Je
tiens à remercier le comité de me donner l’occasion d’exprimer
mes préoccupations.

J’ai réussi à lire le sommaire et à résumer certains des 48 points
sur lesquels porte le projet de loi. J’ai pris connaissance de certains
des discours prononcés par les députés qui étaient préoccupés par le
projet de loi. Je n’ai pas réussi à mettre la main sur le projet de loi.

J’ai été candidat quatre fois aux élections fédérales
pour le Parti Action canadienne, soit deux fois à
Elgin—Middlesex—London et deux fois dans ma circonscription
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The Canadian Action Party has been monitoring reform
concerning Canadian sovereignty, civil rights and parliamentary
reform since 1997.

In going through the remarks of some of the speakers who
have talked about this legislation, and I have had time to peruse it
in detail, some things jump out at me. I notice that it touches on
the access to information issue. I have the greatest respect for the
spirit of an access to information law and have concerns about the
way ours works. I am not sure that the bill is designed to do
anything to improve that. I followed the Somalia inquiry carefully
and watching what happened when people with something to hide
used the access to information system to hide information was
deeply disturbing.

When I look at the way this bill is designed, all the things that it
touches on, I am struck by what I would call the accountability
dichotomy of this Conservative government. I am concerned with
the way the Conservatives approached the legislative agenda from
the start. My concerns include accountability and child care. We
monitor Aboriginal affairs, the softwood lumber issue and now,
the up-coming live-fire exercises on the Great Lakes. The live-fire
exercises will begin soon even though nobody in the last 200 years
has thought that was a good idea. We are concerned with the
coordination and integration of military command with the U.S.
and the way we have taken over the mission in Afghanistan. We
worry about the government’s position on climate change and the
way political appointments and lobbyists have been handled.

I see a very large bill with many elements in it that have me
deeply concerned that the bill is a Trojan horse, and designed to
shame people into going along with it, given that it is named the
accountability act. After all, in a seven-second sound bite who
could explain why they would be against accountability? That is
the way our media system works, and the way people receive
information. The public receives information broadly and not it
detail. The media packages information into neat little sound
bites.

I see the shame game as important for the Senate to look
through, and be careful about, and be valorous in its actions in
analyzing the bill and looking at all the detail and recognizing it
for the Trojan horse that I think it is.

I see the elements about campaign financing as hostile to small
parties. We have been concerned with and burdened with the
audit system for election campaign financing reporting to
Elections Canada. This does nothing to make it any better; it
actually does things to make it worse. The new rules look to be
more hostile to small parties, and I wonder about the confidence
that our elected officials have in our democratic system if they are

de Port Moody—Coquitlam—Port Coquitlam. Le Parti Action
canadienne a suivi la réforme concernant la souveraineté du
Canada, les droits civils et la réforme parlementaire depuis 1997.

En prenant connaissance de certaines des remarques faites par
ceux qui ont parlé du projet de loi, et j’ai eu le temps de les étudier
de façon détaillée, certaines choses m’ont frappé. Je constate qu’il
porte entre autre sur la question de l’accès à l’information. J’ai le
plus grand respect envers le principe d’une loi sur l’accès à
l’information, mais j’ai des préoccupations à propos de la façon
dont la nôtre fonctionne. Je ne suis pas sûr que le projet de loi vise
à l’améliorer. J’ai suivi attentivement les audiences de la
Commission d’enquête sur la Somalie et j’ai pu constater que
lorsque les gens ont quelque chose à cacher, ils utilisent le système
de l’accès à l’information, ce qui était profondément inquiétant.

À la lecture du projet de loi, quand je vois comment il a été
conçu et tous les éléments qu’il contient, je suis frappé par ce que
j’appellerais la dichotomie chez l’actuel gouvernement
conservateur en matière de responsabilisation. Je suis préoccupé
par les objectifs que poursuivent les conservateurs dans leur
programme législatif, et ce, depuis le début. Je m’inquiète
notamment de la responsabilisation et de la garde d’enfants.
Nous suivons de près ce qui se passe dans les dossiers des affaires
autochtones, du bois d’œuvre et, depuis peu, les exercices de tir
réel qui doivent bientôt avoir lieu sur les Grands Lacs. Ces
exercices débuteront bientôt, même si, depuis 200 ans, personne
n’a encore trouvé que c’était une bonne idée. Nous sommes
préoccupés du fait que le commandement militaire soit coordonné
et intégré avec les forces militaires américaines, et également par le
fait que nous ayons assumé le commandement de la mission en
Afghanistan. Nous nous inquiétons de la position du
gouvernement sur les changements climatiques et aussi sur les
nominations politiques et les lobbyistes.

Le projet de loi me paraît très volumineux et il contient
beaucoup d’éléments qui me font craindre qu’il s’agit en fait d’un
cheval de Troie; on oblige les gens à être en faveur du projet de loi,
car comment peut-on être contre la vertu, contre la responsabilité?
Après tout, comment peut-on justifier dans un clip sonore de
sept secondes qu’on soit contre la responsabilité? L’univers
médiatique est ainsi fait, c’est comme cela que les gens reçoivent
leur information. L’information est présentée de manière
générale, sans qu’on entre dans les détails. Elle doit pouvoir
s’insérer dans de petits clips sonores.

Il serait important, à mon avis, que le Sénat se penche sur ce
petit jeu qui fait qu’on ne peut pas être contre la vertu, qu’il tienne
bien compte de cet aspect et qu’il fasse preuve de courage dans
l’analyse qu’il fera du projet de loi, le retournant sous toutes ses
faces, sachant reconnaître qu’il s’agit en fait d’un cheval de Troie.

D’après moi, les dispositions concernant le financement
électoral desservent mal les petits partis. Le régime mit en place
par Élections Canada pour vérifier les dépenses électorales est
pour nous une source d’inquiétude et un fardeau. Il ne fait rien
pour améliorer les choses; il ne fait que les empirer. Les nouvelles
règles semblent tout particulièrement hostiles envers les petits
partis, et je m’interroge sur la confiance qu’ont nos élus dans
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concerned about keeping small parties out of it. I wonder what
that says about what they think of the state of democracy in
Canada. Why is it so necessary to hold the small parties out?

The Canadian Action Party cheered when it got big money out
of election campaign financing. That was a great step, but the
second element of election campaign financing reform is starkly
missing affirmative action. If the Supreme Court is right in its
analysis that small parties do have something to say and do have
something to add to the political climate, and are capable of
working for the betterment of the country, then I wonder why
election campaign financing rules are not designed to affirm the
value of small parties, to give small parties a leg up. I wonder why
the design was to hold small parties out, to punish them for
participating. The new rules are even more punishing.

I notice also that the discussion came up in the House of
Commons about security certificates. I wonder who is guarding
the guards, the powers and the secrecy of the government. I worry
about the effectiveness, the accountability and the oversight of
security apparatus in Canada generally. I wonder what the lessons
are that are being absorbed about the Air India affair, theWilliam
Sampson affair, the Maher Arar affair and others.

The other element that I see in the legislation that is mystifying
and confusing is this notion of paying whistleblowers. I cannot
quite get my head around why anyone would think that is a good
idea. However, I think it is an interesting window into the minds
of the framers of the legislation. It would be interesting to explore
that and see why anyone who is designing legislation would put in
such an element to see if it would fly.

On a broader perspective, being politically active and aware, I
am concerned about empire. I have watched the way empire
works, both formally and informally. I have looked into and
studied extensively the imperialism of free trade and since the
Mulroney era, I have worried about moving Canada into the orbit
of empire in terms of its legislative agenda. The Trudeau legacy is
a legacy of steering a Canadian course in the world as opposed to
the Mulroney legacy. That legacy seems to have crossed party
lines. It seems to have crossed into the Liberal legislative agenda,
too, and is moving Canada into the orbit empire, in particular the
empire of the United States, which is an empire in denial at best,
or a psychotic empire, given that it seems to deny its own imperial
ambitions.

The Chairman: Are you ready to take questions now?

Mr. Arlow: Yes, I am.

notre régime démocratique, s’ils veulent évincer les petits partis.
Je m’interroge sur ce qu’ils doivent penser de l’état de la
démocratie au Canada. Pourquoi est-il si nécessaire d’exclure les
petits partis?

Le Parti Action canadienne s’est réjoui en apprenant que le
nouveau régime de financement électoral lui vaudrait des sommes
considérables. C’était là un grand pas, mais il manque un élément
important à ce nouveau régime de financement, soit l’action
positive. Si la Cour suprême a raison de dire que les petits partis
ont un rôle à jouer, qu’ils doivent avoir une voix dans le débat
politique et qu’ils sont capables de contribuer au mieux-être du
Canada, je me demande alors pourquoi les règles sur le
financement électoral n’ont pas été conçues de manière à
affirmer l’importance des petits partis et à leur donner un
certain avantage. Je me demande pourquoi ces règles ont été
conçues de manière à évincer les petits partis, à les punir pour leur
participation. Elles les punissent encore plus que le régime
précédent.

J’ai constaté, par ailleurs, qu’il a été question à la Chambre des
communes des certificats de sécurité. Je me demande qui surveille
les gardiens de notre sécurité, ceux qui au gouvernement
détiennent le pouvoir et l’exercent dans le secret. Je m’inquiète
de l’efficacité, de la responsabilité et de la supervision de notre
dispositif de sécurité dans son ensemble. Je me demande quelles
sont les leçons qu’on a tirées de l’affaire Air India, de l’affaire
William Sampson, de l’affaire Maher Arar et des autres.

L’autre aspect du projet de loi qui me laisse tout à fait perplexe,
c’est cette idée de payer les dénonciateurs. Je n’arrive pas à
comprendre qu’on puisse trouver que ce soit là une bonne idée.
J’estime cependant que cela nous en dit long sur ce qui a motivé
les rédacteurs du projet de loi. Il serait intéressant de creuser cela
pour voir pourquoi on a voulu insérer de telles dispositions dans
le projet de loi.

De manière plus générale, comme je suis actif en politique et
conscient de la chose politique, les tendances impérialistes qui
sont à l’œuvre, tant celles qui s’affichent que celles qui sont plus
informelles, sont pour moi une source de préoccupation. Je me
suis penché sur l’impérialisme du libre-échange, et depuis l’époque
Mulroney, je m’inquiète de ce que notre programme législatif au
Canada semble montrer que nous gravitons de plus en plus dans
l’orbite de l’empire. Trudeau avait laissé sa marque en voulant
que le Canada ait une voie bien à lui dans le monde. L’héritage
Mulroney allait dans le sens contraire, et cet héritage semble avoir
suscité l’adhésion de l’autre parti politique, car il se reflète
maintenant dans le programme législatif des libéraux, si bien que
le Canada gravite de plus en plus dans l’orbite de l’empire,
notamment de l’empire américain qui, dans la meilleure des
hypothèses, est un empire qui refuse de se reconnaître comme tel
ou qui vit dans un état de psychose, puisqu’il semble nier ses
propres ambitions impérialistes.

Le président: Êtes-vous maintenant prêt à répondre aux
questions?

M. Arlow: Oui, je le suis.
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The Chairman: I would like to thank all of you for three
interesting presentations. The Green Party’s suggestion about
contributions in kind is well developed and interesting. I thank
you for bringing that to our attention as well.

Senator Zimmer: Gentlemen, first, thank you for your
attendance and for your interesting approaches in several
different ways.

Mr. Best, you suggested a two-tier scale. Mr. Langlois and
Mr. Arlow, what do you think of his recommendation? One level
could possibly form government whereas the other levels may
never form government.

Mr. Langlois: I will agree that it is interesting. I will not put
myself in the position of inventing party policy on the fly. I think
my colleague thinks deeply about such things and I would not
want to give a flippant response to his recommendation.

Mr. Arlow: It is a good idea in theory, although my concern is
who would draw the lines and just where the line might be drawn.
In other words, who would declare which party had the least
chance of electing representatives? That would give someone the
power to decide the way that a party would be financed and how
it could participate in the Canadian political arena. It is not a bad
idea theoretically. It seems to me it would be difficult to make it
work.

Senator Zimmer: If some day — and never is a long time —
one of those smaller parties has a chance of attaining the level of
forming government, would you make any adjustments to those
levels? Or what levels would you suggest as far as donation levels
are concerned?

Mr. Best: Going from $5,000 to $1,000 implies that
at $5,000 our members of Parliament are corruptible and at
$1,000 they are not. The Liberals put the $5,000 cap in a few years
ago. It has already been reduced. Thus we have had three to four
years of the $5,000 regime. I do not detect that a lot of
corruption has been taking place because of what happened at the
$5,000 level. Going to $1,000 seems to be a political statement as
opposed to anything dealing with the real problem.

In terms of smaller parties which are unlikely to elect MPs, and
even less likely to form the government, it is not difficult to look
at voting history, much as we do in selecting electoral districts and
independent commissions, and say, ‘‘This party is unlikely to
form the government.’’ As they get more seats or elect people to
the House and become an influence, then you can begin to put
them into a different donation regime.

I do not think this is at all difficult. Even now we have in place
terms for giving money to parties on the basis of the number of
votes they receive. We have terms concerning the percentage of

Le président: Je tiens à vous remercier tous les trois pour vos
exposés forts intéressants. Je retiens notamment l’idée du Parti
Vert au sujet des contributions en nature. C’est une proposition
qui me paraît bien réfléchie et intéressante, et je vous remercie de
l’avoir portée à notre attention.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Messieurs, je tiens tout d’abord à vous
remercier de votre présence ici aujourd’hui et de vos propositions
qui me semblent intéressantes à plusieurs égards.

Monsieur Best, vous avez parlé de deux catégories de parti.
Messieurs Langlois et Arlow, que pensez-vous de sa
recommandation? Dans une catégorie, on aurait les partis qui
pourraient un jour accéder au pouvoir, tandis que dans l’autre, on
aurait ceux qui n’auraient aucun espoir ou presque de former le
gouvernement.

M. Langlois: Je trouve l’idée intéressante, mais je ne vais pas
m’aventurer dans cette voie et me mettre à improviser sur les
orientations de notre parti. Mon collègue a sûrement beaucoup
réfléchi à la chose, et je ne voudrais pas réagir de façon désinvolte
à ce qu’il recommande.

M. Arlow: L’idée est bonne, mais sur le plan pratique, je
m’inquiète de savoir qui déciderait que tel parti appartiendrait à
telle catégorie. Autrement dit, qui déciderait que tel parti a moins
de chance qu’un autre de faire élire des députés? Cette décision
aurait des répercussions sur le financement du parti en question et
sur sa capacité à jouer un rôle sur la scène politique canadienne.
L’idée n’est pas sans mérite sur le plan théorique, mais il me
semble qu’il serait difficile de l’appliquer concrètement.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Si un jour — et jamais, c’est très long —
un de ces petits partis avait la possibilité d’atteindre le niveau
voulu pour former le gouvernement, pensez-vous que les plafonds
devraient être rajustés? Quels plafonds établiriez-vous pour les
dons?

M. Best: Ramener le plafond de 5 000 $ à 1 000 $ laisse
entendre qu’avec 5 000 $, on peut corrompre un député, mais pas
avec 1 000 $. Les libéraux ont fixé le plafond à 5 000 $ il y a de
cela quelques années. Le plafond a déjà été réduit. Nous avons
donc vécu avec ce plafond de 5 000 $ pendant trois ou
quatre ans. Je n’ai pas constaté que la corruption se pratiquait
à grande échelle lorsque le plafond était à 5 000 $. Le ramener
à 1 000 $, c’est plus une façon de se positionner sur le plan
politique que de s’attaquer au véritable problème.

Dans le cas des petits partis, qui ont peu de chance de faire élire
de leurs membres, et encore moins de former le gouvernement, il
ne serait pas difficile de se fonder sur le nombre de voix exprimées
par le passé, tout comme nous le faisons pour ce qui est du
découpage électoral et des commissions indépendants, pour dire:
« Il y a peu de chance que tel parti forme le gouvernement. » Au
fur et à mesure que le parti obtiendrait plus de sièges ou ferait élire
des députés à la Chambre et qu’il serait en mesure d’exercer son
influence, on pourrait alors le soumettre à un autre régime pour
les contributions.

Je pense que ce serait facile à faire. Nous avons déjà en place
des règles qui prévoient de remettre de l’argent aux partis en
fonction du nombre de voix qu’ils ont recueillies. Nous avons des
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campaign expenses that must be paid back based on what they
receive. Those are arbitrary decisions. Again, they are hostile to
the smaller parties who are raising issues as opposed to, in many
cases, trying to attain power and control public policy.

Senator Zimmer:Mr. Arlow, on July 10 your president, Connie
Fogal, indicated that the new $1,000 limit on individual donations
would cut out any of the handful of generous Canadians who
gave the Canadian Action Party contributions of $5,000 in the
past. She said that those contributions are important for your
party and reducing the amount to $1,000 will kill you. Do you still
share that view?

Mr. Arlow: Will we survive as a party technically? Will it be
harder to be effective? You bet.

The Chairman: Mr. Best, could you tell us what the average
contribution is and has been to your party?

Mr. Best: Our average contribution is in the $150 to
$200 range. Like most parties, we find that more people give in
smaller amounts. Now that we have become a party we have been
able to encourage people to go to the $400 mark so that they can
get the 75 per cent writeoff. They can give more money now. We
find we have more money to spend on campaigns since we became
a party.

What has come up is the smaller number of donors who are
willing to give much more. I could not give you an absolute
number but I would say that, perhaps, we have donors who
number in the mid-hundreds who give $100 per month. That is
$1,200 per year and we will be out $200 with the proposed
legislation. As with all parties we have an even smaller number of
donors who give larger amounts. We had a wonderful donor who
cut us a cheque for $20,000. We had to tell her that we could only
accept $500. This person is not interested in corrupting anyone;
she is not getting any favours. She believes in what we do.

We are talking about political parties here, but political parties
have no rights. We are not even in the Constitution. We are
talking about individual people who are exercising democratic
rights by saying, ‘‘I support what you do.’’ These are small
parties. They just want their voices heard. For many of them, we
are talking about older people who do not bang on doors and
pick up phones. We have people who support us who go white at
the idea of banging on a door. It is their way of contributing.
These individual Canadians are saying that they want to be part
of the system. It sends a terrible message to these people; they are
lead to believe that all MPs are corrupt, which is not the case.

Senator Campbell: I congratulate you on the selection of a new
party leader.

règles pour ce qui est du pourcentage des dépenses électorales qui
doivent être remboursées en fonction de ce que reçoivent les
partis. Ce sont là des décisions arbitraires et qui, je le répète, sont
hostiles aux petits partis, lesquels sont là pour soulever des
questions plutôt que pour accéder au pouvoir et contrôler l’action
gouvernementale.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur Arlow, le 10 juillet, votre
présidente, Connie Fogal, a déclaré que le nouveau maximum
de 1 000 $ pour les contributions individuelles priverait le Parti
Action Canadienne des contributions de cette poignée de
généreux Canadiens qui lui faisaient des dons de 5 000 $. Elle a
dit que ces contributions sont importantes pour votre parti et que
le nouveau plafond de 1 000 $ vous porterait un coût fatal.
Êtes-vous toujours de cet avis?

M. Arlow: Notre parti va-t-il continuer d’exister? Sera-t-il plus
difficile pour nous d’être efficaces? C’est certain.

Le président: Monsieur Best, pourriez-vous nous indiquer quel
est le montant moyen des contributions à votre parti et nous dire
aussi quel a été le montant moyen au fil des ans?

M. Best: Le montant moyen des contributions se situe entre
150 $ et 200 $. Comme la plupart des partis, nous constatons que,
le plus souvent, les gens donnent de petits montants. Depuis que
nous avons accédé au statut de parti, nous sommes en mesure
d’encourager les gens à porter leurs contributions à 400 $ pour
qu’ils puissent profiter de la déduction fiscale de 75 p. 100. Ils
peuvent maintenant donner plus. Nous constatons que nous
avons plus d’argent pour les campagnes électorales depuis que
nous sommes devenus un parti.

Il y a toutefois un petit nombre de personnes qui sont prêtes à
donner beaucoup plus que cela, et c’est un problème. Je ne peux
pas vous donner de chiffres absolus, mais je dirais que nous avons
peut-être cinq cents personnes qui donnent 100 $ par mois. Cela
représente 1 200 $ par an, si bien que la nouvelle loi nous ferait
perdre 200 $. Comme tous les autres partis, nous avons un
nombre encore plus petit de personnes qui donnent des montants
encore plus importants. Par exemple, une dame extraordinaire
nous a donné un chèque de 20 000 $. Nous avons dû lui dire que
nous ne pouvions accepter que 500 $. Cette dame ne cherche pas à
corrompre qui que ce soit; elle ne cherche pas à obtenir de faveurs.
Elle croit simplement en ce que nous faisons.

Nous parlons ici des partis politiques, mais ces partis n’ont
aucun droit, nous ne figurons même pas dans la Constitution.
Nous parlons ici de particuliers qui exercent leurs droits
démocratiques en disant: « J’appuie ce que vous faites. » Il
s’agit de petits partis, qui veulent simplement se faire entendre.
Bien souvent, ceux qui nous appuient sont des amis qui ne vont
pas aller frapper aux portes et qui ne se mettront pas non plus à
faire des appels. Cela les horripile rien que d’y penser. Leur façon
à eux de nous aider, c’est de nous donner une contribution. Ils
veulent ainsi participer à la vie politique du pays. Or, quel
message terrible que de leur donner à croire que tous les députés
sont corrompus, alors que ce n’est pas le cas.

Le sénateur Campbell: Je vous félicite pour l’élection du
nouveau chef de votre parti.
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Mr. Langlois: We are pretty pumped about it.

Senator Campbell: I know. I hear her every day.

Mr. Best, I was quite impressed with your document, save for
the part concerning who is in and who is out. I do not want any of
the Conservatives here to take this as a slap, but, if you recall, at
one point the Progressive Conservative Party was down to two
people.

Senator Stratton: I was still a member.

Senator Campbell: I mean elected. We would have to go back
to the 1860s to bar you from that. There were only two people
elected. I am sure that, in some minds, that was the demise of that
party. I wonder at what point we decide that the party has a
chance of electing someone and when it does not have a chance.

Mr. Best: Those two seats were an anomaly of our electoral
system, not of the votes they received.

Senator Campbell: Let us not get into how we vote. That is an
entirely different subject.

Mr. Best: Senator, for example, in order to qualify for federal
funding, it is how many votes, not how many seats. By looking at
votes rather than seats, you begin to get a better indication of
which party will be in a position to form a government or take
power.

Senator Campbell: There is a bottom limit. You have to
get X percentage of the vote; is that correct?

Mr. Best: Exactly. That is a totally arbitrary decision.

Senator Campbell: I think that is wrong. Whatever you get,
that should help your party, but I think this idea that we are
making a decision that your party will never elect someone is
wrong. I do not see how we can decide this party has a chance and
that one does not. I would prefer that we drop the bottom on it
and if a registered party gets 10 votes, the party gets $4. If the
party gets 10 percent and still does not elect anyone, it gets that
amount.

Mr. Best: I understand the difficulties we have in deciding
where things are in elections because of the very point you are
making, but we do that all the time in elections. We decide where
boundaries are around electoral districts by negotiation. We
decide where the cut-off is of who will get $1.75 a vote every year.
It is arbitrary. For people who give to the Green Party or the
Conservative Party or the Liberal Party, their votes count more
than people who give to the Canadian Action Party.

Senator Campbell: I did not say I agree with it.

M. Langlois: Nous en sommes très dynamisés.

Le sénateur Campbell: Je le sais. Je l’entends tous les jours.

Monsieur Best, votre mémoire m’a bien impressionné, sauf en
ce qui concerne vos propos sur les partis qui ont la faveur et ceux
qui ne l’ont pas. Je ne veux aucunement que les conservateurs ici
présents ne s’en offusquent, mais vous vous souviendrez qu’à un
moment donné, le Parti progressiste conservateur n’avait plus que
deux membres.

Le sénateur Stratton: J’étais membre moi aussi.

Le sénateur Campbell: Je veux parler de représentants élus. Il
faudrait reculer jusqu’en 1860 pour vous empêcher de dire cela.
Le parti n’avait que deux représentants élus. Je suis sûr que
certains s’imaginaient que le parti ne survivrait pas. Je me
demande quel est le seuil à partir duquel on décide que tel parti a
des chances de faire élire quelqu’un ou qu’il n’en a pas.

M. Best: Ces deux sièges étaient dus à une anomalie de notre
régime électoral, et non pas au nombre de voix exprimées.

Le sénateur Campbell: Nous n’allons pas nous mettre à discuter
de la façon dont nous votons. C’est là un tout autre sujet.

M. Best: Sénateur, pour avoir droit, par exemple, au
financement fédéral, ce n’est pas le nombre de sièges qui
compte, mais bien le nombre de voix recueillies. En se fondant
sur le nombre de voix plutôt que le nombre de sièges, on peut se
faire une meilleure idée des partis qui seraient en mesure de
former le gouvernement ou d’accéder au pouvoir.

Le sénateur Campbell: Il y a un minimum. Il faut obtenir tel
pourcentage des voix, n’est-ce pas?

M. Best: Tout à fait. C’est une décision parfaitement arbitraire.

Le sénateur Campbell: Il ne devrait pas en être ainsi à mon avis.
Quel que soit le pourcentage de voix que vous obteniez, cela
devrait aider votre parti, et j’estime que cette idée que nous
puissions décider que votre parti ne réussira jamais à faire élire
quelqu’un est inacceptable. Je ne vois pas comment nous pouvons
décider que tel parti a des chances de faire élire quelqu’un et que
tel autre n’en a pas. Je préfèrerais que nous supprimions le seuil
minimal et que, si un parti enregistré obtient 10 voix, il a droit
à 4 $. Si le parti obtient 10 p. 100 des voix et qu’il ne réussit
toujours pas à faire élire quelqu’un, il reçoit quand même l’argent.

M. Best: Je comprends qu’il soit difficile de prendre des
décisions en fonction des résultats des élections, en raison
justement de l’argument que vous soulevez, mais nous le faisons
pour bien d’autres choses. Nous décidons des limites des
circonscriptions électorales en passant par la voie de la
négociation. Nous décidons à partir de quel seuil les partis
auront droit chaque année à 1,75 $ pour chaque voix qu’ils
auront recueillie. C’est arbitraire. Ceux qui font des dons au Parti
Vert, au Parti conservateur ou au Parti libéral ont une voix qui
compte plus que ceux qui contribuent au Parti Action canadienne.

Le sénateur Campbell: Je n’ai pas dit que j’étais d’accord avec
cette façon de faire.
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Mr. Best: As a political strategist, I can tell you pretty closely
from voting histories who will win and who will not. If you want
me to do that, I will. Reasonable assumptions can be made from
studying voting histories and patterns and so on. The point is,
with all due respect to Mr. Langlois, it is highly unlikely that his
party will be in a position to influence public policy inside the
House of Commons and at the committee level or the government
level after the next election.

Senator Campbell: Do not be too sure. They would be in pretty
good shape right now if they had one person elected.

Mr. Best: I understand that, but even with one person elected,
they would not be in the same class as the Liberal Party or the
Conservative Party after the next election.

Senator Campbell: Do not be sure about that. Right now, one
vote here could mean whether the House stands or falls. The same
happened in the last election. I do not know how you would be
able to make a decision on who will make it and who will not.

Mr. Best: It is not a matter of who will make it; it is who is in a
position to be corrupted. We are not talking about can you have
influence over legislation legitimately, but rather are you going to
be unduly influenced in such a way that some contribution will be
corruptible process. This all came out of the sponsorship scandal.
We are not talking about legitimate exercises of power here. We
are not talking about proper influence. We are talking here about
undue influence. That is what this act is about. If the Green Party
picked up six seats, it would not be in a position where people
would come to them with thousands and thousands of dollars and
ask for contracts et cetera.

Senator Campbell: I do not think that happens now.

Mr. Best: I do not either. I agree with you. I think $5,000 is an
absurd figure. I do not believe that the Liberal Party or the
Conservative Party will be corrupted for $5,000 or $10,000 or
$20,000.

Senator Stratton: I think everyone is familiar with the Green
Party, but could you briefly tell us about the Canadian Action
Party

Mr. Best: A number of years ago, a number of groups,
including the Animal Alliance of Canada, became very aware that
politicians are important to move forward on environmental
issues, animal welfare issues, or wildlife protection issues. The
only real way to negotiate public policy is from a position of
power. Politicians have the ability to sit down with a cabinet
minister or a committee. You can say, ‘‘Look, if you support this,
we can support you politically and help you get elected, because
you will lose votes over here, or if you do not do this, and if you
are being unduly friendly to the petroleum industry in Alberta, we
will try to deprive you of seats over here.’’ Then you have power
to negotiate public policy. We began doing that as environment
voters. In fact, we made common cause with Stephen Harper in

M. Best: En tant que stratège politique, je n’ai qu’à examiner le
nombre de voix obtenues par le passé pour vous dire, sans trop
risquer de me tromper, qui va gagner et qui ne gagnera pas. Si
vous le voulez, je peux le faire pour vous. Il est possible d’émettre
des hypothèses raisonnables en se fondant sur le nombre de voix
exprimées par le passé, sur les tendances, et cetera Le fait est que,
malgré tout le respect que je dois à M. Langlois, il est très peu
probable que son parti soit en mesure d’influencer l’action
gouvernementale à la Chambre des communes, à un comité ou au
niveau de l’appareil gouvernemental après les prochaines
élections.

Le sénateur Campbell: N’en soyez pas trop sûr. Il leur suffirait
d’avoir un seul représentant élu pour être en assez bonne posture.

M. Best: Oui, je sais, mais même s’ils avaient un représentant
élu, ils ne seraient pas dans la même catégorie que le Parti libéral
ou le Parti conservateur après les prochaines élections.

Le sénateur Campbell: N’en soyez pas trop sûr. À l’heure
actuelle, il suffirait d’une voix pour que la Chambre tombe. C’est
la même chose qui s’est produite aux dernières élections. Je ne sais
pas comment on pourrait décider quels sont les partis qui ont une
chance et quels sont ceux qui n’en ont pas.

M. Best: Il ne s’agit pas de savoir qui a une chance ou qui n’en
a pas, mais bien de savoir qui pourrait être corrompu. Il ne s’agit
pas ici des efforts légitimes pour influencer le processus législatif,
mais bien de savoir qui pourrait être indûment influencé par une
certaine contribution, ce qui serait de corruption. Voilà ce qui est
ressorti du scandale des commandites. Il ne s’agit pas ici des
efforts pour exercer le pouvoir de façon légitime ou pour exercer
son influence, mais bien d’avoir une influence indue. Voilà ce dont
il est question dans le projet de loi. Si le Parti Vert obtenait six
sièges, le fait est qu’on ne risquerait pas de lui offrir des milliers de
dollars en échange de contrats, et cetera

Le sénateur Campbell: Je ne pense pas que cela se produise à
l’heure actuelle.

M. Best: Moi non plus. Je suis d’accord avec vous.
Le montant de 5 000 $ est absurde. Je ne crois pas que le Parti
libéral ou le Parti conservateur puisse être corrompu
pour 5 000 $, 10 000 $ ou 20 000 $.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je pense que tout le monde connaît le
Parti Vert, mais pourriez-vous nous parler brièvement du Parti
Action canadienne?

M. Best: Il y a plusieurs années de cela, un certain nombre de
groupes, y compris l’Alliance animale du Canada, sont devenus
très conscients du fait que les hommes et les femmes politiques
jouent un rôle très important pour ce qui est de faire avancer les
choses en matière d’environnement, de protection des animaux ou
de protection de la faune. La seule façon de négocier pour
influencer l’action gouvernementale est de se trouver dans une
situation où l’on a un certain pouvoir. Les élus ont la possibilité
de rencontrer les ministres ou de prendre la parole à un comité
pour dire: « Écoutez, si vous appuyez cette mesure, nous
pourrons vous appuyer sur le plan politique et vous aidez à
vous faire élire, car vous allez perdre des voix ici, ou si vous ne
faites pas telle chose, si vous êtes trop proche du secteur pétrolier
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Harper v. Canada (Attorney General). We were an intervener on
that third party spending. The government then slammed down
third party spending and dropped the limit. They kept it to a very
tiny amount, $3,000 or $3,500 in an electoral district, which is not
enough to buy coffee for a few volunteers at the end of the day.

The Supreme Court took from one hand but gave with the
other, and we were able to form a political party. Now, thanks to
the Communist Party, rather than needing 150 candidates to be a
political party, you had to have one. We found that we could
form a political party, and where we wanted to campaign
effectively, we could run candidates and make our point that way.
Rather than having $3,000 to spend, we could now spend, if we
could raise it, $80,000 in a constituency, and even more if the
partly is in a position of spending national money. We can give
tax incentives and receipts to supporters. We were forced to
become a political party by legislation jamming these abilities to
speak during campaigns.

Mr. Arlow: Paul Hellier, with whom some of you may be
familiar, formed the Canadian Action Party in 1997. He was a
long-time member of the Liberal Party. He had retired from
politics and was doing well enough in private life, but became
tremendously discouraged with the government’s outlook on
employment and infrastructure. As a result, Mr. Hellier formed
the Canadian Action Party. We started a grassroots campaign
and began to educate people about the monetary system and how
the Bank of Canada could turn things around. We explained what
the Bank of Canada was and was not doing. We became involved
in the fight against the multilateral agreement on investment and
the FTA and NAFTA. We were aware of the effect of those
agreements on Canadian investments. They were not trade
agreements at all, and the rate of foreign ownership in Canada
was skyrocketing away from Canadians to mostly Americans and,
essentially, it was a licence for transnational corporations to
hollow out Canada at 60 cents on the dollar. We began to work to
educate people about that situation. Lately, we have been deeply
concerned about the power that is aggregated to the executive of
the government as a result of September 11. We saw that happen
in the United States. When you look into history, you see that any
time there is a shocking event like that, power aggregates the
executive. People surrender their privileges and their freedoms for
the sake of perceived security, and, always, fair-minded
governments and people regret that power grab. They always
regret it in the long run. We see the steps taken with security

en Alberta, nous allons tenter de vous faire perdre des sièges ici. »
Voilà ce que c’est que de négocier pour influencer l’action
gouvernementale. C’est ce que nous avons commencé à faire en
tant qu’électeurs soucieux de l’environnement. Nous avons
d’ailleurs fait cause commune avec Stephen Harper dans
l’affaire Harper c. Canada (procureur général). Nous avons eu
le statut d’intervenant dans cette affaire sur le financement par les
tiers. Le gouvernement a alors battu en brèche le financement par
les tiers et abaissé le plafond. Il l’a ramené à un montant infime,
soit 3 000 $ ou 3 500 $ par circonscription électorale, ce qui ne
suffirait pas tout compte fait à offrir le café aux bénévoles.

La Cour suprême nous a enlevé quelque chose d’une
main, mais nous a donné quelque chose de l’autre, et nous avons
pu former un parti politique. Maintenant, grâce au Parti
communiste, il ne faut qu’un seul candidat, et non pas 150, pour
être reconnu comme parti politique. Nous nous sommes rendu
compte que nous pouvions former un parti politique et que nous
pouvions mener une campagne efficace là où nous le souhaitions,
que nous pouvions présenter des candidats et nous faire ainsi
entendre. Au lieu d’être limité à 3 000 $ de dépenses, nous
pouvions dorénavant dépenser 80 000 $ par circonscription, voire
plus, à condition de pouvoir recueillir les fonds nécessaires et en
tenant compte des dépenses faites à l’échelle nationale, le cas
échéant. Nous pouvions accorder des allégements fiscaux et donner
des reçus à ceux qui nous donnaient des contributions. Nous avons
été contraints de devenir un parti politique par la loi qui a eu pour
effet de bâillonner les tiers pendant les campagnes électorales.

M. Arlow: Paul Hellier, que certains d’entre vous connaissent
peut-être, a créé le Parti Action Canadienne en 1997. Il a été
longtemps membre du Parti libéral. Il s’était retiré de la vie
politique et il se tirait assez bien d’affaire en tant que simple
citoyen, mais il était devenu très découragé par la perspective du
gouvernement sur l’emploi et l’infrastructure. C’est ainsi que
M. Hellier a fondé le Parti Action Canadienne. Nous avons lancé
une campagne populaire pour aider les gens à comprendre le
système monétaire et à prendre conscience du rôle que pouvait
jouer la Banque du Canada pour améliorer la situation. Nous
avons expliqué aux gens ce que la Banque du Canada faisait et ce
qu’elle ne faisait pas. Nous nous sommes engagés dans la lutte
contre l’accord multilatéral sur les investissements et contre l’ALE
et l’ALENA. Nous étions conscients des répercussions de ces
accords sur les investissements canadiens. Ces accords ne
favorisaient pas du tout les échanges commerciaux, et le taux de
propriété étrangère au Canada grimpait en flèche, les intérêts
canadiens étant évincés au profit d’intérêts surtout américains; et
les accords n’étaient ni plus ni moins qu’une licence accordée aux
transnationales qui leur permet de se servir allégrement à même
les ressources du Canada, grâce au dollar à 60 cents. Nous avons
commencé à conscientiser les gens sur cet état de chose.
Dernièrement, nous sommes devenus très préoccupés par la
dévolution de pouvoirs à l’exécutif, dans la foulée du
11 septembre. C’est ce qui s’est produit aux États-Unis.
L’histoire nous montre que dès qu’il y a un bouleversement

8-9-2006 Affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles 6:65



certificates as a huge step in the wrong direction. It end runs our
justice system and our Constitution. It is a huge step in the wrong
direction.

The Canadian Action Party is about civil rights, trade
agreements and investment agreements. We concern ourselves
with monetary reform, and we have an agenda to push for
parliamentary reform. We are seeking some more representative
system of electing members to the House of Commons, whether
that is pro-rep or some other kind of balloting that works best.

We have the deepest concerns over what happened to get the
Free Trade Agreement through the Senate, which was that the
Conservative Party of the day stacked the Senate to corrupt and
pervert its purpose, so that it would not be able to fill its intended
purpose of defeating bad legislation.

Senator Stratton: We are just looking for the philosophy; we
are not looking for attack.

I omitted you, Mr. Langlois, because most of the world knows
about the Green Party, at least in Canada. Forgive me. Do you
want your two minutes?

Mr. Langlois: In the context of the current discussion, the
relevant point is that three years ago, the Green Party of Canada
was the largest of the small parties, and now it is clear that the
Green Party of Canada is the smallest of the large parties. That
colours our comments today; consider yourselves warned.

Senator Stratton: Mr. Arlow, when you talked about the
whistleblowers, were you aware that the proposed section in
Bill C-2 concerning paying whistleblowers $1,000 was
unanimously removed on an amendment by the NDP in the
House of Commons?

Mr. Arlow: I would certainly hope that would be the case. My
concern is how a section like that got in there.

Senator Stratton: I am simply asking whether you were aware
that the House on an amendment put forward by the NDP
removed that proposed section unanimously. Were you aware of
that or not?

Mr. Arlow: I was not aware of that fact..

Senator Joyal:Mr. Best, on the basis of the brief that you have
tabled, I support the principle that each party should be treated
equally under the law. There should not be any distinction
between the amount of votes, the amount of candidates or any
other distinction that would be based on the qualification of
parties.

comme celui-là, le pouvoir a tendance à être dévolu à l’exécutif.
Les gens renoncent à leurs privilèges et à leur liberté au nom d’une
soi-disant sécurité et, inévitablement, c’est quelque chose qu’ils en
viennent à regretter, tout comme leur gouvernement, pour le
moins qu’il soit de bonne foi. C’est toujours quelque chose qu’on
finit par regretter. Le recours aux certificats de sécurité constitue à
notre avis un pas de géant dans la mauvaise voie. Ces certificats
compromettent notre système judiciaire et notre constitution.
C’est un pas de géant dans la mauvaise voie.

Le Parti Action Canadienne est un parti qui s’est mobilisé
autour des droits civils, des accords commerciaux et des accords
sur les investissements. Nous cherchons à réformer le système
monétaire, et nous cherchons aussi à réformer le régime
parlementaire. Nous voulons un régime plus représentatif pour
que les députés de la Chambre des communes soient élus à la
représentation proportionnelle au moyen d’un autre type de
scrutin qui serait plus efficace.

Nous sommes très consternés par ce qu’on a fait dans le cas de
l’ALE au Sénat: le Parti conservateur qui était alors au pouvoir
avait modifié la composition du Sénat en sa faveur de manière à
pervertir son rôle, afin qu’il ne puisse plus faire échec à de
mauvais projets de loi.

Le sénateur Stratton: Ce que nous voulons entendre, ce sont
des arguments, pas des attaques.

Je ne vous ai pas donné votre chance, monsieur Langlois, parce
que le Parti Vert est connu dans le monde entier, ou du moins au
Canada. Pardonnez-moi. Voulez-vous vos deux minutes?

M. Langlois: Ce qu’il faut souligner, dans le cadre de notre
discussion, c’est que le Parti Vert du Canada, il y a trois ans, était
le plus important des petits partis et qu’il est manifestement
maintenant le plus petit des grands partis. Voilà qui colore les
propos que nous tenons devant vous aujourd’hui; vous êtes
prévenu.

Le sénateur Stratton: Monsieur Arlow, quand vous avez
parlé des dénonciateurs, saviez-vous que l’article du projet
de loi C-2 qui prévoyait le versement de 1 000 $ aux
dénonciateurs avait été retranché du projet de loi par décision
unanime à la suite d’un amendement présenté à la Chambre des
communes par le NPD?

M. Arlow: C’est la moindre des choses. Ce qui m’inquiète, c’est
qu’un article comme celui-là ait pu être inclus dans le projet de loi
initial.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je vous demande simplement si vous
saviez que la Chambre avait adopté à l’unanimité un amendement
du NPD qui visait à supprimer cet article. Le saviez-vous?

M. Arlow: Je ne le savais pas...

Le sénateur Joyal: Monsieur Best, je tiens à vous dire, après
avoir lu le mémoire que vous nous avez présenté, que j’appuie le
principe voulant que tous les partis aient droit à un traitement
égal en droit. Il ne devrait pas y avoir de distinction qui soit faite
en fonction du nombre de voix, du nombre de candidats ou de
tout autre facteur concernant l’admissibilité des partis.
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Before the decision in the case to which you have alluded, I was
of the opinion that section 3 of the Charter of Rights and
Freedoms is one of the key sections because it is a right that
cannot be suspended through the notwithstanding clause of five
years. When we voted and drafted the Charter of Rights and
Freedoms, there was one set of rights that was, in our opinion,
permanent to the nature of the country. Democratic Rights,
section 3 of the Charter, reads as follows:

Every citizen of Canada has the right to vote in an
election of members of the House of Commons or of a
legislative assembly and to be qualified for membership
therein.

The Supreme Court of Canada, as you have said, has
interpreted that right in favour of broadening the base of
participation to the political process in the way of recognizing
the status of «small parties.»

When we debated amendments to the Elections Act of Canada,
we were keen to ensure that we would reflect the needs and the
rights of the small parties. When the previous amendments to the
Elections Act were introduced, the amendment that limited the
contribution to $5,000, I raised objections based on the previous
decision of the Figueroa case. I wrote him a letter that was
published at the time. I have the same reaction with this bill on the
basis of the concluding argument that you have put in your brief
which states that the proposed contribution limits now proposed
in Bill C-2 will minimally infringe the democratic rights of
individuals enshrined in the Charter of Rights and Freedoms.

You might not be a lawyer by profession — I do not know if
you wrote those words — but those words refer to what the
Supreme Court of Canada calls the Oakes test.

Mr. Best: That is right.

Senator Joyal: When legislation limits the rights of a citizen,
one of the three questions that the Supreme Court of Canada asks
is this: Does it infringe minimally the rights of citizens?

I totally share the views of my colleague Senator Campbell.
You cannot qualify that 500,000 votes are more valuable in the
eyes of the Elections Act than 50,000 votes. A vote is a vote. On
the principle that the Supreme Court had decided in the Figueroa
case, I supported small parties to challenge the sections of the
previous act, the sections that limit the reimbursement on the
basis of an aggregate of percentage of vote, which has been
decided arbitrarily. If you say 2 per cent, why not say 3 per cent or
1.5 per or 4 per cent? Once you start qualifying, you fall into
discretionary criteria, which then fall into this question: How can
you minimally impair the rights of people?

Avant l’arrêt rendu dans l’affaire que vous avez évoquée, j’étais
d’avis que l’article 3 de la Charte des droits et libertés était un des
articles primordiaux de la Charte puisqu’il fait état d’un droit
dont l’exercice ne peut pas être suspendu par l’invocation de la
clause de dérogation pour une période de cinq ans. Quand nous
avons rédigé la Charte des droits et libertés et que nous l’avons
adoptée, il y avait, à notre avis, un ensemble de droits qui devait
s’appliquer de façon permanente au Canada. L’article 3 de la
Charte, dans la section Droits démocratiques, prévoit que:

Tout citoyen canadien a le droit de vote et est éligible aux
élections législatives fédérales ou provinciales.

La Cour suprême du Canada, comme vous l’avez fait
remarquer, a interprété ce droit de manière à favoriser
l’élargissement de la participation au processus politique et,
partant, la reconnaissance du statut des « petits partis ».

Quand nous avons débattu des amendements qui étaient
proposés à la Loi électorale du Canada, nous avions le souci de
nous assurer de bien tenir compte des besoins et des droits des
petits partis. Lorsqu’il avait été proposé d’amender la Loi
électorale pour limiter les contributions à 5 000 $, j’avais
soulevé des objections en me fondant sur l’arrêt antérieur dans
l’affaire Figueroa. Je lui avais écrit une lettre qui avait été publiée
à l’époque. Je m’oppose également à l’actuel projet de loi en me
fondant sur l’argument que vous invoquez dans la conclusion de
votre mémoire, selon lequel le plafonnement des contributions qui
est prévu dans le projet de loi C-2 empiètera de façon minimale
sur les droits démocratiques des citoyens qui sont consacrés par la
Charte des droits et libertés.

Vous n’êtes peut-être pas avocat de métier — je ne sais pas si
vous en êtes l’auteur, mais le libellé de cet argument renvoie à ce
que la Cour suprême du Canada appelle le critère Oakes.

M. Best: C’est exact.

Le sénateur Joyal: Quand une loi limite les droits des citoyens,
une des trois questions que se pose la Cour suprême du Canada
est la suivante: La loi empiète-t-elle de façon minimale sur les
droits des citoyens?

Je suis entièrement d’accord avec mon collègue, le sénateur
Campbell. On ne peut pas dire que 500 000 voix valent plus aux
yeux de la Loi électorale que 50 000 voix. Une voix exprimée,
c’est une voix. En me fondant sur le principe arrêté par la Cour
suprême dans l’affaire Figueroa, j’ai appuyé la campagne menée
par les petits partis pour contester les articles de la loi précédente
qui limitent le remboursement selon un calcul fondé sur le
pourcentage de voix obtenues, pourcentage fixé arbitrairement.
On peut le fixer à 2 p. 100, mais pourquoi ne serait-ce pas
3 p. 100, ou 1,5 p. 100, ou encore 4 p. 100? Dès qu’on se met à
faire des distinctions entre les voix exprimées, on applique des
critères discrétionnaires, et il faut alors se poser la question
suivante: Comment peut-on faire pour empiéter de façon
minimale sur les droits des citoyens?
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Mr. Langlois, before you had the success in the polls that you
are now registering, you supported the challenges of the bill. Now
that you are close to the 5 per cent, I feel that you are moving in
another direction. You are getting closer to the large parties. It
seems to me that when we decide principles, we cannot start to
measure and count. We have to stick to the principles. That is why
I agree with the conclusion of your brief but not with that part of
your brief suggesting that if you are a larger party, you will be
more tempted to be corrupted than if you are a small party where
you will never exercise or come close to power. If you are to
establish a criterion, it should be an objective criterion.

The witnesses who will succeed you this afternoon will be the
Marxist-Leninist Party of Canada. The Communist Party of
Canada is not testifying, but perhaps we will get from the other
small parties the principle points that I am raising and that you
raised in your brief very well at the beginning and at the
conclusion. However, the logic of your reasoning on the basis of
qualifying the parties contradicts the very principle that you want
to propose in your bill.

Mr. Best: I think the solution is not to lower the rates at all.

There appears to me a certain confrontation taking place now
between the government and the Senate and the other place that is
pushing this thing through without careful consideration.

I think $5,000 is a figure that is too low as well, but as
we get into higher numbers, towards $5,000 and more, it becomes
almost irrelevant because there are very few of these kinds of
contributions. The drop from $5,000 to $1,000 has a dramatic
impact. Earlier I answered the question of Senator Oliver about
how many donors we have. The donors that give more,
there are fewer of them, but they account for a substantial
sum of money. I suspect that if this drops from $5,000 to $1,000, it
will cost our party something in the neighbourhood
of $150,000 to $200,000, which is not a small sum of money.
That $200,000 represents the voters that we are talking about who
cannot fathom another $200,000 worth of ads or printed material
et cetera.

My solution accomplishes two things. It is not a hill I would die
on, but it points out in some cases the absurdity of this bill. There
are parties and people being penalized that will never be in a
position of power. I appreciate Senator Campbell’s faith in our
forming the government one day.

Senator Joyal: Or holding the balance of power.

Mr. Best: Holding the balance of power.

Senator Campbell: There is a voter sitting right here.

Mr. Best: If only I could be put in a position where I could be
corrupted, it would be a wonderful thing.

Monsieur Langlois, avant d’avoir le succès que vous
connaissez maintenant auprès des électeurs, vous avez appuyé
les contestations à l’endroit du projet de loi. Maintenant que vous
approchez des 5 p. 100, je crois que vous êtes en train de changer
de direction. Vous vous approchez de la taille des grands partis. Il
me semble que, sur des questions de principe, nous ne pouvons
pas nous mettre à mesurer et à compter. Il faut s’en tenir aux
principes. C’est pourquoi j’appuie la conclusion à laquelle vous
arrivez dans votre mémoire, mais pas la partie de votre mémoire
où vous laissez entendre que les grands partis sont plus
susceptibles d’être corrompus que les petits partis, qui
n’exerceront jamais le pouvoir ou ne s’en approcheront jamais.
Quand on établit des critères, il faut être objectif.

Après vous, nous entendrons cet après-midi des représentants
du Parti marxiste-léniniste du Canada. Le Parti communiste du
Canada ne comparaîtra pas, mais il est possible que nous
entendrons de la part des autres petits partis les principaux
points que je soulève et que vous avez présentés très bien dans
votre mémoire au début et à la fin. Cependant, votre
raisonnement quant à la catégorisation des partis contredit le
principe même que vous voulez proposer dans votre projet de loi.

M. Best: Je crois que la solution consiste à ne pas abaisser les
taux du tout.

Il me semble que l’on assiste à l’heure actuelle à un certain
affrontement entre le gouvernement et le Sénat et l’autre endroit
qui veut faire adopter cette mesure sans l’examiner
soigneusement.

Je considère moi aussi que le montant de 5 000 $ est trop petit,
mais si on envisage des montants plus élevés, comme 5 000 $ et
plus, cela devient pratiquement sans importance parce que ce
genre de contributions est très rare. Il y a d’énormes conséquences
à faire passer la de 5 000 $ à 1 000 $. Plus tôt, j’ai répondu à la
question du sénateur Oliver, qui voulait savoir combien de
donateurs nous avons. Les donateurs qui versent des
contributions plus importantes sont rares mais ils contribuent
des sommes importantes. Je soupçonne que si la limite passe de
5 000 $ à 1 000 $, cela coûtera à notre parti environ 150 000 à
200 000 $, ce qui représente une somme assez importante. Ce
montant de 200 000 $ représente les électeurs dont nous parlons,
qui ne peuvent pas envisager un autre 200 000 $ de plus en
annonces ou matériel imprimé.

Ma solution permet d’accomplir deux choses. Je n’en mettrais
pas ma main à couper, mais elle signale dans certains cas
l’absurdité de ce projet de loi. Des partis et des gens sont pénalisés
même s’ils n’accèderont jamais au pouvoir. Je suis reconnaissant
au sénateur Campbell de croire que nous formerons le
gouvernement un jour.

Le sénateur Joyal: Ou que vous détiendrez la balance du
pouvoir.

M. Best: Ou que nous détiendrons la balance du pouvoir.

Le sénateur Campbell: Vous avez un électeur ici même.

M. Best: Si seulement je pouvais me trouver dans une situation
où je pouvais être corrompu, ce serait merveilleux.
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Suggesting a graduated level points to a number of things.
Many people involved in the system are highly unlikely to be in a
position to be corrupted; there is no need for their protection. It is
not so much my right. It is the people who do not have a corrupt
bone in their body, who want to support these small parties, and
are penalized for doing so.

There is a larger brief I submitted earlier where I extensively go
into the Oakes test. I am not a lawyer, but I have done six Charter
challenges. I have been reading all this stuff, so it will probably
withstand a fair amount of scrutiny.

I think this bill totally fails the Oakes test because one cannot
demonstrate that going from $5,000 to $1,000 will produce a
public policy change that is so important; and one cannot
demonstrate that is minimally impairing because we tested the
$5,000 and it was fine. One cannot demonstrate that there is harm
being done here. I think it totally fails the Oakes test.

If someone challenges it in the Supreme Court, I think that the
court will find the same, particularly in light of Figueroa. The
same thing occurred in Harper v. Canada, where the justices found
that money is speech. However, in the third-party aspect of it,
they upheld the government’s position and restricted it because
there were no third-party controls. Then you get to do it as a
political party and then you have the controls on the spending. I
do not think this is constitutional.

Senator Joyal: That is my feeling, too.

Mr. Best: Yes. I think it would fail, because we tested the
$5,000 and it was fine.

Senator Joyal: Mr. Langlois has been called upon by me, and
in all fairness, I would like to hear him.

Mr. Langlois: A simple point of information is that the
Green Party of Canada is supporting a Charter challenge to
the 2 per cent threshold, not because it is in our own interest,
because we will never be at that level again, but in solidarity with
the other parties. Unlike my colleague, I am prepared to make
bold statements in the future.

Senator Joyal: I want to congratulate you. Maybe I will make a
contribution to go to the court, because the principle is important.
I apologize if I implied that you have changed your position of
principles, which I think is a fundamental position. You were not
part of the other challenges. Did you intervene with the Supreme
Court of Canada on the Figueroa case?

Mr. Langlois: This is where I might close the deal on your
donation. The lawyer we are using on the 2 per cent challenge is
the same lawyer who won the Figueroa case. We are pretty

Proposer des limites progressives signifie un certain nombre de
choses. Bien des gens qui font partie du système sont très peu
susceptibles de se trouver dans une situation où ils pourraient être
corrompus; il est inutile de les protéger. Ce n’est pas vraiment
mon droit. Ce sont les personnes irréprochables voulant appuyer
les petits partis qui se trouvent alors pénalisées.

J’ai présenté plus tôt un mémoire plus important où j’aborde
en profondeur les critères Oakes. Je ne suis pas avocat, mais j’ai
préparé six contestations en vertu de la Charte. J’ai lu
énormément sur le sujet, donc mon mémoire pourrait
probablement soutenir un examen détaillé.

Je considère que ce projet de loi n’est absolument pas conforme
aux critères Oakes parce qu’il est impossible de prouver que la
réduction des contributions de 5 000 $ à 1 000 $ entraînera un
changement de politique publique d’une grande importance; et il
est impossible de prouver qu’une limite à 5 000 $ causera un tort
quelconque, aussi minime soit-il, parce que nous avons mis à
l’épreuve cette limite et cela n’a posé aucun problème. Il est
impossible de prouver que cela risque de causer du tort. Je crois
que le projet de loi ne répond absolument pas aux critères Oakes.

Si le projet de loi est contesté devant la Cour suprême, je pense
que la Cour rendra exactement la même décision, compte tenu
particulièrement de l’arrêt Figueroa. Il en a été de même dans
l’affaire Harper c. Canada, lorsque les juges ont déclaré que
l’argent parle. Cependant, en ce qui concerne la question des tiers,
ils ont maintenu la position du gouvernement et imposé des
restrictions parce qu’il n’existait aucun contrôle exercé par des
tiers. On peut donc le faire en tant que parti politique, et on exerce
alors le contrôle des dépenses. Je ne crois pas que ce soit
constitutionnel.

Le sénateur Joyal: C’est ce que je pense, moi aussi.

M. Best: Oui, je pense que cela ne marcherait pas parce que
nous avons mis à l’épreuve la limite de 5 000 $ et cela n’a posé
aucun problème.

Le sénateur Joyal: J’ai posé une question à M. Langlois et
j’aimerais entendre sa réponse.

M. Langlois: Je tiens simplement à vous informer que le Parti
Vert du Canada est en train d’appuyer une contestation en vertu
de la Charte au seuil de 2 p. 100, non pas parce que cela est dans
notre propre intérêt, parce que nous n’arriverons jamais à ce
niveau à nouveau, mais par solidarité avec les autres partis.
Contrairement à mon collègue, je suis disposé à faire des
déclarations audacieuses à l’avenir.

Le sénateur Joyal: Je tiens à vous féliciter. Je ferai peut-être une
contribution pour comparaître devant les tribunaux, parce que le
principe est important. Je m’excuse si j’ai laissé entendre que vous
aviez modifié votre position quant au principe, car je considère
qu’il s’agit d’une position fondamentale. Vous n’avez pas
participé aux autres contestations. Êtes-vous intervenu devant la
Cour suprême du Canada dans l’arrêt Figueroa?

M. Langlois: C’est là où votre don pourrait s’avérer utile.
L’avocat dont nous avons retenu les services pour la contestation
du 2 p. 100 est le même avocat qui a obtenu gain de cause dans
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confident. I should make it clear. It is not exclusively a Green
Party of Canada initiative. A number of the other smaller parties
are partnered in it.

Senator Zimmer: Mr. Best, regarding your comment about
lowering contributions from $5,000 to $1,000, it is in the eye of
the beholder; it is very subjective. Do you think we would be more
accountable, open and transparent if we dropped it to $500?

Mr. Best: No. There is the old bumper sticker that justice must
be done and also seen to be done. What is happening now is we
are saying justice must seem to be done but does not necessarily
have to be done. It is one thing to say we want it to be transparent
and we want to see what people are doing, which is fine. I now
have to produce names and addresses for everyone who
contributes over $200 so that we know everyone who is making
a contribution. Maybe there is someone who will be corrupted for
$5,000 because they have an Amex bill they have to pay next
month or something, but it will not impede government. Going to
$1,000 particularly does not improve that situation. Going to
$500 does not improve it any more. If we follow the slope, the way
to do it is to say thou shalt not make any contributions to a
political party. That is one way of approaching voters with a
legitimate interest in the public policy of the country, to say thou
shalt not participate.

Part of Bill C-2 and the rationale on the new government’s
website is that it is to promote the involvement of Canadians in
the system. I am ambivalent about transparency because it is a
price you pay, but on the other hand, it is like saying thou shalt
not have a secret vote. The Supreme Court has upheld that if you
become more politically active, you will be exposed. They have
decided that is a privacy we will give up if we become involved
politically, which we do. I do not think this lowering of
contributions will change anything, particularly now, when
there is so much public funding in it.

Senator Zimmer: That is my point. Whether the amount is
$500, $1,000 or $1,500, it is very subjective.

Senator Joyal: I think that the right of citizens to contribute to
a political party is part of the right to participate in the
democratic process. If we are to limit that right to all the
citizens, we must have objectives of public policy that supersede
the rights of individual citizens, to a point where we almost negate
that right. In this bill, it is close to negation because there is not
even an escalation clause to adjust the $1,000, which means that
five or ten years from now it will operate on $10,000 if we ever go
into an inflation period. You know the argument.

I do not know of any country in the Western world whose
registered legal parties do not testify to the public just how their
money is raised and spent. There are benefits for income tax

l’arrêt Figueroa. Nous sommes assez sûrs d’obtenir gain de cause.
Je tiens à préciser qu’il ne s’agit pas exclusivement d’une initiative
de la part du Parti Vert du Canada. Un certain nombre d’autres
petits partis y participent.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur Best, en ce qui concerne votre
commentaire à propos de la réduction des contributions de
5 000 $ à 1 000 $, c’est très subjectif. Croyez-vous que nous
serions plus comptables, ouverts et transparents si la limite
tombait à 500 $?

M. Best: Non. Il y a le dicton qui indique que la justice doit
être faite et doit donner l’impression d’être faite. Aujourd’hui,
nous sommes en train de dire que la justice doit donner
l’impression d’être faite mais ne doit pas nécessairement être
faite. C’est une chose de dire que nous voulons être transparents
et que nous voulons savoir ce que font les gens, et je n’y ai aucune
objection. J’ai maintenant les noms et adresses de tous ceux qui
contribuent des montants de plus de 200 $ afin que nous
connaissions tous ceux qui versent une contribution. Il y aura
peut-être quelqu’un qui pourrait être corrompu pour un montant
de 5 000 $ parce qu’il a une facture Amex à payer le mois
prochain, mais cela ne gênera pas le gouvernement. L’adoption
d’une limite de 1 000 $ n’améliorera pas particulièrement la
situation, pas plus que l’adoption d’une limite de 500 $. Si nous
suivons ce raisonnement, il faudrait interdire à qui que ce soit de
faire des contributions à un parti politique. Ce serait une façon
d’aborder les électeurs qui s’intéressent de façon légitime à la
politique publique du pays, en leur interdisant d’y participer.

Certaines dispositions du projet de loi C-2 de même que sa
raison d’être énoncée dans le site Web du nouveau gouvernement
visent à promouvoir la participation des Canadiens au système. Je
suis ambivalent à propos de la transparence parce que c’est un
prix que l’on doit payer, mais par contre, cela revient à dire qu’on
interdit les scrutins secrets. La Cour suprême a déclaré que si l’on
devient plus actif sur le plan politique, on sera exposé. On a décidé
que c’est un aspect de sa vie privée auquel on renoncera si on
participe à la politique, ce qui est le cas. Je ne crois pas que la
réduction des limites des contributions changera quoi que ce soit,
surtout maintenant que le financement public est si important.

Le sénateur Zimmer: C’est là où je voulais en venir. Qu’il
s’agisse d’un montant de 500 $, de 1 000 $ ou de 1 500 $, c’est très
subjectif.

Le sénateur Joyal: Je crois que le droit des citoyens de
contribuer à un parti politique fait partie du droit de participer au
processus démocratique. Si nous voulons limiter ce droit pour
l’ensemble des citoyens, cela signifie que nos objectifs en matière
de politique publique l’emportent sur les droits des citoyens au
point où leurs droits sont pratiquement supprimés. C’est
pratiquement le cas dans ce projet de loi, parce qu’il ne prévoit
même pas une clause d’indexation pour ajuster la limite de
1 000 $ afin que dans cinq ou dix ans d’ici, elle soit fixée à, par
exemple, 10 000 $ si nous connaissons une période d’inflation.
Vous savez de quoi je parle.

Je ne connais aucun pays occidental dont les partis politiques
légalement enregistrés n’aient pas à divulguer publiquement la
façon dont ils obtiennent et dépensent des fonds. Il y a des
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purposes. I do not know of any country in the world except the
old Soviet Union. There is something there that harms the
fundamental feeling of living in a democracy. I am all for
regulations of opening the books, giving the names, having access
to public sights through Internet, where everyone sits at home and
knows every contributor to the party. I totally support that.
However, when I stop at the gate is when I say, ‘‘Okay, you like
this party, but you cannot give more than $100 or, in this case,
$1,000 because we have decided that you could be corrupted.’’
When you say you would be more corrupted closer to power, you
imply that power corrupts. I do not think that the court will ever
buy that argument, because that is not the way that the system is
based. The system is based on openness and openness is the key
issue to preventing corruption. That is why the more I try to
understand your reasoning I find your half-solution difficult to
buy. I would much prefer to maintain the $5,000. That is clear to
me. Once you start saying, if you are a larger national party you
will be accepted while, in fact, you are questioning the special
status of a national party. Do you understand the contradiction
that you have in your position?

Mr. Best: I totally understand the contradiction. You are
absolutely correct Senator Joyal. I would prefer your solution,
absolutely. Bill C-2 and the communications material around it
are about an implied corruption. I am responding to that
implication. I agree with you. I do not accept this corruption
thing. I have been dealing with politicians since before I was
married and had grandchildren. I can only think of one politician
that I did not find to be an honourable person, and I have been in
some very contentious fights with people. I find that, as a class of
people, generally speaking, civil servants are ethical people. As
long as there is an openness, transparency, and access to
information, you do not have this problem. However, this bill
implies a corruption. How do I respond to a bill that implies
corruption and has as a statement that we will be less able to use
financial contributions to unduly influence politicians? The only
people you can unduly influence are the people that can actually
grant you favours, and those are the people in power, those
people that control the government. Right now it would be the
Conservatives. I am not suggesting that the Conservatives are
corrupt, but they are the only ones that can provide the benefits of
corruption.

To be absolutely frank with you, I think my proposal is
nonsense, but it is responding to this concept of corruption. I
agree with you entirely. I think $5,000 is too low. As long as it is
open and transparent where the money is coming from and the
people can see it, there should be a reasonable number. There is a

avantages fiscaux. Je ne connais aucun pays au monde, hormis
l’ancienne Union soviétique. Il y a là quelque chose qui bat en
brèche le sentiment fondamental qu’on éprouve en vivant dans
une démocratie. Je suis totalement en faveur de toute
réglementation exigeant la divulgation des livres de comptes et
des noms, de la divulgation publique sur Internet, ce qui permet à
n’importe qui, depuis son propre ordinateur, de connaître le nom
de tous ceux qui donnent de l’argent aux partis. Je suis en faveur
de cela. Cela dit, là où je ne vais pas plus loin, c’est lorsque
je dis: « Très bien, vous appréciez ce parti, mais vous ne pouvez
pas lui donner plus de 100 $ ou, comme dans le cas présent,
1 000 $, parce que nous avons jugé que vous pourriez ainsi faire
de la corruption ». Lorsqu’on dit que plus on est proche du
pouvoir, plus on est corrompu, on sous-tend que le pouvoir
corrompt. Je ne pense pas que la Cour suprême en conviendra
jamais parce que ce n’est pas ainsi que fonctionne le système.
Notre système repose sur l’ouverture et c’est cette transparence
qui est l’élément-clé qui empêche la corruption. C’est la raison
pour laquelle plus j’essaye de comprendre votre raisonnement,
plus j’ai du mal à accepter votre solution partielle. Je préfèrerais
de loin conserver les 5 000 $. Pour moi, cela est clair. Si l’on
commence à dire que les partis acceptés seront les partis plus
importants, alors cela revient à remettre en cause le statut spécial
d’un parti national. Comprenez-vous bien la contradiction
inhérente à votre position?

M. Best: Entièrement. Vous avez parfaitement raison, sénateur
Joyal. Je préfèrerais sans conteste votre solution. Le projet de
loi C-2 et tous les documents explicatifs qui l’entourent
sous-tendent une corruption implicite. C’est à cela que je
réponds. Je suis d’accord avec vous. La corruption est un
argument que je ne puis accepter. Je traite avec la classe
politique depuis bien avant mon mariage et la naissance de mes
petits-enfants. Je ne vois qu’un seul homme politique dont je
pourrais dire qu’il n’était pas honorable, et cela même si j’ai eu
plus que ma part de controverses avec des politiciens. Ma
conclusion est qu’en général, les fonctionnaires dans leur
ensemble font preuve d’éthique. Tant qu’il y a cette ouverture,
cette transparence et cet accès à l’information, le problème
n’existe pas. Mais ce projet de loi-ci sous-tend qu’il y a corruption.
Comment répondre à un projet de loi qui sous-entend qu’il y a
corruption et qu’avec les mesures proposées, nous serons moins
susceptibles d’utiliser l’argent qu’on nous donne pour exercer une
influence indue sur des politiciens? Les seules personnes sur
lesquelles on puisse vraiment exercer une influence indue sont
celles qui sont véritablement à même de vous accorder des
faveurs, en l’occurrence celles qui sont au pouvoir, celles qui
contrôlent l’appareil de l’état. Actuellement, ce serait les
conservateurs. Je ne veux pas laisser entendre que les
conservateurs sont corrompus, mais ce sont les seuls qui sont en
mesure d’offrir les bénéfices d’une corruption.

Pour être parfaitement franc avec vous, je vous dirais que ma
proposition n’a aucun sens, mais qu’elle est une réponse à cette
notion de corruption. Je suis entièrement d’accord avec vous. Je
pense qu’une limite de 5 000 $ est trop basse. Tant et aussi
longtemps qu’il y a ouverture et transparence, qu’on sait d’où
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dark side to these restrictions, and it is this: As we get more public
money into political parties, they become less and less
accountable to the people who support them.

Senator Joyal: And they become more accountable to
government.

Mr. Best: We have this great idea called the vote, but in
political activity the cheapest thing is the vote. The only thing less
than voting is not voting. The least political act that a person can
have is to vote. When we move up from that, people who bang on
doors and give contributions, those are the people who are deeply
interested in the community. When we take away their rights, the
most politically astute people and politically caring people, by
saying, ‘‘You cannot do that anymore,’’ I think we are saying
terrible things to people. I think the Liberals are finding this now.
This is a fundraising fault, not a Liberal fault. The fundraisers in
the Liberal party relied too much on the large donations rather
than grassroots donations. The Conservatives, because they could
not provide benefits to people who gave contributions, and people
always want access to government, they went and built up their
grassroots. They become much more accountable, if you will, to
the grassroots people who make up a party. They are the people
who bang on doors. We loose the grassroots people as we get
more public money.

Senator Stratton: We are doing the Liberal Party a favour.

Senator Campbell: I have never seen it that way.

Senator Joyal: I know, Mr. Arlow, perhaps you want to join in
the conversation, but there is point I wish to add to Mr. Best’s
comments.

A citizen was very convinced about a cause and felt deeply
about it, like some of the animal supporters; believe me, at this
committee we have had an experience with that. Again, I refer to
my colleague, Senator Milne, who was the chair of the committee.
We understand the strong conviction of a person who wants to
defend a cause. I do not put the one that you defend, let us say
any cause. If you prevent that person from defending that cause
through a political party, do you know what they will do?

Mr. Best: I do.

Senator Joyal: They will go on the other side and find a vehicle
to express their conviction, because we are a free and open
democratic society, and the purpose that they pursue is legitimate.
They are not trying to do it outside the law. They will remain
within the framework of our free and open society. What you will
do, in fact, you will incite people to leave the support of a political
party and move their convictions elsewhere. That is the
unintended law of change that has an objective that we might

vient l’argent et que tout le monde peut le savoir, il faudrait un
chiffre raisonnable. Ces restrictions ont quelque chose de pervers
en ce sens que plus l’État donne d’argent aux partis politiques,
moins les partis en question ont à rendre des comptes aux
gens-mêmes qui les appuient.

Le sénateur Joyal: Et plus ils doivent rendre compte à l’État.

M. Best: Il y a cette idée grandiose qui s’appelle le droit de vote,
mais parmi toutes les activités politiques, c’est le vote qui coûte le
moins cher. La seule chose qui soit encore moins cher, c’est
l’abstention. Le moindre des gestes politiques qu’on puisse poser
est d’aller voter. Un cran plus haut, il y a les gens qui vont faire du
porte-à-porte et ceux qui donnent de l’argent aux partis. Ce sont
ceux-là qui s’intéressent le plus à la collectivité. Et lorsque l’on
soustrait leur droit, à ces gens qui se soucient le plus de la
politique, à ceux qui la comprennent le mieux, et qu’on leur dit:
« Non, vous ne pouvez plus faire cela », je pense que nous leur
disons quelque chose d’abominable. À mon avis, c’est ce que les
libéraux sont en train de constater. C’est un défaut du système de
financement, ce n’est pas un défaut des libéraux. Au Parti libéral,
les responsables des levées de fonds dépendaient beaucoup trop
des gros dons par opposition aux contributions de monsieur tout
le monde. Comme les conservateurs ne pouvaient rien donner à
ceux qui contribuaient à leur parti et que les gens veulent toujours
leurs entrées au gouvernement, ils ont commencé à travailler
auprès de leurs propres militants. Ils deviennent en quelque sorte
beaucoup plus responsables auprès des gens qui constituent le
parti. Ce sont ces gens qui font du porte-à-porte. Plus les partis
dépendent des fonds publics, plus ils perdent ce soutien populaire.

Le sénateur Stratton: Nous faisons une fleur au Parti libéral.

Le sénateur Campbell: Je n’avais jamais vu les choses sous cet
angle.

Le sénateur Joyal:Monsieur Arlow, vous voulez peut-être vous
joindre à la conversation, mais je voudrais avant cela ajouter un
mot à ce que vient de dire M. Best.

Il y avait un citoyen qui croyait intimement à une cause, qu’il
avait très à cœur, un peu comme certains qui militent pour les
droits des animaux; croyez-moi, nous connaissons bien cela au
comité. Ici encore, je songe à ma collègue, le sénateur Milne, qui
occupait alors la présidence du comité. Nous comprenons
parfaitement l’intime conviction de quelqu’un qui veut défendre
une cause. Je ne veux pas nécessairement parler de la cause que
vous défendez; prenons une cause en général. Si vous empêchez
une personne de défendre sa cause par le biais d’un parti
politique, savez-vous ce qu’elle va faire?

M. Best: Tout à fait.

Le sénateur Joyal: Elle va voir ailleurs et trouver un moyen
quelconque pour exprimer sa conviction, étant donné que nous
vivons dans une société démocratique libre et ouverte, et que
l’objectif que cette personne veut atteindre est légitime. Elle
n’essaie pas de sortir du cadre de la loi. Elle restera toujours dans
le cadre de notre société libre et ouverte. Mais ce qu’on fera en
réalité, c’est qu’on encouragera les gens à quitter le giron d’un
parti politique et à aller faire valoir leurs convictions ailleurs.
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want to support, which is to ensure that people in politics stay
above any kind of corruption. However, by trying to achieve that
objective we will create a diversion on the side, because people
cannot feel that they can go in a party and invest money and
knock on doors and get the money and organize the fundraising
and so on.

The other side effect of it is the bureaucratization of the party.
At a point in time, the one who pays is the one who calls the tune.
We all saw the figures from two weeks ago. If the majority of the
funds for political parties ends up coming from the taxpayer the
parties will becomes extensions of government services and the
government will have the right to regulate them. We will have
removed the free association of people in trying to defend the
cause. We will have bureaucratized them in a way that perhaps in
the future we will have amendments to the Elections Act to ensure
we control everything, because we find we did not get all the
papers we want to get, and so on. We will even be in a conflict of
interest with the people who govern the parties. We will come to
that one day.

To me, there is something in that process that hurts the concept
of freedom and the political purpose. For a purpose to be totally
legitimate and have good, sound policy to ensure that the political
process remains out of the touch of corruption, I totally agree
with that. However, when you go beyond a border you create
distortion in the system whereby, at one point in time, after five
years you say, this is not what we wanted to achieve, there is
something going on that we will have to address.

It is important to reflect on this, but the danger is that when a
society is on the course of going in one direction, everybody
moves in that direction, and then at a certain point in time you
step back and say, where are we now? In which kind of world do
we live? We will create something unique in Canada that no other
free society on the globe has done. What is the problem we
wanted to solve? Was it a big problem? I can give you an
argument if you want to go to court to contest that legislation.

When you bring the level from $5,000 to $1,000, without
having even one year of implementation, how can you prove that
at $5,000 it was too high? You did not have even one year of
implementation of the previous changes. How can you prove in
court that you need to bring it down to $1,000? That is why I
think there is something there. I tell you, as a free citizen, maybe a
libertarian, I do not know, we will hear from the libertarians later.
There is something there that, in my own sense, as a free citizen,
that hurts me.

Mr. Best: Let me add something to that statement. I will take a
moment, because it is something that I think is crucial to this
issue. One of the purposes of Bill C-2 is supposedly to encourage
people to participate in the political world. In my view, after air

Voilà l’effet imprévu d’une loi porteuse d’un objectif que nous
serions prêts à accepter, donner la garantie que tout personnage
politique demeure au dessus de n’importe quelle corruption. Or,
en essayant de nous approcher de cet objectif, nous créons une
diversion, parce que les gens n’auront plus le sentiment qu’ils
peuvent s’adresser à un parti, lui donner de l’argent, faire du porte
à porte et recueillir des fonds, organiser des activités de levée de
fonds, et cetera

L’autre effet secondaire de cela est la bureaucratisation des
partis. À un moment donné, c’est celui qui paie qui a son mot à
dire. Nous avons tous vu les chiffres il y a deux semaines. Si la
majorité de l’argent qui va dans les caisses des partis politiques
finit par provenir de l’État, c’est-à-dire du contribuable, les partis
deviendront de simples prolongement de l’État et celui-ci aura
donc le droit de les réglementer. En essayant de défendre une
bonne cause, nous aurons ainsi fait disparaître la libre
association. Nous aurons bureaucratisé les partis à un point tel
qu’il faudra peut-être un jour modifier la Loi électorale afin de
pouvoir tout contrôler, parce que nous nous serons rendus
compte que nous n’aurons pas obtenu tous les documents que
nous voulons et ainsi de suite. Nous serons mêmes alors en conflit
d’intérêt avec ceux là même qui dirigent les partis. Nous en
arriverons là un beau jour.

Pour moi, il y a dans ce processus quelque chose qui bat en
brèche la notion de liberté et la notion de dessein politique. Je suis
tout à fait d’accord avec l’idée d’avoir un objectif parfaitement
légitime et de bonnes et saines politiques qui nous donnent
l’assurance que le processus politique demeure incorruptible.
Toutefois, une fois qu’on franchi une certaine limite, on finit par
déformer le système à tel point qu’à un moment donné, cinq ans
plus tard, on en vient à dire, non, ce n’est pas cela que nous
voulions à l’origine, il y a un problème auquel nous devons
apporter une solution.

Il faut absolument réfléchir à cela; et il y a danger dès lors
qu’une société toute entière se tourne vers une direction donnée,
que tout le monde emboîte le pas, à un moment donné on marque
une pause et on se demande où nous en sommes. Dans quel
monde vivons-nous? Nous allons créer au Canada quelque chose
d’unique qui n’existe dans aucune autre société libre au monde.
Quel est donc le problème pour lequel nous voulons une solution?
Était-ce un gros problème? Je pourrais vous livrer un argument si
vous voulez contester la loi devant la Cour suprême.

En ramenant la limite de 5 000 $ à 1 000 $ avant même
qu’une seule année se soit écoulée depuis le dernier changement,
comment arriver à prouver que cette limite initiale de 5 000 $ était
trop élevée? Elle était en vigueur pendant moins d’un an.
Comment prouver devant un tribunal qu’il faut maintenant la
ramener à 1 000 $? Voilà à mon avis où le bât blesse. Moi qui suis
un citoyen libre, voire peut-être même un libertarien, je n’en sais
rien, car nous entendrons les libertariens un peu plus tard. Mais il
y a là quelque chose qui, à mon avis de citoyen libre, me blesse.

M. Best: Laissez-moi ajouter un mot à cela. Cela prendra un
moment, mais c’est quelque chose qui, à mon avis, est au cœur
même de la question. L’un des objectifs du projet de loi est
théoriquement d’encourager les gens à participer à la vie
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and water, politics is the most important thing in human society. I
do not say that frivolously. It is. We are social animals. The way
we decide everything, at the family level, at the agricultural level,
at whatever level it is, is through a process of politics, of give and
take, of negotiation and compromise.

What we have now in government is a great extension of the
normal kind of relationships that social animals get into. Dwight
Eisenhower said that politics should be the part-time vocation of
every citizen. I agree entirely, but you do not encourage people to
get into politics by creating a bill that implies that politics is a
corrupt thing. It is not a corrupt thing; it is a noble thing. That
ought to be the message. When you start saying that it is $5,000 to
$1,000 to do it, then you are saying, ‘‘These are not noble people.
This is not a noble calling.’’

Government funding of the political process and campaigning
in reasonable amounts is a good idea. However, as you get more
and more government funding into it, you divorce the citizen
from the process. They say, ‘‘Why would I have to be involved in
a political party if they are getting all the money from the
taxpayer?’’

The Chairman: That is the point that Senator Joyal raises.

Senator Stratton has a supplementary on the point and then I
would like to hear from Mr. Arlow and Mr. Langlois on the
principle issue raised by Senator Joyal about section 3, the
democratic rights and Bill C-2.

Senator Stratton: I could not help but respond because the
primary reason for the bill is the public perception of corruption
in politics. As you know, there has been a history of it over the
last while. I do not want to go into the specific cases; I do not
think that is important or critical to what we are debating.

If the public demands change, which is what they wanted, then
this bill is the new government’s position on how that change
should take place. You may disagree with it but, nevertheless, the
Canadian public demanded change. This is the new government’s
position on how to bring about that change.

Mr. Best: I dispute the premise that the government demanded
change.

Senator Stratton: The people demanded change, not the
government.

Mr. Best: People expressed outrage about the actions of a small
number of people, as Justice Gomery pointed out. The
government’s response was to appeal to that outrage. That is
what occurred.

Senator Stratton: It usually happens in politics.

politique. À mon sens, après l’air et l’eau, c’est la politique qui est
la chose la plus importante dans toute société humaine. Je ne dis
pas cela à la blague. C’est vrai. Nous sommes des animaux
sociaux. La façon dont nous prenons toutes les décisions, en
famille, à la ferme, peu importe, est toujours un processus
politique de donnant-donnant, de négociation et de compromis.

Ce qui existe actuellement au gouvernement, c’est une sorte de
prolongement de ce genre de relations normales qu’entretiennent
les animaux sociaux. Dwight Eisenhower avait dit que la politique
devrait être une vocation à temps partiel pour tous les citoyens. Je
suis entièrement d’accord, mais on n’encourage guère les gens à
participer à la vie politique en adoptant une loi qui laisse sous-
entendre que la politique est quelque chose de corrompu. Ce n’est
pas quelque chose de corrompu, c’est une entreprise noble. C’est
cela qui devrait être le message. Lorsque vous commencez à dire
que la limite passe de 5 000 $ à 1 000 $, cela équivaut à dire:
« Ces gens-là ne sont pas nobles et la cause ne l’est pas non plus. »

Faire financer à hauteur raisonnable le processus politique et
les campagnes électorales par l’État n’est pas une mauvaise idée.
Cependant, plus l’État finance ce genre de choses, plus le citoyen
se trouve dissocié du processus. Le citoyen dira: « Pourquoi
devrais-je faire quelque chose dans un parti politique si les partis
sont déjà entièrement financés par le contribuable? »

Le président: C’est précisément ce que faisait valoir le sénateur
Joyal.

Le sénateur Stratton aurait une question complémentaire dans
la même veine, après quoi j’aimerais beaucoup entendre ce que
messieurs Arlow et Langlois pensent de la question de principe
évoquée par le sénateur Joyal au sujet de l’article 3, des droits
démocratiques et du projet de loi C-2.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je ne peux pas m’empêcher de répondre
parce que le projet de loi a vu le jour justement parce que la
population à l’impression que la politique est corrompue. Comme
vous le savez, il y a toutes sortes d’antécédents récents à cela. Je ne
tiens pas à entrer dans le détail de la chose, car je ne pense pas que
cela ait une importance ou une utilité quelconque pour notre
débat.

Si la population exige des changements, et c’était le cas, le
projet de loi reflète la position du nouveau gouvernement quant à
la façon dont ces changements doivent survenir. Vous n’êtes
peut-être pas d’accord avec cela, mais il n’empêche que la
population canadienne a exigé que les choses changent. C’est
donc ainsi que le nouveau gouvernement voit la façon de
concrétiser ce changement.

M. Best: Je conteste la prémisse voulant que le gouvernement
exige un changement.

Le sénateur Stratton: C’est la population qui a exigé un
changement, pas le gouvernement.

M. Best: La population a été révoltée par les actes d’un petit
nombre de gens, comme l’a signalé monsieur le juge Gomery. La
réponse du gouvernement a été d’exploiter ce sentiment. C’est ce
qui s’est produit.

Le sénateur Stratton: C’est courant en politique.
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Mr. Best: I understand that, but when we are talking about
fundamental rights, I think the government has an obligation to
defend those rights, but not by curtailing rights. I give an extreme
analogy just to make my point. There is a perception in the public
that in the Muslim world there are extremists who are willing to
enter into terrorist acts and destroy our country. If the
government came along and decided to incarcerate all Muslims,
or put them all on a curfew, or not let more than two meet at one
time, that would be abhorrent. This is precisely what is happening
here. The government is taking action on a misinformed public
perception. It is expressing itself on talk shows and in rage and it
makes up wonderful campaign ads. They are taking an extreme
position to respond to that anger. In my view, that is
irresponsible. We are not talking about where to put a Ford
plant or a road. We are talking about fundamental democratic
rights here, as set out in section 3 of the Charter, and other
aspects which I think are being infringed upon.

I think the government ought to have done what it is doing on
the point and said, ‘‘We will not infringe people’s rights.’’ I refer
to the kinds of things they are doing in regard to wanting more
accountability from lobbyists. I think they could have done a
better job with the provisions in the Access to Information Act.

If you follow Justice Gomery, for example, you would give
more power to the committees and to Parliament so that there is
more oversight, where people report not to the Prime Minister but
to Parliament. There were some ideas put forward by Justice
Gomery that were very thoughtful. I think they would have been
effective. I think much of Bill C-2 is pandering to an anger when I
think what was needed was a defence of politicians. I am not
telling anyone here anything new. It is not a trivial thing to do,
when a person puts his or her name on a ballot. I think we should
be careful.

Senator Stratton: You see where they rank politicians.

Mr. Best: That just tears me up.

Senator Stratton: That is a fundamental problem. We could
discuss this philosophically through the end of time.

Mr. Best: I think we should go with reality and not perception.

Senator Stratton: Perception is reality in politics.

Mr. Best: I understand that, but that is a communications
problem now; that is not a rights problem.

The Chairman: I would like to hear from Mr. Arlow and
Mr. Langlois on the principle issue raised by Senator Joyal about
section 3 of the Charter and the fundamental rights as it affects
smaller parties.

M. Best: Peut-être, mais lorsque nous parlons de droits
fondamentaux, je pense que le gouvernement a l’obligation de
défendre ces droits, mais non de les supprimer. Je vais vous
donner une analogie outrancière à l’appui de mon argument. Il y a
dans la population un sentiment que les musulmans sont des
extrémistes prêts à se livrer à des actes de terrorisme et à détruire
notre pays. Si le gouvernement venait à décider de jeter en prison
tous les musulmans, de leur imposer un couvre-feu ou de leur
interdire tout rassemblement de deux personnes ou plus, ce serait
répugnant. Mais c’est précisément ce qui se passe ici. Le
gouvernement passe aux actes sur la base d’une idée fausse
que se fait la population. Cela se manifeste pendant des
émissions-débats, par des actes de rage, et tout cela produit de
superbes publicités électorales. Pour répondre à cette colère, le
gouvernement adopte une position extrême et, à mon avis, c’est
une attitude irresponsable. Nous ne parlons pas ici du choix d’un
site pour une chaîne de montage automobile ou du tracé d’une
route. Nous parlons ici de droits démocratiques fondamentaux
précisés à l’article 3 de la Charte, ainsi que d’autres éléments aussi
qui, à mon avis, sont foulés au pied.

Je pense que le gouvernement aurait dû faire ce qu’il fait à ce
sujet et déclarer tout bonnement: « Nous n’allons pas bafouer le
droit des gens ». Je pense aux mesures que prend le gouvernement
pour exiger des lobbyistes qu’ils rendent davantage compte de
leurs actes. Je pense qu’on aurait atteint davantage cet objectif en
recourant aux dispositions de la Loi sur l’accès à l’information.

Par exemple, si vous suivez la ligne de conduite proposée par le
juge Gomery, vous donnerez plus de pouvoirs aux comités et au
Parlement pour assurer un meilleur contrôle; les gens devront
rendre des comptes non pas au premier ministre mais au
Parlement. Le juge Gomery a proposé certaines mesures fort
judicieuses qui, à mon avis, auraient été efficaces. Je crois que
beaucoup de dispositions du projet de loi C-2 visent à apaiser la
colère de la population alors qu’il fallait défendre la classe
politique. Je ne vous apprends rien, du reste. Ce n’est pas banal de
se porter candidat à des élections. Il faut faire preuve de prudence
à mon avis.

Le sénateur Stratton: Vous savez ce que la population pense des
politiciens.

M. Best: Cela me désole au plus haut point.

Le sénateur Stratton: C’est un problème fondamental sur lequel
nous pourrions philosopher pendant des siècles.

M. Best: Je pense que nous devrions agir en fonction de la
réalité et non des perceptions.

Le sénateur Stratton: En politique, les perceptions sont la
réalité.

M. Best: Je sais bien, mais il s’agit maintenant d’un problème
de communication et non d’un problème de droits.

Le président: J’aimerais savoir ce que pensent M. Arlow et
M. Langlois de la question de principe soulevée par le sénateur
Joyal au sujet de l’article 3 de la Charte et des droits
fondamentaux, en ce qui concerne les petits partis.
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Mr. Arlow: Senator Joyal has hit it square on. My reaction to
the 2 per cent limit and the 5 per cent limit was visceral. It is
hostile to the small parties. This new adjustment to the limits is an
act of further hostility. These issues did not escape anyone who is
versed in the way government works and in the principles of
democracy. It did not escape those who looked at what this would
mean in terms of the arbitrary value that it assigns to certain
classes of voters. I think it is a clear indication of a state of mind.
The government has just decided to keep small parties out. They
have found a measure to do it and they will do it. It is strictly
hostile to small parties. I do not think it is for any lack of
understanding about the principles involved. I think it is just
straight power.

With regard to election campaign financing, I have knocked on
doors. I have been in four campaigns. In my experience the public
perception of financing in campaigns is that they do not have a
clue. I bet you I did not meet one person in 100 who knew that we
had significant rule changes the last time. They do not know the
rules. They do not know what the changes are or how they affect
them, and they do not care. This is not a corruption issue at all. I
am onside with Mr. Best about that. It is not about corruption. It
is not because anyone who is versed in the way democracy should
work misses the principles Senator Joyal elucidated. It is a
straight hostile act against small parties.

The Chairman: Mr. Langlois, do you want to respond to the
issues raised by Senator Joyal on the Charter and democratic
rights?

Mr. Langlois: When we are talking about democratic rights we
must consider the rights of Canadians as voters as well as
financial contributors to political parties. The ratio between those
two is somewhere between 10 to 1 and 100 to 1. There are people
who vote versus those who give cheques to political parties.

If we are to talk about democratic rights in the Canadian
political system, let us stop talking about dollars and let us start
talking about proportional representation in our electoral system.
Quite honestly, it is a sideshow to be talking about $1,000 versus
$5,000. We are one democracy that is going this route of fiddling
with the dollar. We are one of the last few dying dinosaur
democracies in the globe who still has this entirely unproportional
system in our House of Commons. If that is really where our
interest is, let us focus on that.

Senator Joyal: On that point, I think there is a case presently
before the courts on the basis of section 3, the electoral system of
Canada. I turn again to Senator Milne who will remember that we
did not deal with that case specifically but we mentioned it in
passing when we were discussing some other changes to the
Elections Act. We are aware that there is litigation challenging the
way the electoral system works in Canada based on distribution
of votes.

M. Arlow: Le sénateur Joyal a parfaitement raison. Il réagit
viscéralement aux limites de 2 p. 100 et de 5 p. 100. C’est une
mesure hostile à l’endroit des petits partis. Ce rajustement des
limites est un nouvel acte hostile. Ces questions n’ont pas échappé
à quiconque connaît les rouages gouvernementaux et les principes
de la démocratie. Elles n’ont pas échappé non plus à ceux qui ont
compris la valeur arbitraire que ces limites accordent à certaines
catégories de lecteurs. Ces mesures témoignent très clairement
d’une façon de penser. Le gouvernement vient de décider d’écarter
les petits partis. Il a trouvé le moyen de le faire et il le fera. C’est
une mesure nettement hostile aux petits partis. Et je ne pense pas
que c’est parce qu’on ne comprend pas les principes en jeux. Ce
n’est rien d’autre qu’un coup de force.

Pour ce qui est du financement des campagnes électorales, j’ai
fait du porte à porte. J’ai travaillé à quatre campagnes. D’après
mon expérience, le grand public ignore tout du financement des
campagnes électorales. Je parie que même pas une personne
sur 100 parmi celles que j’ai rencontrées ne savait qu’on avait
apporté des changements profonds aux règles lors de la dernière
campagne électorale. Les gens ne connaissent pas les règles. Ils ne
sont pas au courant des changements ni des répercussions de ces
changements, et tout cela leur est indifférent. Ce n’est pas du tout
une question de corruption et je partage l’avis de M. Best à ce
sujet. Ce n’est pas parce que certaines personnes bien au fait du
fonctionnement d’une démocratie ne comprennent pas les
principes décrits pas le sénateur Joyal. C’est un acte d’hostilité
non déguisé contre les petits partis.

Le président: Monsieur Langlois, souhaitez-vous commenter
les questions soulevées par le sénateur Joyal au sujet de la Charte
et des droits démocratiques?

M. Langlois: Quand on parle des droits démocratiques, il faut
songer aux droits des Canadiens à la fois comme électeurs et
comme participants au financement de partis politiques. Il y
aurait entre 10 et 100 électeurs pour chaque personne qui
contribue au financement d’un parti politique. Il y a les gens
qui votent et ceux qui donnent un chèque à un parti politique.

Si nous voulons discuter des droits démocratiques dans le
système politique canadien, cessons de parler d’argent et parlons
de la représentation proportionnelle dans notre système électoral.
À mon humble avis, songer à une limite de 1 000 $ plutôt que de
5 000 $, c’est s’arrêter à des questions tout à fait secondaires.
Nous sommes une démocratie qui a décidé de jouer avec le
montant des dons permis. Nous sommes une des dernières
démocraties archaïques et moribondes à maintenir un système
assurément non proportionnel pour l’élection des députés de la
Chambre des communes. Si c’est à cela que nous devrions nous
intéresser, arrêtons-nous plutôt à cette question.

Le sénateur Joyal: À ce sujet, je crois qu’il y a une poursuite
devant les tribunaux fondée sur l’article 3 concernant le système
électoral du Canada. Le sénateur Milne se souviendra que nous
n’avons pas discuté expressément de cette affaire mais que nous
l’avons mentionnée dans nos délibérations sur d’autres
modifications de la Loi électorale. Nous savons que les auteurs
de cette poursuite contestent le système électoral canadien
relativement à la répartition des votes.
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Senator Milne: My colleague has been very eloquent on the
theory behind some of the problems that we have with this bill,
but I want to come down to a few practical matters. Mr. Best, I
agree with you fully that politics is a noble calling. I grew up in a
political family. I have lived with politicians and I have been a
politician all my life. I have only run into in my entire life one
individual who was borderline, perhaps lower than borderline.

I will see if I can get some agreement between the three of you
on issues that you raised. Mr. Best, you spoke of the smaller
parties suffering particularly from this $1,000 limit, saying that it
is arbitrary and absurdly low. I gather, Mr. Arlow, you agree with
that?

Mr. Arlow: Yes.

Senator Milne: Mr. Langlois?

Mr. Langlois: It is in our platform that the Green Party of
Canada supported reducing the limit to $1,000 for individual
contributions.

Mr. Arlow: I would support some kind of declaration about
large donations from a single donor. In the case of the Canadian
Action Party, certainly in the early going, Mr. Hellier provided
virtually all the funding. As the years have gone by, he has been
providing substantial inflows of money to keep the party
something like solvent or afloat at least. I do not see any
problem with a benefactor of that calibre or class making a
declaration that the money that is coming to the party is in
support of the party and is completely no strings attached and is a
gift for the benefit of Canadians and the people who support that
party. There is no problem with making that kind of declaration
and making it a legal oath.

However, to take out that possibility for the small parties that
have a large benefactor goes back to that question that someone
asked about the average donation. We might say for the
Canadian Action Party that the average donation is in the area
of $5,000 because it is affected by the high, but the mean donation
is $200.

Mr. Langlois: I want to clarify that our position on the dollar
figure is one note in the section on democratic reform in our
platform. That is important because we see that as a positive step
in the context where we are actually addressing democratic
reform. To take it out of context would not serve the party well.
We see it as a step, as part of a package where we are actually
addressing things like the control system, which is a much bigger
problem.

Senator Milne: You see your $1,000 as a plank in the total
electoral reform platform that you have.

Mr. Langlois: Precisely.

Le sénateur Milne: Mon collègue a décrit avec beaucoup
d’éloquence les fondements théoriques de certaines de nos
réserves face à ce projet de loi, mais j’aimerais aborder quelques
questions qui se posent dans la pratique. Monsieur Best, je
partage tout à fait votre avis que la politique est une vocation
noble. J’ai grandi dans une famille de politiciens. J’ai vécu avec
des politiciens et fait de la politique toute ma vie. Et, pendant
toute ma vie, je n’ai rencontré qu’un individu qui était à la limite
d’être malhonnête, ou peut-être carrément malhonnête.

Je me demande si vous seriez tous les trois d’accord sur
certaines questions que vous avez soulevées. Monsieur Best, vous
avez dit que les petits partis étaient particulièrement pénalisés par
cette limite de 1 000 $, que vous estimez arbitraire et beaucoup
trop basse. Monsieur Arlow, j’imagine que vous êtes d’accord
avec cela?

M. Arlow: Oui.

Le sénateur Milne: Et M. Langlois?

M. Langlois: Le Parti Vert du Canada préconisait dans son
programme de limiter à 1 000 $ les contributions de particuliers.

M. Arlow: J’appuierais une déclaration concernant les dons
importants venant d’un donateur unique. Dans le cas du Parti
Action Canadienne, du moins à ses débuts, M. Hellier a
pratiquement été l’unique bailleur de fonds. Depuis des années,
il fournit l’argent nécessaire pour assurer la solvabilité du parti à
tout le moins. Je ne vois rien de répréhensible à ce qu’un
bienfaiteur de ce calibre déclare qu’il donne l’argent pour appuyer
le parti et qu’il le fait sans condition, dans l’intérêt des Canadiens
et des adeptes de ce parti. Nous n’avons rien contre ce genre de
déclarations ni contre le fait d’en faire un serment qui lierait
légalement son auteur.

Cependant, si on retire aux petits partis cette possibilité d’avoir
un bienfaiteur important, ça nous ramène à la question déjà
soulevée du don moyen. Pour le Parti Action Canadienne, le don
moyen est d’environ 5 000 $, à cause de la contribution
importante, mais le don médian est de 200 $.

M. Langlois: J’aimerais signaler que notre position au sujet du
montant des contributions se résume à une note dans la section de
notre programme qui porte sur la réforme démocratique. C’est
important en tant que mesure positive puisque nous discutons de
réforme démocratique. Il ne serait pas dans l’intérêt du parti de
retirer cette déclaration de son contexte. Il s’agit à notre avis
d’une étape, d’une mesure parmi d’autres visant à corriger des
choses comme le système de contrôle, qui est un problème
beaucoup plus important.

Le sénateur Milne: Vous considérez votre limite
de 1 000 $ comme un élément de votre programme de réforme
électorale globale?

M. Langlois: Exactement.
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Senator Milne: In the context of this particular bill, you
would see no problem with leaving it at $5,000 or reducing it
to $1,000. We have two that prefer $5,000. This is the bill that is
before us. This is what we can do.

Senator Day: They have preferred to not to reduce it to $1,000.

Mr. Arlow: I would say $1,000 is too low.

Mr. Best: I agree with John Crosby, who said that $20,000 was
a good figure.

Senator Milne: I will give up on that one.

Senator Stratton: My whole point to this is that part of your
platform in reducing the donation to $1,000 also includes
proportional representation. That is really a fundamental
element of your electoral reform, more or less, is it not?

Mr. Langlois: Absolutely.

Senator Stratton: I happen to buy into that completely.

Senator Day: Another part of your platform was
$1,000 in-kind corporate and union contributions at the riding
level.

Mr. Langlois: That was not in the platform. That was a level of
detail we had not gotten into earlier. That was in response to
Bill C-2, realizing the implication of that proposed section as
worded.

The Chairman: Senator Day, before you came in, he said that
one of the amendments they would like to see is the in-kind
contribution.

Senator Day: I got that. I wanted to ensure that was tied in
with the other aspects of it. That was after I came in.

Senator Milne: Mr. Langlois, you call this a ‘‘side show’’ in the
form of a bill. I think it was Mr. Langlois, or was it Mr. Best?

Senator Campbell: No, Mr. Arlow.

Senator Milne: Because this funding is so harmful to the
smaller parties, I wonder where you draw the line between a
smaller party and a larger party. Should there be a line between
them? Should it be the same for all? Mr. Langlois is now
classifying himself as the smallest of the large parties.

Mr. Langlois: As I said, we are spending some of our money to
have a case in front of the Supreme Court of Canada and
eliminate that 2 per cent threshold. A vote is a vote is a vote.

Senator Milne: Mr. Langlois, you agree in principle with
corporate limits, but you are very concerned about the idea of the
mom-and-pop donation in kind, coffee to a meeting or
something. I understand that you have great difficulty with
proposed section 43 of the Canada Elections Act.

Le sénateur Milne: En ce qui concerne le projet de loi qui est
devant nous, vous n’avez pas objection à ce que le montant
demeure 5 000 $ ou à ce qu’il soit ramené à 1 000 $. Nous avons
deux témoins qui préfèrent une limite de 5 000 $. C’est ce qui figure
dans le projet de loi à l’étude. C’est ce que nous pouvons faire.

Le sénateur Day: Ils préfèrent qu’on ne ramène pas la limite
à 1 000 $.

M. Arlow: À mon avis, 1 000 $, c’est trop peu.

M. Best: Je partage l’avis de M. John Crosby, qui aimait bien
le chiffre de 20 000 $.

Le sénateur Milne: Je renonce à revenir là-dessus.

Le sénateur Stratton: Voici où je voulais en venir. Votre
programme, qui propose de ramener à 1 000 $ la limite des
contributions, prône également la représentation proportionnelle.
C’est vraiment-là un élément fondamental de votre réforme
électorale, n’est-ce pas?

M. Langlois: Tout à fait.

Le sénateur Stratton: Pour ma part, je suis tout à fait de cet avis.

Le sénateur Day: Votre plate-forme propose également des
dons en nature de 1 000 $ de la part de sociétés et de syndicats au
niveau de la circonscription.

M. Langlois: Ça ne figurait pas dans la plate-forme. Il s’agit de
propositions plus détaillées qu’auparavant et qui ont été conçues
dans le sillage du projet de loi C-2, car nous nous sommes rendus
compte des répercussions de l’article tel qu’il est libellé.

Le président: Sénateur Day, avant votre arrivée, il a dit qu’ils
aimeraient bien que l’on amende, entre autres, la disposition
portant sur les contributions en nature.

Le sénateur Day: Oui, j’avais saisi cela. Je tenais toutefois à ce
que cela soit lié aux autres aspects. C’était après mon arrivée.

Le sénateur Milne: Monsieur Langlois, vous avez dit de ce
projet de loi qu’il s’agit d’un « exercice minime ». Je crois que
c’était M. Langlois, ou était-ce plutôt M. Best?

M. Campbell: Non, c’était M. Arlow.

Le sénateur Milne: Étant donné que ce régime de financement
est tellement préjudiciable aux petits partis, je me demande où
vous situez la frontière entre un petit parti et un grand. De toute
façon, devrait-il y avoir une telle frontière? La même chose
devrait-elle s’appliquer à tous? M. Langlois nous dit maintenant
qu’il fait lui-même partie du plus petit des grands partis.

M. Langlois: Ainsi que je le disais, nous consacrons des
ressources à la préparation d’une cause que nous voulons
présenter devant la Cour suprême du Canada afin de faire
éliminer ce seuil de 2 p. 100. Un vote est un vote.

Le sénateur Milne: Monsieur Langlois, en principe, vous êtes
d’accord pour qu’on impose une limite aux dons des sociétés, mais
vous êtes très préoccupé par rapport aux dons en nature de la part
des petits commerces, par exemple pour ce qui est de fournir du
café lors d’une réunion ou quelque chose de ce genre. Je crois aussi
savoir que vous avez de grandes réserves au sujet de l’article 43,
que l’on propose inscrire dans la Loi électorale du Canada.

6:78 Legal and Constitutional Affairs 8-9-2006



Mr. Langlois: Yes.

Senator Milne: You also have a problem with the coming into
effect of this bill. You think it should be January 1 or the
beginning of the year after Royal Assent to the bill. What about
Mr. Best and Mr. Arlow?

Mr. Arlow: Obviously, the coming into effect has greater or
lesser implications the more they tinker with the rules. There has
not been time for the voting public to absorb the fact that we have
had significant rule change. This cart is way ahead of the horse at
best. The point of rushing it through in terms of any public
perception that may be perceived to being influence is moot. It is
not there. There is no public perception that will be influenced by
this move at all because public perceptions have not yet been
influenced at all by the last rule changes. What is the rush?

Mr. Best: I accept the premise that this goes through and it
goes down to $1,000. It is now September. By the time this all
goes through, we are into a situation where we may have weeks to
communicate with all of our supporters and change all the
accounting to make it January 1. If I were king of the planet and
could say what it would be, it would be January 1, 2008. We
communicate with our members maybe five or six times a year.
When you say we need to go back to all the donors and incur that
expense outside of the normal forms of communication, it just
adds a burden. I do not know that it is so pressing that one more
year at this $5,000 level would be a problem. That would give us a
chance to go back, communicate comfortably and so on.

Legitimately, if it all went through as quickly as some would
like, it is mid- December 14 you are still raising $5,000 and you
have to go back to people. As you know, they are filling in credit
card forms saying you can take out X amount, they are doing bank
statements, and so on. I would prefer another year, not because it is
365 days but because that is the fiscal year that we are all dealing
with because of the tax situation, Elections Canada software and
all the basic nuts and bolts. I would prefer, if it is to go through, to
delay it another year to allow all the parties the chance to
communicate in the normal course of events and let people know
what is being changed so we can get to those people in a timely
way. I agree with Mr. Arlow that most people do not know
anything about this change. They do not know the limits or what
any of this means, so there is an educational process going on.

Senator Day: It is laudable and very much appreciated,
Mr. Langlois, that you take some of these issues to the court
system to have issues resolved. You indicated you spent some of
your political dollars to do that, and it seems to me that going up
through the court process — most of these are to the Supreme
Court of Canada — any donations that you get will be counted as
political donations, and knowing the cost of going to the Supreme

M. Langlois: Oui, c’est bien cela.

Le sénateur Milne: Vous êtes aussi préoccupé par l’entrée en
vigueur de ce projet de loi. Vous estimez que cela devrait se faire le
1er janvier, ou au début de l’année suivant la sanction royale.
Qu’en pensent MM. Best et Arlow?

M. Arlow: Il ne fait aucun doute que c’est dans la mesure où
l’on aura plus ou moins remanié les règles que la mise en vigueur
aura des répercussions. Les électeurs n’ont pas eu suffisamment de
temps pour absorber les modifications profondes. Au mieux, on
met la charrette avant les bœufs. Quant à savoir si une adoption
aussi précoce exercera une influence sur le public, c’est tout à fait
théorique, car une telle influence n’existe pas. Le public ne sera
nullement influencé par cette initiative puisqu’il ne l’est pas encore
par les derniers changements. Par conséquent, où est l’urgence?

M. Best: Il me paraît certain que le projet de loi va être adopté
et, partant, que la limite va être abaissée à 1 000 $. Nous sommes
en septembre. D’ici à ce que tout cela soit fait, il se peut que nous
ayons seulement quelques semaines à notre disposition pour
communiquer avec tous nos partisans et pour modifier toutes les
formalités comptables d’ici le 1er janvier. Si j’étais roi et si je
pouvais commander au monde entier, la date retenue serait le
1er janvier 2008. En règle générale, nous communiquons avec nos
membres cinq ou six fois par année. Et lorsque vous affirmez qu’il
nous faut retourner auprès de tous les donateurs et assumer les
frais supplémentaires que cela occasionnera, cela ne fait
qu’alourdir notre fardeau. Il me semble que le maintien de la
limite à 5 000 $ une année de plus ne causerait pas de problème.
Cela nous donnerait la possibilité de revoir nos gens, le temps de
communiquer à l’aise et tout le reste.

Si tout est adopté dans des délais aussi brefs que ce qui est
souhaité par certains, à la mi-décembre, on recueillera encore des
dons de 5 000 $ et il faudra que nous retournions voir les gens.
Vous n’ignorez pas qu’ils remplissent des formulaires de cartes de
crédit, où il est dit qu’on peut faire un don jusqu’à concurrence
d’un tel montant. Il y a aussi les relevés bancaires et tout le reste.
Je préfèrerais donc qu’on attende une autre année, non parce que
cela fait 365 jours, mais parce que c’est l’année fiscale que nous
prenons en compte. Cela, tant à cause de la situation fiscale que
du logiciel d’Élections Canada, et de tous les autres rouages
essentiels. Si le projet de loi est adopté, je préférerais qu’on retarde
sa mise en vigueur d’un an afin de permettre à tous les partis de
communiquer avec leurs sympathisants dans des délais normaux,
de les mettre au courant des changements qui s’en viennent. Cela
nous permettrait de faire les choses dans des délais appropriés. Je
conviens avec M. Arlow que la plupart des gens ignorent à peu
près tout de ces changements. Ils ne sont pas au courant des
limites et ne savent pas non plus tout ce que cela signifie, alors il
faut les renseigner là-dessus.

Le sénateur Day: Il est certainement tout à fait louable,
monsieur, de porter en cour certaines de ces questions. Vous avez
dit que vous y consacriez une partie de vos contributions
politiques et il me semble qu’en recourant à ce processus,
sachant surtout que nombre de ces questions vont jusqu’à la
Cour suprême du Canada, ce qui coûte très cher, vous risquez que
toutes ces contributions soient considérées comme des
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Court, you should be concerned that donations for a court
process will apply against the $1,000 limit. That will curtail
significantly an important contribution that your party is making
to Canada.

Mr. Langlois: All that is true.

Senator Day: That includes the fact that you are concerned.

Mr. Langlois: Naturally. I am essentially an administrator in
the party, so I do not make party policy. I administer the finances
and everything else. Obviously, cutting out a section of our
revenue will cause me personally to have to come up with some
creative solutions, and that is part of the reality of implementing
that change. That is true.

Mr. Arlow: As Mr. Best argued, not only do these kinds of
rapid implementations add effort and burden to what the small
parties do, they add significant expense. To a small party, a
national mail out is a big deal; just buying stamps is a big deal for
a small party. We do not have staffers we can pay to do those
kinds of things, none of that. It is all volunteers, and you can
abuse your volunteers before they get too tired and go away.
Those kinds of elements cannot be lost to the framers of this
legislation. I cannot see it as anything but a straight, hostile act.
They are just trying to grind us down.

Senator Zimmer: Mr. Best, would you agree — I have said this
in previous testimony here — that open, transparent and
accountable has nothing to do with the limits; they are totally
separate. You can be open, accountable and transparent at $1 or
$1 million, or you can be not open, not transparent and not
accountable at $1 million or $1. It is not related. It comes from
what you practise and what you do. Would you agree with that
statement?

Mr. Best: I agree with that entirely and the evidence is in
Gomery. It was not the transparency that was the problem. It was
the non-transparent stuff that was taking place that was the
problem. I agree. The solution to it is the openness and
transparency. I think you pretty much cover it. I totally agree.

The Chairman: Thank you, gentlemen. You have been open
and transparent with us, and you have been very responsive to
our questions. We appreciate the response you had to the
democratic rights issue arising from the Charter, and that
information will be useful to the committee. Thank you for
coming and sharing your thoughts with us.

Honourable senators, I would like to welcome the new presenters.

Ron Gray, Leader, Christian Heritage Party of Canada:
Honourable senators, you have my presentation before you, but
I want to make some introductory remarks. I and some of my
colleagues here have sat for years on the Chief Electoral Officer’s
advisory committee of political parties. At those meetings I have
pointed out that the focus of the legislation governing election
financing has been and remains misdirected. The legislation
focuses primarily on how electoral financing will affect the
political parties. I submit that the focus should be on the need,

contributions politiques et que s’y applique ainsi le plafond de
1 000 $. Cela réduirait sensiblement ce que peut faire votre parti
pour le Canada.

M. Langlois: C’est bien vrai.

Le sénateur Day: Notamment le fait que cela vous préoccupe.

M. Langlois: Certes. Je suis toutefois dans l’administration du
parti et ce n’est donc pas moi qui décide de sa politique.
J’administre les finances et le reste. Évidemment, en utilisant ainsi
une partie de nos recettes, il faudra personnellement que je trouve
d’autres solutions et c’est une réalité que va imposer ce
changement. C’est exact.

M. Arlow: Comme le disait M. Best, non seulement ce genre de
changements rapides représentent un fardeau supplémentaire
pour les petits partis, mais ils coûtent également très cher. Pour un
petit parti, un envoi postal national, c’est une grosse affaire;
l’achat de timbres est une grosse affaire. Nous n’avons pas de
permanents qui peuvent s’occuper de cela. Nous n’avons que des
bénévoles et nous devons faire attention à ne pas les épuiser si
nous ne voulons pas les perdre. Les auteurs d’une telle loi
devraient en tenir compte. J’estime que c’est une loi carrément
hostile. On essaie simplement de nous éliminer.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur Best, ne convenez-vous pas —
et je l’ai déjà dit à d’autres occasions — que la transparence et la
reddition de comptes n’ont rien à voir avec les plafonds; que c’est
totalement différent. La transparence et la reddition de comptes
s’appliquent à un dollar comme à un million de dollars. Cela n’a
rien à voir. Tout dépend de vos pratiques et de ce que vous faites.
N’êtes-vous pas d’accord?

M. Best: Je suis tout à fait d’accord et la preuve en a été donnée
dans Gomery. Le problème, ce n’était pas la transparence. C’était
au contraire ce qui n’était pas transparent. Bien sûr. La solution,
c’est la transparence. C’est tout à fait vrai. Je suis entièrement
d’accord.

Le président: Merci, messieurs. Vous vous êtes montrés très
directs et ouverts avec nous et vous avez très bien répondu à nos
questions. Nous avons noté ce que vous disiez à propos des droits
démocratiques et de la Charte. Cela nous sera utile. Merci d’être
venus participer à cet échange avec nous.

Honorables sénateurs, nous allons maintenant entendre les
prochains témoins.

Ron Gray, chef, Parti de l’héritage chrétien du Canada:
Honorables sénateurs, vous avez mon texte sous les yeux mais
j’aimerais faire quelques observations liminaires. Comme certains
de mes collègues ici, je siège depuis des années au comité
consultatif des partis politiques du directeur général des élections.
À l’occasion de ces réunions, j’ai fait remarquer que l’objet des
textes législatifs concernant le financement électoral a toujours été
mal défini. On ne se préoccupe de ce financement qu’en fonction
des partis politiques. J’estime que l’on devrait au contraire se
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and indeed the right, of the electorate to have access to adequate
information on all of the options available to them in order to
make an intelligent decision.

Nowhere is that implicit in the present financing arrangements.
In fact, the financing arrangements put in place, beginning with
Bill C-24, are backward looking and designed to perpetuate the
status quo. Whoever got the most votes before will get the most
money to campaign for re-election the next time around.

I would like to reintroduce a quote from Thomas Jefferson that
I had previously brought to a Senate committee meeting. Thomas
Jefferson wrote: ‘‘It is tyrannical to compel a man to pay for the
promulgation of ideas with which he does not agree.’’ That form
of tyranny is implicit in our election-financing structure.

Taxpayers have no choice but to send in their taxes, and then
they are compelled to see their dollars used to fund parties whose
policies may be anathema to them. I have proposed an alternative
form of public financing that puts the decision of where that
money goes into the hands of the taxpayers. It is a modification of
what is known in labour relations as the Rand formula, whereby
everybody has to pay the same thing. In labour relations this
system is used to accommodate people whose moral convictions
may prevent them from joining a labour union but who benefit
from the work of the labour union.

Under this formula everyone pays the same thing, but no one is
forced to send money to the union or to a particular political
party. I suggest that at the end of the income tax form there ought
to be a box that says that $2, or whatever arbitrary amount is
decided, of your taxes will be used to promote the democratic
political process in Canada. You, the taxpayer, may designate
which party will get your $2. If no party is designated, your $2 will
go into a non-partisan educational fund to teach students and
new immigrants how our political process works. Everyone bears
the burden equally, but not a penny of any taxpayer’s money will
go to a party whose policies are repugnant to him or her. That is
the suggestion that I have tried to put forward. I want to put the
focus on the interests of the voters.

In my submission I point out some of the other burdens the
Canada Elections Act places on parties, especially the smaller
parties. Take for example some of the regulations concerning
audit and accounting. I have no argument with the idea that
parties should have their books audited and that their accounts
should be verified. However, as a party we have to pay for the
audit and the verification, and often we have candidates who
spend less on their campaign than they do on the audit. In one
case, five of our candidates used the same auditor — an auditor
who had worked for our party since the 1988 election. At the end
of the last election, for some reason that auditor’s credentials were
questioned, and we lost those five candidates because their audits
were disallowed.

We would suggest that in the auditing requirements under the
Elections Act there should be a minimum threshold below which
the parties are not required to audit their own books. The parties

préoccuper de la nécessité et d’ailleurs du droit, pour l’électorat,
d’avoir accès aux informations nécessaires sur toutes les options
qui leur sont offertes afin de pouvoir prendre une décision
éclairée.

Il n’en est absolument pas question dans les dispositions
actuelles. En fait, ces dispositions, à commencer par le projet de
loi C-24, sont rétrogrades et visent à perpétuer le statu quo. Ceux
qui auront obtenu le plus de voix auront le plus d’argent pour
faire campagne la prochaine fois.

J’aimerais citer Thomas Jefferson que j’ai déjà cité devant un
comité du Sénat. Il écrivait: « Il est tyrannique d’obliger
quelqu’un à payer pour la promulgation d’idées qu’il ne partage
pas ». Cette forme de tyrannie est implicite dans notre structure
de financement électoral.

Les contribuables sont obligés de payer leurs impôts et obligés
de voir leur argent utilisé pour financer des partis dont les
politiques sont totalement contraires à leurs idées. J’ai proposé
une autre forme de financement public qui permet aux
contribuables de décider où va l’argent. C’est ce que l’on
appelle la formule Rand dans les relations syndicales-patronales
qui veut que tout le monde paie la même chose. Cela pour tenir
compte de ceux qui pour des raisons morales sont dans
l’impossibilité d’adhérer à un syndicat mais qui profitent de ce
que fait ce syndicat.

En vertu de cette formule, tout le monde paie la même chose
mais personne n’est obligé d’envoyer son argent au syndicat ou à
un parti politique particulier. Je suggérerais qu’il y ait au bas du
formulaire d’impôt une case indiquant que deux dollars, ou quel
que soit le chiffre retenu, de vos impôts serviront à développer le
processus politique démocratique au Canada. Le contribuable
pourra ainsi indiquer à quel parti verser ces deux dollars. S’il
n’indique aucun parti, les deux dollars iraient à un fonds
d’éducation non partisan qui permettrait d’informer les
étudiants et les nouveaux immigrants à propos de notre système
politique. Tout le monde supporte également le fardeau, mais pas
un sou de l’argent du contribuable n’irait à un parti dont les
politiques lui répugnent. C’est la suggestion que j’ai essayé de
faire. Je voudrais que l’on considère en priorité l’intérêt des
électeurs.

Dans mon texte, je signale certains des autres fardeaux que la
Loi électorale du Canada fait supporter aux partis, en particulier
aux petits partis. Prenez certains des règlements touchant les
vérifications et la comptabilité. Je suis bien d’accord pour que les
partis fassent vérifier leurs livres et leurs comptes. Toutefois, ces
vérifications et contrôles coûtent cher et il arrive souvent que des
candidats dépensent moins pour leur campagne que pour la
vérification. Dans un cas, cinq de nos candidats avaient recours
au même vérificateur, vérificateur qui travaillait pour notre parti
depuis les élections de 1988. Après les dernières élections, pour
une raison ou une autre, ses qualifications ont été mises en doute
et nous avons perdu ces cinq candidats parce que leurs
vérifications ont été refusées.

Nous suggérons ainsi que dans les dispositions touchant la
vérification prévue dans la Loi électorale on prévoie un seuil
minimum en deçà duquel les partis ne seraient pas tenus de faire
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could be required to send in the accounts and those could be
audited by Elections Canada, but for the parties to pay more for
an audit than they do for a campaign is an onerous and unjust
burden.

The Chairman: Mr. Gray, those are fascinating points dealing
with aspects of the Canada Elections Act. The one measure before
us today is Bill C-2, which deals with aspects of the Elections Act.
Parties have been looking at the new provisions for campaign
contributions, limits, report dates, et cetera. I wonder if you have
specific comments on Bill C-2 that you want to bring to the
attention of honourable senators.

Mr. Gray: I raised the Canada Elections Act generally because
is it is my understanding that since Bill C-2 has opened the act
and, indeed, the Parliament of Canada Act, the committee would
be free to address anything within those acts. If that is not so, I
apologize. I can present to you what we think would be an
improvement to electoral financing as it has been dealt with in this
bill.

The Chairman: If I may assist you, Bill C-2 suggests that the
contribution that can be made will be reduced from $5,000 to
$1,000. Have you and your party looked at that?

Mr. Gray: Since its inception 19 years ago, our party has
always imposed a $5,000 limit on contributions. However, to
reduce that limit while at the same time allowing the parties that
are in the House to vote themselves $30 million a year of
taxpayers’ money seems to me grossly unfair. Again, I return to
the idea of putting voters’ interests first and their right to have
access to adequate information on which to make a decision.
Neither the act as it is nor the bill does that because the legislation
is retrospective and is designed to perpetuate the status quo.

Jean-Serge Brisson, Leader, Libertarian Party of Canada:
Mr. Chairman, I was surprised to see the senator call himself a
libertarian. We are always reachable through our website.

Senator Joyal: I am mighty tempted.

Mr. Brisson: I will be blunt. The way the bill is set up,
it does not matter whether there is a $1,000 threshold or
a $5,000 threshold. There is definitely a difference between on
the one hand political parties that have elected members in the
House of Commons and those who reach the magic number
of 2 per cent to receive automatic funding from the government
and on the other hand political parties just getting off the ground
or that cannot reach that magic number to have the $1.75 kick in.

If this bill is supposed to be fair to everyone, then all political
parties should be treated the same way. If a political party
gets only 10,000 votes nationwide, why not give them the
$1.75 anyway? Otherwise, you make one party more equal than
another. Parties that do not have access to the $1.75 are not being
treated the same as other parties.

vérifier leurs livres. On pourrait leur demander d’envoyer leurs
comptes qui seraient alors vérifiés par Élections Canada mais il
est très coûteux et injuste, me semble-t-il, de demander aux partis
de payer davantage pour une vérification que pour une campagne.

Le président: Monsieur Gray, ce sont là des points
extrêmement intéressants à propos de la Loi électorale du
Canada. La mesure dont nous sommes saisis aujourd’hui est
toutefois le projet de loi C-2 qui traite de certains aspects
seulement de cette loi. Les partis examinent les nouvelles
dispositions concernant les contributions électorales, les
plafonds, les dates de rapport, et cetera Avez-vous des
observations précises sur le projet de loi C-2 que vous aimeriez
porter à notre attention?

M. Gray: J’ai soulevé la question de la Loi électorale en général
parce que je pensais qu’étant donné que le projet de loi C-2 rouvre
cette loi ainsi que celle qui porte sur le Parlement du Canada, le
comité pourrait se pencher sur tout ce que contiennent ces lois. Si
ce n’est pas le cas, je vous prie de m’excuser. Je puis vous parler de
ce qui à notre avis permettrait d’améliorer les dispositions du
projet de loi concernant le financement électoral.

Le président: Si vous permettez, le projet de loi C-2 stipule que
la contribution autorisée sera réduite de cinq à 1 000 $. Est-ce que
votre parti et vous-même avez examiné cela?

M. Gray: Depuis sa création il y a 19 ans, notre parti a
toujours imposé un plafond de 5 000 $ pour les contributions.
Toutefois, réduire ce plafond tout en permettant aux partis
représentés à la Chambre de s’accorder chaque année 30 millions
de dollars de fonds publics me semble tout à fait injuste. Là
encore, je reviens à ce que je disais à propos de l’intérêt des
électeurs et de leur droit d’avoir accès aux informations voulues
pour prendre une décision. Ni la loi actuelle ni le projet de loi ne le
permettent parce que ces dispositions sont rétrospectives et visent
à perpétuer le statu quo.

Jean-Serge Brisson, chef, Parti libertarien du Canada:Monsieur
le président, j’ai été surpris d’entendre le sénateur se qualifier de
libertarien. On peut toujours nous atteindre par notre site
Internet.

Le sénateur Joyal: Je suis extrêmement tenté.

M. Brisson: Je serai franc. De la façon dont le projet de loi est
libellé, peu importe que le plafond soit de 1 000 ou de 5 000 $. Il y
a évidemment une différence entre d’un côté les partis politiques
qui ont des députés à la Chambre des communes et ceux qui
atteignent le chiffre magique de 2 p. 100 pour recevoir ce
financement automatique de l’État et d’un autre côté les partis
politiques qui démarrent à peine ou qui ne peuvent atteindre ce
chiffre magique pour avoir droit au 1,75 $.

Si ce projet de loi a la prétention d’être juste pour tous, tous les
partis politiques devraient être traités de la même façon.
Si un parti n’obtient que 10 000 voix dans tout le pays,
pourquoi ne pas lui donner tout de même 1,75 $? Sinon, il y a
des partis qui sont plus égaux que d’autres. Les partis qui n’ont
pas accès à ce 1,75 $ ne sont pas traités comme les autres.
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We do not mind if taxpayers are forced to finance political
parties through this threshold. However, if the provision is there,
it should be the same for everyone. If it is not there, then that is
fine, too. At least treat us the same as everyone else. That is the
big bone of contention our party has.

Right now candidates have to pay $1,000 to run in an election.
It used to be $200. We had people who would run a whole
campaign for under $1,000. Now it costs them that much just to
be a candidate. When some political parties have access to
government funding while others do not, the parties that have to
raise the money to run candidates are put behind the eight ball
right at the start.

Whether the limit is $1,000 or $5,000, it should be equal for
everyone. We would rather have no restrictions because there is
the issue of corruption. When it comes down to it, anyone can be
corrupt at any time.

I fix cars for a living, and many customers have said, ‘‘If you
do not give me a bill, you will not have to charge me taxes.’’ Some
might say that a person who does not want to pay taxes is
corrupt. It is a matter of perspective; a person can be corrupt
at $1 or at $1 million. It does not matter. Restricting the size of
donations will not address that. Rather, it is a matter of
accountability. When it comes to the amount of donations, we
really do not care, provided that it is fair and equal for everyone.

Anna Dicarlo, Secretary of Democratic Renewal, Marxist-
Leninist Party of Canada: Thank you for inviting us to appear
here today. We feel these deliberations touch one of the most
serious problems in the country now, the lack of trust and
confidence that Canadians have exhibited on many occasions and
their distrust generally speaking of politicians, political parties
and Parliament. With the Spicer commission, when Canadians
were given the opportunity to articulate their feelings and desires,
they did it clearly, loudly and actively. Since that time we have
seen several pieces of legislation, several government initiatives,
all of which have claimed that they will address this problem.
Many years later we are sitting here thinking that the problem has
not been tackled. We think that the problem has not even been
properly posed yet.

Bill C-2 has been presented as something that will help rebuild
Canadians’ confidence and strengthen accountability. I do not
have to reread all the claims that have been made.

Our opinion is that Bill C-2 will not do this. Look, for example,
at the funding provisions; the idea that a $4,000 difference in
contributions will solve the serious problem we are facing in
Canada is ludicrous. During the sponsorship scandal, Canadians
were shocked to hear the stories about bags of money being
transferred in restaurants and so on. The suggestion now that a
$20 prohibition on cash contributions will prevent that kind of
thing from happening makes a mockery of the word ‘‘reform.’’

Nous ne voyons pas d’inconvénient à ce que les contribuables
soient obligés de financer les partis politiques de cette façon.
Toutefois, si une telle disposition existe, elle devrait s’appliquer de
la même façon à tout le monde. Si elle n’existe pas, pas de
problème, non plus. Au moins, traitez-nous comme les autres.
C’est la seule chose que nous demandons réellement.

À l’heure actuelle, les candidats doivent payer 1 000 $ pour se
présenter. C’était 200 $ avant. Nous avions des gens qui faisaient
toute une campagne pour moins de 1 000 $. Maintenant ça leur
coûte cela simplement pour se présenter. Quand certains partis
politiques ont accès au financement public alors que d’autres n’y
ont pas accès, les partis qui doivent récolter de l’argent pour
présenter des candidats sont immédiatement défavorisés.

Que le plafond soit 1 000 ou 5 000 $, il devrait être le même
pour tous. Nous préférerions qu’il n’y ait pas de restrictions parce
qu’il y a le problème de la corruption. D’ailleurs, cela peut arriver
à tout le monde.

Je suis réparateur de voitures et beaucoup de clients m’ont dit:
« Si tu ne me fais pas de facture, tu n’as pas besoin de me faire
payer de taxes ». On peut dire que quelqu’un qui ne veut pas
payer de taxes est corrompu. C’est une question de point de vue;
on peut être corrompu pour un dollar ou un million de dollars.
Peu importe. Ce n’est pas en plafonnant les contributions qu’on
réglera ce problème. C’est une question de responsabilité. Pour ce
qui est du montant des contributions, cela nous est égal, à
condition que ce soit juste et équitable pour tous.

Anna Dicarlo, secrétaire du renouveau démocratique, Parti
marxiste-léniniste du Canada: Merci de votre invitation. Nous
estimons que vos délibérations portent sur un des problèmes les
plus sérieux que connaît notre pays actuellement, à savoir le
manque de confiance qu’ont manifesté les Canadiens à nombre
d’occasions et la méfiance en général à propos de la classe
politique, des partis politiques et du Parlement. Lors de la
Commission Spicer, quand les Canadiens ont eu l’occasion
d’exprimer leurs sentiments et leurs désirs, ils l’ont fait de façon
très claire et éloquente. Depuis lors, nous avons vu différents
projets de loi, différentes initiatives gouvernementales qui toutes
étaient censées remédier à ce problème. Nous voici des années
après et le problème n’a pas été réglé. Nous dirions même qu’il n’a
pas été convenablement posé.

Le projet de loi C-2 a été présenté comme quelque chose qui
devait aider à regagner la confiance des Canadiens et à renforcer
la reddition de comptes. Je ne relirai pas tout ce que l’on a dit à ce
sujet.

Nous estimons qu’il n’en est rien. Considérez les dispositions
touchant le financement. Penser qu’une différence de 4 000 $ dans
le plafond des contributions va régler ce grave problème est
ridicule. Pendant le scandale des commandites, les Canadiens ont
été choqués d’entendre parler de sacs d’argent passés de mains en
mains dans des restaurants, et cetera Aller dire maintenant
qu’interdire les contributions de 20 $ en espèces va régler le
problème, c’est ne pas comprendre ce que signifie « réforme ».
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One of the sections in the accountability bill says that there will
be a ban on secret donations. By definition, secret donations are
not known. The idea that we can legislate things that are not
known is absurd. In my opinion, it is laughing at us.

We have outlined in our brief our views on the specific
provisions. We are opposed to any contribution limits. We think
it is a violation of freedom of association. We expressed this
opinion when Bill C-24 was being reviewed and we would like to
reiterate it now. We think that the distinction between regulating
elections and regulating political parties has been obliterated in
Canada at the expense of political freedom.

For example, our party is very interested in building
institutions across the country. We would like to build
educational institutions to educate people on how to participate
in the political process. We would like to build institutions to train
workers how to participate. According to this bill, we would not
be able to launch an appeal to ask workers in the country to raise
significant amounts of money to help build these institutions; we
would be breaking the law.

Similarly, when we go door to door, which we do on a regular
basis, if someone at one of these doors says, ‘‘Here is $30,’’ I
would have to say, ‘‘No, I am sorry. That is against the law.’’

This is called encouraging Canadians to participate in the
political process? In our opinion, it is actually marginalizing
Canadians more and more. We think there are aspects of the
regulations that will further strengthen the concentration of
power in the upper echelons of political parties and further
disenfranchise constituency associations, and we are opposed to
those aspects. It is not that we are opposed to $1,000 versus
$5,000; we were also opposed to $5,000.

We would like very much to elaborate our views on this issue.
We think it is the electoral process that should be regulated and
funded, in much the same way that Mr. Gray is pointing to the
need to keep the electors in consideration.

Political parties, in our opinion, are private institutions. They
are recognized in the Canada Elections Act. It has been presented
that they are the primary organizations through which Canadians
are supposed to participate in political affairs.

We know the facts, namely, that less than 2 per cent of the
population participates in a political party; yet, it is continually
presented to us that political parties should be funded to the hilt
because they play such an important role. How do we reconcile
that with the great discrediting of political parties that has taken
place? If the electoral process rather than political parties were
funded, we could start discussing the problem of why Canadians
have such big distrust, why they think politicians are just out for
themselves, and why they see that when electoral reform is
introduced, nothing seems to change.

I would like to address an issue that I think is extremely
important, and that is the question of deliberation. I strongly
believe that Canadians have no conviction that anything will
change. It takes a humungous amount of research and dedication

Un article du projet de loi stipule que l’on interdira les dons
secrets. Par définition, s’ils sont secrets, c’est que personne n’est
au courant. Il est donc absurde de parler de légiférer en la matière.
C’est se moquer de nous.

Nous avons indiqué dans notre mémoire ce que nous pensions
des différentes dispositions du projet de loi. Nous sommes contre
tout plafonnement des contributions. C’est aller contre la liberté
d’association. Nous l’avons dit à propos du projet de loi C-24 et
nous le répétons. Il nous semble que l’on a oblitéré la distinction
entre réglementation des élections et réglementation des partis
politiques et que c’est notre liberté politique qui en souffre.

Par exemple, notre parti aimerait beaucoup construire des
établissements partout au pays. Nous aimerions construire des
établissements d’enseignement pour apprendre à la population
comment participer au processus politique. Nous aimerions
construire des établissements pour apprendre aux travailleurs
comment participer. Avec ce projet de loi, nous ne pourrions pas
lancer un appel auprès des travailleurs de tout le Canada afin de
récolter des sommes importantes pour nous aider à construire ces
établissements; ce serait enfreindre à la loi.

De même, lorsque nous faisons du porte-à-porte, ce que nous
faisons régulièrement, si quelqu’un nous dit: « Voici 30 $ », je
devrais dire: « Non, je suis désolée. C’est contre la loi. »

C’est ce qu’on appelle encourager les Canadiens à participer au
processus politique? Cela revient en fait au contraire à marginaliser
de plus en plus les Canadiens. Nous estimons que certains aspects
de la réglementation concentreront encore davantage le pouvoir
aux échelons supérieurs des partis politiques aux dépens des
associations de circonscription et nous nous y opposons. Ce n’est
pas que nous sommes contre 1 000 $ plutôt que 5 000 $; nous
sommes également contre les 5 000 $.

Nous aimerions beaucoup vous expliquer pourquoi. Nous
estimons que c’est le processus électoral qui devrait être
réglementé et financé et, comme M. Gray, c’est l’intérêt des
électeurs qu’il faut d’abord servir.

Les partis politiques sont des entités privées. Ils sont reconnus
dans la Loi électorale du Canada. On a dit que ce sont les
principales organisations grâce auxquelles les Canadiens peuvent
participer aux affaires politiques.

Nous connaissons les faits, à savoir que moins de 2 p. 100 de la
population militent dans un parti politique; toutefois, on continue
de nous dire qu’il faut financer au maximum les partis politiques
parce qu’ils jouent un rôle tellement important. Comment peut-on
dire cela quand on considère à quel point les partis politiques sont
discrédités? Si l’on finançait le processus électoral plutôt que les
partis politiques, nous pourrions commencer à nous demander
pourquoi les Canadiens sont si méfiants, pourquoi ils pensent que
les milieux politiques ne s’inquiètent que de leurs propres intérêts
et pourquoi ils constatent que lorsque l’on parle de réforme
électorale, rien ne semble changer.

J’aimerais revenir à un point qui me semble extrêmement
important, celui des délibérations. Je suis fermement convaincue
que les Canadiens n’ont aucun espoir que quoi que ce soit change.
La simple lecture du projet de loi sur la responsabilité exige un
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just to read the accountability bill and to try to grasp what
changes it proposes. The media has not presented comprehensive
coverage of the bill, probably because discourse on the bill has
been reduced to political bickering or because whenever it looks
like some light will be shed on the problem, the discussion stops.

I have read the minutes of the Senate. Very important
questions have been raised, such as the constitutional issues
around the separation of Crown and police authorities and
questions about the proposed director of public prosecution.
What difference would that position have made during the
sponsorship scandal? Would we have seen politicians actually
held to account? That question was posed but there was no
discussion on it, from what we could see. No answers were
provided.

We have also noticed that deals are being struck in which you
can have 70 witnesses but the bill must be passed by
September 29. Does such a deal really mean that the matters
that the witnesses raised will be addressed? We do not see how it
does. Who will take responsibility for whether the proposed
accountability act will change anything? Will the Senate be
accountable? Will the Senate be able to say, ‘‘Yes, we have
seriously deliberated on these matters and we can say with
conviction that this will change things in Canada,’’ or will it be
just an exercise in propaganda?

We would be very pleased to answer questions about what we
think would improve the situation in Canada. This is not the time
for motherhood statements or declarations that the bill will
obviously change things and that, if you do not like it, you are
against accountability. Yet we see that kind of atmosphere being
generated.

Finally, we would like to speak to issue of the criminalization
of politics in Canada, which is a serious development taking
place. When Bill C-24 was introduced, Diane Davidson, who is
the legal council at Elections Canada, made this point:

Lawmakers must anticipate that parties and candidates will
seek ways to get around limits and disclosure requirements.

In other words, we are all suspect criminals. The accountability
bill strengthens this perception. It is poses the problem that we
face in Canada in terms of the political process not functioning,
not providing people with mechanisms of accountability as a
matter of law and order. In Prime Minister Harper’s words, we
have to toughen the laws.

The notion is that if you hire more accountants, more auditors,
a public prosecutor, and have policing day in and day out, that
somehow will solve the problem. We think it creates a very bad
culture of refusing to actually provide mechanisms in Canada that
would allow people to hold politicians accountable and to do it
such that people can say with conviction that this has changed the
situation in Canada. Conviction can only come from discussing
what is actually being proposed through to the end. That is not

acharnement et des recherches énormes si l’on veut essayer de
comprendre ce qui est proposé. Les médias n’ont pas expliqué
convenablement le projet de loi, probablement parce que les
débats se sont limités à des affrontements entre politiciens ou
parce que chaque fois qu’on a l’impression qu’on va pouvoir faire
la lumière sur le problème, on met fin à la discussion.

J’ai lu les procès-verbaux du Sénat. On y a soulevé des
ques t ions t rè s importantes , comme les ques t ions
constitutionnelles entourant la séparation de la Couronne et des
autorités policières, ainsi que les questions concernant le directeur
des poursuites publiques. Qu’est-ce que ce poste aurait pu changer
au scandale des commandites? Est-ce qu’on aurait vu pour autant
la classe politique tenue de rendre des comptes? Cette question a
été posée, mais d’après ce que nous avons pu voir, elle n’a pas été
mise en délibération. Aucune réponse n’y a été apportée.

Nous avons également remarqué que certaines ententes
prévoient que malgré vos 70 témoins, le projet de loi devra être
adopté avant le 29 septembre. Ces ententes impliquent-elles que
les questions soulevées par les témoins vont être abordées? Nous
ne voyons pas comment il pourrait en être ainsi. Qui aura la
responsabilité de faire en sorte que la Loi sur la responsabilité soit
véritablement efficace? Est-ce que c’est le Sénat? Est-ce qu’il va
pouvoir dire: « Oui, nous avons délibéré sérieusement de toutes
ces questions et nous sommes convaincus que grâce à la loi, les
choses vont changer au Canada », ou ne va-t-il s’agir que d’un
exercice de propagande?

Nous serions très heureux de répondre aux questions
concernant tout ce qui peut, à notre avis, améliorer la situation
au Canada. Il n’est plus temps de faire de beaux discours ni de
déclarer que le projet de loi va manifestement faire évoluer les
choses ou que ceux qui le contestent sont contre la reddition de
comptes. C’est pourtant ce que nous constatons.

Enfin, nous aimerions parler de la pénalisation de la vie
politique au Canada, qui constitue une évolution très sérieuse.
Lorsque le projet de loi C-24 a été déposé, la conseillère juridique
d’Élections Canada, Diane Davidson, a fait la déclaration
suivante:

Le législateur doit s’attendre à ce que les partis et les
candidats s’efforcent de contourner les limites et les
exigences de divulgation.

Autrement dit, nous sommes tous suspects d’agissements
criminels. Le projet de loi sur la responsabilité renforce cette
impression. Il pose le problème auquel nous sommes confrontés
au Canada en affirmant que le processus politique est en panne et
qu’il n’offre pas à la population de mécanismes de reddition de
comptes relevant de la loi et de l’ordre. De l’aveu du premier
ministre Harper, il faut renforcer la législation.

On prétend qu’en recrutant davantage de comptables, de
vérificateurs, en nommant un directeur des poursuites publiques
et en multipliant les contrôles policiers quotidiens, on va résoudre
le problème. À notre avis, on va en réalité créer un état d’esprit
très néfaste en refusant d’offrir les mécanismes qui permettraient
aux Canadiens d’obliger la classe politique à rendre des comptes
et de se convaincre que la situation a véritablement changé au
Canada. Une telle conviction ne pourrait résulter que d’un
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taking place. I hope that the Senate will take responsibility for
examining this legislation and whether or not it addresses the
serious concerns that Canadians have about politics’ being out of
control.

The Chairman: Thank you for that introduction. You have
certainly raised many issues that honourable senators will want to
expand upon with questions.

Marvin Glass, Representative, Communist Party of Canada: I
have one minor correction to make to your introduction. I am not
leader of the Communist Party of Canada. I am not sure if that
would be a blessing or a curse. I am a mere mortal member
authorized by the party to come before the committee today.

We have a number of major concerns about the bill. I would
like to read our submission. I hope honourable senators have
copies in front of you.

Our main concern with the bill is that with the introduction of
steep new limitations on annual financial contributions from
individuals to political parties, their associations, candidates and
leadership hopefuls, the financing of registered political parties
will shift further from the realm of donations from the public to
an even greater state support through per-vote funding.

Further, Bill C-2 completely eliminates all contributions from
trade unions, which will significantly tilt the electoral playing field
against the working class and progressive political parties that
already face serious financial discrimination.

Further, Bill C-2 flies in the face of the court decision of
Figueroa. Miguel Figueroa is, in fact, our party leader. In this
case, brought by the Communist Party of Canada in 1993 to
challenge undemocratic sections of the Canada Elections Act, two
courts agreed that the act must make political activity in Canada
accessible to all, including small parties and parties without
representation in Parliament, and to all electors who have the
right to join, campaign and vote for the parties of their choice.

Bill C-2 will make it even more difficult — I repeat, more
difficult — for parties not currently in Parliament to be seen and
heard between elections and during elections and will set back the
democratic rights affirmed and reaffirmed in the Figueroa case.

Bill C-2 follows earlier legislation that significantly reduced the
contributions of trade unions and corporations to registered
parties and that provided for the transfer of public funds to
political parties receiving over 2 per cent of the vote. Currently,
five parties receive more than $1.75 per vote. They are the parties
currently represented in Canada plus the Green Party of Canada,
which struggled mightily to overcome this undemocratic and
discriminatory threshold only to run into the Broadcast Act,
which does not guarantee access to small parties or even medium-
size parties such as the Green Party to media and the public.

véritable débat sur ce qui nous est proposé. Or, ce débat n’a pas
lieu. J’espère que le Sénat prendra le soin d’étudier ce projet de loi
pour voir s’il répond effectivement aux graves préoccupations des
Canadiens concernant la politique qui échappent à tout contrôle.

Le président: Merci pour cette introduction. Vous avez soulevé
de nombreuses questions sur lesquelles les sénateurs aimeraient
intervenir.

Marvin Glass, représentant, Parti communiste du Canada:
J’aimerais apporter un rectificatif à votre présentation. Je ne
suis pas le chef du Parti communiste du Canada. Si je l’étais,
serait-ce un bienfait ou une malédiction? Je ne suis qu’un simple
mortel autorisé par le parti à comparaître aujourd’hui devant le
comité.

Le projet de loi nous cause plusieurs préoccupations sérieuses.
J’aimerais vous lire notre exposé. J’espère que les sénateurs en ont
reçu copie.

Notre préoccupation principale concerne l’imposition de
nouvelles limites rigoureuses aux contributions financières
annuelles des particuliers aux partis politiques, aux associations,
aux candidats et aux courses à la direction des partis, qui va avoir
pour effet d’éloigner le financement des partis politiques
enregistrés des dons des simples particuliers pour l’assujettir
davantage au soutien de l’État par l’intermédiaire d’un
financement accordé en fonction du nombre de voix obtenues.

Par ailleurs le projet de loi C-2 élimine totalement toute
contribution provenant des syndicats, ce qui aura pour effet de
déséquilibrer les règles du jeu au détriment de la classe ouvrière et
des partis politiques progressistes qui sont déjà sérieusement
défavorisés au plan financier.

Par ailleurs, le projet de loi C-2 contredit le jugement dans
l’arrêt Figueroa. Il se trouve que Miguel Figueroa est notre chef
de parti. Dans cette affaire, intentée par le Parti communiste du
Canada en 1993 pour contester les articles antidémocratiques de
la Loi électorale du Canada, deux tribunaux ont reconnu que la
loi doit permettre l’activité politique à tous les partis, y compris
aux plus petits qui ne sont pas représentés au Parlement, ainsi
qu’à tous les électeurs qui ont le droit d’adhérer au parti de leur
choix, de faire campagne pour ce parti et de voter pour lui.

Or, avec le projet de loi C-2, les partis non représentés
actuellement au Parlement vont avoir encore plus de difficulté
— je répète, encore plus de difficulté— à se faire voir et à se faire
entendre entre les élections et pendant les campagnes électorales;
c’est un recul par rapport aux droits démocratiques affirmés et
confirmés dans l’arrêt Figueroa.

Le projet de loi C-2 confirme une mesure antérieure qui a
considérablement réduit les contributions des syndicats et des
sociétés privées aux partis enregistrés et qui a prévu le versement
de fonds publics aux partis politiques qui obtiennent plus de
2 p. 100 des voix. Actuellement, cinq partis touchent plus de
1,75 $ par voix. Ce sont des partis actuellement représentés au
Parlement canadien, ainsi que le Parti vert du Canada, qui a dû se
battre avec acharnement pour surmonter ce seuil discriminatoire
et antidémocratique avant de se heurter à la Loi sur la
télédiffusion, qui ne garantit pas aux petits partis ou même aux

6:86 Legal and Constitutional Affairs 8-9-2006



Except for the Green Party of Canada, all other registered parties,
that is, more than half of the registered parties, receive no funding
at all under the 2 per cent threshold. In consequence, those
political parties that enacted the legislation are the main
beneficiaries of that legislation — that introduces the cynicism
that Ms. Dicarlo was talking about — which gives them an
enormous and unfair financial advantage over their competitors
and further tilts the playing field against the majority of registered
parties, which do not receive any financial benefit.

The main point here is that we think this makes small parties a
self-fulfilling prophecy. The proposals you make are almost
guaranteed to keep us small.

Further, the public interest is also subverted as the enormous
financial benefit in the form of annual transfers of public money
to five political parties completely discounts the votes and the
support of all those voters who gave their votes to one or other of
the registered parties receiving less than 2 per cent. The result of
this is the current legal challenge to the 2 per cent threshold which
the Communist Party and other registered parties have placed
before the courts.

As with the previous legislation, Bill C-2 purports to make the
Canada Elections Act and activities of political parties more
transparent and democratic, but by reducing the annual
contribution of individual donors from $5,000 to $1,000 and by
eliminating all donations from trade unions and corporations, the
new legislation will further tilt the playing field against those
parties without representation in the House of Commons and in
favour of those who currently dominate the House. In other
words, the previous amendments ensured that the four parties in
the House of Commons receive millions of dollars of public
money annually without having to ask for a single donation from
supporters, and they bar their competitors and critics from
receiving even a nickel of public money by adding the 2 per cent
threshold rule.

The Chairman: Mr. Glass, you are going a bit quickly. What
you are saying is being translated. We will not cut you off, but we
do have your paper and have had an opportunity to read it. If you
want to summarize we will then open the floor to honourable
senators.

Mr. Glass: I apologize. As you say, you do have our
submission. We have seven major points on the last page of our
submission. I will focus on those and refer your committee to the
arguments for them in the earlier sections of our presentation.

First, we join with most of the smaller political parties in, first
and foremost, calling for the removal of the 2 per cent threshold
for public funding, which would make competition in elections a
level playing field. It does not penalize parties who get a smaller
number of votes than other parties. It says that we are having an
election, everyone is on a level playing field, and everyone gets
$1.75 or whatever the case may be per vote.

partis d’importance moyenne comme le Parti vert l’accès aux
médias et à l’électorat. À l’exception du Parti vert du Canada,
tous les autres partis enregistrés, c’est-à-dire plus de la moitié des
partis enregistrés, ne reçoivent aucun financement en vertu de ce
seuil de 2 p. 100. Ainsi, les partis politiques qui ont assuré
l’adoption de la loi en sont les principaux bénéficiaires — d’où le
cynisme évoqué par Mme Dicarlo — ce qui leur confère un
avantage financier considérable et injuste par rapport à leurs
concurrents, et qui fait pencher davantage la balance au détriment
de la majorité des partis enregistrés, qui n’obtiennent aucun
avantage financier.

Pour l’essentiel, cette proposition condamne les petits partis à
rester petits.

Par ailleurs, l’intérêt public est également bafoué par les
énormes avantages financiers versés annuellement sous forme de
transferts de fonds publics aux cinq principaux partis politiques,
qui mettent à l’écart les votes et l’appui accordés par tous les
électeurs à l’un des partis enregistrés qui ont obtenu moins de
2 p. 100 des voix. C’est ce qui a provoqué l’actuelle contestation
judiciaire du seuil des 2 p. 100 intentée par le Parti communiste et
d’autres partis enregistrés.

Comme la mesure législative précédente, le projet de
loi C-2 vise à rendre la loi électorale et les activités des partis
politiques plus transparentes et plus démocratiques, mais en
faisant passer la contribution annuelle des particuliers de 5 000 à
1 000 $ et en éliminant totalement les dons des syndicats et des
sociétés privées, la nouvelle loi va faire une fois de plus pencher la
balance au détriment des partis qui ne sont pas représentés à la
Chambre des communes et en faveur de ceux qui y sont déjà.
Autrement dit, les modifications garantissent aux quatre partis
présents à la Chambre qu’ils recevront chaque année des millions
de dollars de fonds publics sans avoir à solliciter le moindre don
de leurs partisans, et elles empêcheront leurs concurrents et leurs
détracteurs de recevoir le moindre montant de fonds publics grâce
à l’imposition de la règle du seuil des 2 p. 100.

Le président: Monsieur Glass, vous allez un peu trop vite. Vos
propos sont interprétés. Nous n’allons pas vous couper la parole,
mais nous avons votre document et nous avons eu l’occasion d’en
prendre connaissance. Si vous voulez bien le résumer, nous
passerons aux questions des sénateurs.

M. Glass: Excusez-moi. Comme vous l’avez dit, vous avez
notre mémoire. Nos sept arguments principaux y sont résumés à
la dernière page. J’aimerais insister sur ces arguments, quitte à
inviter les membres du comité à se reporter aux explications les
concernant qui figurent dans le corps de notre mémoire.

Tout d’abord, nous joignons notre voix à celle de la plupart des
petits partis politiques pour demander avant tout la suppression
du seuil de 2 p. 100 pour le financement public, ce qui assurerait
l’égalité de tous les concurrents lors des élections. Cette
suppression ne pénalise pas les partis qui obtiennent moins de
voix que les autres. Elle prévoit seulement qu’en cas d’élection,
tout le monde sera à égalité et chacun obtiendra 1,75 $ ou quelque
autre somme pour chaque voix obtenue.
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Second, we are particularly concerned about the proposal to
disallow trade unions to contribute to political parties. We would
like to see that changed.

Third, we want significant cuts in the spending limits for
parties and candidates during and between elections.

Fourth, we want the Broadcast Act to be amended to allow all
political parties equal access to free time and paid political
broadcasts and advertising, as well as a guarantee that the leaders’
debates include the leaders of all political parties and to require all
candidates’ meetings during an election to include all candidates.

I have run in four provincial and four federal elections. On
many occasions— too many, I regret to say— I have had to call
up organizers of all-candidates meetings and ask if I could speak
to the electorate at their all-candidates meetings. I was told, ‘‘We
already have too many candidates on the platform, Mr. Glass, so
we are only inviting the big four.’’ I reply, ‘‘But you are denying
us our chance to be one of the big five or the big six. You are
making it a self-fulfilling prophecy.’’ Other points that we are
addressing here do the same thing. I get their sincere apologies
and a refusal, of course.

It is similar with our leader. We have a distinctive political
program. No one ever accused us of repeating the election
platform of the NDP, the Liberal Party or the Conservative Party
of Canada. Our leader is as eloquent, I may say, if not more so
than any political leader in Canada. He deserves an opportunity
to appear before the media in the leaders’ debate. We may need to
have three or four leaders’ debates in order to accommodate all
political parties. So be it.

Fifth, we want the committee to seriously consider
recommending introducing proportional representation. We
think the first past the post system that we have had for years
and years is becoming a political dinosaur in the world. More and
more countries are instituting proportional representation. It is
conceivable that in Canada one party that got 51 per cent of the
votes in every riding would be the only party in the House of
Commons under the first past the post system, so, in theory,
49 per cent of the Canadian population could be excluded from
the House of Commons the way elections are currently organized.

Finally, it seems that crossing the floor has become a more and
more popular occupation with politicians in the last five or ten
years. That is their right. We would never suggest that a person’s
conscience might not lead him or her to sit as an independent or
join another political party, but we are concerned about that
MP’s constituents. We would like some legislation requiring MPs
who cross the floor to stand in a by-election.

Deuxièmement, nous contestons particulièrement la
proposition qui interdit aux syndicats de verser des
contributions aux partis politiques. Nous souhaitons que cette
disposition soit modifiée.

Troisièmement, nous souhaitons que l’on réduise
considérablement les limites des dépenses des partis et des
candidats en campagne électorale et entre les élections.

Quatrièmement, nous souhaitons que l’on modifie la Loi sur la
télédiffusion de façon à garantir à tous les partis politiques un
accès égal au temps d’antenne gratuit et le paiement des messages
politiques et de la publicité, pour que les débats des chefs
regroupent les chefs de tous les partis politiques et pour que toutes
les réunions de candidats en campagne électorale réunissent
obligatoirement tous les candidats.

Je me suis présenté à quatre élections provinciales et à quatre
élections fédérales. À plusieurs reprises — trop souvent, je dois le
dire — j’ai dû appeler les organisateurs de réunions publiques
destinées à tous les candidats pour leur demander si je pouvais
m’y adresser à l’électorat. On me répondait: « Nous avons déjà
trop de candidats, monsieur Glass, et nous n’invitons que les
quatre principaux ». Je répondais: « Mais vous nous privez de la
possibilité de devenir l’un des cinq ou six principaux candidats.
Vous nous condamnez à rester marginaux ». Les autres
arguments que nous abordons ici sont du même ordre. J’obtiens
toujours de sincères excuses, mais bien sûr, un refus.

Il en va de même pour notre chef. Nous avons un programme
politique bien particulier. Personne ne nous a jamais accusés de
reprendre la plate-forme électorale du NPD, du Parti libéral ou du
Parti conservateur du Canada. Je n’hésite pas à le dire, notre chef
est aussi éloquent, sinon plus, que les autres chefs politiques
canadiens. Il mérite de pouvoir comparaître devant les médias lors
des débats des chefs. Peut-être faudrait-il prévoir trois ou quatre
débats des chefs pour donner la parole à tous les partis politiques
et pourquoi pas?

Cinquièmement, nous voulons que le comité envisage
sérieusement de recommander le passage à la représentation
proportionnelle. Nous considérons que le scrutin uninominal qui
nous est imposé depuis des années est devenu un dinosaure du
monde politique. Les autres pays sont de plus en plus nombreux à
instaurer la représentation proportionnelle. On pourrait
concevoir qu’au Canada, un parti qui obtient 51 p. 100 des
votes dans toutes les circonscriptions soit le seul parti présent à la
Chambre des communes en vertu du scrutin uninominal et donc,
théoriquement, 49 p. 100 de la population canadienne se
trouverait exclue de la Chambre des communes en vertu du
système électoral actuel.

Enfin, il semble que depuis cinq ou dix ans, le changement
d’allégeance soit devenu l’activité la plus courante de nos hommes
politiques. Évidemment, ils en ont le droit. Nous ne prétendons pas
qu’il soit inconcevable qu’un élu se sente contraint, en conscience,
de siéger en tant qu’indépendant ou d’adhérer à un autre parti
politique, mais nous nous préoccupons de l’avis des électeurs. Nous
voudrions que la loi oblige les députés qui changent d’allégeance à
se présenter à une élection complémentaire.
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The Chairman: I think you left out your sixth point. Do you
want to say something about introducing right-to-recall
legislation?

Mr. Glass: That call has been made by a number of other
political parties, and we join the chorus of those who think that
when the electorate of a particular riding believes that their MP
has deviated from the platform he or she stood on or has
disgraced him or herself, the electorate should have the right to
recall the MP. It would require a significant number of signatures.
It is not a frivolous thing to recall an elected member, but we
think that the electorate should have that right.

The Chairman: This is right-to-recall legislation. Do you mean
‘‘legislation’’ or ‘‘legislator’’?

Mr. Glass: The legislation.

The Chairman: A number of senators have questions arising
from your four excellent presentations.

Senator Zimmer: I found that with the major parties and their
presentations we could predict what they were going to say, but
the last three witnesses and now you four have expanded new
ideas and have been very refreshing. For that, thank you.

I will touch lightly on three or four main issues that have come
up in these discussions. First, the date of implementation for this
proposed act. The date of implementation could have a dramatic
effect on the donors, because if the provisions come into effect too
early after the bill is passed, donations may be made that will have
to be given back, and that would create an administrative
nightmare. I ask all of you: What do you think the proper date of
implementation would be?

Mr. Gray: I concur with the three party representatives
who spoke before us, who generally agreed that January 1 of
2008 would be much preferable to the date in the bill. If changes
are brought in, the burden falls on us to communicate those
changes to our supporters and members before they make
donations that might have to be returned. Communicating with
our members is an expensive business for us.

The Chairman: Some of the witnesses before you did not say
not January 1, 2008, but January 1, 2007, and one of the last
witnesses said 2008.

Mr. Gray: I would concur with January 2008. It imposes a
burden on us if we have to communicate this new structure to our
members and have to do a special mailing for it. It is a real burden
because we do not have any public funds at all.

Mr. Brisson: I guess you are asking me if I want to be shot now
or later. Make it as late as it can be. As Mr. Gray just said, we
have funding that is ongoing, and if some donations come in and
we come under an infringement of the new bill, it will be hell on us
because we do not have the same resources as the large parties. If
it does not come at all, it will be even better.

Le président: Je pense que vous avez renoncé à votre sixième
argument. Voulez-vous dire quelques mots d’une mesure
législative qui reconnaîtrait le droit de rappel?

M. Glass: C’est ce qu’ont demandé plusieurs autres partis
politiques et nous joignons notre voix à ceux qui considèrent que
lorsque l’électorat d’une circonscription estime que son député
s’est écarté de la plate-forme qu’il a défendue ou qu’il s’est
déshonoré, les électeurs devraient avoir le droit de rappeler ce
député. Il faudrait prévoir un nombre de signatures représentatif.
Il n’est pas anodin de rappeler un élu, mais nous pensons que
l’électorat devrait en avoir le droit.

Le président: Il s’agit de la législation sur le droit de rappel.
Voulez-vous parler de la « législation » ou « du législateur »?

M. Glass: De la législation.

Le président: Plusieurs sénateurs ont des questions à propos de
vos quatre excellents exposés.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Lors des exposés des principaux partis,
j’ai trouvé que ce que leurs représentants avaient à dire était assez
prévisible, mais les trois derniers témoins et vous-mêmes avez
exprimé des idées nouvelles et très rafraîchissantes, et je vous en
remercie.

J’aimerais aborder trois ou quatre des principaux thèmes qui
sont apparus dans les exposés. Tout d’abord, la date d’entrée en
vigueur du projet de loi. Elle risque d’avoir de lourdes
conséquences pour les auteurs de dons, car si les dispositions
entrent en vigueur immédiatement après l’adoption du projet de
loi, certains dons pourraient devoir être restitués, ce qui risque de
provoquer un véritable cauchemar administratif. Je vous pose
donc la question suivante: à votre avis, quand ces mesures
devraient-elles entrer en vigueur?

M. Gray: Je suis d’accord avec les trois représentants
de partis qui ont parlé avant nous, et qui estiment que
le 1er janvier 2008 serait une date bien préférable à celle qui
figure dans le projet de loi. Si des modifications sont adoptées,
c’est à nous qu’incombera le fardeau d’en informer nos partisans
et nos adhérents avant qu’ils ne fassent un don que nous serions
obligés de restituer. Les communications avec nos adhérents nous
coûtent très cher.

Le président: Certains des témoins qui vous ont précédés ont
parlé non pas du 1er janvier 2008, mais du 1er janvier 2007, et
seul l’un des derniers témoins a parlé de 2008.

M. Gray: Je suis en faveur du 1er janvier 2008. L’obligation de
communiquer et d’informer nos adhérents de cette nouvelle
structure et de constituer une liste d’expédition spécifique
constituerait pour nous un fardeau, car nous ne bénéficions pas
de fonds publics.

M. Brisson: Vous me demandez, je suppose, si je préfère qu’on
m’abatte tout de suite ou plus tard. Le plus tard sera le mieux.
Comme vient de le dire M. Gray, nous sollicitons actuellement
des fonds et si des dons nous parviennent alors que nous sommes
assujettis au nouveau projet de loi, ce sera catastrophique pour
nous, car nous n’avons pas les mêmes ressources que les grands
partis. Si le projet de loi n’est pas adopté, ce n’en sera que mieux.
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Ms. Dicarlo: Even though we are a small party, we do plan
ahead. These things come like a kick in your stomach when you
are planning to raise funds. We are now in abeyance in terms of
what we say. For example, in our party we ask people to
contribute regularly on a monthly basis, based on their financial
ability. We are now on hold, waiting to see what happens with
this proposed legislation.

As we have said, we do not agree with limits at all. Already,
from Bill C-24, the parties are reeling under their administrative
responsibilities — and not only the small parties. We hear in
discussions in the advisory committee that it is becoming harder
and harder, especially for the bigger parties, to find volunteer
workers who will take on the level of responsibility that is
demanded of a chief agent.

We could probably spend all day telling you stories about the
nightmares in dealing with Elections Canada for the tiniest things,
and we are talking about a small amount of money in our case.

We would prefer that the bill not be passed. If it is passed, we
would like the implementation to be delayed as long as possible.

Mr. Glass: I would find 2008 acceptable but not optimally
desirable. Our concern, as Ms. Dicarlo voiced it correctly, is that
most people in the electorate do not know that hearings like these
are going on and that Bill C-2 is being discussed. The media seem
to feel they have more important things to cover.

We support public hearings throughout the country as per the
Romanow commission. This is an important topic before the
Canadian electorate, and the electorate should be allowed the
opportunity to hear the issues and options. Ordinary Canadians
should have that opportunity, not just people who are in the
leadership of political parties. That would take some time to
organize and to advertise. For that reason and for the other
reasons that have been mentioned, we would not want to see
implementation any earlier than 2008.

Senator Zimmer: Other witnesses have raised the issue of
convention fees. Interestingly, one witness suggested that there
should be a cap. What are your thoughts on that?

Mr. Gray: I would like to remind the senator that until our last
convention, convention expenses were allowed as tax deductions,
as donations to the party. That has been denied us now, which has
seriously impaired participation of our membership in the
conventions. I would like to see that exemption restored.

Mr. Brisson: I fully agree with Mr. Gray. Again, the act is
constantly being changed to hamper or handicap smaller parties.
The convention is a chance for us to bring in new members. We
will go through it next year. Already some people are interested in
coming in, but when they find out that it is excluded as a tax

Mme Dicarlo: Même si nous sommes un petit parti, nous
devons planifier nos activités. De telles mesures font l’effet d’un
coup de pied dans l’estomac lorsqu’on planifie une levée de fonds.
Actuellement, notre message à nos adhérents est en suspens. Dans
notre parti, nous demandons aux gens de faire régulièrement une
contribution mensuelle en fonction de leur situation financière.
Nous avons dû interrompre ce message dans l’attente de ce qu’il
va advenir de ce projet de loi.

Comme nous l’avons dit, nous n’acceptons pas ces limitations.
En vertu du projet de loi C-24, les partis sont déjà contraints de
revenir sur leurs responsabilités administratives et cela ne
concerne pas uniquement les petits partis. Au comité
consultatif, on entend dire qu’il est de plus en plus difficile, en
particulier pour les grands partis, de trouver des bénévoles prêts à
assumer les responsabilités exigées d’un agent principal.

Nous n’aurions pas assez de la journée pour vous raconter les
cauchemars que représentent nos rapports avec Élections Canada
sur les questions les plus insignifiantes, et dans notre cas, il n’est
question que d’un montant très modeste.

Nous préférerions que ce projet de loi ne soit pas adopté. S’il
l’est, nous aimerions qu’il entre en vigueur le plus tard possible.

M. Glass: La date de 2008 me semble acceptable, mais elle
n’est pas idéale. Ce que nous craignons, comme l’a bien dit
Mme Dicarlo, c’est que la plupart des électeurs ne sachent pas que
ces audiences se tiennent actuellement sur le projet de loi C-2. Les
médias semblent considérer qu’ils ont des sujets plus importants à
traiter.

Nous souhaitons que l’on tienne des audiences publiques dans
l’ensemble du pays comme l’a fait la Commission Romanow. Il
s’agit là d’un sujet important pour l’électorat canadien, et les
électeurs devraient pouvoir se renseigner sur les questions
soulevées et les différentes options proposées. Cette possibilité
devrait être offerte aux simples citoyens, et non pas uniquement
aux dirigeants des partis politiques. Il faudrait prendre le temps
d’organiser ces audiences et de les annoncer. Pour cette raison et
pour les autres motifs que nous avons évoqués, nous ne
souhaitons pas que ces mesures entrent en vigueur avant 2008.

Le sénateur Zimmer: D’autres témoins ont soulevé la question
des frais d’inscription à un congrès politique. Une proposition
intéressante faite par un témoin était d’établir une limite. Qu’en
pensez-vous?

M. Gray: J’aimerais rappeler au sénateur que jusqu’à notre
dernier congrès, les frais d’inscription à un congrès étaient
autorisés en tant que déductions d’impôt, en tant que dons
versés au parti. Cela nous est désormais refusé et a sérieusement
nui à la participation de nos membres au congrès. J’aimerais que
cette exemption soit rétablie.

M. Brisson: Je suis tout à fait d’accord avec M. Gray. Une fois
de plus, on modifie constamment la loi pour entraver ou
handicaper les petits partis. Pour nous, le congrès est l’occasion
de recruter de nouveaux membres. Nous aurons un congrès
l’année prochaine. Déjà certaines personnes ont manifesté leur
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donation, we will lose them. The legislation is constantly being
construed to put down or prevent the smaller parties from
flourishing.

Ms. Dicarlo:We address that issue in our brief. It illustrates the
problem we raised regarding regulating elections versus regulating
political parties.

No one could convince me that funds raised at a convention
where people get together to deliberate policy have anything to do
with elections or politicians being held accountable and not being
viewed as being corrupt. A political party should be able to have
its convention, and if it wants to charge $10,000 it should be able
to do so. Somehow the question of convention fees has become
linked to the issue of whether elections are free and fair. What
does one have to do with the other?

When Mr. Baird spilled his guts, so to speak, the Chief
Electoral Officer, Mr. Kingsley, said that the law is very clear and
immediately asked for the books to be handed over. That alarmed
us because it is more of the same, more internal regulation of
political parties.

Mr. Kingsley said the law is very clear, meaning the
Conservatives should have reported those fees as contributions,
which they did not. However, during the discussions in
Parliament, it was said that those fees are not contributions.
That a law could be so open to interpretation is in itself a concern
to us; anyone could be turned into a criminal at any moment
based on an interpretation of the law.

We frequently encounter that problem with Elections Canada
regarding the forms that have to be filled out for returns and so
on. You think you have the right method set up, and then you
find out that you do not.

Mr. Kingsley’s desire to expand his policing powers was also a
concern for us. He used the occasion of the convention fees to say,
‘‘This proves my point that I should be able to have search and
seizure power.’’ That reeks of moving in the direction of a police
state, without even thinking. Countries do not wake up one day
and say, ‘‘Let us become a police state.’’ Rather, laws are passed
without rhyme or reason and, all of a sudden, we find ourselves in
a quagmire where we cannot turn right or left without being
suspected a criminal.

No one in the Conservative Party had any intention of
breaking any law when he or she registered to go to a convention,
and I do not think the Conservatives who collected those fees did
either, but now it is being debated in that way, as though they are
potential criminals. We see the accountability bill moving us more
in that direction.

intérêt à y participer, mais lorsqu’elles apprendront que les frais
d’inscription sont exclus en tant que dons exemptés d’impôt, nous
les perdrons. On interprète constamment la loi de façon à
réprimer l’essor des petits partis.

Mme Dicarlo: Nous avons abordé cet aspect dans notre
mémoire. Cela traduit le problème que nous avons soulevé
concernant la réglementation des élections par rapport à la
réglementation des partis politiques.

Personne n’arrivera à me convaincre que des fonds recueillis à
l’occasion d’un congrès où des gens se réunissent pour délibérer de
politique ont quoi que ce soit à voir avec des élections ou avec le
fait de tenir les politiciens responsables et de ne pas les considérer
comme des gens corrompus. Un parti politique devrait pouvoir
tenir son congrès, et s’il veut imposer des frais de 10 000 $, il
devrait pouvoir le faire. D’une certaine façon, on s’est mis à
établir un lien entre la question des frais d’inscription à un
congrès et la tenue d’élections libres et justes. Qu’est-ce que ces
deux questions ont à voir l’une avec l’autre?

Lorsque M. Baird s’est mis à table, si on peut dire, le directeur
général des élections, M. Kingsley, a indiqué que la loi est très
claire et a immédiatement demandé qu’on lui remette les livres.
Cela nous a beaucoup inquiétés parce que c’est un autre cas de
réglementation interne accrue des partis politiques.

M. Kingsley a indiqué que la loi est très claire, ce qui signifie
que les conservateurs auraient dû rapporter ces frais en tant que
contributions, ce qu’ils n’ont pas fait. Cependant, au cours des
délibérations qui ont eu lieu au Parlement, on a indiqué que ces
frais ne constituent pas des contributions. Le fait qu’une loi puisse
se prêter à ce point à l’interprétation est en soi une source de
préoccupation pour nous. N’importe qui peut devenir un criminel
n’importe quand en fonction de la façon dont on interprète la loi.

C’est un problème auquel nous nous heurtons souvent avec
Élections Canada en ce qui concerne les formulaires à remplir
pour les déclarations et ainsi de suite. On pense avoir adopté la
bonne méthode puis on constate que ce n’est pas le cas.

Ce qui nous inquiète également, c’est le souhait de M. Kingsley
d’élargir ses pouvoirs d’application de la loi. Il a profité de la
question des frais d’inscription à un congrès pour dire que cela
appuyait son argument selon lequel il devrait détenir des pouvoirs
de perquisition et de saisie. C’est ainsi qu’on s’achemine vers un
État policier, sans même y réfléchir. Les pays ne décident pas du
jour au lendemain de devenir des États policiers. C’est plutôt le
résultat de l’adoption de lois à tort et à travers qui fait en sorte
que tout à coup nous nous trouvons dans une situation
inextricable dans laquelle il est impossible de faire quoi que ce
soit sans être soupçonné d’être un criminel.

Aucun membre du Parti conservateur n’a la moindre intention
d’enfreindre la loi lorsqu’il s’inscrit à un congrès, pas plus, à mon
avis, que les conservateurs qui ont recueilli ces frais, mais on débat
aujourd’hui de cette question comme s’ils étaient des criminels en
puissance. Nous considérons que c’est une tendance de plus en
plus marquée que présente le projet de loi sur la responsabilité.
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Mr. Glass: I guess I will be the odd person out here. We call on
the third point of our seven-point recommendation for spending
limits for parties and candidates during and between elections.
That would include limits on conventions. Large parties, almost
by definition, have more wherewithal for conventions and are
more likely, therefore, to attract the mainstream media. We
believe that conventions and elections are not a matter of how
much largesse you can display on television to the CBC or to
other reporters, so we would have proposed limits on convention
spending.

Senator Zimmer: Mr. Chairman, I have a question about
Ms. Dicarlo’s comment on distrust and transparency, but I will
wait for the second round.

Senator Stratton: I would like to go back to the issue of the
smaller parties; fundamentally that is a problem. Do any of you
have any idea how many small parties there are?

Ms. Dicarlo: There are 12 registered political parties in total.

Senator Stratton: Beyond that, who knows, in an informal
way?

Ms. Dicarlo: Three have been accepted for registration, and
many political organizations in Canada are striving to be political
parties but do not necessarily participate in elections. Those
would not come under the registration system.

Senator Stratton: As I understand it, the Green Party is
challenging, in court, the floor of 2 per cent?

Ms. Dicarlo: Actually, we are the only small party that is not
participating in that challenge. We withdrew from it, but everyone
else is participating.

Senator Stratton: I was in the Democratic Republic of the
Congo in July for their first election in over 40 years. There
were 33 presidential candidates. In one riding, there were
250 candidates for the House of Representatives. Mr. Glass,
you say that every political party should be on the stage at every
all-candidates meeting, but you see what can evolve. You can see
the potential for the democratic process in the Democratic
Republic of the Congo. We Canadian observers concluded that it
was an open and free vote. They say that in future elections the
number of presidential candidates will drop and the number of
parties will drop and consolidate in order to achieve power.

Nevertheless, there were 250 candidates, some independent,
some representing parties. My concern is this: If the 2 per cent
threshold is removed, what will happen to the number of political
parties? Also, how to you deal with the demand of each of those
candidates to be in every debate on television and on the stage at
every all-candidates meeting? You can see what is likely to
transpire. I am presenting the other side of the argument for you
to consider.

M. Glass: Je suppose que je vais me démarquer. En ce qui
concerne le troisième point de notre recommandation en sept
points, nous demandons des limites de dépenses pour les partis et
les candidats au cours des élections et entre les élections. Cela
inclurait des limites en ce qui concerne les frais d’inscription à des
congrès. Les grands partis, presque par définition, disposent de
plus de ressources pour la tenue de congrès et sont donc plus
susceptibles d’attirer les médias grand public. Nous considérons
que les congrès et les élections ne consistent pas à présenter à la
télévision de Radio-Canada ou à d’autres journalistes les largesses
dont on dispose, c’est pourquoi nous aurions proposé des limites
aux dépenses relatives à un congrès.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur le président, j’ai une question à
propos du commentaire fait par Mme Dicarlo à propos de la
méfiance et de la transparence, mais j’attendrai le deuxième tour.

Le sénateur Stratton: J’aimerais revenir à la question des petits
partis; fondamentalement il s’agit d’un problème. Avez-vous une
idée du nombre de petits partis?

Mme Dicarlo: Il existe en tout 12 partis politiques enregistrés.

Le sénateur Stratton: Y en a-t-il d’autres?

Mme Dicarlo: Il y en a trois dont la demande d’enregistrement
a été approuvée et de nombreuses organisations politiques au
Canada s’efforcent de devenir des partis politiques mais ne
participent pas forcément aux élections. Ces organisations ne
seraient pas visées par le système d’enregistrement.

Le sénateur Stratton: D’après ce que je crois comprendre, le
Parti Vert est en train de contester devant les tribunaux le seuil de
2 p. 100?

Mme Dicarlo: En fait, nous sommes le seul petit parti qui ne
participe pas à cette contestation. Nous nous sommes retirés, mais
tous les autres y participent.

Le sénateur Stratton: J’étais à la République démocratique du
Congo en juillet pour leurs premières élections en plus de 40 ans.
Il y avait 33 candidats à la présidence. Dans une circonscription,
il y avait 250 candidats pour la Chambre des représentants.
Monsieur Glass, vous dites que chaque parti politique devrait être
présent à chaque réunion générale des candidats, mais vous savez
ce qui peut en résulter. Vous pouvez constater les possibilités
qu’offre le processus démocratique à la République démocratique
du Congo. Les observateurs canadiens dont nous faisions partie
en ont conclu qu’il s’agissait d’un vote libre et ouvert. On dit que
lors d’élections futures, le nombre de candidats à la présidence
diminuera de même que le nombre de partis qui fusionneront
pour obtenir le pouvoir.

Quoi qu’il en soit, il y avait 250 candidats, certains
indépendants, certains représentant des partis. Ma préoccupation
est la suivante: Si on supprime le seuil de 2 p. 100, qu’arrivera-t-il
au nombre de partis politiques? Par ailleurs, comment compose-t-
on avec les exigences de chaque candidat qui veut participer à tous
les débats télévisés et être présent à toutes les réunions générales de
candidats? Vous pouvez devinez ce qui se passera. Je vous soumets
donc l’argument opposé.
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Mr. Gray: Senator Stratton, I agree with you that that number
of candidates would indeed be intimidating. However, I would
refer you to the March 2004 report of the Law Commission of
Canada in which they recommended mixed-member proportional
representation for Canada. In that recommendation, they dealt
with what had been called the ‘‘pizza parliament.’’ They noted
that, while those who oppose proportional representation often
point to places like Israel or Italy as almost unworkably complex,
examinations by the Law Commission of Canada and other
scholars have found that the factors at work were more cultural
than political.

As you yourself said, for 40 years they have not had democratic
elections there; suddenly elections are introduced and, without the
experience of coalescing, people are rushing to the polls. The
2 per cent threshold, as it came to us in Bill C-24, does nothing to
diminish that kind of rush to the polls or rush to stand on the
hustings. All it does is impose a barrier that prevents the smaller
parties from participating.

I would like to disagree with Mr. Glass, who called for a killing
of the 2 per cent threshold. The problem is not the 2 per cent
threshold. The problem is the focus on funding the parties out of
the public purse rather than funding the access of the electorate to
adequate information about the options available to them.

The registration process we have has curtailed the number of
parties without that threshold being there. We have had a dozen
to 15 registered political parties for about the past five years.
Some come, some go. We lost the Natural Law Party and gained
the Animal Activist Party. The number has stabilized. That is our
political culture. There is a rough spectrum of about 12 to
15 major areas of political opinion that seek to be articulated.

The proportional representation recommended by the Law
Commission of Canada, which said we should have
mixed-member proportional representation like what is used in
Scotland or Germany, would resolve that because the parties
would gain representation based on public support, and that would
encourage coalitions within Parliament, as it does in almost every
other parliament in the world. There are only three nations with a
population over 8 million in the world that have not moved into
some form of proportional representation, and we are one of them.

Mr. Glass: First, I will agree with Mr. Gray. In the abstract, the
spectre of 250 candidates is a daunting one, indeed.

Senator Stratton: There would be pages to the ballot. One
person took over an hour to figure out whom to vote for. Other
people had similar difficulty. It was a staggering number of
candidates.

M. Gray: Sénateur Stratton, je suis d’accord avec vous
lorsque vous dites que le nombre de candidats serait
effectivement intimidant. Cependant, je vous renvoie au rapport
de mars 2004 de la Commission du droit du Canada dans laquelle
elle recommande une représentation proportionnelle mixte pour le
Canada. Dans cette recommandation, elle traite de ce qu’on a
appelé le « Parlement pizza ». La Commission a fait remarquer
que même si ceux qui s’opposent à la représentation
proportionnelle donnent souvent l’exemple de pays comme
Israël ou l’Italie où la situation est si complexe qu’elle en est
pratiquement ingérable, les examens de la part de la Commission
du droit du Canada et d’autres spécialistes ont constaté que les
facteurs en jeu étaient davantage culturels que politiques.

Comme vous l’avez dit vous-même, pendant 40 ans il n’y a pas
eu d’action démocratique là-bas; soudainement, on déclenche des
élections et, sans l’expérience de la coalition, les candidats se
précipitent. Le seuil de 2 p. 100, tel qu’il nous a été présenté dans
le projet de loi C-24, ne restreint aucunement ce type de
comportement. Il ne fait qu’imposer un obstacle qui empêche la
participation des petits partis.

Je ne suis pas d’accord avec M. Glass lorsqu’il réclame la
suppression du seuil de 2 p. 100. Le problème, ce n’est pas le seuil
de 2 p. 100. Le problème, c’est l’accent que l’on met sur le
financement des partis à même les fonds publics plutôt que le
financement de l’accès, par l’électorat, à des renseignements
adéquats sur les options qui s’offrent à lui.

Le processus d’enregistrement en vigueur a réduit le nombre de
partis sans l’existence d’un seuil. Depuis les cinq dernières années
environ, nous avons 12 à 15 partis politiques enregistrés. De
nouveaux partis sont créés, d’autres disparaissent. Nous avons
perdu le Parti de la loi naturelle et assisté à la création du Animal
Activist Party. Leur nombre s’est stabilisé. Cela correspond à
notre culture politique. Il existe environ 12 à 15 grands secteurs
d’opinion politique qui cherchent à s’exprimer.

La représentation proportionnelle recommandée par la
Commission du droit du Canada, qui indiquait que nous
devrions avoir une représentation proportionnelle mixte comme
celle qui existe en Écosse et en Allemagne, réglerait en partie ces
problèmes parce que les partis obtiendraient une représentation
en fonction de l’appui public, ce qui encouragerait les coalitions
au sein du Parlement, comme c’est le cas dans pratiquement tous
les autres parlements du monde. Il n’y a que trois pays au monde
ayant une population de plus de huit millions d’habitants qui
n’ont pas adopté une forme quelconque de représentation
proportionnelle, et nous sommes l’un d’eux.

M. Glass: Tout d’abord, je tiens à dire que je suis d’accord avec
M. Gray. Dans l’abstrait, la perspective d’avoir 250 candidats est
effectivement intimidante.

Le sénateur Stratton: Le bulletin de vote comporterait de
nombreuses pages. Il faudrait plus d’une heure pour qu’une
personne décide pour qui voter. D’autres personnes ont éprouvé
des difficultés semblables. Il s’agissait d’un nombre stupéfiant de
candidats.
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Mr. Glass: Mr. Gray’s point is the important one here. That
has never been part of Canadian culture. Our culture is to have
somewhere between 10 and 15 political parties. There is no
evidence of party inflation. If there were, I might share your
concern.

Parties come and go. The Communist Party of Canada has
been around since 1921. We will be around; we are not dropping
out. Other parties, like the Marijuana Party and the Natural Law
Party, come and go. We have a manageable number.

I run in Ottawa Centre usually, which often has more candidates
than other ridings— 12, 13 or 14 candidates. You can count on my
buddy John Turmel, if that name means anything, to be there. I
asked to be on the platform and they said, ‘‘If we give every
candidate five minutes to say something and then there are
questions, we will be here until tomorrow morning.’’

I suggested that we put the names of all the candidates in a hat
and draw out six for each evening. That was vetoed. The
compromise suggestion was to have all the main parties one night,
when 98 per cent of the electorate would come out, and then my
party, the Marijuana Party and the Rhinoceros Party the second
night. I said that was not fair.

The same applies to the leaders’ debate. For two nights of
debate the leaders’ names are put in a hat, six are drawn out each
night and they debate two nights, one in English and one in
French. That takes account of the reality of the Canadian culture
and accommodates small parties, giving them a level playing field
with the major parties.

One cannot say that 250 parties could not happen in Canada.
When that becomes imminent, it seems to me that electoral
reform of one sort or another would be in order, but to be honest
I do not see that in the coming decades.

Mr. Gray: I would like to clarify my remark when I said that
I disagreed with Mr. Glass about killing the 2 per cent threshold.
It is not that I disagree with killing the 2 per cent threshold.
I disagree with his statement that that in itself would level
the playing field. It would not. The idea of awarding about
$1.80 per year per vote gained in the last election is retrospective.
It is a formula for preserving the status quo. Certainly, we should
abolish the 2 per cent threshold, but that in itself will not level the
playing field.

Senator Stratton: I am in favour of proportional
representation, although perhaps not as you describe it. I like
the Australian system.

Senator Milne: As I did with the last witnesses, I will try to
come back to the specifics of the bill in front of us. We have
explored the question of the coming into force date of the
legislation, once the bill is passed, which will happen. What about

M. Glass: L’argument présenté par M. Gray est important.
Cela n’a jamais fait partie de la culture canadienne. Notre culture
consiste à avoir environ 10 à 15 partis politiques. Il n’y a aucune
preuve selon laquelle le nombre de partis augmente de façon
démesurée. Si c’était le cas, je partagerais peut-être votre
préoccupation.

Les partis vont et viennent. Le Parti communiste du Canada
existe depuis 1920 environ. Nous continuerons d’exister; nous ne
disparaîtrons pas. D’autres partis, comme le Parti marijuana et le
Parti de la loi naturelle vont et viennent. Le nombre de partis est
gérable.

Habituellement, je suis candidat dans Ottawa-Centre,
qui compte plus de candidats que d’autres circonscriptions —
12, 13 ou 14 candidats. Vous pouvez compter sur la présence de
mon copain John Turmel, si ce nom vous dit quelque chose. J’ai
demandé à prendre la parole dans le cadre de la campagne
électorale et on m’a répondu, « Si nous accordons à chaque
candidat cinq minutes pour s’exprimer et qu’il y a des questions,
nous serons ici jusqu’à demain matin ».

J’ai proposé que nous mettions les noms de tous les candidats
dans un chapeau et que nous en tirions six chaque soir. Cette
proposition a été rejetée. Le compromis qui a été proposé
consistait à réunir tous les principaux partis un soir, lorsque
98 p. 100 de l’électorat serait présent, puis mon parti, le Parti
marijuana et le Parti rhinocéros le deuxième soir. J’ai dit que
c’était injuste.

La même chose vaut pour le débat des chefs. Pendant deux
soirs de débat, on met les noms des chefs dans un chapeau, on en
tire six chaque soir et ils débattent deux soirs, un soir en anglais et
un soir en français. Cela tient compte de la réalité de la culture
canadienne et satisfait les petits partis en leur offrant des
conditions égales à celles dont bénéficient les principaux partis.

On ne peut pas dire qu’il est impossible que 250 partis existent
au Canada. Lorsque la situation deviendra imminente, il me
semble qu’il serait temps de procéder à une réforme électorale
quelconque, mais honnêtement, je ne crois pas que cela se
produira dans les décennies à venir.

M. Gray: Lorsque j’ai dit que je n’étais pas d’accord avec
M. Glass qui voulait supprimer le seuil de 2 p. 100, j’aimerais
préciser ce que je voulais dire. Ce n’est pas que je ne suis pas
d’accord avec l’élimination du seuil de 2 p. 100. Je ne suis pas
d’accord avec la déclaration qu’il a faite selon laquelle cette
mesure en soi permettrait d’égaliser les règles du jeu. L’idée
d’accorder environ 1,80 $ par année par vote obtenu au cours des
dernières élections est rétrospective. C’est une formule pour
préserver le statu quo. Bien sûr, nous devrions abolir le seuil de
2 p. 100 mais cela en soi n’égalisera pas les règles du jeu.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je suis favorable à la représentation
proportionnelle mais pas de la façon dont vous la décrivez. Je
préfère le système australien.

Le sénateur Milne: Comme je l’ai fait dans le cas des derniers
témoins, j’aimerais revenir aux particularités du projet de loi dont
nous sommes saisis. Nous nous sommes penchés sur la
question de la date d’entrée en vigueur de la loi, une fois que le
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the specifics of reducing the individual contributions to your
party from $5,000 to $1,000? What sort of impact will that have
on you?

Mr. Gray: As I have said, we have always had a $5,000 limit.
Further reducing the limit at the same time as the parties in the
House have voted themselves $30 million per year of taxpayers’
money to fund their re-election campaigns is manifestly unjust. I
would say leave the $5,000 limit where it is.

Mr. Brisson: As I said in my opening remarks, there is not a
level playing field among the parties because they fund themselves
out of taxpayers’ money. Make it equal for everyone. Take away
the funding that is given to all political parties that have reached a
certain threshold. Make us all equal. Again, allow us to go and get
the money from the people who wish to support the party. If you
put in place restriction after restriction, eventually you will have
only four parties to play with. Political parties exist to allow
people to express their points of view. If only 50 people in this
country want to support a particular political party, they must
have a chance to express themselves. The concepts they promote
might give one of the major parties a good idea.

Politics is not for the politicians but for the people. That was
said in the Figueroa decision. I made the same comment in 1999 to
a committee. If we tell people that we will restrict how they can
support a party, then politics is for politicians again.

Any financial restriction that becomes a hardship on a party
goes against that judge’s comment. If it is at $5,000 now, leave it
there. At some point political parties will be forced to become
creative and use trickery to raise funds, but that is when it comes
down to corruption. If you wound an animal and back it up
against a wall it will defend itself. Many people have a political
point of view they will advance. If you start restricting the
advancement of political points of view, then that is what you will
cause.

Senator Milne: Ms. Dicarlo, you said you do not agree with
any restrictions whatsoever on fundraising; is that right?

Ms. Dicarlo: No, we do not, on principle. Regarding how the
proposed restriction would affect us, the base of our support
comes from small contributors; therefore we would not be
seriously affected. However, it would affect various projects
that we would like to launch.

Mr. Glass: We oppose the restriction from $5,000 to $1,000. If
that happens in conjunction with eliminating contributions from
corporations and trade unions, we feel that it further tilts the
playing field in favour of those who are already represented in the

projet de loi sera adopté, ce qui se fera. Qu’en est-il de la
réduction des contributions individuelles à votre parti qui
passeraient de 5 000 $ à 1 000 $? Quelles en seront les
conséquences pour votre parti?

M. Gray: Comme je l’ai dit, nous avons toujours eu une limite
de 5 000 $. Réduire davantage la limite au moment même où les
partis à la Chambre se sont votés un budget de 30 millions de
dollars par année provenant de l’argent du contribuable pour
financer leur campagne de réélection est une mesure de toute
évidence injuste. Je dirais simplement que l’on maintienne la
limite de 5 000 $.

M. Brisson: Comme je l’ai dit dans ma déclaration
préliminaire, les règles du jeu ne sont pas égales pour les partis
parce qu’ils se financent eux-mêmes à même l’argent du
contribuable. Faisons en sorte que les règles soient égales
pour tous. Éliminez le financement accordé à tous les partis
politiques qui atteignent un certain seuil. Faites en sorte que nous
soyons tous sur le même pied d’égalité. Comme je l’ai déjà dit,
permettez-nous de recueillir des fonds de ceux qui souhaitent
appuyer le parti. Si vous continuez à imposer restrictions après
restrictions, vous finirez par n’avoir plus que quatre partis. Les
partis politiques existent pour permettre à la population
d’exprimer son point de vue. Si seulement 50 personnes au pays
veulent appuyer un parti politique en particulier, il faut qu’ils
aient la possibilité de s’exprimer. Les notions dont ils font la
promotion pourraient donner de bonnes idées à l’un des
principaux partis.

La politique n’est pas réservée aux politiciens mais appartient à
la population. C’est ce qu’a déclaré l’arrêt Figueroa. J’ai fait la
même observation devant un comité en 1999. Si nous disons à la
population que nous restreindrons la façon dont elle peut appuyer
un parti, alors la politique est à nouveau réservée aux politiciens.

Toute restriction financière qui cause du tort à un parti va à
l’encontre de cette déclaration du juge. Si la limite en vigueur est
de 5 000 $, laissons-la telle quelle. À un certain moment, les partis
politiques seront obligés de faire preuve de créativité et de recourir
à la ruse pour recueillir des fonds, mais c’est là où cela devient de
la corruption. Si vous blessez un animal et l’acculez contre un
mur, il se défendra. La plupart des gens ont une opinion politique
qu’ils voudront promouvoir. Si vous commencez à restreindre
l’expression d’opinions politiques, c’est le résultat que vous
obtiendrez.

Le sénateur Milne: Madame Dicarlo, vous avez dit que vous
étiez contre toute restriction quelle qu’elle soit en matière de
collecte de fonds; est-ce exact?

Mme Dicarlo: Nous nous y opposons en principe. En ce qui
concerne la façon dont la restriction proposée nous toucherait,
notre soutien provient essentiellement de petits donateurs; par
conséquent cette restriction n’aurait pas pour nous de graves
conséquences. Cependant, elle nuirait à divers projets que nous
avons l’intention de mettre sur pied.

M. Glass: Nous nous opposons à la restriction qui passerait de
5 000 $ à 1 000 $. Si cela se produit parallèlement à l’élimination
des contributions de la part des sociétés et des syndicats, nous
considérons que cela fait pencher encore davantage la balance en
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House of Commons. We do support some limit on individual
contributions but we do not think it is beneficial to the process
and to the small parties in particular to reduce the limit from
$5,000 to $1,000.

Senator Milne: When my husband was a candidate several
times for the House of Commons, I believe there were
13 candidates. They all got up on the election stage, including
the Marxist-Leninists. It was always a woman running for them.
The transcendental meditation party was there and so was the
Rhinoceros Party. It was quite a free-for-all on the stage.

Senator Joyal: If Canadian citizens have an opportunity to
listen to the testimony we have heard this afternoon from the
so-called small parties they will be very much impressed by the
level of arguments and the demonstration you put forward this
afternoon, as well as what you set out in your briefs. It illustrates
the dynamics of public life in Canada. If any candidate were
allowed to come forward in an election and debate freely with
other leaders of the so-called national parties, public debate
would be enriched. I mention that because I believe all of us
around the table, regardless of our personal preference, would
share that comment.

I want to come back to the issue of the democratic rights that
all of you call upon directly or indirectly in your presentations. I
understand that the Canadian Action Party, the Christian
Heritage Party, the Communist Party, the Green Party, the
Marijuana Party from whom we did not hear, along with the
Marxist-Leninist Party and others joined in challenging
Bill C-24 with regard to the threshold. As Senator Milne
mentioned, the Marxist-Leninist Party has withdrawn from that
challenge as of February 18, 2006.

Based on the point of view presented this afternoon by
Mr. Stephen Best of the animal rights party, would you conclude
that this reduction and the additional constraints that are
included in Bill C-2 would hurt your freedom to exercise your
democratic rights as a party? Do you feel that you would have a
basis upon which to challenge before a court of law the impact of
the bill on your activities?

Of course, I am looking at Mr. Glass first because
Mr. Figueroa, as the leader of the Communist Party, is such an
achiever of establishing the rights of the small parties that I do not
want to get to your commitment. Is it your conclusion that it
would hurt the small parties as much or the comparable level than
Bill C-4 that you feel it would open a challenge of the bill in
courts?

Mr. Glass: Indeed we would. It would be an example for us of a
cure worse than the disease. The constraints would be so onerous
than in our opinion we would actually be worse off than before.
We obviously had trouble with the legislation in the past and that
is why we brought our court challenge, but the reduction from

faveur de ceux qui sont déjà représentés à la Chambre des
communes. Nous appuyons effectivement l’établissement d’une
certaine limite en ce qui concerne les contributions individuelles,
mais nous ne croyons pas que le fait de faire passer cette limite de
5 000 $ à 1 000 $ soit avantageux pour le processus et pour les
petits partis en particulier.

Le sénateur Milne: Lorsque mon mari s’était porté candidat
plusieurs fois à un siège à la Chambre des communes, je crois
qu’il y avait 13 candidats. Ils étaient tous réunis pour la
présentation de leur programme électoral, y compris le Parti
Marxiste-Léniniste. C’était à chaque fois une femme qui
représentait ce parti. Il y avait le Parti de la méditation
transcendantale et aussi le Parti rhinocéros. C’était vraiment la
mêlée générale.

Le sénateur Joyal: Si les citoyens canadiens ont l’occasion
d’entendre les témoignages que nous avons entendus cet
après-midi de la part des petits partis comme on les appelle, ils
seront très impressionnés par les arguments que vous avez
présentés cet après-midi de même que par la teneur de vos
mémoires. Cela reflète la dynamique de la vie publique au
Canada. Si tous les candidats étaient autorisés au cours d’une
élection à débattre librement avec d’autres chefs des soi-disant
partis nationaux, cela permettrait d’enrichir le débat public. Je le
mentionne parce que je crois que tous ceux d’entre nous assis
autour de la table, indépendamment de notre préférence
personnelle, seraient du même avis.

Je tiens à revenir à la question des droits démocratiques que
vous avez tous abordés directement ou indirectement dans vos
présentations. Je crois comprendre que le Parti de l’action
canadienne, le Parti de l’Héritage Chrétien du Canada, le Parti
communiste, le Parti Vert, le Parti Marijuana que nous n’avons
pas entendu, de même que le Parti Marxiste-Léniniste et d’autres
partis ont uni leurs efforts pour contester la question du seuil
figurant dans le projet de loi C-24. Comme le sénateur Milne a
mentionné, le Parti Marxiste-Léniniste s’est retiré de cette
contestation dès le 18 février 2006.

Le point de vue exprimé ici cet après-midi par M. Stephen
Best, du parti de la défense des animaux, vous amène-t-il à
conclure que cette réduction et les contraintes supplémentaires
prévues dans le projet de loi C-2 feraient en sorte que votre parti
serait moins libre d’exercer ses droits démocratiques? Pensez-vous
que vous auriez des raisons de contester devant les tribunaux les
répercussions du projet de loi sur vos activités?

Je m’adresse, bien sûr, à M. Glass en premier, puisque
M. Figueroa, en sa qualité de chef du Parti communiste, a
tellement bien réussi à établir les droits des petits partis que nous
avons déjà une bonne idée de son engagement. D’après vous, le
projet de loi C-2 ferait-il autant de tort aux petits partis que le
projet de loi C-4, si bien que vous auriez matière à le contester
devant les tribunaux?

M. Glass: Certainement. C’est pour nous un cas où le remède
proposé est pire que la maladie. Les contraintes seraient tellement
onéreuses à notre avis que notre situation serait encore pire
qu’avant. Les dispositions législatives déjà prévues étaient
inacceptables à notre avis, et c’est pourquoi nous les avions
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$5,000 to $1,000, the elimination of funding by trade unions and
so on, we think would be an even greater burden and hardship on
small parties. Some of them — not ours but some of them —
might actually disappear because of this proposed legislation, so
we consider it to be a retrogressive step and would challenge it.

Senator Joyal: I ask the same question of Mr. Gray, because
you still appear, as I understand, in the challenge of Bill C-4.

Mr. Gray: We participated in that challenge, or at least in
funding that challenge. However, the kinds of restrictions being
brought in on fundraising will impair our capacity to go to court
if we need to. Let me give you an example. We have one candidate
in British Columbia, who, when he began to organize an electoral
district association and began enunciating our party policies, was
punished by his employer with suspension without pay for a
month.

I went to Elections Canada and asked Mr. Kingsley if would
please launch a Charter challenge, a suit against that employer,
because I feel if any employer anywhere in the country can punish
a citizen for exercising their section 3 Charter rights none of us
has those rights. However, Mr. Kingsley said he is not
authorized to act under the Charter; he is only authorized to
act under the Elections Act. Therefore it falls to us to try and
defend our candidate’s right to exercise his Charter 3 liberties, but
we have to raise funds to go to court for that. It will probably cost
$250,000. Every cent that we raise will be raised under the
limitations that are about to be imposed and will be taken away
from our participation in future campaigns.

We are being strangled by the legislation and inhibited from
protecting citizens’ Charter rights because we are not funded to
do a Charter challenge. To be funded to do a Charter challenge
you have to be trying to destroy the moral fibre of the nation.
Those are the only people who get funded. This limitation is very
severe. We want to defend every Canadian’s section 3 Charter
rights, and we cannot because we are inhibited by the regulations
in this act.

Ms. Dicarlo: I would like to make a point but not in terms of
how it affects us. That is one of the maladies in our society that
there is too much of ‘‘what is in it for me, how does it affect me.’’ I
am talking about the new limits, and even when Bill C-24 was
introduced, it immediately made me think of the fact that when
the Reform Party came into being, and probably if we look at the
history of all the parties, large sums of money were solicited. In
the case of the Reform Party the oil industry in Alberta was one

contestées devant les tribunaux, mais les nouvelles dispositions
visant à ramener le plafond de 5 000 $ à 1 000 $, à interdire les
contributions de la part des syndicats, et cetera, augmenteraient
encore davantage le fardeau et les difficultés pour les petits partis.
Certains d’entre eux — pas le nôtre, mais certains d’entre
eux — pourraient en fait disparaître en raison des nouvelles
dispositions. Nous considérons donc qu’il s’agit d’une mesure
rétrograde, et nous la contesterions.

Le sénateur Joyal: Je pose la même question à M. Gray,
puisque vous figurez toujours au nombre des partis, si je ne
m’abuse, à la contestation du projet de loi C-4.

M. Gray: Nous avons participé à cette contestation, ou nous
avons tout le moins participé à son financement. Cependant, les
limites que l’on veut maintenant imposer au financement des
partis feront en sorte que nous pourrons plus difficilement aller
devant les tribunaux le cas échéant. Je vous donne un exemple.
Nous avons un candidat en Colombie-Britannique qui a été puni
par son employeur — celui-ci l’a suspendu sans traitement
pendant un mois — lorsqu’il s’est mis à organiser une
association de circonscription et à présenter le programme
politique de notre parti.

Je suis allé rencontrer M. Kingsley, à Élections Canada, pour lui
demander s’il ne voudrait pas lancer une contestation en vertu de la
Charte, intenter une poursuite contre l’employeur, car j’estimais
que si un employeur canadien peut ainsi punir un citoyen qui
exerce les droits qui lui sont garantis par l’article 3 de la Charte,
nous sommes privés de ces droits par le fait même. M. Kingsley
m’a toutefois indiqué qu’il n’était pas habilité à prendre quelque
mesure que ce soit en vertu de la Charte, qu’il ne pouvait intervenir
qu’en vertu de la Loi électorale. C’est donc à nous qu’il incombe de
défendre le droit de ce candidat d’exercer les libertés qui lui sont
garanties par l’article 3 de la Charte, mais nous devons recueillir
des fonds pour pouvoir aller défendre ainsi ses droits devant les
tribunaux. Cela coûtera sans doute 250 000 $.

Tous les fonds que nous recueillerons seront soumis aux limites
que l’on veut maintenant nous imposer et ne pourront donc pas
servir à financer notre participation à des campagnes futures. Le
projet de loi nous prendra à la gorge et nous empêchera de
protéger les droits qu’ont les citoyens en vertu de la Charte,
puisque nous n’avons droit à aucun financement pour lancer une
contestation fondée sur la Charte. Seuls ceux qui s’en prennent
aux valeurs morales de notre société ont droit à ce
financement. Les limites imposées sont très sévères. Nous allons
défendre les droits de tout citoyen canadien tels qu’ils sont
énoncés à l’article 3 de la Charte, mais nous ne pouvons pas le
faire à cause des règles prévues dans cette loi qui limitent notre
liberté d’action.

Mme Dicarlo: Je voudrais intervenir ici, mais pas pour vous
parler des conséquences qu’il y aurait pour nous. C’est là un des
maux qui affligent notre société: chacun demande « qu’est-ce que
cela va me rapporter, quelles seront les conséquences pour moi? »
Je parle ici des nouvelles limites, et même lorsque le projet
de loi C-24 a été déposé, j’ai aussitôt pensé au Parti réformiste et
aux sommes considérables qui ont été sollicitées pour sa
création — il en a sans doute été de même lors de la fondation
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of the key factors in terms of seed money to get the party off the
ground. I have a hard time envisaging how a political party, even
if it had the support of the mainstream in Canada, the
establishment in Canada, and someone who said that the
Liberals, the Conservatives, the NDP have done a lousy job, it
is time for a new party that takes over Parliament, how would it
get off the ground?

This stifles the emergence of new political opposition. It affects
the existing parties that have had to play the game facing the sun
for a long time. When I talk about political freedoms and
democratic rights, I am not looking at it just from our standpoint.
I am talking about the effect on the entire polity. I am talking in
terms of what it says about the right of people to get together for
political purposes.

[Translation]

Mr. Brisson: That is the first time that I have heard that an
association of political parties is challenging this bill.

I guess that when they realized how much money we were
raising, they decided that it would be of no use to approach us.
Our party is in no way involved in this. It is the first time that I
have heard of it.

[English]

Senator Joyal: My other question is about an element of
unintended impact of the legislation, and over-legislation on
parties. At a point in time, it bureaucratizes the process to the
point whereby parties become more or less an extension of the
Elections Act of Canada. In other words, the more you open the
financing of parties to public money or taxpayer money the more
you invite controls and interventions in the parties’ affairs. The
idea of now ruling the convention, regulating the convention,
regulating the nomination meeting, regulating everything, at one
point in time we will be a country whereby the level of
discretionary initiative in terms of political party life will be
minimal.

We could have the best intentions in proposing legislation, but
we have to measure the impact of that legislation. Sometimes it is
difficult to measure it on the immediacy of proposing the
legislation because you cannot see all the little points that it will
trigger down the road. Over a period of time you will end up with
a result that will not be exactly the kind of democratic life we
would like to have in Canada. Therefore to correct some
identified system defects, and we all agree that something
should be done, we might end up finding a cure that is worse
than the disease. We should be conscious of that problem.

I would like to have your comments on what you measure as
the impact of the legislation in terms of your daily life and how
you think you will continue to grow within that legislation.

de tous les partis. Dans le cas du Parti réformiste, le secteur
pétrolier de l’Alberta a joué un rôle clé pour ce qui est de lui
assurer les fonds de démarrage nécessaires à sa fondation. J’ai du
mal à imaginer qu’un parti politique, même s’il avait l’appui de la
majorité au Canada, de l’establishment canadien, que quelqu’un
qui dirait que les libéraux, les conservateurs et les néo-démocrates
ont si mal fait les choses qu’il faudrait qu’un nouveau parti prenne
les rênes au Parlement, puisse créer ce nouveau parti.

On tue dans l’œuf toute velléité de créer un nouveau parti
politique, ce qui a un effet sur les partis existants, qui jouent le jeu
depuis longtemps en faisant face au soleil. Quand je parle de
libertés politiques et de droits démocratiques, je ne le fais pas
uniquement à partir de notre point de vue à nous. Je pense aux
répercussions pour la politique tout entière. Je pense aux
conséquences pour le droit d’assemblée politique des citoyens.

[Français]

M. Brisson: C’est la première fois que j’entends parler qu’il
existe une association de partis politiques qui conteste ce projet
de loi.

J’imagine qu’en voyant l’argent qu’on faisait, ils trouvaient que
cela ne valait pas la peine de nous approcher. Le parti n’a pas été
sollicité dans tout cela. C’est la première fois que j’en entends
parler.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Joyal: J’ai une autre question qui concerne une des
conséquences involontaires de la réglementation ou de la
surréglementation des partis par voie législative. Le processus
finit par devenir tellement bureaucratisé que les partis ne sont ni
plus ni moins qu’une prolongation de la Loi électorale du
Canada. Autrement dit, plus on assure le financement des partis
politiques à même les deniers publics ou l’argent des
contribuables, plus on ouvre la porte à l’ingérence dans les
affaires des partis et au contrôle de leurs activités. Si on se met à
réglementer les congrès politiques, à réglementer les assemblées de
mise en candidature, à tout réglementer, les partis politiques
n’auront plus qu’un pouvoir discrétionnaire minime dans la
conduite de leurs affaires.

Toute mesure législative, si bien intentionnée soit-elle, pourrait
avoir des conséquences qu’il convient d’évaluer. Or, il est parfois
difficile d’évaluer ces conséquences au moment où la mesure est
proposée, parce qu’on ne peut pas voir toutes les répercussions
qu’elle va déclencher au fur et à mesure de son application. Avec
le temps, la vie démocratique au Canada pourrait ne plus être ce
que nous voudrions qu’elle soit. Ainsi, dans nos efforts pour
remédier aux lacunes que présente le régime actuel, et nous
sommes tous d’accord pour dire qu’il faut faire quelque chose,
nous risquons de nous retrouver avec un remède qui serait pire
que la maladie. Nous devrions être conscients de ce problème.

J’aimerais que vous nous disiez quelles seraient d’après vous les
répercussions du projet de loi sur vos activités quotidiennes et que
vous nous expliquiez comment vous pensez pouvoir continuer à
prendre de l’ampleur dans les limites fixées par le projet de loi.
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Ms. Dicarlo: I can give you a concrete example of one of our
concerns. We are very active in organizing Canadian youth. There
is nothing more important for our party that having our youth
active learning how to politically organize themselves. Right away
Bill C-2 poses a problem to university students who might just
want to donate a $20 bill to a political party. This bill will make it
necessary for the student to write a cheque while all she or he
wanted to do was carry out the most innocent political activity.
Now this thing has been stuck on their heads. If they are doing it
as a party club, everything is being so regulated that it is creating
a bureaucratic nightmare to make sure that they are in order in
Canada, in order in terms of not breaking the law. That is where I
see the danger of these things going.

That is how it affects us in our daily lives. Every single piece of
paper you fill out you have to worry about now. We are not
talking about a party that deals with a lot of money. I cannot
imagine the problems a large party would encounter.

This is not why I entered politics. I do not want to have to turn
into a bureaucrat who worries about whether or not I am
breaking the law because I take a contribution that is $1 over
$20 too much.

Mr. Gray: The one and only aspect of the regulations in the bill
of which I would approve is the restriction on unions and publicly
traded corporations. Here, I refer to the Jeffersonian dictum
about the tyranny of compelling people to pay for something they
do not agree with. The money that the managers of unions and
the managers of publicly traded corporations put into politics is
not their own money; it is the money of their members or their
shareholders. Other than that, I cannot really see any justification
for any restrictions on fundraising by parties. If someone wants to
respond to an appeal by a political party for the donation of funds
for either the amplification or the promulgation of its policies, it is
the right of those citizens so to respond. It is only that one
limitation that I would endorse. The rest is pure bureaucracy. It
is, in fact, in my eyes, a case of the four parties that are in the
House trying to pull up the draw bridge behind them and shut out
any new ideas.

The Chairman: Senator Joyal, is that sufficient?

Mr. Glass: I agree with the comments that have come before.
The main point I want to make here is that small parties, by
definition, have a tougher time of things than larger parties. This
set of extra regulations will mean that we will have to spend more
money than we previously did on accountants and on lawyers.
That «less money» on campaigning will be a bigger burden on us
than it will be on parties whose coffers are filled with hundreds of
thousands and millions of dollars. Whether intended or not — it
has been suggested that it was deliberate— this, in the name of
strengthening and expanding democracy, actually works, in our
opinion, in favour of the dominant parties in the House of
Commons.

Mme Dicarlo: Je peux vous donner un exemple concret de
quelque chose qui nous inquiète. Nous faisons beaucoup de
travail de mobilisation auprès des jeunes Canadiens. Pour notre
parti, il n’y a rien de plus important que d’amener les jeunes à
jouer un rôle actif, de leur apprendre à s’organiser sur le plan
politique. D’ores et déjà, le projet de loi C-2 pose un problème
pour les étudiants d’université qui pourraient bien vouloir faire
une contribution de 20 $ à un parti politique. Le projet de loi les
obligera à faire un chèque alors que tout ce qu’ils veulent, c’est de
poser un geste politique des plus anodins. Ils devront maintenant
composer avec cette règle. S’ils veulent agir au sein d’un club
politique, tout sera tellement réglementé que ce sera un véritable
cauchemar pour eux de s’assurer que leurs activités sont légitimes,
qu’ils ne violent pas la loi canadienne. Voilà ce qui nous pend au
bout du nez.

Voilà quelles seront les conséquences pour nous au quotidien.
Chaque fois que nous aurons à remplir un bout de papier, nous
devrons nous poser des questions. Les sommes en cause ne sont
pas très importantes dans le cas de notre parti et je ne peux même
pas imaginer les difficultés qui se poseront pour les grands partis.

Je ne me suis pas lancée en politique pour faire ce genre de
chose. Je ne veux pas être obligée de me transformer en bureaucrate
et de m’inquiéter de savoir si je viole la loi parce que j’ai accepté
une contribution qui dépasse de 1 $ ou de 20 $ la limite acceptable.

M. Gray: La seule et unique disposition du projet de loi qui
recueille mon appui est celle qui interdit les contributions des
syndicats et des sociétés cotées en bourse. J’invoque ici la maxime
de Jefferson qui qualifiait de tyrannique le fait d’obliger les gens à
payer pour quelque chose avec lequel ils ne sont pas d’accord.
L’argent que les dirigeants des syndicats et des sociétés cotées en
bourse versent à des partis politiques ne leur appartient pas; il
appartient aux membres ou aux actionnaires. Aucune autre
restriction applicable aux activités de financement des partis
politiques ne serait justifiable à mes yeux. Si une personne
souhaite répondre à l’appel de fonds lancé par un parti politique
en vue d’assurer la promotion ou la diffusion de ses politiques, elle
a parfaitement le droit de le faire. La seule restriction que
j’admettrais est celle que je viens d’invoquer. Tout le reste n’est
que bureaucratie. J’y vois en fait une façon pour les quatre partis
qui sont représentés à la Chambre de remonter le pont levis après
leur passage et d’écarter les idées nouvelles.

Le président: Sénateur Joyal, cela suffit-il?

M. Glass: Je suis d’accord avec ce qu’ont dit les autres avant
moi. Je tiens surtout à faire comprendre que les petits partis, de
par leur nature même, ont plus de difficultés que les grands partis.
Cette panoplie de nouvelles règles nous obligera à dépenser plus
d’argent qu’auparavant pour les services de comptables et
d’avocats. Le fait que nous aurons ainsi moins d’argent pour les
campagnes électorales sera un problème plus important pour nous
que pour les partis qui ont des centaines de milliers, voire des
millions, de dollars dans leurs coffres. Que ce soit voulu ou
non — certains donnent à entendre qu’il s’agit de quelque chose
de délibéré —, le nouveau régime, qui vise soi-disant à renforcer
et à étendre la démocratie, sert en fait l’intérêt des partis
dominants à la Chambre des communes, d’après nous.
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Mr. Brisson: We were a strong, vibrant party up until 1997, at
which time we lost our registration because we could not
run 50 candidates. We disappeared off the political map. Many
libertarians were disappointed that we were gone. The party
revived itself after the decision in Figueroa. In fact, many political
parties had a chance to come back.

However, many accounting and paperwork restrictions have
been placed on us. As Ms. Dicarlo said, I did not join politics to
be a bureaucrat; I wanted to advance a political idea. Every time I
turn around, there is another piece of paper, there is another
obligation, and there is another restriction. When I am speaking
to volunteers or potential volunteers, they are put off by the
amount of paperwork that is required. We need full-time
personnel to do the paperwork. It is discouraging. It makes one
wonder whether putting forward a political idea is worth it. The
required paperwork, et cetera, leads us to wonder whether it is all
worth it.

It is as if they want to coral us — and I have been told this
many times — to join the major parties. Well, yes, but my voice is
extinct. I cannot express myself, because unless I toe their party
line my voice will never be heard. That is why we are here. We
want a chance to express ourselves.

The Canada Elections Act, the way it is being developed, is
more and more complex and convoluted and discouraging. Every
time we turn around there is another hurdle we have to get over;
what do we have to do? I was here in 1999, and I expressed one
thing. I have seen some changes, but the minute you bring down
one barrier, 10 more go up. I do not know how it will finish.

Ms. Dicarlo: I think it is important to try to understand the
purpose of the proposed legislation. I have not been able to find
even one argument that explains the logic behind this. There is the
point about political parties being able to engage the electorate
more broadly, but that does not make any sense to me. There was
a phrase about how the proposed legislation would equalize
political contributors, the notion being that everyone can afford
to contribute $1,000 while not everyone can afford to contribute
$5,000. I am concerned that the bill in front of us will be passed
without even one coherent argument as to why we need it. There
is no way that reducing the contribution amount of $5,000 to
$1,000 will eliminate «influence in politics.» There is no logic
there. We know that the influence of wealth is exerted not only
through contributions. It would be lovely if that were how life
worked, but that is not the case.

In my mind, it is important, in terms of deliberations here, to
establish whether the proposed legislation will be effective or
whether it will be eyewash only and cause a lot of problems to
boot.

The Chairman: Thank you for that.

M. Brisson: Nous avions un parti fort et dynamique jusqu’en
1997, année où nous avons perdu le statut de parti enregistré
parce que nous n’avons pas pu présenter 50 candidats. Nous
avons disparu de la carte politique. Beaucoup de défenseurs des
libertés civiles en ont été déçus. Le parti est ressuscité après l’arrêt
Figueroa. D’ailleurs, beaucoup de partis politiques ont ainsi pu
renaître.

Cependant, nous sommes maintenant soumis à de nombreuses
restrictions en matière de comptabilité et de documentation.
Comme l’a dit Mme Dicarlo, je ne me suis pas lancé en politique
pour me transformer en bureaucrate; je voulais faire avancer une
idée politique. Chaque fois que je me retourne, je me trouve face à
un nouveau document, une nouvelle obligation, une nouvelle
restriction. Quand je discute avec des bénévoles ou avec des
personnes qui pourraient devenir des bénévoles, la paperasserie
les décourage. Nous avons besoin de personnel à plein temps pour
s’occuper de toute la paperasserie. Ça en est décourageant. On en
vient à se demander si cela vaut vraiment la peine de proposer une
idée politique. Toute cette paperasserie nous amène à en douter.

C’est comme si on voulait en quelque sorte nous
contraindre — et c’est quelque chose que j’ai entendu à maintes
reprises — à nous joindre aux grands partis. Je veux bien, mais je
n’aurais alors plus de voix. Je ne pourrais pas m’exprimer, car si je
ne me range pas derrière la ligne du parti, je ne pourrai jamais me
faire entendre. C’est pour cette raison que nous sommes là. Nous
voulons avoir la possibilité de nous exprimer.

La Loi électorale du Canada, au fur et à mesure qu’on la
modifie, devient de plus en plus complexe, alambiquée et
décourageante. Il y a toujours un nouvel obstacle que nous
devons surmonter; que pouvons-nous faire? Je suis venu ici
en 1999, et j’ai dit une chose. J’ai vu certains changements, mais
dès qu’on réussit à faire tomber une barrière, il y en a 10 autres
qui sont érigées. Je ne sais pas où tout cela va nous mener.

Mme Dicarlo: J’estime qu’il est important d’essayer de
comprendre l’objet du projet de loi. J’ai été incapable de
trouver quelque argument que ce soit qui explique la raison
derrière tout cela. On dit vouloir permettre aux partis politiques
d’être plus présents auprès de l’électorat, mais cela n’a aucun sens
à mon avis. On dit que le projet de loi mettrait tous ceux qui font
des contributions politiques sur un pied d’égalité, alors que ce
n’est pas tout le monde qui pourrait donner 5 000 $. Je crains que
le projet de loi à l’étude ne soit adopté sans même que nous ayons
entendu un seul argument cohérent pour en expliquer la nécessité.
Le fait de ramener le montant des contributions de 5 000 $ à
1 000 $ n’aura absolument pas pour effet d’éliminer l’influence
dans la sphère politique. Ce n’est absolument pas logique. Nous
savons que l’influence de la richesse s’exerce non pas seulement
par les contributions. Ce serait bien s’il en était ainsi, mais ce n’est
pas le cas.

Il est important de pouvoir déterminer dans le cadre de vos
délibérations si la mesure législative proposée sera efficace ou si ce
ne sera que de la frime et si elle ne fera que causer une multitude
de problèmes.

Le président: Je vous remercie.
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Senator Campbell: I have been pretty quiet. I find myself
coming back to my roots, as I am sure Mr. Gray is aware. I never
belonged to a political party until I was 53. Within that
political party that was elected with me were Communists,
Marxist-Leninists, and a Libertarian — and for some reason we
held the door at Maoists, the reason for which I have not figured
out yet. From that, however, I gained a knowledge of different
ideas that, prior to that, I would have never, ever considered
listening to, quite frankly. I embrace, with Senator Stratton,
proportional representation, which I would never have put my
mind to. I have belonged to a federal political party for just over a
year now. I have supported a myriad of political parties over the
years — and sometimes simply because of one idea.

When I ran for mayor of Vancouver, there were 15 to
20 candidates, including one for the Nude Garden Party, which
definitely could have made the evening a lot more interesting had
the person not been 58 years old and slightly out of shape. With
respect to all those people, at any given time, and given the right
opportunity, there was an idea, something that was good that
could be taken away. My philosophy has always been that I do
not care where the idea comes from. If it is a good idea, it should
stand on its own and it does not matter where it come from.

This morning, we heard from the two major political parties;
we went for three hours. This afternoon, we have before us what
could be described as the minor political parties and we have gone
for four hours.

My biggest concern here is the effect this proposed legislation
will have on democracy within Canada. I am reiterating what you
already said, but will this bill put you out of business? I would like
to hear from each one of you. Mr. Gray?

Mr. Gray: God willing, no. I must point out to Mr. Glass that
the Figueroa case was the only time in my life that I actually
prayed for the Communist Party.

Senator Campbell: There is hope.

Senator Joyal: The fundamental Christian prescription is to
love your neighbour, whoever he is.

Mr. Gray: I love him, but it is the only time I prayed for their
success.

We intend to continue trying to offer this option as long as
God allows us to be in the field. We lost our registration, as did
the Libertarians, and it was the Figueroa decision that allowed us
to come back. We will continue to try. We have something to say.
Not everyone agrees with us. Unlike some of the major parties, we
do not insist that everyone in the country agree with us. We just
want to be able to say the things we think are important to say in
the public arena, and we will continue to try to do that.

Le sénateur Campbell: Je n’ai pas dit grand-chose jusqu’à
maintenant. Je me rends compte que je reviens ici en quelque sorte
à mes racines, comme M. Gray le sait sûrement. Je n’ai jamais été
membre d’un parti politique avant l’âge de 53 ans. Parmi ceux qui
ont été élus en même temps que moi et qui faisaient partie de la
même formation politique, on retrouvait des communistes, des
marxistes-léninistes et un libertarien — je ne sais pas trop
pourquoi, mais nous avons écarté les maoïstes. Cette expérience
m’a permis de me frotter à des idées différentes que je n’aurais
jamais même pris la peine d’écouter auparavant, pour tout vous
dire. Tout comme le sénateur Stratton, je souscris à la
représentation proportionnelle, chose que je n’aurais jamais
envisagée auparavant. Cela fait maintenant un peu plus d’un an
seulement que je suis membre d’un parti politique fédéral. J’ai
appuyé une multitude de partis politiques au fil des ans — parfois
à cause d’une idée simplement.

Quand je me suis présenté comme maire de Vancouver, nous
étions entre 15 et 20 candidats, y compris un représentant du
Nude Garden Party, ce qui aurait certainement rendu la soirée
bien plus intéressante si toutefois la personne n’avait pas eu
58 ans et si elle avait été un peu plus en forme. Tous ces candidats
offraient quelque chose d’intéressant, une idée qui, si le moment
avait été opportun, aurait pu être retenue. Quand une idée est
bonne, je ne me soucie pas de savoir d’où elle vient. Elle devrait
pouvoir se défendre toute seule, d’où qu’elle vienne.

Ce matin, nous avons entendu les deux principaux partis
politiques, et la séance a duré trois heures. Cet après-midi, nous
accueillons ce que l’on pourrait appeler les partis politiques
mineurs, et la séance dure depuis quatre heures.

Ce qui me préoccupe le plus, c’est de savoir quel sera l’effet du
projet de loi sur la démocratie au Canada. Je ne fais que répéter ce
que vous avez déjà dit, mais le projet de loi va-t-il vous obliger à
fermer boutique? J’aimerais vous entendre tous et chacun là-
dessus. Monsieur Gray?

M. Gray: Dieu nous en préserve. Je dois dire à M. Glass que la
seule fois où j’ai prié pour le Parti communiste, c’est lors de
l’affaire Figueroa.

Le sénateur Campbell: Tout n’est pas perdu.

Le sénateur Joyal: Le précepte de base du christianisme est
d’aimer son prochain, qui qu’il soit.

M. Gray: J’aime mon prochain, mais c’est la seule fois où j’ai
prié pour qu’il réussisse.

Nous avons l’intention de continuer à essayer d’offrir cette
option aussi longtemps que Dieu nous permettra de poursuivre
nos activités. Nous avions perdu notre statut de parti enregistré,
tout comme les libertariens, et c’est grâce à l’arrêt Figueroa que
nous avons pu revenir sur la scène. Nous allons poursuivre nos
efforts. Nous avons quelque chose à dire. Ce n’est pas tout le
monde qui est d’accord avec nous. À l’encontre de certains des
grands partis, nous n’insistons pas pour que tous les Canadiens
soient d’accord avec nous. Nous voulons simplement avoir la
possibilité de dire les choses qu’il est important à notre avis de
dire dans l’arène publique, et nous allons poursuivre nos efforts
en ce sens.
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I would remind you of something that John F. Kennedy said.
He said those who make peaceful change impossible make violent
change inevitable. If the Parliament of Canada persists in
suppressing democracy, it will die. None of us wants to see the
consequence of what happens after that.

Mr. Brisson: If tomorrow you were to increase taxes 10, 20 or
30 per cent, you would force the economy to go underground. If
you put a financial burden on political parties, we will seek ways
to finance or support ourselves without letting you know how we
are doing it. Volunteers will come forward. They will do
something for us. We will just not say they are working for us
as volunteers. That is one trick. They can go door to door doing
stuff. They can raise funds and pay small bills that will never be
reported to Elections Canada. You are forcing us to become
creative on how to survive. If it means trickery — and I will use
the word «trickery» — then we might have to resort to that. As I
said before, if you push us to the wall, as Mr. Gray said, we will
survive. How? We do not know, because we do not know what
the effects of this bill will be if it passes, but we will find out as we
go. The economy survives because it goes underground. Political
parties will survive because we might have to do the same thing.

Ms. Dicarlo: I do not think it would affect our functioning in
the same way. No, it will not affect our functioning. It certainly
does create the situation where there will be efforts to circumvent
the law. I was not thinking as much of the small parties as the
large parties, to be honest. We have already seen, since
Bill C-24, that the $5,000 limits have been very creatively
circumvented. In some cases, people were caught and they had
to give the money back and so on.

I should like to go back to the starting point. This bill is
supposed to restore accountability. In terms of the small political
parties in Canada, there is no problem with accountability —
none whatsoever. We are doing quite fine. People who know us
know we are very honest. We have not had any big scandals. The
problem of accountability is with the big parties in the House of
Commons. This bill will not resolve that. That is what I am most
concerned about.

My interest in coming to the Senate today was not to say that
this bill will hurt us. We are saying that it will hurt the polity, that
it will hurt democracy in the broadest sense of the word. The
proposed legislation will not convince anyone that life will
change. What we need in Canada is conviction that there is some
change taking place.

Mr. Glass: It would not put us out of business, but it certainly
would hinder our ability. It is already difficult, with financial and
other limitations, to spread our message. We were declared illegal
in Canada. It was not bureaucratic repression or financial; it was

Je tiens à vous rappeler ce qu’a dit John F. Kennedy. Il a dit
que ceux qui rendent le changement pacifique impossible rendent
le changement violent inévitable. Si le Parlement du Canada
persiste à étouffer la démocratie, il va mourir. Aucun de nous ne
voudrait voir ce qui se passerait ensuite.

M. Brisson: Si les impôts augmentaient de 10, 20 ou
30 p. 100 demain, l’activité économique serait contrainte à
s’exercer dans la clandestinité. Si les partis politiques sont
soumis à un fardeau financier trop important, nous chercherons
des moyens de nous financer sans vous faire savoir comment nous
allons nous y prendre. Les bénévoles répondront à l’appel. Ils
nous aideront. Nous omettrons tout simplement de dire qu’ils
travaillent pour nous en tant que bénévoles. C’est une astuce. Ils
pourront aller frapper aux portes. Ils pourront recueillir des fonds
et payer des petites factures qui ne se retrouveront jamais dans les
rapports présentés à Élections Canada. Vous nous contraignez à
faire preuve d’imagination pour pouvoir survivre. S’il faut avoir
recours à la supercherie — et je parle bien à dessein de
supercherie —, soit. Comme je l’ai déjà dit, si vous nous acculez
au pied du mur, pour reprendre les propos de M. Gray, nous
allons survivre. Comment? Nous ne le savons pas, parce que nous
ne savons pas quelles seront les conséquences du projet de loi s’il
est adopté, mais nous allons trouver les moyens voulus au fur et à
mesure que nous avancerons. L’économie survit parce qu’elle
devient clandestine. Les partis politiques survivront parce que
nous aurons peut-être à faire la même chose.

Mme Dicarlo: Je ne crois pas que notre fonctionnement en
serait touché de la même façon. Non, il n’y aura aucune incidence
sur notre façon de fonctionner. Cependant, la situation qui
résultera du projet de loi donnera certainement lieu à des efforts
pour contourner la loi. Je ne pensais pas vraiment aux petits partis
comme aux grands partis, pour tout vous dire. Nous avons déjà
pu constater que depuis le projet de loi C-24, on a trouvé des
moyens très novateurs de contourner la limite de 5 000 $. Dans
certains cas, les gens se sont fait prendre et ont dû rembourser
l’argent.

J’aimerais revenir au point de départ. Ce projet de loi est censé
rétablir la responsabilisation. Les petits partis politiques du
Canada n’ont absolument aucun problème à ce niveau. Les choses
vont très bien. Les gens qui nous connaissent savent que nous
sommes très honnêtes. Nous n’avons pas eu de gros scandale. Le
problème de la responsabilisation concerne les grands partis
représentés à la Chambre des communes. Ce projet de loi ne
règlera pas ce problème. C’est ce qui me préoccupe le plus.

Si j’ai voulu comparaître devant votre comité aujourd’hui ce
n’était pas pour dire que ce projet de loi allait nous nuire. Nous
disons qu’il portera atteinte à la politique, qu’il nuira à la
démocratie dans son sens le plus large. Ce projet de loi ne
convaincra personne que les choses vont changer. Ce qu’il nous
faut au Canada c’est la conviction que les choses sont en train de
changer.

M. Glass: Il ne nous mettrait pas hors de combat, mais il serait
certainement une entrave. Il est déjà difficile de diffuser notre
message en raison des contraintes financières et autres. Nous avons
été déclarés illégaux au Canada. Nous n’avons pas subi de
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political repression. We have been around every year since
1921, and we would continue if this legislation were enacted, but it
would harm all small parties and, thereby, democracy, as
Ms. Dicarlo said. It would force us to do things that we have
not done, namely, use trickery and imaginative ways of
circumventing the law.

We do not get bags of money delivered in restaurants; if the
legislation wants to deal with that, fine. However, we should not
be here having to suggest that the legislation be overturned
because it is really harming us and is not doing anything about the
bags of money. It would harm us, but it would not be fatal.

Senator Campbell: Finally, I do not believe there should be a
threshold. I think it is undemocratic. It says that what people have
to say is not important and that we can then ignore people and
ignore ideas.

I thank all of you for attending here today. At the start of the
afternoon, I was a little wary. I am from Vancouver, and you
know what our city councils can be like. This has been very
educational. Your ideas have been open, and I think they will give
us much to think about as we deliberate on where we are going
with this bill.

Senator Day: I join with my colleagues in thanking you for
being here and for your frankness and directness in answering
questions. That is very helpful to us. You have helped us with a
much broader situation with respect to the Canada Elections Act
generally, which we will want to think about. With respect to
Bill C-2, the proposed accountability legislation and the portions
of that that deal with amendments to the Canada Elections Act,
which is what we are really focusing on now, you have given us a
broad picture that will be very helpful in that regard.

Could you, first, tell me if you appeared on Bill C-2 before the
House of Commons?

Mr. Gray: No. I have been invited to speak before committees
three times— twice before the Senate, and both those times I have
been heard, and once before a Commons committee, and it was
cancelled. It was not on Bill C-2, though. I was not invited to
speak to that.

Senator Day: Were any of you invited to consult on
Bill C-2 before the House of Commons?

Mr. Langlois: No, not me.

Ms. Dicarlo: No.

Mr. Glass: No.

Senator Day: Then I will not ask you how much time you had
there because you had no time there.

répression bureaucratique ou financière mais une répression
politique. Nous avons toujours été présents depuis 1921 et nous
continuerons à exister même si ce projet de loi est adopté, mais il
nuirait à tous les petits partis et du même fait, à la démocratie,
comme Mme Dicarlo le disait. Il nous forcerait à agir d’une
manière que nous n’avons jamais agi, c’est-à-dire d’avoir recours à
la tricherie et d’imaginer des moyens astucieux de contourner la loi.

Nous ne recevons pas des sacs d’argent livrés dans des
restaurants. Si le projet de loi vise à empêcher de tels
agissements, très bien. Cependant, nous n’aurions pas dû être
obligés de venir vous dire que le projet de loi devrait être rejeté car
il nous nuirait sérieusement sans rien faire pour les sacs d’argent.
Il nous nuirait, mais ne nous serait pas fatal.

Le sénateur Campbell: Enfin, je ne crois pas qu’il devrait y avoir
de seuil. Je trouve que ce n’est pas démocratique. Cela laisse
entendre que l’avis des gens n’est pas important et que nous
pouvons ignorer les gens et ignorer les idées.

Je vous remercie tous d’être venus aujourd’hui. En début
d’après-midi, je me méfiais un peu. Je suis de Vancouver et vous
savez comment les choses peuvent se passer dans nos conseils
municipaux. J’ai appris beaucoup de choses. Vous avez l’esprit
ouvert, et je pense que vous nous avez donné ample matière à
réflexion pour nos délibérations sur le sort à réserver à ce projet
de loi.

Le sénateur Day: Comme mes collègues, je vous remercie d’être
venus et d’avoir été francs et directs dans vos réponses à nos
questions. Cela nous aide beaucoup. Vous nous avez aidés à nous
faire une idée d’ensemble de la situation, notamment en ce qui
concerne la Loi électorale du Canada, à laquelle nous allons
vouloir réfléchir. En ce qui concerne le projet de loi C-2, le projet
de loi sur la responsabilité, et les dispositions qui modifient la Loi
électorale du Canada, sur laquelle nous concentrons nos efforts
pour le moment, vous nous avez dressé un tableau d’ensemble qui
nous sera très utile.

Premièrement, pourriez-vous me dire si vous avez comparu
devant le comité de la Chambre des communes qui a étudié le
projet de loi C-2?

M. Gray: Non. J’ai été invité à comparaître devant des comités
parlementaires trois fois: deux fois par des comités sénatoriaux, et
j’ai été entendu ces deux fois; et une fois par un comité de la
Chambre des communes qui a été annulé. Mais il ne s’agissait pas
du projet de loi C-2. Je n’ai pas été invité à faire d’observations
sur ce projet de loi.

Le sénateur Day: Est-ce qu’il y en a parmi vous qui ont été
consultés au sujet du projet de loi C-2 par le comité de la
Chambre des communes?

M. Langlois: Non, pas moi.

Mme Dicarlo: Non.

M. Glass: Non.

Le sénateur Day: Je ne vous demanderai donc pas combien de
temps le comité de la Chambre vous a accordé, puisqu’il ne vous a
pas entendus.
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Mr. Glass, I thank you for your written presentation. We all
make notes, but it is helpful to have a written presentation to refer
to afterwards. In third item on page 5, you state: ‘‘Deeply cut
spending limits for parties and candidates during and between
elections.’’ There are limits on spending for political parties and
candidates who are members of those political parties and other
candidates during an election period, but I do not believe there
are limits on a political party’s spending between elections. Are
you suggesting that there should be limits between election times?

Mr. Glass: Politics is a 365-day a year activity, or almost that.
You can win or lose an election as much by what you do in
between the actual election as you can in the 30 days of a
campaign. For smaller parties, their ideas may fall on even less
fertile soil than they do normally if other groups and political
parties are allowed to spend huge amounts of money in between
elections, the result of which is that by the time you come to the
election your idea already has two-and-three-quarters strikes
against it.

The simple answer is, yes, we think it democratizes politics if
there are limits both during elections and in between elections.

Senator Day: In a philosophical sense, you believe it makes
sense to have limits of expenditures on political parties generally.

Mr. Glass: I do not think my colleagues agree. That is our view.

Mr. Gray: I would say no restrictions. I would remind
Mr. Glass that for us, it is only 213 days a year, because there
are 52 days we do not campaign.

Senator Day: Every Sunday.

Ms. Dicarlo: I just figured that one out.

Senator Campbell: I am liking your party more and more.

Mr. Gray: It is very restful.

Senator Day: Ms. Dicarlo, do you have any comment on the
limiting expenditures? Some say that this is a hand-in-glove thing,
that if you are to limit contributions, then you should limit
expenditures.

Ms. Dicarlo: That is how it is supposed to work. We think it
has become a joke in Canada, though. There is year-round
campaigning. A week before an election call, it seems to me that
the political parties that have a lot of money are releasing their
documents and making their election campaigns, but somehow,
because it does not come within those 36 days, it is not considered
election spending.

The Chairman: That is pre-writ spending.

Ms. Dicarlo: Yes, pre-writ spending is what it is called.

Monsieur Glass, je vous remercie de votre mémoire. Nous
prenons tous des notes, mais c’est utile d’avoir un texte auquel
nous pouvons nous reporter par la suite. À la page 5, au troisième
point, vous dites: « Réduire considérablement les plafonds de
dépenses des partis et des candidats pendant et entre les
élections ». Les dépenses des partis politiques et des candidats
membres de ces partis et celles des autres candidats sont
plafonnées pendant une campagne électorale, mais je ne crois
pas qu’il y ait de limite à ce qu’un parti politique peut dépenser
entre les élections. Proposez-vous qu’il y ait de tels plafonds entre
les campagnes électorales?

M. Glass: La politique est une activité qui se pratique 365 jours
par année, ou à peu près. Ce qu’on fait pendant la campagne
électorale a autant d’impact sur le résultat des élections que ce
qu’on fait pendant les 30 jours de la campagne. Les idées des
petits partis risquent de tomber sur un sol encore moins fertile que
d’habitude si d’autres groupes et partis politiques sont autorisés à
dépenser d’énormes sommes d’argent entre les élections, ce qui
fait qu’au moment des élections, nos idées sont déjà pratiquement
enterrées.

En un mot, oui, je pense qu’un plafond des dépenses pendant
les élections et entre les élections contribue à démocratiser la
politique.

Le sénateur Day:D’un point de vue philosophique, vous croyez
qu’il serait raisonnable de plafonner les dépenses des partis
politiques de manière générale.

M. Glass: Je ne pense pas que mes collègues soient d’accord.
C’est notre opinion.

M. Gray: Je suis contre les plafonds. Je rappelle à M. Glass
que nous faisons de la politique seulement 213 jours par année,
puisqu’il y a 52 jours pendant lesquels nous ne faisons pas
campagne.

Le sénateur Day: Tous les dimanches.

Mme Dicarlo: Je viens tout juste de la comprendre.

Le sénateur Campbell: J’aime de plus en plus votre parti.

M. Gray: C’est très reposant.

Le sénateur Day: Madame Dicarlo, avez-vous des observations
à faire sur le plafonnement des dépenses? Certains disent que si
nous voulons limiter les contributions il faut plafonner les
dépenses, que l’un ne va pas sans l’autre.

Mme Dicarlo: C’est ainsi que les choses seraient censées
fonctionner. Or, nous pensons que c’est devenu une vraie farce
au Canada. Les campagnes durent toute l’année. La semaine
avant le déclenchement d’une élection, j’ai l’impression que les
partis politiques qui ont beaucoup d’argent publient leurs
documents et font campagne mais, comme c’est en dehors de la
période de 36 jours, ces dépenses ne seront pas considérées
comme des dépenses électorales.

Le président: Il s’agit de dépenses préélectorales.

Mme Dicarlo: Oui, on appelle ça des dépenses préélectorales.
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Our analysis of the situation is that the whole electoral law has
become completely incoherent. Even if you want to look at the
example of the convention expenses, it is useful. The ruling that
the portion of the fundraising event that goes to meals and
accommodations et cetera— as Elections Canada interprets it —
has to be deducted makes immense sense to me. It means
that 11 people cannot get together, have a $200 steak dinner and a
$50 bottle of wine, say it is a political contribution and receive
their tax deduction. The ruling was introduced during the period
when there were no limits on contributions. It was to protect the
taxpayer.

However, the same provision is now being looked at from the
angle of having contribution limits, and someone is trying to
make sense out of it. Sense cannot be found in it because it was
devised in a period before we had contributions. There are many
different provisions in the electoral law that fall into that
category. The coherence has been completely lost. Election
spending limits, in my opinion, are one of them. It does not
protect us from being subjected to the unequal distribution of
wealth.

The Chairman: Senator Day, could I remind you that on
page 5 in Ms. Dicarlo’s written submission to the committee, she
deals directly with the question you asked about spending limits. I
quote what she states:

This regime is out of control and anathema to political
freedom because (1) election campaigning has no beginning
and no end; (2) the amount of money required to compete in
an election, even with «spending limits,» is out of reach for
anybody who is not independently wealthy ...

That was her response. Earlier, she had said that the whole
political process should be funded to bring equality.

Senator Day: I appreciate your comment in that regard.

Your comment just now about convention expenditures has led
me to my next question.

I understood first from Mr. Gray and then from Mr. Brisson
that one can no longer issue a tax receipt for convention expenses.

My understanding is otherwise. There is a bit of a disagreement
between the Conservative Party and the Liberal Party, as we
heard this morning, in terms of that issue and Mr. Baird’s
comment in June. I understand that the elections commissioner
will make a ruling on that, which will give us some guidance.

However, there is nothing in this bill, at this stage, that deals
with the issue of election expenses being tax receiptable. It does
not cancel that, if it existed previously. Both parties agree it
existed previously: The Liberal Party felt it existed all the time and
the Conservative Party believed it existed only if there was a
profit. That is the issue that must be sorted out and it will be

D’après notre analyse de la situation, la Loi électorale est
devenue complètement incohérente. Prenons l’exemple des
dépenses de congrès qui est très révélateur. La décision selon
laquelle la part des frais d’organisation d’une activité de
financement affectés aux repas et à l’hébergement, et cetera —
tel qu’Élections Canada l’interprète — doit être déduite me
semble parfaitement raisonnable. Cela veut dire que 11 personnes
ne peuvent pas se réunir, commander un repas de steak
de 200 $ et une bouteille de vin de 50 $ et obtenir une
déduction d’impôt en prétendant qu’il s’agit d’une contribution
politique. Cette règle a été adoptée lorsqu’il n’y avait aucun
plafond aux contributions. C’était un moyen de protéger le
contribuable.

Cependant, on essaie d’appliquer la même disposition aux
contributions et on essaie d’y comprendre quelque chose. Ça n’a
aucun sens car cette disposition a été adoptée avant qu’il y ait des
contributions. Il y a de nombreuses dispositions de la Loi
électorale qui tombent dans cette catégorie. Il n’y a plus du tout
de cohérence. À mon avis, le plafonnement des dépenses
électorales en est un exemple. Cela ne nous met pas à l’abri
d’une distribution inégale de la richesse.

Le président: Sénateur Day, je vous rappelle qu’à la page 5 du
mémoire que Mme Dicarlo a présenté au comité, elle répond
directement à la question que vous avez posée au sujet du plafond
des dépenses. Je la cite:

Le régime est rendu chaotique et incompatible avec la liberté
politique parce que: (1) les campagnes électorales n’ont plus
ni début ni fin; (2) les sommes d’argent qu’il faut avoir pour
se lancer dans une campagne électorale, même avec des
« plafonds des dépenses », étant hors de portée de
quiconque n’a pas de fortune personnelle [...]

Voilà sa réponse. Tout à l’heure, elle a dit que l’ensemble du
processus politique devrait être financé afin d’assurer l’égalité.

Le sénateur Day: J’apprécie cette mise au point.

Ce que vous venez tout juste de dire au sujet des dépenses de
congrès m’amène à ma prochaine question.

M. Gray, puis M. Brisson, nous ont dit qu’il n’est plus permis
d’émettre des reçus aux fins de l’impôt pour des dépenses de
congrès.

Il me semble que c’est le contraire. Il semble y avoir une
divergence de vue entre le Parti conservateur et le Parti libéral,
comme nous l’avons entendu ce matin, et ce que M. Baird a dit à
ce sujet en juin. Je crois savoir que le commissaire aux élections
rendra une décision à ce sujet, ce qui devrait nous éclairer.

Cependant, il n’y a rien dans ce projet de loi, du moins pour le
moment, qui a trait à la déduction des dépenses électorales de
l’impôt sur le revenu. Si cette déduction existait, ce projet de loi ne
l’abroge pas. Les deux partis s’entendent pour dire que cette
déduction a déjà existé: le Parti libéral estime qu’elle s’applique
dans tous les cas alors que le Parti conservateur croit qu’elle
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sorted out. Perhaps we will have to propose some amendment to
this bill to clarify that issue if we get a ruling from Mr. Landry,
the elections commissioner, that says that it is not clear.

Mr. Gray: Before our last convention in October of last year,
we were told by Elections Canada that the expenses of the
convention, namely, the cost of accommodation, the cost of
registration were not receiptable. A divergence exists between
their interpretation and the interpretation of the two biggest
parties.

Senator Day: Do you mean individual accommodation?

Mr. Gray: Yes.

Senator Day: That has always been excluded.

Mr. Gray: There was also registration.

Senator Day: What did registration cover? That is always the
issue.

Mr. Gray: It covered participation in the meeting, and so forth.

Senator Day: The rental of the meeting hall and screens,
microphones and sound systems is receiptable. That is a
registration fee that is receiptable.

Mr. Gray: We were told it was not.

Senator Day: That is interesting. We may well have to sort this
out.

Mr. Gray: In that case, you are quite right. It would be
beneficial if you were to propose some clarification on this matter.

Senator Day: Absolutely, it will be clarified. That is helpful. I
heard your comment, and made note of it, regarding how
important conventions are to building your parties and your team
and developing your policy. Therefore, this should be something
that we review.

In the event that it is considered to be tax receiptable — a
legitimate political donation for which a receipt is given— should
that be part of the existing limitation that is being reduced from
$5,000 to $1,000? Should the convention amount be included as
part of the overall annual allowable party donation, or, in your
view, should it be a separate item, a convention item?

Mr. Gray: If Bill C-2 as proposed goes through and the limit is
reduced to $1,000 a year, then in the year of a convention, that
will be the only donation you can make as it costs $1,000 to attend
a convention, unless it is given a specific exemption. Therefore,
I would plead with you: Please do not let that reduction go
through. That is an intolerable burden on us at the same time
as the parties already in the House have voted themselves
$30 million a year of taxpayers’ money. That is wrong.

Mr. Brisson: I must agree with Mr. Gray entirely. I do not
know if it is $30 million, but what he is trying to say is the
$1.79 they get per voter.

s’applique uniquement lorsqu’il y a un bénéfice. C’est la question
à trancher et on aura une réponse. Nous devrons peut-être
proposer un amendement à ce projet de loi afin d’éclaircir la
question si M. Landry, le commissaire aux élections, détermine
qu’il n’y a pas de réponse claire.

M. Gray: Avant notre dernier congrès en octobre dernier,
Élections Canada nous a dit que nous ne pouvions pas émettre de
reçus pour les frais de congrès, soit le prix de l’hébergement et de
l’inscription. Il y a des divergences entre l’interprétation
d’Élections Canada et celle des deux principaux partis.

Le sénateur Day: Vous voulez dire l’hébergement des
participants?

M. Gray: Oui.

Le sénateur Day: Cette dépense a toujours été exclue.

M. Gray: Il y a aussi les frais d’inscription.

Le sénateur Day: Qu’est-ce qui est inclus dans les frais
d’inscription? Cela a toujours été la question.

M. Gray: Cela inclut la participation à la réunion, et cetera

Le sénateur Day: On peut émettre des reçus pour la location de
la salle de réunion, des écrans, des micros et des systèmes audio.
On peut aussi émettre un reçu pour les frais d’inscription.

M. Gray: On nous a dit le contraire.

Le sénateur Day: C’est intéressant. Il faudrait éclaircir cette
question.

M. Gray: Dans ce cas, vous avez tout à fait raison. Il serait bon
que vous proposiez d’éclaircir cette question.

Le sénateur Day: Absolument, on l’éclaircira. Merci. J’ai pris
note de votre observation au sujet de l’importance des congrès
pour bâtir vos partis et vos équipes et pour élaborer vos
politiques. Donc, il faudrait examiner cette question.

Si on nous informe que ces dépenses constituent des dons
politiques légitimes pour lesquels on peut recevoir un reçu, est-ce
que le plafond actuel qui sera réduit de 5000 $ à 1 000 $ devrait
s’appliquer à ces dépenses? Est-ce que les frais de congrès
devraient être inclus dans le montant du don annuel admissible
à un parti ou devraient-ils être traités à part?

M. Gray: Si le projet de loi C-2 est adopté dans sa forme
actuelle et que le plafond est ramené à 1 000 $ par année, cela
veut dire que l’année d’un congrès, ce sera le seul don possible,
puisqu’il en coûte 1 000 $ pour participer à un congrès, à moins
qu’il y ait une exemption particulière. C’est pourquoi je vous
supplie de ne pas permettre que cette réduction soit adoptée. Ce
serait un fardeau intolérable pour nous alors même que les partis
déjà représentés à la Chambre se sont accordé 30 millions de
dollars par année de l’argent des contribuables. C’est
inadmissible.

M. Brisson: Je suis entièrement d’accord avec M. Gray. Je ne
sais pas si cela représente 30 millions de dollars, mais il parle de la
somme 1,79 $ par électeur.
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Senator Stratton: It is $1.75.

The Chairman: Is that what you mean by the $30 million?

Mr. Gray: It is indexed. It is now $1.80.

Mr. Brisson: That is what he means. If the deck is stacked
ahead of time, Bill C-2, as we have said for the past two hours, is
just another way of giving us another nail in our coffin. They give
themselves an advantage by giving themselves funding
automatically by the amount of people they get to vote for
them. If the $5,000 is reduced to $1,000, then take away the
threshold, at least, to make it equal. If the threshold remains,
again, it will come down to what I said before.

Senator Day: Thank you. Do either of you have any comment?

Mr. Glass: No, I completely agree.

Ms. Dicarlo: I have a hard time finding the logic in it because a
convention is a political activity like a lot of other political
activities. If there was some distinction made strictly between
what is spent in an election and all other political activity, there
might be some reason there because then you are talking about
the aspect of controlling electoral discourse. In this case, it could
be separated from everything else, I suppose, but it is getting into
a real quagmire again. The conventions part does not make any
sense to me.

Senator Day: I was asking you to assume that a convention
expense is a political donation. Now, should that political
donation be included as part of the overall limit that an
individual can contribute to a political party in a year, or
should it be something separate?

Ms. Dicarlo: I suppose there is some logic to having it separate.
I really cannot get my head around that one because it has come
up due to the fact that the Liberal Party is concerned about its
convention. Now this matter is being imposed as an issue on the
whole polity.

It is not. It is not, really, other than the problem that the
Liberals will have if this law goes through before their convention
is held. That is my understanding of the problem.

Senator Day: That helps to highlight the problem. You are
quite right.

Mr. Glass: We invite people that we meet to come to a
convention because then they see a cross-section of members of
our party from various provinces and occupations. In many cases,
they would not see themselves as making a donation to the party
by coming to our convention and paying a $50 or $100 observer
fee. We need the fee. We will have more people, so we need a
bigger room. Many of them would not see that as a donation. In
fact, those who come and do not like what they hear certainly
would not see it as a donation. They would not want that
deducted. They may say, ‘‘I do not like the Communist Party.’’
They may say, ‘‘I went to the Christian Heritage convention and
do not like them, so I will give my money to someone else.’’ They
would not see it as a donation. They are somewhat interested in

Le sénateur Stratton: C’est 1,75 $.

Le président: C’est ce que vous voulez dire lorsque vous parlez
de 30 millions de dollars?

M. Gray: C’est indexé. C’est maintenant 1,80 $.

M. Brisson: C’est cela qu’il veut dire. Si les dés sont pipés
d’avance, adopter le projet de loi C-2, comme nous le répétons
depuis deux heures, c’est vouloir notre mort. Ils se donnent un
avantage en s’accordant un financement en fonction du nombre
de votes qu’ils reçoivent. Si la limite de 5 000 $ est ramenée à
1 000 $, autant supprimer le seuil, ce qui aurait au moins pour
effet de traiter tout le monde de la même manière. Si le seuil est
maintenu, vous verrez que ma prédiction se réalisera.

Le sénateur Day: Merci. L’un de vous a-t-il quelque chose à
ajouter?

M. Glass: Non, je suis entièrement d’accord.

Mme Dicarlo: J’ai du mal à comprendre cette disposition
puisqu’un congrès est une activité politique comme tant d’autres.
Si on faisait la différence strictement entre les dépenses effectuées
pendant une campagne électorale et toutes les autres activités
politiques, il y aurait une certaine logique puisqu’il s’agirait de
contrôler le discours électoral. On pourrait toujours séparer ces
dépenses de toutes les autres, je suppose, mais ce serait créer un
véritable bourbier. Je ne comprends pas du tout pourquoi on
traiterait les congrès de cette façon.

Le sénateur Day: Je vous demandais de supposer que les
dépenses de congrès constituent une contribution politique. Cette
contribution doit-elle être incluse dans le montant total qu’une
personne peut donner à un parti politique pendant une année ou
devrait-elle être traitée séparément?

Mme Dicarlo: Je suppose qu’il serait logique de traiter cette
contribution séparément. J’ai du mal à y voir clair, car cette
question a été soulevée parce que le Parti libéral s’inquiète de son
congrès. Maintenant on essaie d’en faire un problème pour
l’ensemble de la politique.

Ce n’en est pas un. Il n’y a que pour les libéraux que cela
poserait un problème si le projet de loi était adopté avant leur
congrès. Si j’ai bien compris, c’est ça le problème.

Le sénateur Day: Cela aide à faire la lumière sur ce problème.
Vous avez tout à fait raison.

M. Glass: Nous invitons les gens que nous rencontrons à venir
à un congrès afin qu’ils puissent voir un groupe représentatif des
membres de notre parti provenant des différentes provinces et de
différents milieux professionnels. Dans bien des cas, ils ne
considèrent pas les 50 $ ou 100 $ qu’ils versent pour assister en
observateur à notre congrès comme étant une contribution. Nous
avons besoin de cet argent. Comme nous serons plus nombreux, il
nous faudra une salle plus grande. Nombre d’entre eux n’y
verraient pas une contribution. En fait, ceux qui viennent et qui ne
sont pas d’accord avec ce qu’ils entendent n’y verraient
certainement pas une contribution. Ils ne voudraient pas une
déduction. Ils diraient peut-être: « Je n’aime pas le Parti
communiste ». Ils diraient peut-être: « J’ai assisté au congrès du
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what is going on, which is why they are paying the observer fees,
but it is a mistake from the start to see it as a political
contribution.

I do not see how an observer paying a registration fee helps the
party. It does not help us particularly. My main comment would
be that it is in an unusual category of contribution. Obviously, for
delegates, members of the party, that is a contribution in some
sense, but for observers, I would not restrict how much they can
contribute by including what they pay as an observer.

Senator Day: You are drawing a distinction for observers, but
for party members who attend, would you treat that as a political
contribution?

Mr. Glass: I do not see how you could not. Sure, it is a
contribution to the convention. We have to make a distinction
between observers and special guests who pay money to be there,
but it is not a contribution to a party.

Ms. Dicarlo: Let us say that we have a national convention of
our people across the country. Just the act of flying to that
convention, if we are really to be true to the law, that plane fare
would be part of a political expense. For some people, depending
on how they are flying, it would put them out of commission in
terms of political activity after one trip. They might not be able to
get there without breaking the law.

We would not include those fees because the law has not
touched the airfare that one must pay to get to a meeting. It is
becoming nonsensical. It is idiocy, if you ask me. Can you
imagine that we are sitting here deliberating whether it is
considered a contribution for someone to go to a convention,
when the problem in Canada is so profound that people say,
‘‘Who the hell are these politicians and what are they doing?’’
You know the litany of comments. How have we been reduced to
the fact that this has become our cause, when we are talking about
accountability, about what Canadians think of the people they
elect and whether they have any control over what they do? I am
not trying to minimize the fact that this issue is being raised. It is a
legitimate problem. However, this is not the problem in Canada.
When Canadians hear that these are the kinds of things being
hashed out in the name of accountability, it really puts a bad light
on us.

Senator Day: You will appreciate that we in the Senate have
been given this document. If we do not do the right thing for
Canada with respect to this document, it will become the law of
the land. That is why you are here to advise us.

Ms. Dicarlo: True, but within that scheme of things, how did
this convention fees issue get turned into what it is? If we do not
put it into context and ask ourselves why this kind of regulation
of political parties is taking place, I do not see how we will make
sense of it. That is the point I am making. Someone said maybe
we should isolate political party programs and say that that is not
a political contribution.

Parti de l’Héritage Chrétien et je n’aime pas ces gens, alors je vais
donner mon argent à quelqu’un d’autre ». Ils ne considèreraient
pas cela comme une contribution. Ils s’intéressent un peu à ce qui
se passe, c’est pourquoi ils paient pour venir observer, mais ce
serait une erreur d’y voir une contribution politique.

Je ne vois pas en quoi le fait qu’un observateur paie des droits
d’inscription aide le parti. Ça ne nous aide pas particulièrement.
Je pense surtout que c’est une catégorie de contribution
inhabituelle. Bien sûr, pour les délégués, les membres du parti,
c’est en quelque sorte une contribution, mais pour les
observateurs, je n’inclurais pas ce qu’ils versent à ce titre dans le
montant des contributions permises.

Le sénateur Day: Vous excluez les observateurs, mais pour les
membres du parti qui participent au congrès, est-ce que vous
considérez qu’il s’agit d’une contribution politique?

M. Glass: Je ne vois pas comment on pourrait l’exclure. Bien
sûr, il s’agit d’une contribution au congrès. Il faut faire une
exemption pour les observateurs et les invités spéciaux qui paient
pour être présents mais pour qui ce n’est pas une contribution à
un parti.

Mme Dicarlo: Supposons que nous organisions un congrès
national. Si nous appliquons la loi à la lettre, le prix du billet
d’avion pour se rendre au congrès doit être inclus dans les
dépenses politiques. Pour certains, dépendant de leur mode de
transport, il suffirait d’un déplacement pour atteindre la limite de
leurs contributions politiques. Certains ne pourraient se rendre au
congrès sans enfreindre la loi.

On ne tiendrait pas compte de ces frais parce que dans la loi il
n’y a rien qui se rapporte au coût d’un billet d’avion pour se
rendre à une réunion. Ça n’a aucune espèce de bon sens. Selon
moi, c’est ridicule. Nous nous demandons si les frais pour se
rendre à un congrès sont une contribution tandis que le grand
public se demande « Qui sont ces politiciens et que font-ils? »
Vous êtes bien au courant de tous les commentaires que nous
entendons. Comment en sommes-nous arrivés là, lorsque nous
nous intéressons d’abord à la reddition de comptes, aux opinions
des Canadiens à l’endroit de ceux qu’ils ont élus, et la possibilité
de contrôler ce qu’ils font? Je ne prends pas la question à la légère;
c’est une préoccupation tout à fait légitime. Cependant, ce n’est
pas notre problème au Canada. Pour la population canadienne, ce
n’est pas très impressionnant de constater que nos débats sur la
responsabilisation comprennent ce genre de détails.

Le sénateur Day: Il ne faut pas oublier qu’on nous a confié ce
document. Si nous ne nous occupons pas de faire ce qu’il faut
pour le Canada, le document deviendra loi. C’est pour cette
raison que nous avons demandé vos conseils.

Mme Dicarlo: Vous avez raison, mais comment cette question
de frais de congrès a-t-elle pu prendre toute cette ampleur? Il faut
comprendre le contexte, il faut se demander pourquoi on est en
train de réglementer les partis politiques; sinon, nous n’arriverons
jamais à comprendre. C’est ce que j’essaie de vous expliquer.
Quelqu’un a dit qu’il fallait peut-être écarter les programmes des
partis de la catégorie de contribution politique.
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Mr. Gray: I just wanted to highlight what Senator Day was
saying. Honourable senators have graciously invited us here to
discuss the bill that has been put before you. The House of
Commons committee did not seek the opinion of any of these
parties. That is why we are so grateful that the Senate has given
this sober second look and that you are inviting us to participate
in this process. To us, this is profoundly important. We
consistently find more of a channel for input into the public
policy process through the Senate than we do through the House
of Commons.

The Chairman: Others have said the same thing.

Senator Zimmer: Mr. Chairman, I want to thank the witnesses
for coming today, for not only their clarity of opinion but also for
their free-thinking and refreshing ideas. When we heard the major
parties, they were boring; you are exciting.

The Chairman: Witnesses, I cannot say it any better than my
learned colleague Senator Zimmer. On behalf of all of us, I want
to thank you very much for attending today and for taking the
time to help us understand some of the complexities of this
important bill.

The committee adjourned.

OTTAWA, Friday, September 8, 2006

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs, to which was referred Bill C-2, providing for conflict of
interest rules, restrictions on election financing and measures
respecting administrative transparency, oversight and
accountability, met this day at 9:05 a.m. to give consideration
to the bill.

Senator Donald H. Oliver (Chairman) in the chair.

[English]

The Chairman: Honourable senators, I call this meeting of the
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
to order. I would like now to turn to Senator Stratton, who
yesterday had a motion that he wanted to make and follow up on
today.

Senator Stratton: Forgive me for digressing here. This should
hopefully just take a couple of minutes. I wish to correct the
record with respect to comments made by Mr. MacKinnon
yesterday morning.

Just for the record, he quoted the Chief Electoral Officer,
Mr. Kingsley, in a way that perhaps was not clear and I think we
need to, if I may read into the record what Mr. Kingsley did say
to the House of Commons committee.

Mr. MacKinnon essentially said that having the bill come into
force in the middle of the year was against the wishes of the Chief
Electoral Officer. Mr. MacKinnon stated:

M. Gray: Je veux revenir sur le commentaire du sénateur Day.
Les honorables sénateurs nous ont invités à participer à la
discussion sur le projet de loi qui vous a été renvoyé. La Chambre
des communes n’a pas cherché à obtenir l’opinion de ces partis.
C’est la raison pour laquelle nous sommes reconnaissants envers
le Sénat qui a accepté d’en faire un second examen objectif et qui
nous a invités à y participer. Pour nous, c’est d’une importance
primordiale. Très souvent, c’est au Sénat plutôt qu’à la Chambre
des communes que nous avons la possibilité de contribuer à
l’élaboration de politiques gouvernementales.

Le président: Vous n’êtes pas le seul à le dire.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur le président, permettez-moi de
remercier les témoins, non seulement pour les opinions très claires
qu’ils ont exprimées mais aussi pour leurs idées nouvelles et
originales. Les partis les plus importants nous ont fait des exposés
ennuyeux, tandis que les vôtres étaient passionnants.

Le président: Chers témoins, je ne saurais m’exprimer encore
mieux que mon distingué collègue le sénateur Zimmer. Au nom de
tous les membres du comité, je tiens à vous remercier sincèrement
de votre participation aujourd’hui et des explications que vous
nous avez fournies et qui serviront à nous aider à mieux
comprendre les aspects complexes de ce projet de loi important.

La séance est levée.

OTTAWA, le vendredi 8 septembre 2006

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles, chargé d’étudier le projet de loi C-2, Loi
prévoyant des règles sur les conflits d’intérêts et des restrictions en
matière de financement électoral, ainsi que des mesures en matière
de transparence administrative, de supervision et de
responsabilisation, s’est réuni aujourd’hui à 9 h 05.

Le sénateur Donald H. Oliver (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président: Honorables sénateurs, je déclare la séance du
Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles ouverte. Je laisse à présent la parole au
sénateur Stratton, qui, hier, voulait déposer une motion et vous
en parler aujourd’hui.

Le sénateur Stratton: Pardonnez-moi cette digression. Cela ne
devrait pendre que quelques minutes. J’aimerais remettre les
pendules à l’heure par rapport aux observations que
M. MacKinnon a faites hier matin.

Il a cité M. Kingsley, directeur général des élections, de façon
assez vague et j’aimerais, si vous me le permettez, lire les paroles
exactes de M. Kingsley au comité de la Chambre des communes
afin qu’elles apparaissent au procès-verbal.

M. MacKinnon a dit, en gros, que le directeur général des
élections s’opposait à ce que le projet de loi entre en vigueur au
milieu de l’année. M. MacKinnon a dit:
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I did hear Mr. Donison’s presentation and I want to
underline one thing that would contradict the philosophy
that underlies having this bill come into the force in the
middle of year, against the wishes of both the Chief
Electoral Officer and most political parties.

Mr. Kingsley apparently never said such a thing.
What he suggested is that there is a traditional six months
coming-into-force delay for provisions surrounding returning
officers. He stated:

Bill C-2 will transfer the authority for the appointment
and termination of the returning officers from the Governor
in Council to the Chief Electoral Officer. This is consistent
with recommendations I had been making since I had
become Chief Electoral Officer. The bill provides that this
transfer will take place after royal assent on a day specified
by the Governor in Council.

As I will be ready to implement this new authority well
within the six-month period following royal assent, the
committee may wish to consider the appropriateness of
providing for the traditional Canada Elections Act formula
for the coming into effect of these provisions; that is to say,
six months after royal assent, unless the Chief Electoral
Officer announces he is ready to implement them earlier,
which I will.

The key phrase here is ‘‘which I will.’’ Mr. MacKinnon also
said this yesterday morning when he was referring to election
financing:

I refer specifically — and that brings me to my first
recommendation on the bill — to the coming into force of
this bill. We support Mr. Kingsley’s intervention before the
House committee; we support the Bloc Québécois in their
recommendation that the coming into force of this bill not
occur until January 1 of the year following Royal Assent.

We have a problem with this. By suggesting that
Mr. Kingsley’s remark in regard to the returning officer was
also linked to election financing, that is what he was trying to link
here, Mr. Kingsley was quite clear at Bill C-2 that nothing
remarkable had to be changed over changes to election financing;
in other words, it could come into effect much earlier, as he
stated.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I have read that into the record and
would have that accepted by the committee as having corrected
the statement made by Mr. MacKinnon so that the case is quite
clear that, in effect, the change to election financing does not take
place six months after Royal Assent, but can take place
immediately. With regard to returning officers, that would take
place six months after.

Senator Day: Our chief critic on this particular subject matter
has a comment and I may follow up after him.

J’ai entendu l’exposé de M. Donison et je tiens à souligner
un élément qui vient contredire l’argument du gouvernement
visant à mettre cette loi en vigueur en plein milieu de l’année,
contre la volonté du directeur général des élections et de la
majorité des partis politiques.

Or, apparemment, M. Kingsley n’aurait jamais dit cela. Ce
qu’il a dit, c’est que, traditionnellement, les dispositions qui
portent sur les directeurs de scrutin n’entrent en vigueur que six
mois après leur adoption. Il a dit:

Le projet de loi C-2 confiera au directeur général des
élections, et non plus au gouverneur en conseil, un pouvoir
de nommer et de destituer les directeurs de scrutin. Ce
changement répond à une recommandation que j’ai souvent
réitérée depuis que je suis devenu directeur général des
élections. D’après le projet de loi, le transfert devrait entrer
en vigueur à une date fixée par le gouverneur en conseil,
après la sanction royale.

Comme je serai facilement prêt à mettre en œuvre ce
nouveau pouvoir dans les six mois suivant la sanction
royale, le comité voudra peut-être accorder le délai habituel
d’entrée en vigueur des modifications à la Loi électorale, qui
est de six mois après la sanction royale, ou avant, si le
directeur général des élections annonce qu’il est prêt, ce que
je ferai.

La phrase-clé, ici, est « ce que je ferai ». M. MacKinnon a dit
également, au sujet du financement électoral:

Je parle précisément — et cela m’amène à ma première
recommandation — de la date d’entrée en vigueur du projet
de loi. Nous sommes d’accord avec l’intervention de
M. Kingsley au comité de la Chambre des communes;
nous approuvons la recommandation du Bloc québécois à
l’effet que le projet de loi entre seulement en vigueur le
1er janvier de l’année suivant la sanction royale.

Nous avons un problème. M. MacKinnon sous-entend que la
réflexion de M. Kingsley au sujet des directeurs de scrutin
s’applique également au financement électoral. Or, M. Kingsley
a été très clair: les changements au financement électoral prévus
par le projet de loi C-2 n’auront pas d’incidence significative sur
son travail; en d’autres mots, ils pourraient entrer en vigueur
beaucoup plus tôt, d’après lui.

Ceci étant dit, monsieur le président, j’ai lu ces citations pour le
procès-verbal et j’aimerais que le comité comprenne que j’ai
corrigé certaines déclarations de M. MacKinnon afin de préciser,
en réalité, que les changements au financement électoral ne
devraient pas entrer en vigueur six mois après la sanction royale,
mais bien immédiatement. Les dispositions relatives aux
directeurs de scrutin, cependant, entreraient en vigueur six mois
plus tard.

Le sénateur Day: Je crois que notre porte-parole à ce sujet
souhaite intervenir et je prendrai la parole après lui.
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Senator Zimmer: I just want to put on the record what I believe
Mr. MacKinnon was saying, that being, that the bill’s provision
respecting contributions would come into effect on Royal Assent,
which presupposes that there is no need or opportunity for
Elections Canada to inform the public of the change. I believe he
was also supporting the Bloc Québécois intervention when he
stated:

We think that if you exclude partisan reasons in the
tradition of the implementation of this type of measure the
calendar year is normally the reference year.

I believe that is what he was trying to say.

Senator Day: The only other point that I might be able to add
is that it is not nearly as clear as my colleague Senator Stratton
has indicated. I do believe that Mr. MacKinnon was talking
generally about all of the provisions of the proposed
accountability act that relate to political parties and not just the
financing aspect in that quote.

He starts that paragraph by saying:

We believe the accountability act, as it impacts on
political parties and the political process, will not achieve
stated aims.

He is talking about the global picture and not just, as was
indicated earlier by Senator Stratton, the financing aspect of it.

The Chairman: Was that the Chief Electoral Officer or
Mr. MacKinnon?

Senator Day: That is Mr. MacKinnon.

The Chairman: Senator Stratton was talking about what the
Chief Electoral Officer stated and whether there were limits to
what he indicated with respect to the timing.

Senator Day: The Chief Electoral Officer’s quote was just read
to you by Senator Zimmer. He is talking about political process
and the importance of communication. His comments can be
interpreted as saying that there should be time to communicate
this after the act is passed.

The Chairman: I, for one, did not know that Senator Zimmer
was giving a quote from the Chief Electoral Officer. If that is the
case, would you mind reading that quote again, because I thought
you were quoting Mr. MacKinnon? I thought you had said what I
interpreted Mr. MacKinnon to be saying; I did not know you
were quoting the Chief Electoral Officer, and that is important to
understand.

Senator Stratton: Could you also state where the quote comes
from, because we do not know where he was when he made this
statement.

Senator Zimmer: I am not sure of that.

Senator Day: It comes from his appearance before the House of
Commons.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Je voulais simplement signaler ce que
M. MacKinnon a voulu dire, à mon avis, afin que cela figure dans
le procès-verbal, c’est-à-dire que les dispositions du projet de loi
relatives aux contributions entreraient en vigueur le jour de la
sanction royale, ce qui laisse penser qu’Élections Canada n’aura
pas besoin d’informer le public de ce changement. Je crois qu’il
approuvait également l’intervention du Bloc québécois, lorsqu’il
a dit:

Nous pensons que si on exclut les raisons partisanes, dans
la tradition de l’application de ce type de mesure, c’est
normalement l’année civile qui est l’année de référence.

Je crois que c’est ce qu’il essayait de dire.

Le sénateur Day: Tout ce que je voulais ajouter, c’est que les
choses ne sont pas si simples que l’a dit le sénateur Stratton. Je
crois que M. MacKinnon parlait de façon générale de toutes les
dispositions de la loi sur la responsabilisation qui portent sur les
partis politiques, et pas uniquement sur le financement électoral,
dans cette citation.

Il commence le paragraphe en disant:

Nous pensons que la Loi sur la responsabilisation,
compte tenu de ses incidences sur les partis et le processus
politiques, ne permettra pas d’attendre les objectifs prévus.

Il parle de la loi de façon générale, et pas uniquement de l’aspect
financier, contrairement à ce que disait le sénateur Stratton.

Le président: S’agissait-il du directeur général des élections ou
de M. MacKinnon?

Le sénateur Day: C’était M. MacKinnon.

Le président: Le sénateur Stratton parlait des déclarations du
directeur général des élections. Il s’agissait de savoir si celles-ci
s’appliquaient à une ou à toutes les dispositions de ces deux, en ce
qui concerne leur entrée en vigueur.

Le sénateur Day: Le sénateur Zimmer vient de vous lire la
citation du directeur général des élections. Il parlait du processus
politique et de l’importance de la communication. Si l’on
interprète ses paroles, on peut lire que M. Kingsley veut
s’assurer d’avoir le temps d’expliquer l’incidence du projet de loi
après son adoption.

Le président: D’une part, je ne savais pas que le
sénateur Zimmer citait le directeur général des élections. Si c’est
le cas, auriez-vous l’obligeance de me relire cette citation, parce
que je croyais que vous citiez M. MacKinnon? Je croyais qu’il
s’agissait de M. MacKinnon; je ne savais pas que vous citiez le
directeur général des élections, et c’est important, si l’on veut bien
comprendre.

Le sénateur Stratton: Pourriez-vous également nous dire d’où
viennent ces citations, parce qu’on ne sait pas où était
M. Kingsley lorsqu’il a prononcé ces paroles.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Je n’en suis pas sûr.

Le sénateur Day: Cette citation vient de son témoignage à la
Chambre des communes.
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Senator Zimmer: Mr. Chairman, when I say ‘‘interpretation,’’
those are actually Mr. Kingsley’s words he was quoting. I just
repeated it through his words. I will repeat it again, which is really
his quote of Mr. Kingsley:

The bill’s provisions respecting contributions would come
into effect on royal assent, which presupposes that there is
no need or opportunity for Elections Canada to inform the
public of the change.

Those are really Mr. Kingsley’s words, which Mr. MacKinnon
repeated. Then he goes on to say, from the Bloc Québécois, again
what Mr. Kingsley said:

We think that if you exclude partisan reasons, in the
tradition of the implementation of this type of measure,
the calendar year is normally the reference year.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, I thank you all for your
clarification on that point.

I will now move to the order of business for today. We are
meeting to continue our study of Bill C-2, providing for conflict of
interest rules, restrictions on election financing and measures
respecting administrative transparency, oversight and
accountability.

This bill is more commonly known as the federal
accountability bill. As senators, our witnesses and members of
the public both here in this room and across Canada on television
know, this bill reflects a central portion of the new government’s
agenda and is one of the most significant pieces of legislation
brought before Parliament in recent years. I know that the
committee will give the bill the extensive, careful and detailed
study that it deserves.

The hearings commenced in June and this week the committee
has been focusing on more precise aspects of the bill. Subjects that
we will have covered this week include accountability generally,
ethics and conflict of interest and political financing. Our hearings
will continue in a few weeks on other important aspects of the bill.

Today we have with us two very distinguished experts on the
issue of political financing.

[Translation]

Mr. Pierre F. Côté has vast public-sector experience in Quebec.
He has worked in several departments and at the municipal level in
the province. He has received several prestigious honorary
distinctions and is active in his community. He was Quebec chief
electoral officer from 1978 to 1997, and has almost 20 years of
experience in that position. I know that his views and experience
will be very useful to the committee.

[English]

We are also joined today by Mr. Aaron Freeman.
Mr. Freeman has considerable experience as an observer of the
parliamentary process and currently teaches law at the University
of Ottawa. He has also been active in Democracy Watch. He has

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur le président, quand je parle
« d’interprétation », ce sont en réalité les mots de M. Kingsley
qu’il citait. Je n’essaie que de répéter avec ses mots. Je vais répéter
la citation de M. Kingsley, selon M. MacKinnon:

Les dispositions du projet de loi relatives aux
contributions entreraient en vigueur le jour de la sanction
royale, ce qui laisse penser qu’Élections Canada n’aura pas
besoin d’informer le public de ces changements.

Ce sont les mots de M. Kingsley, que M. MacKinnon a
répétés. Ensuite, il cite d’autres paroles de M. Kingsley
prononcées par le Bloc québécois:

Nous pensons que si on exclut les raisons partisanes, dans la
tradition de l’application de ce type de mesure, c’est
normalement l’année civile qui est l’année de référence.

Le président: Honorables sénateurs, je vous remercie de ces
précisions.

Passons à présent à l’ordre du jour. Nous allons continuer à
étudier le projet de loi C-2, Loi prévoyant des règles sur les
conflits d’intérêts et des restrictions en matière de financement
électoral, ainsi que des mesures en matière de transparence
administrative, de supervision et de responsabilisation.

Ce projet de loi est plus communément appelé loi fédérale sur
la responsabilisation. Comme les sénateurs, nos témoins et les
membres du public qui nous regardent à la télévision partout au
Canada le savent, ce projet de loi est un des piliers du programme
du nouveau gouvernement, un des projets de loi les plus
importants qui aient été déposés au Parlement ces dernières
années. Je sais que le comité y accordera la réflexion soignée,
exhaustive et détaillée qu’il mérite.

Les séances ont commencé en juin et cette semaine, le comité
s’est concentré sur certains aspects précis du projet de loi. Nous
avons couvert la reddition de comptes de façon générale,
l’éthique, les conflits d’intérêt et le financement politique. Lors
des audiences des semaines qui viendront, nous étudierons
d’autres aspects importants du projet de loi.

Nous accueillons aujourd’hui deux éminents experts en matière
de financement politique.

[Français]

M. Pierre F. Côté a une très longue expérience dans le secteur
public au Québec. Il a travaillé au sein de divers ministères et au
niveau municipal dans sa province. Il est récipiendaire de
plusieurs distinctions d’honneur prestigieuses et il est actif dans
sa communauté. Il a été directeur général des élections au Québec
de 1978 et 1997, et il a presque 20 ans d’expérience à ce poste. Je
sais que ses opinions et expériences seront d’une grande utilité
pour le comité.

[Traduction]

Nous accueillons également M. Aaron Freeman. M. Freeman
possède une vaste expérience en tant qu’observateur du processus
politique et enseigne actuellement le droit à l’Université d’Ottawa.
Il a également milité pour Démocratie en surveillance. Il a écrit
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frequently written for publications such as The Hill Times and is
the author of a book titled The Law of Government: The Legal
Foundations of Canadian Democracy.

[Translation]

The committee would like to thank you for being here. I now
give you the floor and then we will move on to a question and
discussion period which will be, I know, very useful for committee
members. You now have the floor, Mr. Côté.

Pierre F. Côté, former Chief Electoral Officer of Québec, as an
individual: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. There are two main topics
that I would like to address with you this morning about
Bill C-2. First of all, I want to express my disagreement with
Section 43 of the bill which repeals Section 404.1 of the Canada
Elections Act, which allow corporations and unions to make
financial contributions to one or several political parties.

I was the Chief Electoral Office of Quebec for 19 years; I
retired in 1997. That did not prevent me from publicly stating that
we should allow corporations, as opposed to individuals, to make
financial contributions to the election process in Canada. I
believe, in fact, that we would be fooling ourselves to think that
one way or another people will not sidestep the prohibition in the
bill. That is inevitable.

On November 25, 1999, during a symposium on ethics and
conflicts of interests, under the auspices of the Centre d’étude
Noël Mailloux en éthique et psychologie, I said that:

Financing by the public is no longer enough to meet the
needs of political parties.

On April 9, 2005, in La Presse, I reiterated this opinion, which
appeared to me to be even more relevant, given the experience
gained in this area. In fact, financing by the public, or going door
to door, is no longer enough to cover the increasingly high cost of
election campaigns, especially the ever increasing cost of TV
advertising.

Despite the scandals that have surfaced in this area, it is still
today relatively simple to get around the Quebec Election Act. All
that the head of a corporation, a lawyer’s office or an engineering
firm has to do, for example, is ask members of the board or senior
managers to make the maximum contribution that a voter can
make using his or her own means under Quebec legislation to the
political party management supports, in other words $3,000. All
management has to do after that is to reimburse these donations
to all individuals who complied, willingly or even by force, with
the request, by thinking of various accounting methods, such as
creating fictitious defense accounts.

Obviously, proceeding that way is illegal. It is blatantly
unethical. Nevertheless, it remains very difficult, even
impossible in many circumstances, for the chief electoral officer
to establish proof and subsequently obtain a court conviction.

plusieurs articles dans des publications telles que le The Hill Times
et est l’auteur d’un livre intitulé The Law of Government: The
Legal Foundations of Canadian Democracy.

[Français]

Le comité tient à vous remercier de votre présence. Je vous cède
maintenant la parole et ensuite nous passerons à une période de
questions et de discussions qui sera, je sais, très utile, pour les
membres du comité. Vous avez maintenant la parole,
Monsieur Côté.

Pierre F. Côté, ancien directeur général des élections du Québec,
à titre personnel: Merci, monsieur le président. Il y a
principalement deux sujets que je désirerais aborder avec vous
ce matin à propos du projet de loi C-2. En premier lieu, je veux
exprimer mon désaccord sur l’article 43 de ce projet de loi qui
abroge l’article 404.1 de la Loi électorale du Canada, lequel
permettait aux personnes morales et aux syndicats de contribuer
financièrement à un ou à des partis politiques.

J’ai occupé le poste de directeur général des élections du
Québec pendant 19 ans, ayant pris ma retraite en 1997. Cela ne
m’a pas empêché d’émettre publiquement l’opinion que l’on
devrait permettre aux personnes morales, par opposition aux
personnes physiques, de contribuer financièrement au processus
électoral canadien. Je crois, en effet, qu’il est illusoire de croire
que l’interdiction émise par le projet de loi ne sera pas contournée
d’une manière ou d’une autre. C’est même inévitable.

Le 25 novembre 1999, lors d’un colloque sur l’éthique et les
conflits d’intérêts, sous les auspices du Centre d’étude Noël
Mailloux en éthique et psychologie, j’ai déclaré ce qui suit:

Le financement populaire ne suffit plus à combler les
besoins des partis politiques.

Le 9 avril 2005, dans le journal La Presse, j’ai de nouveau
exprimé cette opinion, qui m’apparaissait encore plus pertinente,
étant donné l’expérience acquise en la matière. En effet, le
financement populaire ou, si long veut, le porte-à-porte ne suffit
plus à rencontrer les coûts de plus en plus élevés des campagnes
électorales, en particulier ceux toujours croissants de la publicité
télévisée.

Encore aujourd’hui, et malgré les scandales qui ont pu émerger
à ce sujet, il est relativement simple de contourner la Loi électorale
du Québec. La direction d’une entreprise, d’un bureau d’avocats
ou d’une firme d’ingénieurs, par exemple, n’a qu’à demander aux
membres de son conseil d’administration ou à ses cadres
supérieurs de verser au parti politique qu’elle appuie la
contribution maximale qu’un électeur peut faire à même ses
propres biens en vertu de la loi québécoise, soit la somme de
3 000 dollars. Elle n’aura pas, par la suite, à rembourser ces dons
à tous les individus qui se sont pliés, de gré ou même de force, à sa
requête, en imaginant différentes méthodes comptables, comme la
création de comptes de défenses fictifs.

C’est évidemment illégal de procéder ainsi. Il s’agit d’un
manque d’éthique flagrant. Néanmoins, il demeure très difficile,
voire impossible dans plusieurs circonstances, pour le directeur
général des élections, d’en faire la preuve et d’obtenir par la suite
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For legislation to be effective, we must be able to enforce it,
otherwise it is meaningless. And it cannot simply just be an
expression of good intentions. Bill C-2, which is based on the
provisions of 1977 Quebec Elections Act, seems to want to repeat
the same mistakes. I do not think it would be desirable to increase
this financial contribution from the state to political parties —
which is already rather high — without running the risk of
affecting political parties’ independence.

How, therefore, can we enable corporations and unions to
make financial contributions to political parties without that
being perceived as an attempt to buy influence?

In my view, the solution means considering these corporations
and unions as corporate citizens, who have an interest in
participating in the development of democracy.

In this regard, I see two ways of resolving this dilemma. The
first would allow them to contribute a maximum amount that
could, for example, be a multiple of the maximum amount
allowed for individuals. That amount could be put into the Chief
Electoral Officer’s trust fund. It would then be his duty to
distribute the amounts to the political parties on a prorated basis
based on the number of votes obtained by them in the last general
election.

The other way would be to allow them to freely contribute to
the political parties of their choice, up to an authorized maximum
amount.

In both cases, the contributions would be made public. That
would eliminate any pressure that could be brought to bear on
these corporations to encourage them to contribute more secretly.
They will be able to say: ‘‘No thank you, I have already
contributed.’’

Second, I would like to bring to your attention a section of the
Canada Elections Act that was ignored in Bill C-2. I am referring
to section 24 which deals with the appointment of returning
officers for each electoral district. A bill like Bill C-2, with the
stated objective of restoring some transparency to the Canadian
electoral system, should put an end to this highly partisan exercise
that might tarnish the credibility, even the objectiveness of local
election administrators.

In that regard, the bill should follow Quebec’s example and
proceed by way of public competitions rather than by cabinet
decisions. The aqct should also include provisions to mandate a
jury selected by the Chief Electoral Officer to assess, among other
things, how much good judgment the candidates who received the
best marks on the written exam have. The person selected by the
jury for the position in each of the 308 electoral districts in
Canada should then be appointed for a ten-year term to ensure
this person has the independence he or she needs to carry out the
required duties.

une condamnation du tribunal. Pour qu’une loi soit efficace, on
doit nécessairement pouvoir l’appliquer sans quoi, elle ne veut
rien dire. Elle ne peut non plus n’être que l’expression de bonnes
intentions. Pourtant le projet de loi C-2, qui s’inspire des
dispositions de la Loi électorale du Québec de 1977, semble
vouloir répéter les mêmes erreurs. Je ne crois pas qu’il soit
souhaitable d’augmenter cette contribution financière de l’État
aux partis politiques — déjà passablement élevée — sans risquer
d’affecter l’indépendance des partis politiques.

Comment alors procéder pour permettre aux personnes
morales et aux syndicats de contribuer financièrement aux
partis politiques sans que cela ne soit perçu comme l’achat
d’influence ?

La solution, à mon avis, consiste à considérer ces personnes
morales et ces syndicats comme des citoyens corporatifs, qui ont
intérêt à participer au développement de la démocratie.

À ce titre, j’envisage deux façons de résoudre ce dilemme. La
première leur permettrait de verser un montant maximum qui
pourrait être, par exemple, un multiple du montant maximal
permis aux personnes physiques. Ce montant serait versé dans un
fonds en fiducie du directeur général des élections. Celui-ci aurait
alors le devoir de distribuer ces sommes aux partis politiques au
prorata des votes obtenus par ceux-ci lors de la dernière élection
générale.

L’autre façon leur laisserait librement le choix de contribuer à
la caisse des partis politiques de leur choix, jusqu’à concurrence
d’un montant maximum autorisé.

Mais dans l’un et l’autre cas, ces contributions seraient rendues
publiques. De cette façon, toute pression qu’on voudrait exercer
sur ces personnes morales pour qu’elles contribuent davantage en
sous-main serait écartée. Elles pourront alors dire: «Non merci,
j’ai déjà donné.».

En deuxième lieu, j’aimerais soumettre à votre réflexion un
article de la Loi électorale du Canada qui est passé sous silence
dans le projet de loi C-2. Il s’agit de l’article 24 qui porte sur la
nomination des directeurs et directrices du scrutin pour chaque
circonscription électorale. Un projet de loi comme le projet de
loi C-2, qui affirme vouloir restaurer une certaine transparence
dans le système électoral canadien, devrait mettre un terme à cet
exercice hautement partisan qui est susceptible d’entacher la
crédibilité, voire l’objectivité des administrateurs locaux des
élections.

En cela, le projet de loi devrait suivre l’exemple du Québec et
procéder par voie de concours public plutôt que par une décision
du conseil des ministres. La loi devrait ainsi prévoir des
dispositions mandatant un jury choisi par le directeur général
des élections d’évaluer, entre autres, le bon jugement des
candidats qui ont obtenu les meilleures notes à un examen écrit.
La personne que ce jury choisira pour le poste dans chacune des
308 circonscriptions électorales du Canada devrait alors être
nommée d’office pour un mandat de dix ans afin de lui assurer
l’indépendance dont elle a tant besoin pour exercer ses fonctions.
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[English]

The Chairman: Mr. Freeman, please proceed.

Aaron Freeman, Professor, University of Ottawa, Faculty of
Law, as an individual: Honourable senators, I have been asked to
focus my remarks on the electoral finance provisions in
Bill C-2, which I am happy to address. I am also quite familiar
with other parts of the bill, as well as important aspects that are
absent from the bill which I think are significant.

With regard to election finance, Bill C-2 contains some
important elements. First, the bill would reduce the individual
donation limit from $5,000 to $1,000. Individuals would be
allowed to donate $1,000 per year to a registered party and an
additional $1,000 combined total to riding associations,
nomination contestants and candidates in an election.
Individuals may also donate an additional $1,000 to party
leadership contestants.

Second, candidates and leadership and nomination
contestants will only be able to self-finance their campaigns up
to $2,000, down from the current $10,000.

Third, there will be a total ban on donations from
corporations, unions and other associations rather than the
current partial ban, which allows donations up to $1,000 to
candidates and riding associations.

Fourth, the long-standing trust fund loophole will be tightened
significantly. This is a major loophole in the current system that
allows secret and unlimited donations that can cover a wide range
of activities that can benefit candidates.

Fifth, instead of being named by the Governor-in-Council,
chief returning officers will be named by an independent process
established by the Chief Electoral Officer. I should note that this
issue has long been a recommendation of the Chief Electoral
Officer, all parties in opposition in the last Parliament and
virtually every independent commentator. Few advanced
democracies would allow those who administer elections to be
named by the government of the day.

Other provisions include a ban on cash donations of more
than $20, the extension of gift-giving rules to candidates and an
increase in the statute of limitations on prosecuting election
offences.

I will confine the remainder of my remarks to the first three
provisions mentioned above on significantly reduced donation
limits. We have already seen the democratizing effect of reducing
the size of political donations. Before the 2003 reforms were
brought in, there were no limits on the amount that could be given
to parties and candidates. We had a situation where, according to
the Chief Electoral Officer, 45 per cent of party revenues came
from only 3 per cent of the donors.

A small number of wealthy donors creates a situation whereby
parties and candidates have a dangerous level of reliance on those
with the greatest stake in the political process. Research I

[Traduction]

Le président: Monsieur Freeman, vous avez la parole.

Aaron Freeman, professeur, Université d’Ottawa, Faculté de
droit, à titre personnel: Honorables sénateurs, on m’a
demandé d’axer mes observations sur les dispositions du projet
de loi C-2 qui portent sur le financement électoral, ce que je suis
heureux de faire. Je connais aussi assez bien d’autres partis du
projet de loi ainsi que les aspects importants qui n’y apparaissent
pas mais qui, selon moi, sont nécessaires.

En ce qui concerne le financement électoral, on retrouve
plusieurs éléments importants dans le projet de loi C-2. D’abord,
on limite les contributions des particuliers à 1 000 $ plutôt
que 5 000 $. Les particuliers pourront donner 1 000 $ par an
à un parti enregistré ainsi qu’une somme supplémentaire
de 1 000 $ aux associations de circonscriptions, aux candidats à
l’investiture et aux candidats aux élections. Ils pourront également
donner 1 000 $ aux candidats à la chefferie d’un parti.

Deuxièmement, les candidats à la chefferie et à l’investiture ne
pourront autofinancer leur campagne qu’à hauteur de 2 000 $, le
chiffre actuel étant de 10 000 $.

Troisièmement, on interdit les contributions des entreprises,
des syndicats et autres associations, alors qu’actuellement, elles
peuvent faire des contributions de 1 000 $ maximum aux
candidats et aux associations de circonscriptions.

Quatrièmement, l’échappatoire de longue date permise par les
fonds en fiducie sera grandement corrigée. Le système actuel
permet des contributions secrètes et illimitées pour toute une série
d’activités qui peuvent profiter aux candidats.

Cinquièmement, plutôt que d’être nommés par les gouverneurs
en conseil, les directeurs de scrutin seront choisis par un processus
indépendant établi par le directeur général des élections. Je tiens à
signaler que le directeur général des élections, tous les partis
d’opposition lors de la dernière législature et presque tous les
observateurs indépendants recommandent cette solution depuis
longtemps. Il y a très peu de démocratie avancée qui permettent
au gouvernement du jour de nommer les responsables des
élections.

Le projet de loi C-2 comporte d’autres dispositions,
dont une interdiction des contributions en argent comptant de
plus de 20 $, l’application des règles régissant les cadeaux aux
candidats et des limites supplémentaires pour les poursuites dans
le cas d’infractions à la Loi électorale.

Je centrerai le reste de mes observations sur les trois premières
dispositions mentionnées plus tôt, celles qui portent sur les limites
des contributions. Nous avons déjà observé l’incidence
démocratique d’une réduction des contributions politiques.
Avant la réforme de 2003, il n’existait aucune limite sur les
sommes que l’on pouvait donner aux partis et aux candidats. À
cette époque, selon le directeur général des élections, 45 p. 100 des
recettes des partis venaient de seulement 3 p. 100 de donateurs.

Lorsqu’un petit nombre de riches donateurs contribuent au
processus politique, les partis et les candidats dépendent
dangereusement de ces personnes, qui contrôlent pratiquement
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conducted in 2002 showed that of the top 25 government
contractors, two thirds were major donors to the governing
party and the ratio of donations to that party versus all other
parties combined was six to one. At the local riding level that ratio
was actually thirty to one. There are similar patterns with
regulated industries, such as banks and telecommunications, and
research also shows a strong correlation between donors and
companies that maintain a significant lobbying presence in
Ottawa.

While none of this is direct proof of corruption in the political
process, it is a strong indicator that when major donors give it is
not simply out of a sense of civic duty, but with the expectation
that they will get something in return. At the very least, we can
safely say that donations buy access. One indicator of this is that
most politicians readily admit that they will place a priority on
returning calls from their major supporters. This is particularly a
problem with ministers who wield the power of the executive in
our system of government.

Reducing the limit to $1,000 liberates MPs from the pressures
of giving high-end donors preferential treatment. Certainly
$1,000 is a far cry from the six-figure sums that until just three
years ago were routinely donated to political parties. Consider
that we still have a situation where less than 1 per cent of
Canadians are donating to political parties. There is ample room
for parties to expand their fund-raising efforts that I think will be
more successful as parties earn the trust of Canadians more
generally.

I will touch on two areas where Bill C-2 can be improved, the
first being to increase the free broadcast time allocated to parties.
The cost of running for office has been rising for at least three
decades and the largest component of that cost for parties is
broadcast advertising, by far. With the reduction in the donation
limits, political parties may simply have to learn how to do more
with less, but measures can be put in place to help parties with
that effort. The free broadcast time currently given to parties can
be greatly increased, in terms of both the number of broadcast
minutes provided and the number of broadcast outlets included in
the regime.

The number one election expense, as I mentioned, is broadcast
advertising. Requiring broadcasters to give parties space on the
airwaves to air their election messages can greatly reduce party
election expenditures. The second measure is to reduce disclosure
delays. Bill C-2 does not address the lengthy periods between
when donations are made and when they are disclosed. While the
2003 reforms went some distance in reducing these lag times,
parties and candidates still do not have to report their donations
before the vote takes place. With standardized computer software
that can be supplied by the Chief Electoral Officer and that
uploads automatically onto the Elections Canada website, there
would no longer be a technical reason for not having pre-vote
donations disclosed. A ban on donations in the last week of the

le processus électoral. D’après une étude que j’ai menée
en 2002, des cinq principaux agents contractuels du
gouvernement, les deux tiers étaient des grands donateurs au
parti au pouvoir et le ratio des contributions à ce parti par
opposition à tous les autres partis combinés était de six pour un.
Pour ce qui est des circonscriptions locales, ce ratio était de trente
pour un. On observe des schémas semblables dans les secteurs
règlementés, comme les banques et les communications et les
études montrent également une corrélation importante entre les
donateurs et les entreprises qui font du lobbying à Ottawa.

Tout cela ne prouve pas directement que le processus politique
est corrompu, mais cela montre que lorsque les grands donateurs
font des contributions, ce n’est pas uniquement par devoir
civique, mais parce qu’ils attendent quelque chose en retour.
Nous pouvons au moins dire que les dons achètent un accès. À
preuve, la plupart des hommes politiques admettent que retourner
les appels des grands partisans est une priorité. C’est surtout un
problème pour les ministres, qui exercent un pouvoir exécutif sur
notre système gouvernemental.

Réduire la limite des contributions à 1 000 $ libère les députés
de l’obligation d’accorder à leurs donateurs un traitement
préférentiel. Nous sommes bien loin des sommes à six chiffres
encore permises il y a seulement trois ans que l’on donnait aux
partis politiques. Pensez qu’aujourd’hui, moins d’un pour cent des
Canadiens donnent aux partis politiques. Les partis ont largement
la possibilité de multiplier leurs efforts en matière de financement,
ce qui, à mon avis, sera plus efficace, car ils pourront gagner la
confiance de tous les Canadiens.

Je vais parler à présent de deux choses qui pourraient être
améliorées dans le projet de loi C-2. D’abord, il faudrait
augmenter le temps d’antenne gratuit accordé aux partis. Le
coût d’une campagne électorale a augmenté depuis les trente
dernières années et l’élément le plus onéreux est de loin la
publicité télévisée. En réduisant les limites des contributions, les
partis politiques devront apprendre à déployer plus d’efforts avec
moins de ressources, mais nous pouvons mettre en place des
mesures pour les aider. Le temps d’antenne gratuit actuellement
accordé aux partis pourrait augmenter. Il s’agirait de leur fournir
des minutes supplémentaires et d’assujettir davantage de chaînes
de télévision au régime.

Comme je l’ai dit, la dépense électorale la plus importante, c’est
la publicité télévisée. Si l’on exige des télédiffuseurs d’accorder
aux partis du temps d’antenne pour diffuser leurs messages
électoraux, nous pouvons grandement réduire les dépenses
électorales des partis. Deuxièmement, il faudrait réduire les
délais de divulgation. Le projet de loi C-2 ne permet pas de
régler le problème des délais entre le moment où la contribution
est accordée et le moment où elle est divulguée. Les réformes
de 2003 ont permis de réduire quelque peu ces délais mais les
partis et les candidats ne sont toujours pas tenus de divulguer
leurs dons avant le vote. Avec des logiciels informatiques
normalisés qui pourraient être fournis par le directeur général
des élections, on pourrait charger les données automatiquement
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campaign would give parties and candidates the time needed to
get this information to Elections Canada and up on the website
within two days before the vote.

I know that this session deals specifically with electoral finance,
but some of the most serious weaknesses in Bill C- 2 involve what
it does not deal with. The most significant of these is access to
information. Perhaps there is no other area of democratic reform
in Canada where there is more of a consensus on both the need
for reform and the areas that reform should focus on. I would
urge the committee to look closely at the recommendations of the
Gomery commission, as well as academics such as Alasdair
Roberts and successive reports going back two decades from the
Information Commissioner of Canada.

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I hope you find
these reflections useful. I would be happy to address your
questions and otherwise help in any way I can.

The Chairman: Thank you both for two very excellent
presentations. Your final remarks were about access to
information. You probably do not know this, but when this
committee meets again, it will be devoting a substantial period of
time to that subject matter, along with issues of lobbying,
whistle-blowing and so on. We are just getting into our hearings
now and we have much further to go. Today we are dealing more
with the matters discussed in your first three points and as
discussed by Mr. Côté. Thank you for raising your concerns.

Senator Zimmer: Thank you for your appearance today, and
the history and wisdom that you bring here with you.

For corporate donations, the limit currently is $1,000. You
have gone the other way. You recommend $15,000. How did you
arrive at that figure? There has been talk about going back to
$5,000 but you have gone beyond that, up to $15,000. How did
you come up with that recommendation?

[Translation]

Mr. Côté: An individual can currently contribute $1,000. But
for a corporation, a business, a lawyer’s office or an engineering
firm, it would be, in my opinion, a multiple amount, which could
be $5,000, $10,000 or $15,000 as a maximum that a business could
contribute.

[English]

Senator Zimmer: You talked about ways of raising it. One was
through a trust fund system and the second was through direct
donations. I missed part of that process. On your second method,
could you clarify the process of raising the funds and what process
you are using to donate directly?

sur le site Web d’Élections Canada, ce qui permettrait de
divulguer les dons bien avant le vote. Si l’on interdit les
contributions pendant la dernière semaine de la campagne, les
partis et candidats auraient le temps nécessaire pour fournir cette
information à Élections Canada, qui pourrait la charger sur son
site Web dans les deux jours précédents le scrutin.

Je sais que cette séance porte uniquement sur le financement
électoral, mais certaines des plus importantes faiblesses du projet
de loi C-2 résident dans les omissions. Parmi ces lacunes, il y a
l’accès à l’information. Dans le domaine de la réforme
démocratique au Canada, tout le monde est d’accord pour dire
qu’il faut une réforme de l’accès à l’information. J’exhorte le
comité d’examiner avec soin les recommandations de la
Commission Gomery, ainsi que celles des universitaires comme
Alasdair Roberts, et d’étudier les rapports des 20 dernières
années du commissaire à l’information du Canada.

Monsieur le président, mesdames et messieurs les membres du
comité, j’espère que ces réflexions vous ont été utiles. Je serais
heureux de répondre à vos questions ou de vous aider de quelque
façon que ce soit.

Le président: Merci messieurs de vos deux excellentes
présentations. Vos remarques finales portaient sur l’accès à
l’information. Vous ne le savez peut-être pas, mais lorsque ce
comité se réunira la prochaine fois, il accordera beaucoup de
temps à cette question, ainsi qu’au lobbying, à la dénonciation, et
cetera Nous commençons à peine nos audiences et il nous reste
beaucoup de travail. Aujourd’hui, nous parlons plutôt des
questions qui concernent vos trois premiers points et la
présentation de M. Côté. Merci de nous avoir fait part de vos
préoccupations.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Merci de votre comparution, de votre
récit et de la sagesse dont vous faites preuve.

Pour les dons des sociétés, la limite est actuellement
de 1 000 $. Vous prenez le parti inverse et vous recommandez
de fixer la limite à 15 000 $. Comment en êtes-vous arrivé à ce
chiffre? On a suggéré de la laisser à 5 000 $, mais vous allez bien
au-delà en proposant 15 000 $. Qu’est-ce qui vous a amené à cette
recommandation?

[Français]

M. Côté: Ce qui est permis actuellement, c’est 1 000 $ pour une
personne physique. Mais pour une personne morale, une
entreprise, un bureau d’avocats ou d’ingénieurs, il s’agirait, à
mon avis, d’avoir un multiple de ce 1 000 $ qui pourrait être de
5 000 $, 10 000 $ ou 15 000 $ comme maximum que pourrait
verser une entreprise.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Zimmer: Vous avez évoqué plusieurs formes
d’augmentation, notamment un fonds de fiducie et des dons
directs. Une partie de vos explications m’a échappé. Sur la
deuxième méthode, pouvez-vous préciser comment on va faire
augmenter les fonds et quelle formule vous utilisez pour les dons
directs?
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[Translation]

Mr. Côté: If it is put into a trust account held by the Chief
Electoral Officer, the trust account has the advantage for a
corporation of contributing to all political parties indifferently,
because these amounts would be distributed on a prorated basis
according to the votes received by each of the political parties.

If one does not agree with the first solution, the other option
would be to enable a corporation, or a union, to contribute
directly to a political party, but there again, up to a clearly fixed
maximum amount.

In either case, what is important is that these contributions
would have to be made public. That way, it would prevent
attempts to obtain additional money from corporations
indirectly. What is unfortunate in Quebec is that companies,
corporations, easily sidestep the act. As I mentioned earlier, if you
take 10 members of a board for example and ask them each to
contribute $3,000 of their own money, but you are unable to
prove it. We have already seen companies reimburse donors for
their contributions.

[English]

Mr. Freeman: I am sorry to take up your time on the question,
Senator Zimmer.

There are several elements of corporate, union and other
organizations when they donate that should be explored. While
corporations are legal persons, they are not human beings. This is
the same for other organizations. There are two important
elements of that. The first is that they are spending other peoples’
money, in most cases. In the case of corporations, they are
spending their shareholders’ money, usually without their
permission. In the case of unions, they are sharing their
members’ money. This is evidenced by the unions who donate
to the New Democratic Party while their members tend to vote
for other parties, and similarly with other organizations.

The second element to that is, because they are not human
beings, they do not have the right to vote and should not have the
right to vote. An extension of that, certainly not legally but
philosophically, is that they should not have the right to try to
influence the democratic process in other ways.

I understand the practical reason why some argue that
corporations and unions should be allowed to donate, but I am
not convinced that the practical reasons address a meaningful
problem. I think there is some level of abuse in the Quebec and
Manitoba systems, but I am not convinced that that level of abuse
happens on a scale that is corrupting the political process to any
significant degree.

With the donation limit low enough, I do not think that will
happen. Again, from a practical and business perspective, it is just
not worth the trouble. With the anti-avoidance provisions in

[Français]

M. Côté: Si c’est déposé dans un compte en fiducie du directeur
général des élections, la fiducie présente l’avantage pour une
entreprise de contribuer à tous les partis politiques
indifféremment, parce que le résultat de ces sommes serait
réparti au prorata des votes à chacun des partis politiques.

Si on n’est pas d’accord avec cette première solution, l’autre
façon serait de permettre à une personne morale, un syndicat, de
contribuer directement à un parti politique, mais là encore jusqu’à
un maximum bien déterminé.

Dans l’un ou l’autre de ces cas, ce qui est important, c’est que
ces contributions seraient obligatoirement rendues publiques. On
éviterait ainsi, de façon indirecte, d’aller chercher plus d’argent de
la part des entreprises. Ce qui est malheureux au Québec, c’est que
les entreprises, les personnes morales contournent assez
facilement la loi. Comme je l’ai déjà mentionné, si on prend, au
sein d’un conseil d’administration, par exemple, dix membres, on
leur dit de verser chacun 3 000 $ à même leurs propres biens, mais
sans être capable de le prouver. Cela s’est déjà vu, des
remboursements faits par l’entreprise à ses donateurs.

[Traduction]

M. Freeman: Vous m’excuserez d’accaparer le temps qui vous
est accordé sur cette question, sénateur Zimmer.

Il faudrait étudier plusieurs questions concernant les dons des
sociétés, des syndicats et autres organismes. Les sociétés sont des
entités juridiques, mais ce ne sont pas des êtres humains. Il en va
de même des autres organismes. Deux éléments importants en
découlent: tout d’abord, dans la plupart des cas, les sociétés
dépensent l’argent des autres. En l’occurrence, elles dépensent
l’argent de leurs actionnaires, généralement sans leur permission.
Dans le cas des syndicats, ils partagent l’argent de leurs adhérents.
C’est ce qu’on voit dans le cas des syndicats qui font des dons au
Nouveau Parti démocratique, alors que leurs adhérents ont
tendance à voter pour d’autres partis, et on observe la même
chose pour d’autres organismes.

Le deuxième élément, c’est que, comme il ne s’agit pas d’êtres
humains, ces organismes n’ont pas le droit de vote et ne sauraient
l’avoir. Il en résulte, non pas juridiquement mais sur le plan des
principes, qu’elles ne devraient pas avoir le droit d’intervenir par
d’autres moyens dans le processus démocratique.

Je comprends le motif pratique qui amène certaines personnes
à demander que les sociétés et les syndicats soient autorisés à faire
des dons, mais je ne suis pas convaincu que ces considérations
pratiques apportent une réponse au problème fondamental. Je
pense que les formules appliquées au Québec et au Manitoba
donnent lieu à certains abus, mais je ne suis pas convaincu que ces
abus soient d’une ampleur telle qu’ils aient un effet marqué de
corruption sur le processus politique.

Si la limite des dons est placée suffisamment bas, je ne pense
pas que ce danger existe. Encore une fois, d’un point de vue
pratique et d’un point de vue d’affaire, il n’y a pas lieu de se
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place, I just do not think the abuse is significant. I have seen no
evidence in the 25-year history of the Quebec law that this is
happening on a scale that we need to really worry about.

The Chairman: In fairness, Mr. Côté should have an opportunity
to respond to that because he raised the very interesting concept of
corporate citizenship for trade unions. Mr. Côté, I would like to
hear from you in response to Professor Freeman.

[Translation]

Mr. Côté: You must make a distinction between two things:
contributions from an individual and contributions from a
corporation, a business, or a union. In law, if I am not
mistaken, at least in Quebec, when we talk about corporations,
it is as opposed to an individual, and it refers to a company, a law
or engineering firm, or anything that is not an individual and
which acts as a group or an organization. Of course, the difficulty
lies in the fact that contributions from individuals, are no longer
enough to offset the rising costs of election campaigns, especially
costs that always continue to go up, such as TV advertising, or the
involvement of TV. The implication, as was suggested, that the
public broadcaster provides more air time does not prevent
political parties, in other areas of the country, from turning to
private broadcasters to advertise their messages. But the cost of
these messages is constantly rising. That is the main reason why
people in Quebec have attempted to get around the act in the way
I mentioned.

Of course, proceeding that way is neither ethical nor legal, but
one must be practical and see that that is the way it is happening.
We must try to find some solutions, and that is why I have made
suggestions.

[English]

Senator Zimmer: If I could add to that, you hit on the point
that I was going to raise with my second question, and that was
what Mr. Côté said. That is the first time I have heard it in this
way, and that is that they are corporate citizens. They are citizens.
Mr. Freeman, to respond to your comment, I have had many
companies right across the country email and write me and say,
‘‘We do vote. We vote through the process of making a
democratic contribution to the democratic process of this
country through our company as a corporate citizen. By taking
that away from us, we are not able or allowed to express that
democratic right.’’ There could be a certain government here in
Ottawa whose ideas of fiscal responsibility they like, or another
issue. Taking away that right takes away the democratic right of
making a contribution to a government they want to run this
country.

Though the two of you are sitting close together, there is quite
a gap in the amounts of $15,000 versus $1,000.

donner tout ce mal. Une fois les dispositions anti-évitement en
vigueur, il ne devrait pas y avoir d’abus importants. Au cours des
25 dernières années au Québec, je n’ai pas constaté d’abus d’une
ampleur telle qu’il faille s’en préoccuper.

Le président: En toute équité, il faut donner à M. Côté l’occasion
de vous répondre, car il a évoqué la notion très intéressante de
citoyenneté sociale pour les syndicats. Monsieur Côté, j’aimerais
entendre votre réponse au professeur Freeman.

[Français]

M. Côté: Il faut bien distinguer deux choses: les contributions
d’une personne physique et celles d’une personne morale, ou
d’une entreprise, ou d’un syndicat. En droit, si je ne me trompe
pas, au moins au Québec, quand on parle de personnes morales,
c’est opposé à une personne physique, et c’est une entreprise, un
bureau d’avocats ou d’ingénieurs, ou tout ce qui n’est pas une
personne physique et qui agit comme groupe ou organisation.
Évidemment, la difficulté vient du fait que les contributions
venant des personnes physiques, des individus, ne suffisent plus à
rencontrer les exigences des coûts croissants des campagnes
électorales, en particulier des coûts qui vont toujours en
augmentant, des annonces à la télévision, par exemple, ou
l’implication de la télévision. L’implication, comme il a été
suggéré, que la télévision d’État accorde plus de temps d’antenne
n’empêchera pas les partis politiques d’avoir recours, dans
différents coins du pays, à des télévisions privées de diffuser des
messages publicitaires. Or, ces messages ne font qu’augmenter
constamment. C’est la principale raison pour laquelle, au Québec,
on a essayé de contourner la loi de la façon que j’ai mentionnée.

Évidemment, ce n’est ni éthique ni légal de procéder comme
cela, mais il faut être pratique et voir que c’est de cette façon que
cela se produit. Il faut essayer de trouver des solutions, d’où mes
suggestions.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Zimmer: Si vous me permettez de continuer, vous
abordez un argument que j’allais soulever dans ma deuxième
question, et qui nous ramène aux propos de M. Côté. C’est la
première fois que j’entends l’argument formulé de cette façon, à
savoir qu’il s’agit de ce qu’on appelle des « citoyens corporatifs ».
Ce sont des citoyens. Pour répondre à vos propos,
monsieur Freeman, je vous signale que de nombreuses sociétés
canadiennes m’ont écrit et m’ont fait parvenir des courriels où
elles disaient: « Nous votons. Nous votons par l’entremise d’une
contribution démocratique au processus démocratique de ce pays
en notre qualité de « citoyen corporatif ». Si nous sommes privés
de cette possibilité, nous ne pourrons plus exprimer notre droit
démocratique. » Il peut y avoir ici, à Ottawa, un gouvernement
dont les sociétés apprécient les idées sur la responsabilité fiscale
ou sur un autre sujet. Il ne faut pas les priver du droit
démocratique de faire une contribution au gouvernement
qu’elles souhaitent voir gérer le pays.

Vous avez beau être assis côte à côte, il y a tout un fossé à
franchir pour passer de 1 000 $ à 15 000 $.
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Based on those comments, could you expand a little further on
your rationale with the comments I just made as to why you
would eliminate the $1,000 corporation donation?

Mr. Freeman: I should preface my answer by saying that I have
tremendous respect for Mr. Côté, and I suspect we agree on a
range of issues in the area of electoral financing as I have read all
of his reports.

We do disagree on this issue, and we can speculate on where
the roots of that disagreement come from. I think there must be a
distinction drawn between a vote and an exercise of influence.

In the democratic process, we have certain rights that are
inalienable human rights. One of them is the right to vote. That is
the right that attaches only to human beings, philosophically and
legally. There is nothing inherent in a business organization or
another kind of incorporated or association entity that inherently
attracts the important expressive and democratic participation
elements of the right to vote. To try to extract what is a
fundamental human right and apply it to an entity that does not
contain the characteristics that attract that right is inappropriate.

Why is the figure of $1,000 suggested? There is no question that
$1,000 and $15,000 are arbitrary figures in terms of an individual
donation. I think the limit must be low enough such that it is
affordable for a Canadian on an average household income.
However, $1,000 is actually higher than that, but we must be
practical. I also think it must be low enough to discourage the
type of abuse that we have talked about in this committee and
that Mr. Côté has referred to.

I believe we have to accept, and maybe this is where we diverge,
that some level of abuse will take place. The key question for me is
whether that level of abuse is at such a significant amount that we
have to worry about it having a significant corrupting effect on
Canadian democracy.

If the level is low enough, it is simply not worth it for
companies to try to hide their donations through employees,
members or executives. It may happen at a small level, but I am
not convinced that it will happen at a significant level.

Senator Zimmer: Mr. Freeman, you made a comment that
refers to a company or corporation, and there is the perception of
influence. However, a voter can also influence. A voter can use
the same analogy and say, ‘‘I voted for you.’’ Most times people
do not relate to that. When they hear the word ‘‘influence’’ they
think ‘‘company.’’ Voters can also use that parameter and say, ‘‘I
voted for your government, now here is what I want.’’

We should always remember the fact that it can go both ways
and not just one way.

Senator Stratton: This is an interesting discussion with two
diverse opinions that seem to be taking place.

À partir de là, pouvez-vous préciser les raisons qui vous
amènent à demander l’élimination du don de 1 000 $ pour les
sociétés?

M. Freeman: En introduction à ma réponse, je dirais que j’ai le
plus grand respect pour M. Côté et je suppose que nous sommes
d’accord sur bien des sujets concernant le financement du
processus électoral.

Mais nous sommes en désaccord sur ce point, et on peut sans
doute spéculer sur l’origine de ce désaccord. Je pense qu’il faut
faire une distinction entre un vote et l’exercice d’une influence.

Dans le processus démocratique, il existe certains droits
inaliénables, et c’est notamment le cas du droit de vote. C’est
un droit qui n’est reconnu qu’aux êtres humains, tant sur le plan
juridique que sur celui des principes. Dans la définition d’une
société commerciale ou de toute autre forme d’entité constituée ou
d’association, on ne retrouve pas les éléments d’expression et de
participation au processus démocratique que comporte le droit de
vote. Il serait inapproprié de conférer un droit fondamental de la
personne à une entité qui ne présente pas les caractéristiques
afférentes à ce droit.

Pourquoi a-t-on proposé un montant de 1 000 $? Il ne
fait aucun doute que les montants de 1 000 $ et
de 15 000 $ applicables à des dons individuels sont
arbitraires. J’estime que la limite doit être placée suffisamment
bas pour être à la portée de tout Canadien au revenu moyen.
Pourtant, le montant de 1 000 $ est déjà supérieur à cette
limite, mais il faut rester pratique. Je pense également que la
limite doit être placée suffisamment bas pour exercer un effet
dissuasif à l’égard des abus dont il a été question ici et qu’a
dénoncés M. Côté.

Je pense qu’il faut accepter qu’il y aura toujours un certain
degré d’abus, même s’il y a divergence entre nous sur ce point.
L’essentiel pour moi est de savoir si ce degré d’abus est tel qu’on
doive craindre qu’il parvienne à corrompre la démocratie
canadienne.

Si ce niveau est suffisamment faible, les sociétés n’éprouveront
plus le besoin de dissimuler les dons qu’elles font par
l’intermédiaire de leurs employés ou de leurs dirigeants. Le
phénomène existe sans doute dans une modeste mesure, mais je ne
suis pas convaincu qu’il soit de grande ampleur.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur Freeman, vous avez fait un
commentaire sur une société, où il était question d’influence
perçue. Un électeur peut lui aussi exercer une influence. Il peut
utiliser le même argument et dire: « J’ai voté pour vous ». La
plupart du temps, ce n’est pas cette idée qui vient à l’esprit. Quand
on entend parler d’« influence », on pense à l’influence des
sociétés. Pourtant, les électeurs peuvent avancer le même
argument et dire: « J’ai voté pour votre gouvernement;
maintenant, voici ce que je veux ».

N’oublions pas que cet argument peut donc s’appliquer dans
les deux sens.

Le sénateur Stratton: Voilà un débat intéressant où deux
opinions se confrontent.
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When we look at this aspect of electoral financing,
Mr. Freeman hit the nail on the head when he said that
democratization of the financing system is what is at the core of
this bill. We must keep that in mind when we put things to each
other in discussing this entire issue. That is what this is all about.

Then there is the issue of what happens with companies. They
are losing their right to vote by contributing. I disagree with that.

I sat around the table as a partner in firms. Decisions would be
made as to this guy would contribute to the New Democratic
Party, that guy to the Liberals and that guy to the Conservatives.
It was always that kind of discussion. That really has not
changed. What has changed is the limit. For example, as a board
we are sitting around a table discussing the upcoming election.
People around the table as members of the board will say, ‘‘I do
not know about you guys, but I will contribute here.’’ It may be a
decision on the part of that group to say, ‘‘We will make a
collective decision to contribute to this party individually.’’ Then
they do so, up to $3,000 each. You are limiting the impact of that.
They are still exercising the right as a corporate board or business
to have that vote, but it is done through individual contributions.

I firmly believe that has not changed fundamentally. What we
have done is put a limit on it, and that is appropriate. We cannot
forget that. That is the impact this change will have. Therefore, I
do not see a problem with boards or companies having the ability
to make contributions.

With reference to the influence of getting around the electoral
law by coercing employees to contribute, one can keep that
private to a degree, but it will inevitably be revealed. An
individual will say, ‘‘Do you know what they just did to me?’’
He will go to the media and say ‘‘my board’’ or ‘‘my boss’’ and
you-know-what will hit the fan.

That will always happen. There will always be that cautionary
note as to the influence that a boss can have on an individual
because that individual can complain, and rightfully so.

I do not really buy into that argument. As Mr. Freeman has
said, if you have this influence, it will be minimal because the
contributions are lower. Therefore, the impact will be much less.

With the cost of running elections ever escalating, particularly
in the media, we forget there is $1.79 per vote for each party. We
forget that is now a significant contribution to political parties, to
look after the issue of corporate donations, large donors or the
ever-increasing costs of running an election. It is important to put
that into perspective. Fundamentally, it is the essence of
democratization of this process.

I would appreciate Mr. Côté’s response to what I have ranted
about, and Mr. Freeman could come back at me on this.

Sur cet aspect du financement des élections, M. Freeman a bien
raison de dire que la démocratisation du financement des élections
est au cœur même de ce projet de loi. Voilà ce qu’il faut garder à
l’esprit au cours du débat sur l’ensemble du sujet. C’est
fondamental.

Il y a aussi la question des sociétés. Elles vont perdre leur droit
de voter par l’intermédiaire d’une contribution. Moi, je ne suis pas
d’accord.

J’ai siégé en tant que partenaire dans différents conseils
d’administration. On décidait qu’un tel allait faire une
contribution au Nouveau Parti démocratique, un tel au Parti
libéral et un tel au Parti conservateur. On avait constamment ce
genre de discussions. Et rien n’a changé, sinon la limite. Par
exemple, nous pourrions être un conseil d’administration qui
discute des prochaines élections. L’un des membres du conseil dit:
« Je ne sais pas que ce que vous en pensez, mais je vais faire une
contribution à tel parti ». Certains membres du conseil pourront
dire alors: « Nous allons décider collectivement de faire une
contribution individuelle à tel parti ». Et c’est ce qu’ils font, à
raison de 3 000 $ chacun. Vous limitez cette possibilité. Le conseil
d’administration ou l’entreprise va toujours exercer un droit, par
l’intermédiaire de contributions individuelles.

Je suis convaincu qu’il n’y a pas eu de changement
fondamental à cet égard. On a simplement fixé la limite, et c’est
ce qu’il fallait faire. Ne l’oublions pas. Voilà les conséquences de
ce changement. Par conséquent, je ne vois pas quel problème cela
peut causer aux conseils d’administration ou aux sociétés, qui ont
la possibilité de faire des contributions.

En ce qui concerne le contournement de la Loi électorale
lorsque des employés sont contraints de faire des contributions, le
phénomène peut être plus ou moins occulté, mais il devra
inévitablement apparaître au grand jour. Quelqu’un va dire:
« Savez-vous ce qu’on vient de me faire? » Cette personne pourra
s’adresser aux médias pour dénoncer le conseil d’administration
ou le patron, et vous savez ce qui arrivera ensuite.

C’est inévitable. L’influence que peut exercer un patron sur un
employé est limitée, car ce dernier pourra toujours s’en plaindre,
et il aura raison de le faire.

Je n’accepte pas vraiment cet argument. Comme l’a dit
M. Freeman, si cette forme d’influence existe, elle sera minime,
car les contributions sont modestes. Par conséquent, elles auront
moins d’effet.

Les coûts d’une campagne électorale augmentent sans cesse, en
particulier les coûts des médias, mais n’oublions pas que chaque
parti reçoit 1,79 $ par voix obtenue. Nous avons tendance à
oublier cette contribution importante accordée aux partis
politiques pour mettre l’accent sur les dons des sociétés, sur les
gros donateurs et sur l’augmentation des coûts des campagnes
électorales. Il est essentiel de placer tout cela en perspective. Il
s’agit fondamentalement de la démocratisation du processus.

J’aimerais avoir la réponse de M. Côté puis les commentaires
de M. Freeman.
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[Translation]

Mr. Côté: No, except to reiterate that it is basically a matter of
principle. Should be allow a corporation — let’s call it that — an
organization, to contribute or not? The act stipulates that we must
not allow that. However given our experience in Quebec with
contributions, what we talked about earlier, coming from law or
engineering firms or members of boards, we have heard evidence,
but it has not been enough to enable us to take action because the
money contributed to the political parties came from their own
funds. It is extremely difficult to prove that the amounts
contributed have be reimbursed.

That is what occurs in practice. I noted that in the evidence I
heard doing the final years I was in my position. I realized that the
main difficulty with the situation was building a case. It would
take an army of officials to audit the accounts of all of those
companies. That is practically impossible.

Given the principles and the reality of the situation, let us allow
companies to contribute, but with very strict oversight, and above
all, that these contributions are made public. That way, a
company that will contribute will think twice. For example, if it
contributes to one party rather than another, that will appear in
the reports on funding as a contribution to a specific political
party. That is the downside of the second solution I am
proposing. The first is to contribute to everyone. No political
party is targeted directly.

I know that what I am advocating runs counter to a very
important principle. However, a bill cannot simply be a statement
of principle, it must also be enforceable. We realize that it is
difficult to find the offenders.

[English]

Mr. Freeman: I do not have a difficulty with the idea of having
a general fund that corporations and other organizations would
contribute into that would then be distributed on some kind of
democratic formula to political parties.

The Chairman: That could be through the CEO, perhaps.

Mr. Freeman: Yes, it could be through the CEO or some other
mechanism. The CEO would be the logical mechanism to do that.

However, I do not think that most corporations, unions and
other organizations would donate to the fund. If you were to ask
the vast majority of donors why they donated, it would be
because they were approached by a party or a candidate. Many
people in this room would have experience with that dynamic.

If I can illustrate some of the scenarios, let us take the first
example, which was the old system before the 2003 reforms. No
limits whatsoever were given. You had situations where multiple
subsidiaries of companies were giving six-figure donations to

[Français]

M. Côté: Non, sauf répéter ce que j’ai dit, c’est en effet une
question de principe, dans le fond. Est-ce qu’on doit permettre ou
non à une personne morale — appelons-la comme cela — à une
organisation, de contribuer? La loi dit qu’on ne doit pas le
permettre. Cependant pour ce qui est de l’expérience que l’on a au
Québec concernant les contributions, dont on a parlé tout à
l’heure, venant d’un bureau d’avocats, d’ingénieurs ou de
membres d’un conseil d’administration, on a un certain nombre
de témoignages, mais pas suffisamment probant pour pouvoir
entamer des poursuites selon lesquels cet argent versé aux partis
politiques vient de leurs propres fonds. Il est très difficile de
démontrer qu’il y a remboursement de ce montant versé.

C’est ce qui se produit dans la pratique. Je l’ai constaté lors des
nombreux témoignages que j’ai entendus pendant les dernières
années où j’étais en poste. J’ai remarqué que la grande difficulté
face à cette situation est d’établir la preuve. Cela prendrait une
armée de fonctionnaires pour vérifier la comptabilité de toutes les
entreprises. C’est pratiquement impossible.

Face aux principes et à la réalité des choses, permettons à ces
entreprises de contribuer, mais en les encadrant de façon très
stricte, et avant tout, que ces contributions soient rendues
publiques. À ce moment-là, une entreprise qui va contribuer va
y penser deux fois. Par exemple, si elle contribue à tel parti
politique plutôt qu’à tel autre, cela va apparaître dans les rapports
de financement comme étant une contribution accordée à tel parti
politique. C’est l’inconvénient de la deuxième solution que je
propose. La première, c’est de verser à tout le monde. Il n’y a pas
de parti politique visé directement.

Je sais que ce que je préconise est vraiment contre un principe
qui est très important. Cependant, un projet de loi ne peut pas
simplement faire un énoncé de principes, il faut que ce soit
applicable. On s’aperçoit qu’il est difficile de trouver les
contrevenants.

[Traduction]

M. Freeman: J’aime assez l’idée d’un fonds commun auquel
contribueraient les sociétés et les autres organismes, et dont le
contenu serait réparti selon une formule démocratique
quelconque entre les partis politiques.

Le président: Le directeur général des élections pourrait peut-
être s’en charger.

M. Freeman: Oui, on pourrait le confier au directeur général
des élections, ou envisager un autre mécanisme. La formule du
directeur général des élections me semble intéressante.

Cependant, je ne pense pas que la plupart des sociétés, des
syndicats et autres organismes soient prêts à contribuer à ce
fonds. Si les gens font un don, c’est le plus souvent parce qu’ils ont
été sollicités par un parti ou un candidat. La plupart des
personnes ici présentes connaissent bien cette dynamique.

Afin d’illustrer certains scénarios, prenons le premier
exemple de l’ancien système qui prévalait avant les réformes
de 2003. Aucune limite n’avait été fixée. Dans certains cas,
plusieurs filiales de sociétés donnaient des montants à six chiffres
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political parties. You had a situation that we could not imagine
under even the current system, let alone the system proposed by
the federal accountability act. You would literally have to have
200 or 300 employees donating $1,000 each to see the kinds of
numbers that we saw in 2002 and 2003. That is the first scenario.

The second scenario is if you had a limit of $1,000, let us
suppose that you do have some level of abuse. We are sitting in
that boardroom that Senator Stratton has described, and eight or
10 of us decide to make our donation. If eight or 10 of us are
sharing information about how we will make our donations, there
is no problem with that. We each donate $1,000, or $5,000 under
the current situation, and there is no difficulty with that. We are
donating as individuals and that is not an issue.

If we are actually donating on behalf of the firm, or if the firm
is reimbursing us, that is where we get into difficulty under the
act. That is what we are concerned about. The question is: Will
that happen? I agree that unless we hire an army of bureaucrats
we will not be able to nail all of the offenders who try to do this.
How much money are we talking about here? If we manage to do
that with 10 or 20 people, we are talking about $10,000 or
$20,000. It is a significant sum, and I am not trying to exaggerate,
but that is if the limit is $1,000. However, if the limit is
$15,000, then you are now moving towards $300,000; that is
significant. That is getting into the kind of environment we had
back before the previous round of reforms. That takes us back
through two rounds of reforms.

You have to look at the reality and what is likely to happen as
a result of where you set the limit.

[Translation]

Senator Joyal: Mr. Côté, in your presentation, based on your
more-than-20 years of experience enforcing the Act to govern the
financing of political parties, you reached some conclusions. The
retired judge, Jean Moisan, who last spring investigated
allegations similar to the ones we are talking about here this
morning — the participation of companies in financing political
parties — reached conclusions similar to yours. Could you
indicate, for the benefit of committee members, which
conclusions from the report by Justice Moisan, tabled in June,
appear to corroborate your understanding of how the Act to
govern the financing of political parties has been used in Quebec
for 20 years?

Mr. Côté: I must say that judge Moisan reached those
conclusions after a meeting with me where I shared my point of
view with him. He simply said that he agreed. In short, he
basically took what I am proposing and above all he took note of
the situation where people are rather happily and easily getting
around the Elections Act and the Act to govern the financing of
political parties in Quebec. What is somewhat discouraging in this
situation is that it appears to be increasing rather than decreasing.
So what can we do? What is the solution? It is not simple.

à des partis politiques. On avait une situation qui serait
inconcevable dans le cadre du système actuel, même en dehors
de ce que propose la loi fédérale sur la responsabilité. Dans
certains cas, il pouvait y avoir deux cents ou trois cents employés
qui donnaient 1 000 $ chacun, ce qui a permis d’atteindre les
montants constatés en 2003 et 2003. Voilà pour le premier
scénario.

Dan s l e d eux i ème s c éna r i o , on a une l im i t e
de 1 000 $; supposons maintenant qu’il existe un certain degré
d’abus. Supposons que nous formons le conseil d’administration
décrit par le sénateur Stratton, et 8 ou 10 d’entre nous décidons
de faire un don. Si nous partageons l’information concernant les
modalités du don, il n’y a pas de problème. Nous allons donner
chacun 1 000 $, ou 5 000 $, et il n’y aura pas de problème. Ce
sont des dons individuels qui ne posent pas de problème.

Mais en fait, si nous faisons un don au nom de l’entreprise et
que celle-ci nous rembourse, c’est là qu’on se heurte à une
difficulté aux termes de la loi. Et c’est ce qui nous préoccupe.
Reste à savoir si cette difficulté va se produire. Évidemment, à
moins d’engager une armée de fonctionnaires, on ne parviendra
pas à appréhender tous les auteurs d’infractions. De quel
montant est-il question ici? S’il s’agit d’une dizaine ou d’une
vingtaine d’employés, le montant sera de l’ordre de 10 000 $ ou
20 000 $. C’est un montant important, et je ne veux pas exagérer,
mais en l’occurrence, la limite est de 1 000 $. En revanche, si elle
est de 15 000 $, on atteint un total de 300 000 $; ce n’est pas
négligeable. Voilà le genre de situation qui prévalait avant les
réformes. Cela nous ramène à la situation d’avant les deux
derniers cycles de réforme.

Il faut voir la réalité en face et tenir compte des conséquences
vraisemblables de la limite que l’on fixe.

[Français]

Le sénateur Joyal:Monsieur Côté, dans votre présentation, sur
la base de votre expérience de plus de 20 ans sur l’application de la
Loi régissant le financement des partis politiques au Québec, vous
en avez tiré des conclusions. Le juge à la retraite, Jean Moisan,
qui a enquêté le printemps dernier sur des allégations semblables à
celles dont nous parlons ce matin, c’est-à-dire la participation des
entreprises au financement des partis politiques, est arrivé à des
conclusions semblables aux vôtres. Est-ce que vous pourriez
indiquer, pour le bénéfice des membres du comité, quelles sont les
conclusions du rapport du juge Moisan, déposé au mois de juin,
qui semblent corroborer votre propre enseignement de la pratique
de la Loi régissant le financement des partis politiques au Québec
pendant 20 ans?

M. Côté: Je dois dire que le juge Moisan est arrivé à ces
conclusions après m’avoir rencontré et où je lui ai fait part de mon
point de vue. Il a tout simplement dit qu’il était d’accord. En
somme, il reprend fondamentalement ce que je propose et surtout,
il fait le constat de la situation selon laquelle on contourne, assez
joyeusement et assez facilement, la Loi électorale et la Loi
régissant le financement des partis politiques au Québec. Ce qui
est un peu décourageant dans cette situation, c’est que cela semble
vouloir aller en augmentant plutôt qu’en diminuant. Alors quoi
faire? Quelle solution trouver? Ce n’est pas facile.
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Senator Joyal: As you know, the previous bill which amended
the Elections Act with regard to financing, Bill C-24, is very
recent. In fact, it was only implemented during the last election
campaign. Might I remind you that in essence this bill limited
individual donations to $5,000 at the federal level and corporate
donations to $1,000.

Since we have not yet learned everything that we might from
this bill, would it not be better to focus on these reforms and to
wait a few years to see, in practice, how it is enforced and whether
or not it meets the objectives for which it was implemented? After
that, we could make adjustments if necessary. It seems to me that
we are currently accumulating all kinds of reforms for financing
political parties without basing them on a practical assessment of
what these still very recent changes might produced or aimed to
achieve.

Mr. Côté: When the federal Elections Act was amended under
the Chrétien government, it was basically to replicate the
provincial act, and generally, to adopt the same provisions.

I am telling you about the problems we encounter. The Quebec
aqct to govern the financing of political parties has existed for at
least 30 years. It seems to me that it would be a shame for the
federal government to repeat the same unfortunate mistakes. The
Quebec act is not enforced properly. We should look at whether
that is likely to occur in other provinces. That could extent
throughout Canada. As you say, it might be better to experience it
and see, over time, what kind of remedies would be required.

[English]

Senator Joyal: Mr. Freeman, you have studied electoral
financing quite closely. Could you give us an outline of what
other countries in the Western world — to circumscribe the
reference — would have proposals as close as the ones we are
contemplating now? Are there any democratic countries that have
limits as stringent as those we are contemplating?

Mr. Freeman: Are you asking specifically in relation to the
donation limits and no other element of electoral financing?

Senator Joyal: Yes.

Mr. Freeman: Probably the closest country to ours on the issue
of limits — and this may surprise some people around the
table — is the United States. There are very strict limitations
comparable to ours on individual limits and corporate donation
limits as well.

Senator Joyal: Can you give the amounts?

Mr. Freeman: I will get the actual amounts wrong. I believe
they are in our book, but this is my nightmare scenario where
someone asks me a question that is in the book and I cannot
repeat it off the top of my head.

Le sénateur Joyal: Comme vous le savez, le précédent projet de
loi, qui amendait la Loi électorale au niveau du financement, le
projet de loi C-24, est très récent. En fait, il a été mis en
application seulement lors de la dernière campagne électorale. Je
vous rappelle l’essentiel de ce projet de loi qui limitait les
contributions des individus à 5 000 $ sur le plan fédéral et
à 1 000 $ pour les entreprises.

Compte tenu que ce projet de loi ne nous a pas livré tous les
enseignements pratiques qu’on pourrait en déduire, est-ce qu’il ne
vaudrait pas mieux se limiter à ces réformes et attendre quelques
années afin de voir, en pratique, comment il est appliqué et s’il
atteint les objectifs pour lesquels il a été mis en application? Par la
suite, on pourrait le rajuster s’il y a lieu. Il me semble qu’on
accumule actuellement toutes sortes de réformes du financement
des partis politiques sans se fonder sur une évaluation pratique de
ce que les changements, encore très récents, peuvent produire ou
viser à atteindre.

M. Côté: Quand on a modifié la Loi électorale fédérale sous le
gouvernement de M. Chrétien, c’était en somme pour copier la loi
provinciale et, généralement, reprendre les mêmes dispositions.

Je vous fais part des difficultés qu’on rencontre. La Loi
régissant le financement des partis politiques au Québec existe
depuis une trentaine d’années au moins. Il me semble qu’il serait
dommage qu’au Canada, on répète les mêmes expériences
malheureuses. Il y a une mauvaise application de la loi au
Québec. Il faudrait savoir si cela est susceptible de se produire
dans d’autres provinces. On pourrait l’étendre à tout le Canada.
Comme vous dites, ce serait peut-être mieux qu’on en fasse
l’expérience et qu’on voit, avec les années, quelle sorte de correctif
il faudrait apporter.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Joyal: Monsieur Freeman, vous avez étudié de très
près le financement du processus électoral. Pouvez-vous nous
indiquer les autres pays du monde occidental — pour cerner
quelque peu les perspectives — qui appliquent des formules
semblables à celles que nous envisageons actuellement? Y a-t-il
des pays démocratiques qui imposent des limites aussi strictes que
celle que nous envisageons?

M. Freeman: Est-ce que vous faites spécifiquement référence
aux limites en matière de dons, à l’exclusion de tout autre élément
du financement du système électoral?

Le sénateur Joyal: Oui.

M. Freeman: Le pays dont la formule est la plus proche de la
nôtre sur la question des limites, et certains en seront peut-être
surpris, c’est les États-Unis. On y applique des limites très strictes
comparables aux nôtres quant aux dons des particuliers et des
sociétés.

Le sénateur Joyal: Pouvez-vous nous indiquer les montants en
cause?

M. Freeman: Je risque de me tromper. Je crois qu’ils figurent
dans notre document, mais c’est bien ce que je redoute le plus: que
quelqu’un me pose une question dont la réponse figure dans notre
document, alors que je ne m’en souviens plus de mémoire.
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Depending on the donor and depending on who they
are donating to, the amounts range between US$1,000 and US
$5,000.

Senator Joyal: The way they are bypassing the limit is with
so-called soft money, whereby a volunteer organization passes on
the money through the candidates, which has been denounced
overwhelmingly in a lot of studies.

I am looking at my friend Senator Segal, who has probably
gone through all those books. I am especially thinking of one I
read last summer whereby there is a parallel system of financing
soft money that totally countervails the objective of the
legislation.

Mr. Freeman: Soft money was essentially banned in the United
States about two years ago in the latest round of federal reforms.
There are other similar loopholes in place at the state level where
money can be routed into the political system. There are also
PACs, political action committees, of which we have all heard.
This is something that is not nefarious in the United States. It is
actually envisioned under the law and it is the mechanism for
pooling donations. That is the main reason why we see the
multi-billion dollar figures now for U.S. elections.

Incidentally, some of those mechanisms would be legal in
Canada. We just have the good fortune not to have had inflicted
upon us these strategies and tactics that parties and candidates use
in the United States, so we should not be too high on our horse.

Senator Joyal: You mentioned that the limits are
$5,000 and $1,000, which is similar to what Bill C-24 has
established as limits. We in fact have corroboration for what
Mr. Côté has mentioned, which is that when limits are established
that are too stringent, the system reacts in one way or another to
find a parallel way of financing the parties. The Americans have
been inventive in trying to find all kinds of systems to bypass
those objectives.

I do not mean that the law should not exist, per se. I am just
saying that the law should be realistic in terms of what it can
achieve. Only so much good can be achieved through legislation if
there is not a common perception that at some point the law must
take reality into account. A system whereby there are limits and a
system whereby there is a reasonable way to approach corporate
financing, such as the one Bill C-24 put in place, leads me to
conclude that such a system maintains equilibrium. If we try to be
‘‘over-virtuous,’’ we would definitely have a reaction somewhere
in the system. There could be one of two reactions at that time:
We could conclude, as Mr. Côté has, that it is parallel, it is
multiplying, but we do not intervene or we intervene only when
there is a major scandal, and then we entertain the cynicism of
voters, as Senator Stratton has mentioned; or we establish an
army of civil servants to look after all the donations and scrutinize
if the candidate is a board member of a big company, if this is his
money, and scrutinize all the donations that come from influential
people. We take the Canadian Who’s Who and check where the
money comes from.

In those two ways we do not meet the objectives. We create the
worst of two evils.

Selon le donateur et le bénéficiaire du don, les montants
s’échelonnent de 1 000 $US à 5 000 $US.

Le sénateur Joyal: Pour contourner la limite, il y a ce qu’on
appelle l’argent mou, lorsqu’un organisme bénévole verse de
l’argent par l’intermédiaire des candidats, ce qui a été dénoncé par
de nombreuses études.

Je regarde mon ami le sénateur Segal, qui a sans doute pris
connaissance de toute cette documentation. Je pense en particulier
à ce que j’ai lu l’été dernier sur un système parallèle de
financement par de l’argent mou, qui bat totalement en brèche
les objectifs mêmes de la loi.

M. Freeman: L’argent mou a été interdit aux États-Unis il y a
deux ans, lors du dernier cycle de réforme fédérale. Il existe des
échappatoires semblables au niveau des États pour verser de
l’argent dans le cadre du processus politique. Il y a aussi les
comités d’actions politiques, dont nous avons tous entendu parler.
Ils ne sont pas illégaux aux États-Unis. Ils sont même prévus dans
la loi, et c’est ce qui permet la mise en commun des dons. C’est
principalement pour cela que les élections américaines se chiffrent
aujourd’hui en milliards de dollars.

D’ailleurs, certains de ces mécanismes sont légaux au Canada.
Nous avons la chance d’avoir échappé aux stratégies et aux
tactiques déployées aux États-Unis par certains partis et certains
candidats, mais ne soyons pas plus royalistes que le roi.

Le sénateur Joyal: Vous dites que les limites sont de 5 000 $ et
de 1 000 $, ce qui ressemble aux limites fixées par le projet de
loi C-24, et ce qui corrobore les propos de M. Côté, à savoir que
lorsque les limites sont trop strictes, on voit apparaître en réaction
des formes détournées de financement des partis. Les Américains
ont fait preuve d’une grande imagination pour trouver toutes
sortes de formules permettant de contourner les objectifs de la loi.

Je ne veux pas dire que la loi n’ait pas lieu d’exister. Je dis
simplement qu’elle doit rester réaliste quant à ses objectifs. Les
bienfaits de la loi sont limités si tout le monde n’est pas
prêt à reconnaître qu’elle doit tenir compte de la réalité. Un
système qui fixe des limites et qui propose une formule
raisonnable de financement des sociétés, comme celui du projet
de loi C-24, m’amène à considérer que l’équilibre est maintenu.
Un excès de vertu provoque nécessairement des réactions. On
peut conclure, comme le fait M. Côté, que le financement
parallèle existe mais qu’il n’y a pas à intervenir ou qu’il ne faut
intervenir qu’en cas de gros scandale, auquel cas on entretient le
cynisme des électeurs, comme l’a dit le sénateur Stratton; ou on
peut recruter une armée de fonctionnaires qui vont analyser tous
les dons et vérifier si le candidat siège au conseil d’administration
d’une grosse société, s’il n’utilise que son argent, et qui vont
contrôler tous les dons faits par des personnes influentes. Il suffit
de prendre le Who’s Who canadien et de vérifier d’où vient
l’argent.

Nous n’atteignons pas les objectifs avec ces solutions. Nous
créons même le pire de deux maux.
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[Translation]

It is a matter of balance. The Quebec aqct to govern the
financing of political parties was adopted in a context similar to
that one. You will recall that at the time, there were criticisms,
scandals and accusations. The act went a long way to completely
eliminating donations from organizations and corporations. As a
result, it was through practice that the balance was reached. Other
countries’ experience corroborates what Mr. Côté is saying.

We should have a system that takes into account the political
reality, which does not mean that we should not enforce the act as
it currently exists in the context of Bill C-24. We should learn
lessons from Bill C-24 before going any farther, because we risk
creating a situation that is worse than what we currently have.

[English]

Mr. Freeman: I think that the United States is a horror show
on election financing. It is nice to be working on these issues in
Canada and not in the United States in that sense. However, it is
impossible to draw a comparison and conclusions based on the
American system, and there are a number of reasons. The
amounts of money are of an order of magnitude that we do not
experience in Canada. The stakes are not as high. More
important, since 1974, we have very effectively reined in the
costs of running for office through expense limits at the party
level, the candidate level and, as of the last round of reforms, even
at the nomination race level. I think that has had a significant
effect in Canada in reducing the need to raise the huge amounts of
money that have to be raised to run for politics south of the
border.

That is probably the biggest element, but there are also specific
legal differences. What I did not get to in my earlier remarks is
that the limits in the United States are not per donor. They are per
donor, but they are also per recipient, so you can donate to
multiple recipients. That is where the amounts start ratcheting up.
Most of the money in the U.S. system is legal money. Most of the
money is not because people are breaching the limits. Since the
closing of the soft money loophole, even the remaining loopholes
at the state level do not compare to the amount of legal money
that flows into the system. By placing the limit on the donor,
which is far more appropriate, we are effectively reining in the
costs of running for office.

The costs of running for office are high in Canada, nonetheless,
particularly for a party. As I mentioned earlier, the major cost, by
far, is broadcast advertising. If you are concerned with bringing
that cost down, the way to do that is to provide much higher free
broadcast time to parties. That would effectively bring the costs
down further and justify further limitation of the expense limits of
parties and assist the parties with any transition.

[Français]

C’est une question de dosage. La Loi sur le financement des
partis politiques du Québec a été adoptée dans un contexte
semblable à celui-ci. On se souviendra qu’à l’époque il y avait eu
des critiques, des scandales et des accusations. La loi allait très
loin en éliminant complètement les donations en provenance des
organismes ou des corporations. Conséquemment, c’est à travers
la pratique qu’on peut en arriver à un équilibre. L’expérience
d’autres pays corrobore ce que M. Côté vient de dire.

On devrait avoir un régime qui tienne compte de ce qu’est la
réalité politique, ce qui ne veut pas dire qu’on ne doive pas
appliquer la loi telle qu’elle existe actuellement dans le contexte du
projet de loi C-24. On devrait tirer des leçons du projet
de loi C-24 avant d’aller au delà, parce qu’on risque de
provoquer une situation pire que celle qu’on a présentement.

[Traduction]

M. Freeman: En ce qui a trait au financement électoral, ce qui
se passe aux États-Unis est à faire frémir. En ce sens, il est plus
agréable de travailler sur ce genre de choses au Canada plutôt que
là-bas. Cela étant dit, il est impossible d’établir des comparaisons
avec le système américain et d’en tirer des conclusions, et ce,
pour diverses raisons. D’abord, les montants en question aux
États-Unis sont dans un ordre de grandeur inconnu au Canada.
Les enjeux ne sont pas aussi élevés. Mais ce qui est plus
important, c’est que depuis 1974, nous avons réussi à bien
contenir les coûts en imposant des limites de dépenses, tant au
niveau du parti que du candidat, et même, grâce aux dernières
réformes, au niveau de la course à la candidature. À mon avis,
tout cela a considérablement réduit la nécessité de recueillir des
sommes aussi énormes que chez nos voisins du Sud.

C’est probablement le facteur le plus déterminant, mais il faut
aussi garder à l’esprit qu’il y a des différences juridiques bien
précises. Ainsi, je n’ai pas mentionné le fait qu’aux États-Unis, les
limites ne s’appliquent pas aux donateurs. Ou plutôt, oui, mais
elle s’applique aussi au donataire, ce qui signifie qu’on peut faire
des dons à plusieurs candidats. C’est ainsi que les montants
augmentent. La plupart des sommes versées dans le système
américain sont légales. Ça n’est pas parce que les donateurs
dépassent les limites autorisées que les montants sont élevés.
Depuis qu’on a mis fin aux échappatoires qui permettaient le
recours à l’argent mou, même ce qui est recueilli grâce aux
échappatoires au niveau des états ne se compare pas aux montants
tout à fait légaux qui circulent dans le système. Chez nous, en
imposant des limites à celui ou à celle qui effectue le don, ce qui
est beaucoup plus approprié, nous avons vraiment réduit les coûts
de la participation aux activités de candidatures et électorales.

Toutefois, briguer les suffrages coûte quand même cher au
Canada, surtout pour un parti. Ainsi que je le disais plus tôt, c’est
surtout la publicité radiophonique et télévisée qui est la plus
coûteuse. Par conséquent, si l’on veut ramener de tels coûts à des
niveaux plus modestes, il faut donner beaucoup plus de temps
d’antenne gratuit aux partis. Cela diminuera encore davantage les
coûts et justifiera qu’on resserre encore plus les dépenses des
partis et cela viendrait en aide aux partis pendant la période de
transition.
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The parties, which complained loudly about the 2003
Bill C-24 reforms to which you referred, also complained that
they would experience a revenue shortfall. Since then, what has
happened is that all of the parties are in fact better off because of
the public financing provisions, the annual subsidy that
Senator Stratton mentioned, as well as the expense
reimbursement and the tax credit that are applied to political
donations and political expenses.

Senator Joyal: Might I have the reaction of Mr. Côté,
Mr. Chairman?

[Translation]

Mr. Côté: Unless it was changed a few years ago, you must
bear in mind that the United States has an absolutely incredible
system. It is the system of the PACS (Political action committees).
It is a rather incredible way of contributing indirectly. It is beyond
understanding. As for the soft money that was referred to, it was
in response to the limits imposed on presidential election
campaigns in the United States. It is a very simple trick. Instead
of giving to a candidate, a person gives to a political party in the
United States. There are always a thousand ways to get around
the law, and that is highly regrettable.

Admittedly, election campaigns are expensive. Even with
sizable government contributions to assist political parties, they
are expensive. Enough is enough. They have hit the ceiling with
respect to what they can collect for a Canada-wide election
campaign. The demand, the need will always be there on the part
of the political parties. They need more money for their election
campaigns. Virtue suggests going door to door. That is a good
basic principle, and it has been used in Quebec, but we must
acknowledge that the situation is different now.

Senator Segal: My question is for Mr. Côté and deals with
transparency.

[English]

Someone who is an insider to a corporation who buys or sells
shares has to make that disclosure quickly. He does not
have 1.5 months or six months, he has to make his disclosure
quickly.

[Translation]

If we had a more open system for transparency where a
donation made or received were openly declared or posted on the
chief electoral officer site within 48 hours, could that reduce the
problem that you mentioned regarding people who in appearance
give their own money but which is contributed another way. If,
over a period of 48 hours, we see that all of the members of a
board have made a donation, that will indicate something. That

En 2003, les partis se sont plaints vigoureusement des réformes
contenues dans le projet de loi C-24, réforme que vous avez
d’ailleurs mentionnée, et aussi du fait que ces nouvelles
dispositions entraîneraient pour eux un manque à gagner.
Depuis lors, et en dépit des amendements, tous les partis sont
en bien meilleur posture, grâce aux dispositions relatives au
financement public, lesquelles couvrent la subvention annuelle
mentionnée par le sénateur Stratton, ainsi que le remboursement
des dépenses et le crédit d’impôt qui s’appliquent aux dons et aux
dépenses politiques.

Le sénateur Joyal: Monsieur le président, est-ce que M. Côté
pourrait réagir à cela?

[Français]

M. Côté: À moins que cela ait été modifié il y a quelques
années, il faut se rappeler que les États-Unis ont un système
absolument incroyable. C’est le système des PACS (Political
action committees). C’est une façon indirecte de contribuer tout à
fait incroyable. Cela dépasse l’entendement. Quant aux « soft
money » dont il a été question, il faut savoir que c’est la réponse
aux limites imposées aux campagnes à la présidence des
États-Unis. Le truc est très simple. Au lieu de donner à un
candidat, on donne à un parti politique aux États-Unis. Il y a
toujours 1 000 façons de contourner les lois et c’est fort
regrettable.

Il faut quand même reconnaître qu’une campagne électorale
coûte cher. Même s’il y a des contributions substantielles de l’État
pour aider les partis politiques, cela coûte cher. On se dit que c’est
assez. On atteint le maximum de ce qu’on peut recueillir pour faire
face à une campagne électorale à la grandeur du pays. La
demande, le besoin sera là de la part des partis politiques. On a
besoin de plus d’argent pour mener à terme notre campagne
électorale. La vertu suggère qu’on procède par le porte à porte.
C’est bon comme principe de base et cela a été la façon de
procéder au Québec, mais il faut se rendre à l’évidence que la
situation est devenue différente maintenant.

Le sénateur Segal: Ma question s’adresse à monsieur Côté et à
trait à la transparence.

[Traduction]

Quelqu’un qui fait partie d’une société en nom collectif et qui
achète ou vend des actions doit déclarer cela rapidement. Il ou elle
n’a pas un mois et demi ou six mois pour le faire, il faut qu’il le
fasse rapidement.

[Français]

Si nous avions un système de transparence plus ouvert où un
don fait ou un don reçu est déclaré ouvertement ou sur le site du
directeur des élections dans une période de 48 heures, cela
pourrait-il diminuer le problème dont vous avez parlé quant à
ceux qui donnent en apparence leur propre argent mais qui sont
versés d’une autre façon. Si, dans une période de 48 heures ont
constate que tous les membres d’un conseil d’administration a fait
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information will be of some value for voters before they vote. In
your opinion, can that be of any assistance to us in this area of
our work?

Mr. Côté: Possibly, but the consequence could be that people
who would act that way on behalf of a corporation would hesitate
to do so. What would be made public is their donation during the
election campaign. That might be a problem for the election
campaign.

Senator Segal: Your answer indicates that the problem is not
the donation as such, but the fact that it is hidden for a significant
amount of time, during the election campaign, when all voters
should know why someone has supported one party or another. If
we amend the act for greater clarity, would that reduce donations?
Is the problem transparency?

Mr. Côté: You cannot have automatic transparency. As soon
as a donation is made by an individual or a corporation, I have
trouble seeing that. For example, if an election campaign last
30 days and largest donations are made on the 29th day, they will
be made public 48 hours later. What good will that do? I do not
think that is a good solution. There is also the issue of control
over expenses exercised by the chief electoral officer over
contributions received prior to been made public, before being
published. I do not think that we can automatically make that
public.

[English]

Senator Segal: Mr. Freeman, I wish to ask you about the issue
of loans. So as to take it out of any contemporary partisan debate
in this country, let us talk about the difficulty that transpired in
the United Kingdom with respect to getting around certain
requirements for disclosure by the Labour Party having had
donations made to it, and I suppose the other party as well, from
private sources, not banks but private sources, which did not have
to be disclosed for a very long time, thereby keeping from the
British elector any clear knowledge relative to from where those
funds had come.

I know you have a view about some of the inadequacies of the
legislation in the general regard of transparency. Do you have a
view on the issue of loans? If you could give this committee advice
about what to do about loans to strengthen this legislation, what
would you recommend?

Mr. Freeman: First, I should say that in the debate around
Bill C-24, one of the amendments that the House committee
made, which was passed, was to reveal the terms of any loans to
candidates. I think that was an important amendment that was
made. We now do know the terms. If the terms are favourable
beyond fair market value or fair market rates, then we know that.

The issue of loans is an important one. You can loan huge
amounts to a candidate or to a party and in theory that loan must
be paid back within a reporting period after the vote; that is
problematic. However, what happens if it does not get paid back

un don, cela va leur indiquer quelque chose. Cette information
aura une certaine valeur pour les électeurs avant qu’ils votent. À
votre avis, est-ce que cela peut nous aider un peu dans ce domaine
de travail?

M. Côté: Possiblement, mais cela aurait peut-être comme
conséquence que les personnes qui voudraient agir de cette façon
au nom d’une entreprise hésiteraient à le faire. Ce qui serait rendu
public, se serait leur don pendant la période électorale. Cela peut
représenter un inconvénient pour la campagne électorale.

Le sénateur Segal: Votre réponse m’indique que le problème
n’est pas la donation elle-même mais le fait que ce soit caché pour
une période de temps importante, la campagne électorale, laquelle
période où tous les électeurs devraient savoir pourquoi quelqu’un
a appuyé tel ou tel parti et pourquoi. Si on change la loi pour
avoir une ouverture plus claire, cela va-t-il diminuer les
donations? Le problème est la transparence?

M. Côté: La transparence, on ne peut l’avoir de façon
automatique. Aussitôt le don fait par un individu ou une
entreprise, je vois cela difficilement. Par exemple, si une
campagne électorale dure 30 jours et que les plus gros dons sont
faits le 29e jour, ils seront publiés 48 heures après. Cela va donner
quoi ? Je ne pense pas que cela soit une bonne solution. Il y a
aussi un problème de contrôle sur les dépenses qu’exerce le
directeur général des élections sur les contributions reçues avant
que ce soit rendu public, avant que ce soit publié. Je ne pense pas
qu’on puisse procéder automatiquement à rendre cela public.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Segal:Monsieur Freeman, j’aimerais vous interroger
au sujet des prêts. Si l’on veut éviter des considérations partisanes
trop immédiates, parlons plutôt des difficultés qu’a connues le
Labour Party du Royaume-Uni lorsqu’on a exigé qu’il
communique des renseignements sur les dons privés qu’il avait
recueillis. Je crois que l’autre parti a probablement été visé aussi,
mais quoi qu’il en soit, il ne s’agit pas de dons provenant de
banques mais bien de particuliers. Or, pendant très, très longtemps,
les partis n’étaient pas tenus de divulguer ce genre de choses, ce qui
signifie que l’électeur britannique ne savait pas vraiment d’où
venaient les fonds du parti.

Je sais que vous avez vos propres idées sur les carences de la loi
en ce qui a trait à la transparence. En avez-vous au sujet des prêts?
Pouvez-vous conseiller notre comité sur ce qu’il faut faire à
propos des prêts afin de renforcer le projet de loi dont nous
sommes saisis? Que recommandez-vous?

M. Freeman: D’abord, j’aimerais rappeler que lors de l’étude
du projet de loi C-24 en comité, on a proposé et adopté un
amendement obligeant le candidat à révéler les conditions
d’accord de son prêt. À mes yeux, c’est quelque chose
d’important. Nous connaissons maintenant les conditions
encadrant ce genre de choses, et si le taux du prêt accordé est
plus avantageux que la juste valeur marchande, nous le saurons.

La question des prêts est importante. Des prêts tout à fait
énormes peuvent être consentis à un candidat ou à un parti, et en
principe, l’emprunt doit être remboursé après le vote, dans des
délais prescrits; c’est problématique. Toutefois, que se passe-t-il si
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even within that period? That is probably the problem to which
you are referring. The only way around it that I can see is to place
a limit on loans. It is a loophole. It is something that the party
should consider.

Senator Segal: I have one more question for both of our
distinguished guests. It relates to the bureaucratization of our
political parties and the political process. Like others around the
table I am sure, I am a believer in the political party process. I do
not always believe that my party is right all the time. Even when it
is wrong, it is wrong for good reasons usually.

Having said that, I worry that while we are all around this table
I think in the same spirit of trying to increase the integrity of the
process, the openness, the candour and the public awareness of
what is going on so voters can be well-informed. We are setting up
a situation now where, within a reasonable period of time, some
of our political parties will be far more dependent upon the public
purse than they are on private, legal, small donations.

Take the Green Party, which is having a resurgence based on
the formula, to Mr. Chrétien’s everlasting credit — and I say this
with great regard — that said you should get some public support
based on how many votes you receive. Therefore, people in
subsequent elections after he made that change could vote for the
Green Party, understanding they might not win in their riding but
that they were supporting that view in our political process by
casting that ballot and that would generate $1.75 or
$1.79 per annum for that party going forward.

If we look at the ultimate in this process, I suspect the German
tradition, where there was tithing of corporations and where the
parties are funded in a very direct way by the state, you can see
that over a period of time the conditions under which political
parties received funds — always in good faith, and never in any
fashion that was supposed to be narrow, limited or unfair. We
now have certain conditions that parties must meet to get public
funding. It is only appropriate over time.

For example, the Charter of Rights could produce questions
about whether one should be funding a political party that has no
affirmative action problem so that women, people of colour or
others can participate equally in their process. It is public funds. It
is no less public funds than a vote by Parliament with respect to a
department. Do you worry at any level that we will make our
political parties into wholly owned subsidiaries of the Chief
Electoral Officer over time? One of the miracles of our democracy
is that a political party can form in 3,000 basements, made up of
people who disapprove of everything the government of the day is
doing and that the parties in Parliament are doing — which set
the rules, by the way. If they want to organize for the purpose of
changing the system, which our democracy is supposed to
embrace, do you not worry that we are building a process, in
the best of faith, that will make it continuously more difficult for
new organizations like that without the status of having a
pre-ordained presence to enter the system and fight for what they

l’échéance n’est pas respectée? C’est probablement le problème
que vous évoquiez. La seule façon d’éviter cela est d’imposer des
limites aux prêts. Il s’agit d’une échappatoire, et par conséquent,
les partis devraient envisager cela.

Le sénateur Segal: J’ai une question de plus pour nos deux
éminents invités. Elles portent sur la bureaucratisation de nos
partis politiques et du processus politique. J’ai foi dans le système
des partis politiques, et je suis sûr que les autres assis à cette table
partagent le même sentiment. Je ne pense pas que mon parti ait
toujours raison. Toutefois, même lorsqu’il a tort, c’est d’habitude
pour de bonnes raisons.

Cela étant dit, et tout en reconnaissant que nous tous ici
présents à cette table cherchons une plus grande intégrité du
processus, l’ouverture, la franchise et un public mieux renseigné,
je crains qu’à cause de nos propositions, les partis politiques ne
soient davantage redevables des fonds publics que des petits dons
privés.

Prenons l’exemple du Parti Vert; grâce à la réforme de
M. Chrétien — qui est d’ailleurs tout à son honneur, je le dis
avec respect — il a pu obtenir des subventions en proportion des
suffrages qu’il a reçus. Par conséquent, après ce changement, les
gens qui votent pour le Parti Vert peuvent le faire en sachant que,
même en ne remportant pas un siège, ils appuient cette nouvelle
répartition des fonds publics, et que, grâce à leurs votes, ils vont
obtenir 1,75 $ ou 1,79 $ par année pour leur parti.

Si nous regardons ce qui se fait de mieux dans le genre,
probablement le système allemand, où des sociétés doivent payer
une espèce de taxe, et où les partis sont directement financés par
l’État, sur une longue période, on peut observer que les partis ont
constamment reçu des fonds versés en toute bonne foi et jamais de
manière étriquée, limitée ou injuste. Maintenant, les partis doivent
se conformer à certaines conditions pour obtenir le financement
de l’État. À terme, c’est certainement approprié.

À titre d’exemple des conséquences de cela toutefois, il se
pourrait qu’on invoque la Charte des droits et libertés pour
demander s’il y a lieu de soutenir financièrement un parti
politique qui ne s’est pas doté d’un programme d’action positive
venant en aide aux femmes, aux gens de couleur et à d’autres
encore afin que ces derniers participent à la vie politique sur un
pied d’égalité. Il s’agit ici de fonds publics, au même titre que les
crédits parlementaires adoptés au moyen d’un vote puis versés à
un ministère. Par conséquent, estimez-vous qu’à cause de cela,
nous risquons de voir nos partis politiques devenir des filiales en
propriété exclusive du directeur général des élections? L’un des
miracles de notre démocratie, c’est qu’un parti politique peut
naître dans 3 000 sous-sols de citoyens qui désapprouvent tout ce
que font le gouvernement en place et les autres partis élus, qui,
entre parenthèses, fixent les règles, Si ces gens veulent s’organiser
pour réformer le système, ce que notre démocratie est censée
favoriser, ne craignez-vous pas que nous soyons, en toute bonne
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believe? At some level I worry about that and I would be
interested in your more learned perspective on that.

Mr. Freeman: There are ongoing Charter challenges to the
current system. The Longley case is challenging the system that
excludes parties that receive less than 2 per cent of the vote
nationally or 5 per cent of the vote in the ridings in which they run
candidates. That case is currently being heard.

Yes, I do think that public subsidies are too high. However, I
do not foresee the state exercising control over political parties.
Your example of the Green Party is an important example. Sixty
per cent of party revenues currently come from public funds, but I
have not crunched the numbers on each individual party.
However, I strongly suspect that no party takes in more than
half of their revenues from donations. The annual subsidy that is
based on the proportion of the vote that the party received in the
previous election is a huge component of party revenues. It dwarfs
the expense reimbursement and the tax credit that goes to donors.
In my view it is too high and it is distributed on a formula that I
do not think is as democratic as it could be. There are other
international models that we could look at.

Senator Segal: I would be interested in Mr. Côté’s response to
this last question as well.

You expressed quite eloquently in your presentation your
concern about corporations that made donations without the
permission of their shareholders and trade unions that made
donations in the previous regime without the permission of their
members. Are you at all concerned about governments that
choose, by whatever rational formula approved by the participant
and recipient parties, to make donations to political parties
without the express approval of the people of Canada whose
money it is?

Mr. Freeman: You said very quickly ‘‘through a formula.’’ I am
not a big defender of the public subsidy system, but to a certain
extent I will defend it. The formula ensures that there is some
notion of democracy in terms of how those funds are distributed.
Yes, public funds, government funds, are going to certain parties
with which I may disagree as a voter, but in essence my vote for a
particular party directs the annual subsidy to that party
equivalent to my vote. It started off at $1.75. Therefore, I think
that the argument that government money is being directed to
parties with which voters may disagree is a little bit of a
subterfuge.

foi, en train d’élaborer un régime qui empêchera les nouvelles
organisations pas encore représentées officiellement de se lancer
dans ce genre de projet et de défendre leurs convictions? Pour ma
part, cela me préoccupe, et j’aimerais donc entendre votre avis
plus éclairé sur le sujet.

M. Freeman: Il existe à l’heure actuelle des contestations en
vertu de la Charte concernant le système actuel. L’affaire Longley
conteste le système qui exclut les partis qui reçoivent moins
de 2 p. 100 des votes à l’échelle nationale ou 5 p. 100 des voix
dans les circonscriptions où ils ont des candidats. Ce cas est
actuellement devant les tribunaux.

Oui, je considère effectivement que les subventions de l’État
sont trop élevées. Cependant, je ne prévois pas que l’État exercera
un contrôle sur les partis politiques. L’exemple que vous donnez
du Parti Vert est important. Soixante p. 100 des recettes du parti
proviennent à l’heure actuelle des fonds publics, mais je n’ai pas
calculé les chiffres pour chaque parti individuellement.
Cependant, je soupçonne fortement que pas plus de la moitié
des recettes des partis proviennent de dons. La subvention
annuelle calculée selon la proportion des voix recueillies par les
partis lors d’élections précédentes représente une énorme
proportion des recettes des partis. Elle est de très loin
supérieure au remboursement des dépenses et au crédit d’impôt
accordé aux donateurs. À mon avis, elle est trop élevée et est
répartie selon une formule qui, à mon avis, n’est pas aussi
démocratique qu’elle pourrait l’être. Il existe d’autres modèles
internationaux dont nous pourrions nous inspirer.

Le sénateur Segal: J’aimerais entendre la réponse de M. Côté à
cette dernière question également.

Vous avez exprimé de façon assez éloquente dans votre
présentation votre préoccupation concernant les sociétés qui
font des dons sans la permission de leurs actionnaires et des
syndicats qui ont versé des dons dans le cadre du régime précédent
sans la permission de leurs membres. Êtes-vous préoccupé par le
fait que des gouvernements décident, selon une formule
rationnelle approuvée par les participants et les partis
bénéficiaires, de faire des dons à des partis politiques sans
l’approbation formelle de la population du Canada à qui cet
argent appartient?

M. Freeman: Vous avez dit très rapidement « selon une
formule ». Je ne suis pas un ardent partisan du système de
subvention publique, mais je le défendrai jusqu’à un certain point.
La formule permet de s’assurer que la distribution de ces fonds se
fait de façon relativement démocratique. Oui, les fonds publics,
les fonds gouvernementaux, sont versés à certains partis avec
lesquels je ne suis peut-être pas d’accord en tant qu’électeur, mais
essentiellement mon vote pour un parti en particulier fait en sorte
que ce parti reçoive une subvention annuelle équivalente à mon
vote. Cette subvention a commencé à 1,75 $. Par conséquent, je
crois que l’argument selon lequel l’argent du gouvernement est
versé à des partis avec lesquels les électeurs ne sont peut-être pas
d’accord est un peu de la poudre aux yeux.
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[Translation]

Mr. Côté: In our democratic system, we must absolutely
preserve the independence of political parties. What I am telling
you is based on Quebec’s experience. The government’s
contribution, according to the formula that has just been
mentioned by adding income tax returns, during certain periods
of time, was close to 60 per cent.

If the solution is to ask the government to contribute more to
funding political parties, the government will undoubtedly react
as it normally does. Since it provides funding, it will want to see
how the money is administered, and the government will want to
stick its nose into the political parties. That must be avoided at all
costs, because that would be the death of our democratic system
as we know it today. Political parties must preserve their
independence.

That is why there must be a fair balance between what is
provided by government and what comes from private or other
donations, otherwise we will be facing another problem.

[English]

The Chairman: Professor Freeman, in response to a question
from Senator Segal about loans, you said that we are probably
going to have to move to a system of putting a limit on loans.
Were you talking about the amount or the number of loans?

Mr. Freeman: I believe that to a certain extent loans will have
to be considered contributions. I do not see a way around that. In
devising the limit and the law, you must accept the possibility that
those loans do not get paid back and there may be no intention of
paying them back. We recently had a situation in Canada with
one of the smaller parties where an enormous loan was simply
written off by the donor. This is the kind of thing that we need to
be aware of and to guard against in the system.

Senator Milne: I always knew that Senator Segal was a red
Tory, but I did not previously know that he was a closet Liberal.

Senator Segal: There is a huge distinction between the two
which we can discuss later.

Senator Day: I wonder if we could have a clarification on that
last point, which may save us some time.

If a loan becomes part of what you are advocating of a
$1,000 limit per year, you are in effect eliminating loans.

Mr. Freeman: If the loan comes from a corporation, that is
correct. I think that you will need special provisions dealing with
loans. I may have misspoken when I said that they have to be
considered as contributions. I do not mean that legally in the
statute you have to consider them contributions, which in essence
would eliminate them if they came from corporations. However,
when thinking of loans you must think of them as contributions

[Français]

M. Côté: Dans notre système démocratique, il faut absolument
préserver l’indépendance des partis politiques. Je me base sur
l’expérience du Québec. La contribution de l’État, selon la
formule que l’on vient de mentionner en ajoutant les remises
d’impôt sur le revenu, a frisé durant certaines périodes un
pourcentage de 60 p. 100.

Si la solution est de demander à l’État de contribuer davantage
au financement des partis politiques, l’État aura la même réaction
qu’il a normalement. Puisqu’il donne de l’argent, il voudra voir de
quelle façon ces sommes sont administrées et ils vont mettre leur
nez dans les partis politiques. Il faut éviter cela à tout prix, parce
que ce serait la mort de notre système démocratique tel qu’on le
connaît. Il faut que les partis politiques préservent leur
indépendance.

C’est pour cette raison que l’équilibre entre ce que donne l’État
et ce qui vient des contributions privées ou autres doit être juste,
sinon nous allons basculer vers un autre problème.

[Traduction]

Le président: Professeur Freeman, en réponse à une question
du sénateur Segal à propos des prêts, vous avez dit que nous
devrons probablement adopter un mécanisme qui limite les prêts.
Parliez-vous du montant ou du nombre de prêts?

M. Freeman: Je crois dans une certaine mesure que les prêts
devront être considérés comme une contribution. Je ne crois pas
que nous pourrons l’éviter. En concevant la limite et la loi, il
faudra accepter la possibilité que ces prêts ne soient pas
remboursés et qu’on n’ait pas l’intention de les rembourser.
Récemment, au Canada, un énorme prêt qui avait été consenti à
l’un des petits partis a tout simplement été radié par le donateur.
C’est le genre de situation dont nous devons être conscients et
contre laquelle nous devons nous prémunir dans le cadre du
système.

Le sénateur Milne: J’ai toujours su que le sénateur Segal était
un conservateur pur et dur, mais j’ignorais qu’il avait des
tendances libérales.

Le sénateur Segal: Il existe une énorme distinction entre les
deux dont nous pourrons discuter plus tard.

Le sénateur Day: Je me demande si nous pourrions avoir un
éclaircissement sur ce dernier point, ce qui pourrait nous faire
gagner du temps.

Si un prêt est visé par une limite de 1 000 $ par année, vous êtes
en train d’éliminer les prêts.

M. Freeman: C’est exact, si le prêt provient d’une société. Je
pense qu’il faudra des dispositions spéciales portant sur les prêts.
Je me suis mal exprimé peut-être lorsque j’ai dit qu’ils doivent être
considérés comme des contributions. Je ne voulais pas dire que
légalement dans la loi il faudrait les considérer comme des
contributions, ce qui essentiellement les éliminerait s’ils
provenaient de sociétés. Cependant, lorsque l’on envisage des
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and think in terms of regulating them, because currently they are,
in essence, unregulated.

Senator Day: That clarification is helpful.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: My question deals with the reduction in
individual donations, as determined in the bill that our committee
is considering.

I believe that we must not only preserve the transparency and
integrity of our democratic system, but that we must continue and
always work towards enhancing transparency.

We have been told that Canada, with this bill, is moving away
from standards established in the main democracies in the world.
Will imposing reductions as radical as those, in your opinion, help
improve the transparency and integrity of our political parties?

Should we not instead work on improving the audit and
control process in order to ensure compliance?

Mr. Côté: The issue of transparency for financing is obviously
fundamental. I am going to go a step farther. The suggestion to
increase the number of officials, the number of comptrollers and
the number of auditors appears to me to be an unworkable
solution.

But by considerably reducing, as this bill does, the maximum
amount of campaign contributions, will we not be putting
ourselves in a situation where people will say we have
to find money somewhere? We need it; we will have to find it
somewhere —

With respect to financing for political parties, I have always
thought that it is fine to have the most wonderful provisions, the
clearest wording, the most transparency possible, there will
always be some brilliant lawyer who will find a way to get
around them, and above all some politicians. Because let us be
realistic, politicians in an election campaign need money for their
campaign. If we put them in a situation saying that donations are
limited to no more than $1,000, if they need $3,000, what will the
solution be? They will say ‘‘figure it out, come up with the
balance, find a way of getting around the act.’’

That is very worrisome, I think. Legislation must be complied
with. An act that is simply a statement of philosophical principles
or guidelines will serve no purpose, except allow us to boast about
having adopted such exceptional legislation, that cannot be found
anywhere else in the world, but that we are not equipped to
enforce it.

[English]

Mr. Freeman: I think that transparency is fundamental. It is
critically important. For that reason, it is very important to have
pre-vote donations disclosed through a reporting mechanism
where you would disallow contributions for the last week of the
campaign. That would give the parties and candidates the time, let

prêts, il faut les envisager comme des contributions pour ce qui est
de les réglementer, parce qu’essentiellement à l’heure actuelle ils
ne sont pas réglementés.

Le sénateur Day: Cet éclaircissement est utile.

[Français]

Le sénateur Chaput: Ma question concerne la réduction des
contributions des particuliers, telle que déterminée dans le projet
de loi que nous étudions à ce comité.

Je crois qu’il faut non seulement préserver la transparence et
l’intégrité de notre système démocratique, mais qu’il faut encore
et toujours travailler afin qu’il y ait davantage de transparence.

On nous dit que le Canada, avec ce projet de loi, s’éloigne des
normes établies dans les principales démocraties du monde. Le
fait d’imposer des réductions aussi radicales va-t-il, selon vous,
contribuer à augmenter la transparence et l’intégrité de nos partis
politiques?

Ne faudrait-il pas plutôt travailler à l’amélioration du
processus de contrôle et de vérification afin d’en assurer le
respect?

M. Côté: La question de la transparence du financement est
évidemment fondamentale. Je vais même aller un peu plus loin.
La suggestion d’augmenter le nombre de fonctionnaires, le
nombre de contrôleurs et le nombre de vérificateurs m’apparaît
être une solution irréalisable.

Mais en diminuant considérablement, comme on le fait dans le
projet de loi, le maximum des contributions, ne se placera-t-on
pas dans la situation où on va se dire qu’il faudra bien trouver
l’argent quelque part? On en a besoin, il va falloir en trouver.

Une des réflexions que je me suis toujours fait vis-à-vis des
questions de financement des partis politiques, c’est qu’on a beau
avoir les plus belles dispositions, la formulation la plus claire, la
plus transparente possible, il y a toujours quelque avocat brillant
qui va trouver une façon de la contourner ; mais surtout quelques
politiciens. Car les politiciens en campagne électorale, il faut être
réaliste, ont besoin d’argent pour faire leur campagne. Si on les
met dans une situation disant qu’on n’a pas le droit d’avoir une
contribution de plus de 1000 $, si on a besoin de 3000 $, quelle
sera la solution? On dira « débrouillez-vous, trouvez la différence,
organisez-vous pour contourner la loi ».

C’est une grande crainte, je pense. Il faut qu’une loi puisse être
observée. Une loi qui n’est qu’un énoncé de principes de
philosophie ou de lignes de conduite, cela ne sert à rien d’avoir
une telle loi, sauf à se vanter d’avoir adopté une loi exceptionnelle,
extraordinaire, qu’on ne retrouve nulle part dans le monde, mais
que l’on n’a pas le moyen d’appliquer.

[Traduction]

M. Freeman: Je considère que la transparence est
fondamentale. C’est d’une extrême importance. Pour cette
raison, il est très important que les dons préalablement au vote
soient divulgués par un mécanisme de déclaration selon lequel les
contributions ne seraient pas admissibles pendant la dernière
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us say four days, to turn in their donation lists to the Elections
Canada website, which would be very simple if they simply kept,
through software provided by the Chief Electoral Officer, the
donations limit lists, which they already have up-to-date. We
could then have that information two days before the vote.

Transparency alone does not address the other fundamental
issue which enters into this debate, which is influence and perceived
influence of political donations. Before the Bill C-24 reforms
in 2003 we had six-figure donations going in to political parties.
We had enormous donations going in to candidates. I would not
say that that was a democratic situation, even though we knew who
the donors were. It is very important to address both democratic
objectives when you are engineering electoral law.

There is no question that parties will need to adjust to the new
limits and they will need to adjust their fundraising efforts to the
new limits. We can assist that to the extent we can by providing
more free broadcast time. That directly impacts the parties’
bottom line by reducing their need to spend money on their
greatest expenditure, which is broadcast advertising. Incidentally,
broadcast advertising is also distributed on a much more
democratic formula than political donations tend to distribute
themselves amongst the parties. That is an added benefit.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: If that is the case, according to some research,
we have been told that it is pointless to limit contributions during
an election if we do not also impose spending limits. What do you
think about a proposal to reduce election spending? If revenue is
limited, should we not also limit spending?

Mr. Côté: In the Quebec act, there is a limit on election
spending during an election campaign. I did not go through
Bill C-2, but it seems to me that there is also a limit on spending
during a campaign.

Senator Chaput: But it has not been adjusted. If we limit
revenues, we do not adjust the limit that we have for spending, do
we? Even if the act is amended to limit my donation, the person
can still spend the same amount of money, can they not?

Mr. Côté: Yes.

[English]

Mr. Freeman: I am not sure if I understood the question
correctly. It is my understanding that currently there are limits on
expenditures for parties, candidates, nomination of contestants.
The only thing we do not have limits on is leadership candidates,
which we should, absolutely.

semaine de la campagne. Cela donnerait aux partis et aux
candidats le temps, disons quatre jours, de remettre leurs listes de
dons pour le site Web d’Élections Canada, ce qui serait très simple
s’ils tenaient simplement, grâce aux logiciels fournis par le
directeur général des élections, des listes de limite des dons, qui
sont déjà à jour. Nous pourrions alors disposer de cette
information deux jours avant la tenue du scrutin.

La transparence seule ne permet pas de régler l’autre problème
fondamental qui se pose dans ce contexte, à savoir l’influence et
l’influence perçue des dons politiques. Avant les réformes prévues
par le projet de loi C-24 en 2003, des dons atteignant les six
chiffres étaient versés aux partis politiques. Les candidats
recevaient d’énormes dons. Je ne dirais pas qu’il s’agissait d’une
situation démocratique même si nous connaissions l’identité des
donateurs. Lorsque l’on prépare une loi électorale, il est très
important de tenir compte de ces deux objectifs démocratiques.

Il ne fait aucun doute que les partis devront s’adapter aux
nouvelles limites et devront adapter leurs efforts de collecte de
fonds en fonction des nouvelles limites. Nous pouvons les aider
dans ces efforts en leur fournissant davantage de temps d’antenne
gratuit. Cela influe directement sur le résultat net des partis
puisqu’ils n’ont pas à consacrer autant d’argent à leurs plus
grands postes de dépenses, à savoir la publicité radiophonique et
télévisée. En passant, la publicité radiophonique et télévisée est
également répartie selon une formule beaucoup plus
démocratique que les dons politiques ont tendance à être
répartis parmi les partis. Il s’agit d’un avantage supplémentaire.

[Français]

Le sénateur Chaput: Si c’est le cas, selon certaines recherches,
on nous dit qu’il est inutile de limiter les contributions pendant
une élection si on n’impose pas aussi une limite aux dépenses. Que
pensez-vous du fait d’avoir une proposition pour réduire les
dépenses électorales? Si on limite les revenus, est-ce qu’on ne
devrait pas aussi limiter les dépenses?

M. Côté: Dans la loi québécoise, il y a une limite aux dépenses
électorales pendant une campagne électorale. Je n’ai pas fouillé le
projet de loi C-2, mais il me semble qu’il y a une limite également
aux dépenses qu’on peut faire pendant une campagne.

Le sénateur Chaput: Mais ce n’est pas ajusté. Si on limite les
revenus, on n’ajuste pas la limite que l’on a pour les dépenses,
n’est-ce pas? Si on change la loi pour limiter ma contribution, la
personne peut quand même dépenser le même montant d’argent,
n’est-ce pas?

M. Côté: Oui.

[Traduction]

M. Freeman: Je ne suis pas sûr d’avoir bien compris la
question. D’après ce que je crois savoir, il existe à l’heure
actuelle des limites pour les dépenses des partis, des candidats, les
mises en candidature. Il n’y a qu’un seul cas où des limites ne sont
pas imposées, c’est-à-dire dans le cas des candidats à la direction
et il faudrait absolument que des limites soient imposées.
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[Translation]

Senator Chaput: But at present, we are talking about limiting
revenue, donations, but not about reducing spending. The bill
does not deal with the issue of reducing expenditures.

Mr. Freeman: Reducing the limit?

Senator Chaput: Yes, the limits on expenditures.

[English]

Mr. Freeman: Are you are proposing that we reduce the
expenditure limit of parties candidates?

Senator Chaput: What would you think of also doing that?

Mr. Freeman: Doing that simultaneously with the reduction in
the donation limit on its own would probably be difficult for
candidates and parties. Bill C-24 addressed the problem by
dramatically increasing the public subsidy to the point where they
were overcompensating for the donation limits and made the
parties better off. There are other ways to do that. For parties, the
best way to do that is through increasing the free broadcast
provisions.

Senator Milne: Mr. Côté, your remarks about corporate
donations today were underlined in advance yesterday by the
small parties that appeared before us all day long, and they
extended it to individual donations. Have you thought about the
hardship they were talking about all day yesterday, every one of
them, that the $1,000 limit imposes on small parties that do not
meet the 2 per cent limits to receive a government grant?

[Translation]

Mr. Côté: That will always be a problem for small or newly
created parties. It takes quite a few years for a new party to make
itself known to the electorate, and to become eligible for
campaign subsidies. There is no doubt that the current system
favours well-established parties, parties that have been in
existence for some time, but it will always be harder and take
longer for a new party to claim its rightful place on the political
landscape.

[English]

Senator Milne: This ties in with third-party advertising during a
writ period. Some of these smaller parties were originally third
parties but have reformed themselves to become registered
political parties because of the problems with third-party
advertising. What do you feel about these restrictions on
third-party advertising?

[Translation]

Mr. Côté: Do you mean, in the bill? Are you speaking about
the restrictions in the bill? I am not sure that I have understood
your question.

[Français]

Le sénateur Chaput: Mais présentement, nous parlons de
limiter les revenus, les contributions, mais de ne pas diminuer les
dépenses. On ne traite pas la question de diminuer les dépenses,
dans le projet de loi.

M. Freeman: De diminuer la limite?

Le sénateur Chaput: Oui, les limites aux dépenses.

[Traduction]

M. Freeman: Êtes-vous en train de proposer que nous
réduisions les limites de dépenses des candidats des partis?

Le sénateur Chaput: Que pensez-vous d’une telle mesure?

M. Freeman: Adopter une telle mesure tout en réduisant la
limite des dons s’avérerait probablement difficile pour les
candidats et les partis. Le projet de loi C-24 a réglé le problème
en augmentant considérablement les subventions publiques au
point où elles surcompensaient pour les limites de dons, ce qui a
amélioré la situation financière des partis. Il existe d’autres
moyens de le faire. Pour les partis, la meilleure façon de le faire
consiste à obtenir davantage de temps d’antenne gratuit.

Le sénateur Milne: Monsieur Côté, les observations que vous
avez faites aujourd’hui à propos de dons de société ont déjà été
formulées hier par les petits partis qui ont comparu devant nous
toute la journée, et elles s’étendaient aux dons individuels.
Avez-vous réfléchi aux difficultés, évoquées par chacun d’entre
eux hier, que cette limite de 1 000 $ impose aux petits partis qui ne
satisfont pas au critère du 2 p. 100 leur permettant de recevoir
une subvention du gouvernement?

[Français]

M. Côté: Ce sera toujours le problème des petits partis ou des
partis émergents. Pour un parti politique qui se crée, cela lui prend
un bon nombre d’années avant de pouvoir s’imposer face à
l’électorat, mais également pour être en mesure de recueillir des
subventions pour l’aider dans la campagne. Il est certain que le
système actuel favorise davantage les partis existants depuis
longtemps, les partis solidement établis, mais cela va être toujours
difficile et long pour un nouveau parti de pouvoir avoir sa place
sur l’échiquier politique.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Milne: Cela se rattache à la publicité faite par des
tiers en période électorale. Certains des petits partis étaient au
départ des tiers mais ont décidé de devenir des partis politiques à
cause des problèmes posés par la publicité par des tiers. Que
pensez-vous de ces restrictions concernant la publicité par des
tiers?

[Français]

M. Côté: Dans le projet de loi, voulez-vous dire? Vous parlez
des restrictions dans le projet de loi? Je comprends mal votre
question.
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[English]

Senator Milne: I am talking about restrictions on third-party
advertising during writ periods. I am asking you for your views,
sir.

The Chairman: Mr. Freeman is ready to respond, are you,
Mr. Freeman?

Mr. Freeman: I am happy to respond. I was an intervenor in
the Harper case on behalf of Democracy Watch. Democracy
Watch was an intervenor in the Harper case. I should mention
that I am not actually with Democracy Watch; I have been away
from the organization for several years. I am speaking here on my
own behalf.

The issue of third-party spending is not in the bill, it is in the
Elections Act. It has a long, litigious history in Canada.

I am not aware of any smaller parties that have become smaller
parties because of the third party provisions, but I do not
intimately know all of the small parties. There are about a dozen
of them.

Senator Milne: We had testimony yesterday from one group
saying that this is why they had formed as a party.

Mr. Freeman: That is conceivable given the law around third
parties and public subsidies, which is pushing them away from
being third parties and public subsidies, probably drawing them
toward being political parties.

I think third party spending limits are vitally important for a
number of reasons. I would encourage the committee to look at
the majority decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in the
Harper decision. The fundamental issue is one of fairness. There
must be a balance between the right of freedom of expression, the
right of someone to express themselves in an election, and the
right to express a point of view and have a meaningful outlet to
express that point of view. On the other hand, there is an electoral
fairness issue, of which there are several components. One is that
you may have a situation, as is common in the United States,
where multiple third parties run attack ads against parties or
candidates, particularly a candidate. A candidate would not have
the ability to respond to those attacks. If a candidate has any
advertising budget at all, it is miniscule. The spending limit for
most candidates is in the order of about $75,000 or $80,000, and
most of that is taken up by other expenses.

You could easily have a situation where parties and candidates
try to circumvent their expense limits by delivering their message
through third parties if you do not have limits on third parties.

Senator Milne: Mr. Freeman, I liked your suggestions about
increasing the free broadcast time for political parties because this
is a major expense during an election. You also spoke about the
weakness in this bill regarding the access to information, but we
will be covering that issue later in our hearings.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Milne: Je parle des restrictions concernant la
publicité par des tiers en période électorale. J’aimerais connaître
votre opinion à ce sujet, monsieur.

Le président: M. Freeman est prêt à répondre, n’est-ce pas,
monsieur Freeman?

M. Freeman: Je suis heureux de répondre à la question. J’étais
un intervenant dans l’arrêt Harper au nom de Démocratie en
surveillance. Démocratie en surveillance était un intervenant dans
l’affaire Harper. Je tiens à mentionner que je n’appartiens plus à
Démocratie en surveillance depuis des années. Je prends la parole
ici en mon propre nom.

La question des dépenses par des tiers n’est pas couverte par le
projet de loi, mais plutôt par la Loi électorale. Pendant longtemps
au Canada, elle a fait l’objet de beaucoup de litiges.

Je ne connais aucun petit parti politique qui l’est devenu à
cause des dispositions sur les tiers, mais je ne suis pas expert en la
matière. Il y en a environ une douzaine.

Le sénateur Milne: Hier, un groupe nous a dit qu’il avait formé
un parti politique justement à cause de cela.

M. Freeman: C’est possible étant donné les dispositions
législatives visant les tiers et les subventions publiques, ce qui
les incite davantage à former des partis politiques.

À mon avis, il est essentiel d’imposer des limites sur les
dépenses des tiers, et ce, pour plusieurs raisons. J’encouragerais le
comité à examiner la décision majoritaire de la Cour suprême du
Canada dans l’affaire Harper. À la base, c’est une question
d’équité. Il doit y avoir un équilibre entre le droit à la libre
expression, le droit d’une personne de s’exprimer dans une
élection, et le droit d’exprimer un point de vue et de pouvoir bien
faire passer son message. En revanche, il y a une question d’équité
électorale, qui comporte plusieurs aspects. Par exemple, on peut
rencontrer une situation, courante aux États-Unis, où plusieurs
tiers diffusaient des publicités négatives à l’endroit de certains
partis ou candidats, ou d’un candidat en particulier.
Ce candidat n’a pas la possibilité de répliquer à ces attaques. Si
un candidat a un budget publicitaire, il est minuscule. La limite de
dépenses de la plupart des candidats tourne autour de 75 000 $ ou
80 000 $, dont la majeure partie est affectée à d’autres postes de
dépenses.

Il pourrait facilement y avoir une situation où les partis et
candidats tenteraient de contourner les règles sur les limites des
dépenses en faisant passer leur message par le biais de tiers s’il n’y
a aucune limite sur les dépenses de ceux-ci.

Le sénateur Milne: Monsieur Freeman, j’aime votre suggestion
voulant que les partis politiques devraient bénéficier de davantage
de temps d’antenne gratuit, car c’est une dépense importante
pendant la période électorale. Vous disiez également que le projet
de loi ne protège pas assez l’accès à l’information. C’est une
question dont nous allons discuter plus tard au cours de nos
travaux.
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However, your idea of ending donations to candidates one
week before the election, I believe you said, is interesting but
impractical. You say this would give plenty of time to campaigns
so they can submit their records to Elections Canada. I have to
ask you, sir, have you ever been involved in a campaign? Have
you managed a campaign? Have you any idea of what it is like in
the last week of an election campaign, either provincially or
federally?

Mr. Freeman: I have a rough idea of what that is like, yes.
I think it would definitely make a difference in how the agent of
the party keeps his or her books. You would have to keep an
up-to-date list of money that comes into the campaign, and it
would have to be in a software system that would make it as easy
as hitting the ‘‘send’’ button to send that list on to Elections
Canada.

It is an added burden. I know the last week of a campaign is
not the time you want to be doing this sort of thing, but they do it
in the United States, interestingly enough, and in leadership
campaigns.

There is not much hotter than a leadership campaign in terms
of the pace of the campaign. In leadership campaigns in this
country now, under Bill C-24, for each week of the campaign they
have to submit their donations. They do not do the last week of
the campaign, but they have to submit their list a week before the
vote. We already do that in leadership campaigns. I do not see a
reason why parties cannot do that given the resources that parties
tend to have. At the candidate level, we would have to make it
very easy because you are dealing with volunteers who are doing
many other things in that kind of situation.

Senator Milne: During that last week of the election campaign,
there is absolutely no way that you would have any time to do
that sort of thing because you are trying to get people into the
polls. This is very difficult in this day and age when you cannot
find scutineers because they are all too busy working.

Have you ever had any experience in fundraising for a
recognized political party, either provincially or federally?

Mr. Freeman: No.

Senator Milne: Have you ever been an official agent for a
party?

Mr. Freeman: No.

Senator Milne: It is the official agent whose neck is on the
block. They go to jail if they do not do the job properly.

Mr. Freeman: First, we are talking about a week before the
vote; we are not talking about election day, which I understand is
still a pretty hot time.

Senator Milne: It is the week before that is the hot time.

Par contre, votre idée selon laquelle les candidats n’auraient
plus le droit de recevoir des dons — si j’ai bien compris — dans la
semaine précédant les élections est intéressante mais impraticable.
Vous dites que cela donnerait amplement de temps aux partis de
soumettre leurs dossiers à Élections Canada. Je dois vous poser la
question suivante, monsieur: avez-vous déjà participé à une
campagne électorale? Avez-vous déjà dirigé une campagne?
Savez-vous comment ça se passe pendant la semaine précédant
les élections, qu’elles soient provinciales ou fédérales?

M. Freeman: Oui, j’en ai une idée approximative. Je crois que
cela changerait certes la façon dont l’agent du parti tient sa
comptabilité. Celui-ci devrait tenir à jour une liste des dons faits à
un candidat; et cela devrait être fait sur un logiciel et ne pas être
plus compliqué que de cliquer sur « envoyer » pour transmettre la
liste à Élections Canada.

C’est une tâche supplémentaire. Je sais que la semaine
précédant les élections n’est pas le meilleur moment pour le
faire, mais — fait intéressant — ça se fait aux États-Unis et aussi
pour les courses à la direction.

Il n’y a pas de course plus intense et frénétique qu’une course à
la direction. Au Canada, en vertu du projet de loi C-24, il faut
soumettre la liste des dons chaque semaine pendant une course à
la direction. Cela ne se fait pas pendant la dernière semaine d’une
campagne électorale, mais bien une semaine avant le vote. Cela se
fait déjà dans les courses à la direction. Je ne vois pas pourquoi les
partis politiques ne peuvent pas le faire, étant donné leurs
ressources. Pour ce qui est des candidats, il faudrait que le
processus soit très facile car ce sont des bénévoles qui font le
travail et qui assument d’ailleurs plusieurs autres fonctions.

Le sénateur Milne: Pendant la semaine qui précède les
élections, il est impossible d’accomplir cette tâche faute de
temps; les travailleurs s’occupent de transporter le plus grand
nombre de personnes aux bureaux de scrutin. Il est très difficile de
faire même cela aujourd’hui, car il est difficile de trouver des
agents des bulletins de vote spéciaux puisqu’ils sont tous tellement
occupés.

Avez-vous déjà travaillé à la levée de fonds pour un parti
politique reconnu au niveau provincial ou fédéral?

M. Freeman: Non.

Le sénateur Milne: Avez-vous déjà agi à titre de représentant
officiel d’un parti?

M. Freeman: Non.

Le sénateur Milne: C’est le représentant officiel qui est
ultimement responsable. S’il ne fait pas son travail, il est
passible d’une peine d’emprisonnement.

M. Freeman: D’abord, nous parlons d’une semaine environ
avant le vote; nous ne parlons pas du jour des élections qui, je
crois comprendre, est une période encore très intense.

Le sénateur Milne: C’est la semaine qui précède le vote qui est
intense.
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Mr. Freeman: The week before the vote the software would
have to be as simple as hitting the ‘‘send’’ button which would
deliver the list to Elections Canada, and Elections Canada would
have to worry about getting it up on the website.

Senator Milne: It may be as simple as hitting the ‘‘send’’ button
to you, sir, but that all has to be input into the computer in the
first place.

Mr. Freeman: Yes, that is true.

Senator Cools: It is not that simple.

Senator Milne: To me, sir, your suggestion is ‘‘pie in the sky.’’ It
is a lovely suggestion, but it is completely impractical on the
ground. I like your other suggestions.

Senator Cools: I would like to thank the witnesses for
appearing before us. I would also like to thank Mr. Côté for his
millennia of experience that he brings to the table.

I have a couple of questions more for Mr. Freeman than for
Mr. Côté. Political parties and elections, by their nature, are
largely voluntary endeavours. My concern is that when people
like yourself, and like Mr. Freeman or certain government
individuals, speak reform, what they really do at every stage of the
game is to complicate the process so much as to put it beyond the
comprehension of many of the volunteers. This worries me
because what you describe as such worthy reforms quite often are
driving individual, ordinary Canadians out of participating in the
political process. The day is long over when most candidates will
just rely on volunteers to interpret all of these millions of rules
and procedures. You are talking about campaigns immediately
having to retain highly specialized, professional talent just to
ensure that there are no mistakes in their interpretations.

One of the concerns I have is that the consequences of all of
this activity, which is hashed up in the minds quite often of
individuals, is the precise opposite of what is intended. In actual
fact it is depriving ordinary Canadians of the ability to participate
in process.

I am told that in the United States of America, for example,
there is a situation where many candidates are having difficulty
getting volunteers to work and are resorting to paid workers. You
can respond to that — and I wish you would — but I have a
couple of questions concerning what you said.

You use American language with ‘‘inalienable rights.’’ It is an
American concept. Those words are not used in any of our
constitutional documents. You talked about the right to vote.
You talked about a corporation not being a human being with a
right to vote, but corporations are legal persons. There is another
inalienable right, in your language, which is the right to free
association. Human beings can come together and form
associations and incorporate them as a legal person. When you
dismiss the notion of better treatment of corporations in law, I
would say that you dismiss it on a false basis. A corporation
embodies the right of free association among the subjects of the
realm, so to speak.

M. Freeman: La semaine avant le vote, un travailleur n’aurait
qu’à cliquer sur « envoyer » dans le logiciel pour transmettre la
liste à Élections Canada, qui s’occuperait de l’afficher sur le site
Web.

Le sénateur Milne: Dans votre esprit, monsieur, cela se résume
simplement à cliquer sur « envoyer », mais il faut d’abord entrer
les données dans l’ordinateur.

M. Freeman: Oui, c’est vrai.

Le sénateur Cools: Ce n’est pas aussi simple.

Le sénateur Milne: Monsieur, à mon avis, votre suggestion est
tout à fait utopique. C’est une belle suggestion, mais
complètement impraticable. Par contre, j’aime vos autres idées.

Le sénateur Cools: J’aimerais remercier les témoins de leur
comparution. J’aimerais également remercier M. Côté pour sa
riche expérience dont nous bénéficions.

J’ai plus de questions pour M. Freeman que pour M. Côté. Les
partis politiques et les élections, de par leur nature, dépendent
surtout du travail des bénévoles. Je m’inquiète du fait que lorsque
des gens comme vous, comme M. Freeman ou comme certains
fonctionnaires, parlent de réforme, ce qu’ils font en réalité est de
tellement compliquer le processus à chaque étape, qu’une bonne
partie des bénévoles n’y comprennent rien. Cela me préoccupe car
ce que vous décrivez comme étant des réformes méritoires
n’auront pour effet que de décourager le Canadien moyen de
participer au processus politique. Il est révolu le temps où la
plupart des candidats ne comptaient que sur des bénévoles pour
interpréter ces millions de règles et de procédures. Aujourd’hui,
les campagnes sont obligées d’embaucher des experts et des
professionnels en la matière simplement pour s’assurer de
l’exactitude de l’interprétation des lois.

Je me préoccupe du fait qu’une des conséquences de toutes ces
activités, qui sont imaginées par des individus, aura exactement
l’effet désiré contraire. En réalité, on découragera le Canadien
moyen de participer au processus politique.

On me dit qu’aux États-Unis d’Amérique, par exemple,
beaucoup de candidats n’arrivent pas à trouver des bénévoles et
qu’ils doivent en conséquence payer des gens. Vous pouvez réagir
à ce que je dis là — en fait, votre opinion m’intéresse — mais je
veux d’abord vous poser quelques questions au sujet de vos
propos.

Vous utilisez une expression américaine quand vous dites « droits
inaliénables ». C’est un concept américain. Ces mots n’apparaissent
nulle part dans nos documents constitutionnels. Vous avez parlé du
droit de vote. Vous avez dit qu’une société n’est pas un être humain
qui a le droit de voter, mais les sociétés sont des personnes morales.
Il existe un autre droit inaliénable, pour reprendre votre expression,
celui du droit d’association. Les êtres humains peuvent former des
associations et s’incorporer en personne morale. Lorsque vous
rejetez l’idée de donner un meilleur traitement en droit aux sociétés,
je dirais que vous le faites pour les mauvaises raisons. Une société
est la représentation concrète du droit d’association des sujets du
royaume, pour ainsi dire.
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I am working my way to my question. I do not accept what you
have said about corporations, but you can respond to that.

The real question that I want to put to you is that you invoke,
as many do, tremendous moral ground on cleaning up the
elections process. There is no evidence, by the way, of widespread
corruption in Canada in the electoral process. However, when
you speak of ‘‘cleaning up,’’ when whoever it is decided to limit
these donations to the amount, can you tell me what is the
constitutional ground that the government stands on when it
proceeds to limit, for example, peoples’ donations to $1,000 or
$5,000 or whatever when another inalienable right is the right to
be able to dispose of your property as you see fit?

If I happen to like you, I can give you a lovely meal or a lovely
gift. I am not talking here about limiting gifts for MPs or
anything like that; I am talking about infringing on the rights of
individuals to spend their money as they see fit in the causes that
they hold dear.

I have heard a lot of discussion on the righteousness of the
issues but very little on the constitutional basis on which
governments are growing and growing like Topsy. All the
recommendations that I hear never have to do with limiting
government. They all have to do with limiting the rights of
individuals — the same inalienable rights that you say you hold
so dearly.

I have not paid that much attention to some of these issues, but
I have this nagging concern that in all of your presentation,
Mr. Freeman, I have not heard any limitations from you about
governments and the limiting of governments’ consistent,
persistent and incessant intrusion into every aspect of individual
life.

There are many individuals who do not like the fact, for
example, that the Bloc Québécois is subsidized by public funds.
You must admit that these provisions favour the larger
established parties. What is your constitutional basis? You call
it democracy and democratization. By the way, I did not know
that you used to be with Democracy Watch. There is nothing
democratic in the persistent and consistent infringement of the
rights of individuals. Could you respond to that, please? It is quite
a bit, I understand.

Mr. Freeman: I do not know if I will be able to address every
point, but I have a few comments.

Senator Cools: That is all right.

Mr. Freeman: To depart from the previous point, I do not
think I would support this measure. Certainly, in terms of
assisting candidates at the local level to adhere to disclosure
provisions, something that the committee could look at is
additional support to hire someone with expertise in managing
and filing disclosure obligations with Elections Canada.

The Chairman: Is that person called an official agent?

J’en arrive à ma question. Je ne suis pas d’accord avec ce que
vous avez dit au sujet des personnes morales, mais vous pourrez y
revenir.

Voici ma vraie question: comme beaucoup, vous invoquez des
arguments moraux pour justifier le « nettoyage » du processus
électoral. Soit dit en passant, rien ne prouve que le processus
électoral canadien soit largement corrompu. Cependant,
lorsque vous parlez de « nettoyage », quand je ne sais pas qui a
décidé de limiter ces contributions à cette somme, pouvez-vous me
dire quel est le motif constitutionnel sur lequel se fonde le
gouvernement? Qu’est-ce qui justifie, par exemple, la limite
de 1 000 $ ou 5 000 $ pour les contributions des particuliers,
alors qu’il existe un autre droit inaliénable qui s’appelle le droit de
disposer de nos biens comme bon nous semble?

Si, par hasard, je vous aime bien, je peux vous offrir un repas
ou un cadeau. Et je ne parle pas des limites qui s’appliquent aux
cadeaux que reçoivent les députés ou quoi que ce soit de ce genre;
je parle de la violation des droits des personnes à dépenser leur
argent comme bon leur semble pour des causes qui leur tiennent à
cœur.

Nous avons beaucoup parlé de la justification morale de tout
cela, mais très peu de la base constitutionnelle sur laquelle se
fondent les gouvernements. Aucune des recommandations que j’ai
entendues ne porte sur les limites à imposer au gouvernement.
Elles portent toutes sur les limites sur les droits des personnes —
ces mêmes droits inaliénables qui vous tiennent tellement à cœur.

Je ne me suis pas beaucoup intéressée à certaines de ces
questions, mais ce qui m’inquiète dans votre exposé,
monsieur Freeman, c’est que vous ne parlez jamais de limiter le
pouvoir des gouvernements ni de limiter l’intrusion permanente,
persistante et incessante des gouvernements dans chaque aspect de
nos vies.

Par exemple, beaucoup de personnes contestent le fait que le
Bloc québécois soit subventionné par des fonds publics. Vous
devez reconnaître que ces dispositions favorisent les grands partis.
Quel est votre fondement constitutionnel? Vous parlez de
démocratie et de démocratisation. Soit dit en passant, je ne
savais pas que vous aviez travaillé avec Démocratie en
surveillance. Il n’y a rien de démocratique dans la violation
persistante et permanente des droits de la personne. Avez-vous
quelque chose à répondre à cela, s’il vous plaît? Je sais que j’en ai
dit beaucoup.

M. Freeman: Je ne sais pas si je pourrai répondre à chacun de
vos arguments, mais j’ai plusieurs observations.

Le sénateur Cools: Pas de problème.

M. Freeman: Au sujet de votre dernier argument, je ne pense
pas pouvoir appuyer cette mesure. Bien sûr, pour aider les
candidats à l’échelle locale à se soumettre aux dispositions
relatives à la divulgation, le comité pourrait envisager de leur
permettre d’embaucher une personne ayant de l’expérience en
gestion et en divulgation des contributions d’Élections Canada.

Le président: Est-ce que cette personne est appelée agent
officiel?
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Mr. Freeman: It would likely end up being the official agent of
the candidate. That is certainly the person with the legal
obligation to do that.

To address the issue of the burden on candidates and parties, I
would like to commend the job that the Chief Electoral Officer,
Mr. Kingsley, has done over many years. His agency has done an
excellent job in making the Elections Act understandable at the
local level. The manuals and one-on-one assistance that his office
provides is incredibly useful to candidates and makes it much
easier to comply with the statute. There are other things that he
could certainly do if you made those changes to the disclosure
regime and I am sure he would be quite willing to do them.

It is true that the Elections Act has become much more
complicated over the years since the first major reforms in 1974 to
the electoral finances regime. Certainly, we have restricted
peoples’ freedoms. We have restricted the ability of parties and
candidates to spend whatever they want. More recently, we have
restricted the amounts that can be donated to parties and
candidates.

Our voting system must be open and transparent, so there are
all kinds of obligations on voters and on candidates. There is an
expense associated with the system that the public must pay for.
Yet I would not advocate rolling too many of those provisions
back. They are all restrictions on individuals and they are all
designed to make the system work better and more fairly and
transparently.

You say that I used American language. That actually was not
the language that I was drawing on; I was drawing on language of
the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights and other
international provisions that spell out inalienable rights that are
universal, such as the right to vote. You are right; freedom of
expression and freedom of association are also inalienable human
rights.

Senator Cools: Including use of your own personal property.

Mr. Freeman: That is a bit trickier. We do not have that one in
the Charter and that one is actually up for much debate.

Senator Cools: It does not mean that it is not a right.

Mr. Freeman: That said, when we consider constitutional
rights, there is a balancing that takes place, particularly under
section 1 of the Constitution. There is no question, for example,
that in the Harper case it was found that third party spending
limits were an infringement on the freedom of expression.
However, the court balanced that with other rights, such as
electoral fairness and the right to vote.

The right to vote includes the right to an informed vote and the
right to hear all points of view. If you have two people and they
are in a shouting match, and one of them has a bull horn and one
of them has laryngitis, one of them will be much more effective
than the other.

M. Freeman: Ce serait sans doute l’agent officiel du candidat.
C’est la personne qui, en vertu de la loi, a l’obligation de
s’acquitter de ces tâches.

Au sujet du fardeau des candidats et des partis, je voudrais
féliciter le directeur général des élections, M. Kingsley, qui a fait
un travail extraordinaire pendant de nombreuses années. Son
agence a permis à tous et à toutes de comprendre la Loi électorale
du Canada. Les manuels et l’aide personnalisée fournis par
Élections Canada sont incroyablement utiles aux candidats et leur
permet de se conformer à la loi beaucoup plus facilement. Si l’on
change le régime de divulgation, M. Kingsley pourrait faire
encore bien d’autres choses pour les aider, et je suis sûr qu’il serait
prêt à le faire.

C’est vrai que la Loi électorale du Canada est devenue
beaucoup plus compliquée avec le temps, depuis la première
réforme en 1974 du régime de financement électoral.
Évidemment, nous avons limité la liberté des personnes. Nous
avons limité la capacité des partis et des candidats à dépenser
l’argent comme bon leur semble. Plus récemment, nous avons
limité les contributions à ces partis et candidats.

Notre système électoral doit être ouvert et transparent, c’est
pourquoi les électeurs et les candidats ont toutes sortes
d’obligations. Le public doit payer le prix d’un tel système.
Pourtant, je ne voudrais pas que l’on élimine ces dispositions. Ce
sont toutes des restrictions qui visent à rendre le système plus
efficace, plus juste et plus transparent.

Vous avez dit que j’ai utilisé un terme américain. En réalité, ça
n’est pas ce dont je m’inspirais; je m’inspirais de la terminologie
de la Déclaration universelle des droits de la personne des Nations
Unies et d’autres dispositions internationales qui stipulent que
nos droits inaliénables sont universels, comme le droit de vote.
Vous avez raison; la liberté d’expression et la liberté d’association
sont également des droits de la personne inaliénables.

Le sénateur Cools: Ainsi que le droit de disposer de vos propres
biens.

M. Freeman: C’est un peu plus délicat. Ce droit ne fait pas
partie de la Charte et est d’ailleurs plutôt controversé.

Le sénateur Cools: Ça ne veut pas dire que ce n’est pas un droit.

M. Freeman: Cela étant dit, lorsque l’on parle de droits
constitutionnels, il faut établir un équilibre. Je pense précisément
à l’article 1 de la Constitution. Par exemple, il ne fait aucun doute
que dans l’affaire Harper, on a déterminé que les limites des
dépenses des tiers représentaient une violation de la liberté
d’expression. Cependant, le tribunal a équilibré cette décision
avec d’autres droits, comme la justice électorale et le droit de vote.

Ce droit de vote comprend le droit à un vote éclairé et le droit
d’entendre tous les points de vue. Si vous assistez à un débat entre
deux personnes et que l’une d’elles a un porte-voix alors que
l’autre a une laryngite, l’une d’elles sera beaucoup plus efficace
que l’autre.
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Money plays the same role in an election. It allows you to
speak more forcefully. We can get into the details of third party
spending limits, but the idea there was to help level the playing
field by ensuring that wealth did not become the primary
determinant of which issues get play in an election and which
voices get heard.

I think I am probably taking up a lot of time here.

The Chairman: Mr. Côté, did you wish to respond to the two
questions?

Mr. Coté: No.

Senator Cools: I am not quarrelling with these sections, but the
two fundamental questions remain: What is the widespread
corruption that these measures are trying to avoid or correct —
because it is not there; and, what are the limits to government?
The Canada Elections Act is now, what, three inches thick? How
many clauses, how many sections?

Mr. Freeman: There are 500 or so sections; I do not know.

Senator Cools: What are the limits? How many more laws?
How many more clauses? Few individuals in our communities can
understand the Canada Elections Act from beginning to end. For
whose good, other than the lawyers’, is all of this being created?
Bill C-2 is not just about elections and it is unmanageable. It is
more than 200 pages.

I am trying to find the balance when I hear people suggesting
to let government continue to expand. Ordinary Canadians are
simply little cogs in the wheels of government. When
Mr. Trudeau set out to create the Elections Expenses Act, he
had no expectations that this thing would keep growing. In
addition to that, one of the accountants who worked on it were
trying to keep a balance between the notion of charitable
donations and political donations but that balance is now gone.
Many of the recommendations in Bill C-2 seem to be coming from
your side of the issues. I have run in elections and it was a difficult
experience. The mischief is not there that these bills are trying to
correct. The evils are not there.

The Chairman:Mr. Freeman, do you have something further to
add?

Mr. Freeman: No.

Senator Cools: Why are we doing all of this? This is one of my
philosophical preoccupations. The lawyers get up each morning
and take a bottle of instant paper, instant ink and instant law and
out pops 300-page bills. In the name of the Lord, I receive many
phone calls and the average Canadian cannot understand and
interpret most of these materials and, in today’s community, they
cannot afford lawyers to do it for them.

I ran into an ordinary person a couple of weeks ago who
told me that her son was having a problem. The son earns
$15 per hour and the lawyer is charging $250 per hour.
Democracy Watch could look into that because hiring a lawyer
is an expense that most Canadians can no longer afford. That is

L’argent joue le même rôle pendant une élection. Il vous
permet de parler plus fort. Nous pouvons parler en détail des
limites aux dépenses des tiers, mais l’objectif était d’avoir un
système plus efficace en s’assurant que l’argent ne détermine pas
les enjeux d’une élection et les voix les plus fortes.

Je pense que j’ai pris beaucoup de temps.

Le président: Monsieur Côté, souhaitez-vous répondre aux
deux questions?

M. Côté: Non.

Le sénateur Cools: Je ne remets pas en question ces articles,
mais voici les deux questions fondamentales: Quelle corruption
ces mesures tentent-elles d’éviter ou de corriger — parce qu’elle
n’existe pas; d’autre part, quelles limites impose-t-on au
gouvernement? La Loi électorale du Canada, aujourd’hui, fait
trois pouces d’épaisseur, n’est-ce pas? Combien comporte-t-elle
d’articles?

M. Freeman: Il doit y en avoir près de 500; je ne sais pas.

Le sénateur Cools: Où s’arrête-t-on? Combien nous faudra-t-il
d’autres lois, d’autres articles? Il y a très peu de gens dans les
communautés qui comprennent la Loi électorale du Canada dans
son intégrité. À part pour les avocats, pour qui faisons-nous tout
cela? Le projet de loi C-2 ne porte pas uniquement sur les élections
et il est ingérable. Il fait plus de 200 pages.

J’essaye de trouver un équilibre. J’entends les gens dire qu’on
devrait laisser le gouvernement grandir davantage. Les Canadiens
moyens ne sont que des rouages du gouvernement. Quand
M. Trudeau a créé la Loi électorale du Canada, il ne s’attendait
pas à ce qu’elle continue de grandir. En outre, un des comptables
qui y a travaillé essayait d’établir un équilibre entre la notion de
contributions caritatives et de contributions politiques, mais tout
cela a disparu. Beaucoup des recommandations du projet de loi
C-2 semblent venir de votre camp. J’ai participé à des campagnes
et c’était une expérience très difficile. Les torts que l’on essaie de
corriger avec ces projets de loi n’existent pas. Ces maux n’existent
pas.

Le président: Monsieur Freeman, voulez-vous ajouter quelque
chose?

M. Freeman: Non.

Le sénateur Cools: Pourquoi faisons-nous tout cela? Voilà une
de mes préoccupations philosophiques. Les avocats se lèvent le
matin, ils prennent une bouteille de papier instantané, de l’encre
instantanée, et du droit instantané, et nous pondent des projets de
loi de 300 pages. Ma foi, je reçois un tas d’appels et le Canadien
moyen n’arrive pas à comprendre et à interpréter la plupart de ces
documents et de nos jours, ils n’ont pas les moyens de se payer des
avocats pour le faire.

J’ai rencontré une citoyenne ordinaire l’autre jour qui m’a dit
que son fils était en difficulté. Il gagne 15 $ l’heure et son avocat
demande 250 $ l’heure. Démocratie en surveillance devrait se
pencher sur la question parce que la plupart des Canadiens n’ont
pas les moyens de se payer un avocat. Encore de la matière à
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another thought. I am mixing the issues. The real point is that at
some point we must look at the constitutional bases for producing
many of these documents.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we will move to the
second round of questions.

Senator Zimmer: Mr. Freeman, I would ask you to comment
on the following statement in relation to the United States and
election spending. You stated in an article in The Globe and Mail
on December 21, 2005, that spending in the States
topped $2 billion. You compared that figure to spending in
Canada and broke it down almost to a comparison of apples and
oranges. If my grade 6 math is correct, if you would take the
$18 million that the major parties spend — and I realize that two
of them are probably not quite that level — add the smaller
parties and then add in, you say, averaging $60,000 per candidate
times 308 candidates, you arrive at a figure of $100 million.
However, the American population is ten times greater than our
population. They spend $2 billion and ours, in the same
proportion, would be $1 billion. It gives an impression that they
are way out of our league but when you do the math they spend
about double what we spend. Do you have a comment on that?

Mr. Freeman: Yes. I am reluctant to compare the math
between Canada and the United States because the two systems
are totally different. Setting aside the exchange rate, I believe that
your figures exceed the expense limits and not the actual amounts
spent, by and large. Most candidates do not spend their limit and
that is the bulk of the figure that you arrived at, not that I am
criticizing your grade 6 math.

The key is that it is difficult to compare the two systems. There
are many more players in the United States, a different set of
stakes and, most importantly, a different regulatory regime. We
limit expenses in Canada and by and large they do not limit
expenses in the United States. The exception would be certain
presidential candidates. There are matching funds for presidential
candidates. The condition for receiving matching funds is that the
candidates adhere to expense limits, although some candidates
do not bother with the matching funds. In many cases they
self-finance their campaigns and run on their own. Therefore it is
difficult to compare the two systems. As well, American elections
occur more frequently than Canadian elections because of the
mid-term elections in Congress.

Senator Zimmer: Sometimes the numbers appear
overwhelming and people have the wrong impression. Your
comments are well taken, but the figures are not as far apart as
they sometimes appear to be.

In concert with Senator Joyal’s question, in politics as in law
precedent is a good guide. I would refer to the testimony
yesterday on some of the limits around the world and in Canada.

réflexion. Je m’éloigne de la question. Ce qu’il faut retenir c’est
qu’il nous incombe d’examiner le fondement constitutionnel pour
la production de bon nombre de ces documents.

Le président: Honorables sénateurs, nous allons maintenant
passer à la deuxième série de questions.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur Freeman, j’aimerais vos
commentaires sur la déclaration suivante au sujet des
États-Unis et des dépenses électorales. Dans un article publié le
21 décembre 2005 dans le Globe and Mail, vous avez dit qu’aux
États-Unis le niveau de dépenses dépassait 2 milliards de dollars.
Vous avez fait la comparaison avec les dépenses électorales au
Canada, mais il n’y avait presque aucun rapport entre les deux.
En faisant un rapide calcul, je crois que si on tient compte des
18 millions de dollars que dépensent les grands partis — et je
conviens qu’il y en a au moins deux qui ne seraient pas à ce
niveau-là — et si on ajoute les petits partis ainsi que, comme vous
dites, à peu près 60 000 $ par candidat fois 308, ça nous donne
100 millions de dollars. Cependant, la population américaine est
10 fois plus grande que la nôtre. Aux États-Unis on dépense
2 milliards de dollars et chez nous, toute proportion gardée, le
montant serait de 1 milliard de dollars. On a l’impression qu’ils
nous dépassent, mais lorsqu’on fait le calcul on constate qu’ils
dépensent deux fois plus que nous. Qu’en pensez-vous?

M. Freeman: Oui. J’hésite à faire ce genre de calcul pour
comparer le Canada et les États-Unis parce que les deux systèmes
sont totalement différents. Abstraction faite du taux de change, je
crois que vos calculs dépassent les limites et ne représentent pas les
montants réels qui sont dépensés. Les dépenses pour la plupart
des candidats sont en deçà de la limite et ce sont ces dépenses-là
qui représentent la partie la plus importante de votre total, et cela
n’a rien à voir avec vos connaissances mathématiques.

L’essentiel c’est qu’il est difficile de comparer les deux
systèmes. Il y a un plus grand nombre de joueurs aux
États-Unis, les enjeux sont tout à fait différents et ce qui est
encore plus important, le régime réglementaire n’est pas le même.
Au Canada, nous avons tendance à limiter les dépenses, ce qu’on
ne fait pas aux États-Unis, à l’exception du cas de certains
candidats à la présidence. Il y a des fonds de contrepartie pour les
candidats à la présidence. Afin de recevoir des fonds de
contrepartie, les candidats doivent respecter des limites de
dépenses; c’est la raison pour laquelle certains candidats
décident de s’en passer. Dans bien des cas, leurs campagnes
sont autofinancées et autogérées. C’est la raison pour laquelle il
est difficile de comparer les deux systèmes. De plus, il y a des
élections plus souvent aux États-Unis à cause des élections de
mi-mandat du Congrès.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Parfois les chiffres nous apparaissent
accablants et donnent une mauvaise impression. Je comprends
votre point de vue, mais les montants ne sont pas, pour autant,
aussi différents que cela puisse paraître.

Pour faire écho à la question du sénateur Joyal, en politique,
comme en droit, les précédents peuvent servir de guide. Hier, les
témoins nous ont parlé de certains plafonds de contribution qui
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It provides us with a good perspective and guide.
Mr. MacKinnon testified before the Standing Senate Committee
on Legal and Constitutional Affairs and said:

... western democracies and G8 countries...Australia...no
contribution limits...New Zealand...no limits...Sweden no
limits. The U.K. has no limits. I am using approximate
Canadian dollars in all cases. In Japan, it is $145,150; Spain,
$60,500; Italy, $14,600; Ireland $8,900; and the next lowest —
the lowest other than Canada — is France at $6,500.

In Canada, the limit in Alberta is $15,000 with $30,000 in an
election year. British Columbia has no limits. The limits in other
provinces are: Ontario, $14,000; Quebec, $3,000; and New
Brunswick $6,000, for corporations and individuals as per
Richard Hatfield’s legislation in 1982.

The limits given to the vast majority of those countries also
permit business, corporations, associations and unions to
contribute to political parties.

I wanted to put that in perspective again through a relationship
to what is done in other countries around the world and across
Canada. It could give us a better guide as to what we could do
with Bill C-2. Do you have comments on that?

Mr. Freeman: It is instructive to look to other jurisdictions
bearing in mind that the various jurisdictions are all over the map
on this. For each country that you mentioned, I could come back
with France, the United States and one half of Canadian
jurisdictions that all have limits on donations. We could look at
the Mexican system — a full system of public financing is
provided to parties on a ratio of seventy to thirty, such that
70 per cent of the public financing mechanism is based on the
proportion of the popular vote and 30 per cent is distributed
equally amongst all of the registered parties.

There are almost as many systems as there are advanced
democracies in this world. Certainly, we can draw on other
countries’ systems, but as well we must look at the Canadian
situation, including some of the areas where we face constraints
and others do not, and vice versa. The obvious comparison
between Canada and the United States is our expense limits. The
U.S. tried that but it was struck down by the U.S. Supreme Court.
We do not have those restrictions in Canada because of the
balancing the courts do between freedom of association and
freedom of expression associated with the ability to spend lots of
money on the causes you believe in. That is balanced with a right
to electoral fairness. We do not have the constraints that the
Americans have with their legislation, and that is a good thing.

Senator Zimmer: Mr. Côté, do you have any comments?

s’appliquent au Canada ainsi qu’à l’étranger. Leurs témoignages
nous offrent un contexte et nous servent de guide.
M. MacKinnon, en témoignant auprès du Comité permanent
des affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles, a dit:

... démocraties occidentales et pays du G8... Australie...
aucun plafond de contribution... Nouvelle-Zélande... aucun
plafond... la Suède aucun plafond. Le Royaume-Uni n’a pas
de plafond. Et je m’exprime en dollars canadiens pour tous
ces exemples. Au Japon, il s’agit de 145 150 $; Espagne,
60 500 $; Italie, 14 600 $; Irlande, 8 900 $; et l’avant-
dernier — le moins élevé après le Canada — est la France
à 6 500 $.

Au Canada, la limite en Alberta est de 15 000 $, et de
30 000 $ lors d’une année électorale. Il n’y a pas de limite en
Colombie-Britannique. Les limites dans les autres provinces sont
les suivantes: 14 000 $ en Ontario, 3 000 $ au Québec,
et 6 000 $ au Nouveau-Brunswick, pour les entreprises et les
individus, suite à la loi adoptée par Richard Hatfield en 1982.

Les limites établies dans la majorité de ces pays permettent
aussi aux entreprises, aux personnes morales, aux associations et
aux syndicats de faire des contributions aux partis politiques.

Je voulais mettre cela en perspective de nouveau en faisant le
lien avec ce qui se fait dans d’autres pays du monde et au Canada.
Cela pourrait nous donner une meilleure idée de ce que nous
pourrions faire avec le projet de loi C-2. Qu’en pensez-vous?

M. Freeman: C’est toujours instructif d’examiner la situation
dans d’autres administrations, en se rappelant que les autres
administrations ont des pratiques très variées. Pour chaque pays
que vous avez cité, je pourrais vous revenir avec un exemple, celui
de la France, des États-Unis et de la moitié des provinces
canadiennes qui limitent les dons. On pourrait regarder le régime
au Mexique — un régime où chaque parti reçoit un financement
de l’État, le ratio étant de 70 p. 100 à 30 p. 100. C’est-à-dire que
70 p. 100 du financement de l’État est distribué selon le
pourcentage des suffrages exprimés et 30 p. 100 est distribué
également entre tous les partis politiques enregistrés.

Il y a presque autant de régimes que de démocraties bien établis
dans le monde. Nous pouvons certainement nous inspirer des
régimes dans d’autres pays, mais nous devons également examiner
la situation au Canada, y compris les domaines où nous sommes
confrontés à des contraintes et où d’autres ne le sont pas, et vice
versa. La comparaison évidente entre le Canada et les États-Unis
se fait au niveau de nos limites de dépenses. Les Américains ont
essayé de limiter les leurs, mais l’initiative a été rejetée par la Cour
suprême du pays. Nous n’avons pas ces restrictions au Canada,
parce que les tribunaux s’efforcent de maintenir un équilibre entre
la liberté d’association et la liberté d’expression, ainsi que la
capacité de dépenser beaucoup d’argent pour les causes
auxquelles les gens croient. Le contrepoids, c’est le droit à
l’équité électorale. Nous n’avons pas les mêmes contraintes de par
la loi que les Américains, et c’est une bonne chose.

Le sénateur Zimmer: Monsieur Côté, avez-vous des
commentaires?
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[Translation]

Mr. Côté: No, senator.

[English]

Senator Stratton: The Province of Manitoba has put severe
limitations on contributions by corporations, et cetera, and
individuals. The provincial Progressive Conservative Party was
hit hard because it was largely reliant on large donors. However,
since that change has taken place, the party has adjusted; it has
changed its methods of fundraising and is now in the black. That
is just one small example of what is happening here in Canada
with restrictions. I think the same thing will happen with this bill,
with the limitations put on individual contributions and the
banning of unions and corporations. It will have the same effect
on political parties.

Mr. Freeman, I am not absolutely familiar with the situation in
Manitoba. I do know there are limitations. Have other provinces
gone through that same experience?

Mr. Freeman: You may want to direct this question to
Mr. Côté because the Manitoba system is similar to the Quebec
system. There is a $3,000 limit on individual donations and a ban
on corporate donations.

What the Manitoba system does not have is a system of public
financing akin to the federal system. The example that you drew
of the Conservative Party adjusting to the new regime — and it
makes sense that parties will adjust to a new financing regime —
is all the more interesting in that they did it without the public
financing provisions that exist in the federal system.

Senator Joyal:Mr. Freeman, I am glad you raised the fact that
in the American system the public matching financing is
voluntary. If a candidate decides to submit to the control, he
then gets a matching grant from the government. However, most
of the candidates do not go that route; they go through the route
of the free, open market. In the last presidential election and the
one that is upcoming, candidates have said they did not and will
not submit themselves to the system. The United States is
probably one of the countries to which I would not look as a role
model.

I believe your point in relation to better access to broadcasting
was that considering the increasing costs of broadcasting during
an election campaign, and since this bill does not contain any
change to the present legislation that governs broadcasting, by
reducing contributions during an election campaign we will
exacerbate the pressure on candidates and political parties to look
to alternative or compensatory routes of financing to address that
issue if we do not amend the bill to include greater access to public
broadcasting. Am I stating your view correctly?

Mr. Freeman: I am not sure what you mean by ‘‘compensatory
mechanisms.’’

[Français]

M. Côté: Non, sénateur.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Stratton: La province du Manitoba a imposé des
limites très strictes sur les contributions par les personnes morales,
entre autres, et les individus. Le Parti progressiste-conservateur
du Manitoba a encaissé tout un coup, parce qu’il dépendait dans
une large mesure des contributions. Cependant, depuis ce
changement, le parti a rajusté le tir; il a modifié ses méthodes
de financement et n’a plus de dettes. Ce n’est qu’un petit exemple
de ce qui se passe au Canada avec les limites. Je crois que la même
chose se produira avec ce projet de loi, en raison des limites sur les
contributions des individus et de l’interdiction de celle des
syndicats et des entreprises. Cette situation aura le même effet
sur les partis politiques.

Monsieur Freeman, je ne connais pas parfaitement la situation
au Manitoba. Je sais que des limites existent. D’autres provinces
ont-elles vécu la même chose?

M. Freeman: Vous voudriez peut-être poser cette question à
M. Côté, car le régime du Manitoba ressemble à celui du Québec.
Il existe une limite de 3 000 $ sur les contributions des individus et
on interdit les contributions des entreprises.

Par contre, le Manitoba n’a pas de régime de financement de
l’État comme celui qui existe au niveau fédéral. L’exemple que
vous avez cité du Parti conservateur qui s’était ajusté au nouveau
régime — et c’est logique de penser que les partis vont s’y
ajuster — est d’autant plus intéressant parce que la province l’a
fait sans les dispositions sur le financement de l’État qui existent
au niveau fédéral.

Le sénateur Joyal: Monsieur Freeman, merci d’avoir
mentionné le fait qu’aux États-Unis le financement de
contrepartie de l’État est fait de façon volontaire. Si un
candidat décide de se soumettre au contrôle, il reçoit une
contribution de l’État. Cependant, la plupart des candidats ne le
font pas; ils empruntent la voie du marché libre et ouvert. Lors
des dernières élections présidentielles et pour celles qui s’en
viennent, les candidats ont dit qu’ils ne s’étaient pas soumis au
régime auparavant et qu’ils ne le feraient pas cette fois-ci non
plus. Je n’aurais donc pas tendance à considérer le régime
américain comme un modèle.

Je crois que ce que vous voulez dire au sujet des services de
radiodiffusion est que vous croyez que, puisque le projet de loi ne
propose aucune modification à la Loi sur la radiodiffusion, et vu
les coûts qui ne cessent d’augmenter, si on réduit les niveaux de
contribution pendant une période électorale, les candidats, ainsi
que les partis, se verront obligés de chercher des mécanismes de
compensation pour pallier le manque d’accès aux services de
radiodiffusion publique. Est-ce bien votre point de vue?

M. Freeman: Je ne comprends pas ce que vous voulez dire par
« mécanismes de compensation ».
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Senator Joyal: That is what Mr. Côté said. If the contribution
is reduced to too low a degree, since there is a need to get money,
people will search for an alternative, for compensation, if you will,
to get enough money to pay for the increasing costs of an electoral
campaign. That is what I mean by ‘‘compensation.’’

Mr. Freeman: If your suggestion is that parties and candidates
will aim to circumvent the law and the legal requirements, I do
not think that that is a necessity. The public subsidies are
currently very generous. I know there are people who donate
through businesses and organizations who would donate as
individuals, so you must take some of that into account.

There is the party level and there is the candidate level. At the
party level, there will probably be some reduction of revenues if
they continue on their current fundraising strategies and
completely fail to adjust to the new legislation. Quite simply,
there are many donations that a party receives above $1,000 and
there are obviously corporate and union donations as well.

While fundraising tends to be a little harder at the candidate
level, I do not think the impact will be as severe. Particularly
outside of the Toronto area, candidates tend not to receive many
four-figure donations. They will get a few. Some of those will end
up being — we do not like to use the terminology — split into
multiple donations. That is inevitable to a certain degree, where
one person in a couple would give a contribution. You may see a
husband and a wife giving money.

The alternatives to illegal fundraising would be to do more
with less or to change your fundraising strategies, absent, as you
say, other subsidies, such as increasing the free broadcast
provisions, which do not actually impact the public purse.
These are public airwaves that we licence to broadcasters, and it
would mean attaching a requirement to that licence.

[Translation]

Senator Joyal: Mr. Côté, if I do understand the Quebec
Election Act, the provincial statute provides for the payment of
expenses of party representatives who are at the polling stations
on election day. Is that correct?

Mr. Côté: On election day, yes.

Senator Joyal: Obviously, one of the large election expenses for
a candidate is the amount that must be paid to the polling station
representatives. Should one not take into account that by
reducing contributions to $1,000 without indexing them —
which is not covered by the act either, but in practice — should
there not be some type of compensation for part of the
candidates’ campaign expenses so that there would be less
pressure on them to seek funding elsewhere within the system?

In Quebec, the costs of having party representatives are borne
by the Chief Electoral Officer; how is that working out?

Le sénateur Joyal: C’est ce que M. Côté a dit. Avec des
contributions moins élevées, les gens, qui ont besoin d’argent,
iront le trouver ailleurs, afin de compenser, si vous voulez, pour
amasser assez d’argent pour défrayer les coûts croissants d’une
campagne électorale. C’est ce que je veux dire par
« compensation ».

M. Freeman: Si vous voulez dire que les partis et les candidats
essaieront de contourner la loi et les règlements, je ne crois pas
que cela soit nécessaire. Les subventions actuelles sont très
généreuses. Il ne faut pas oublier qu’il y a des gens qui font des
dons par l’entremise d’une organisation ou d’une entreprise et qui
seraient disposés à faire des dons en tant que particuliers.

Il y a à la fois le parti et le candidat. Au niveau du parti, si on
ne s’adapte pas à la nouvelle loi et si on maintient les stratégies de
financement actuelles, il y aura probablement une baisse de
revenus. C’est très simple: le parti reçoit un nombre important de
dons qui dépassent 1 000 $, sans compter les dons qui
proviennent de sociétés et de syndicats.

Même s’il est plus difficile pour un candidat de recueillir des
dons, les répercussions ne seront pas aussi sévères. Peu de
candidats, surtout à l’extérieur de la région de Toronto, reçoivent
un grand nombre de dons importants. Ils en recevront quelques-
uns. Certains seront — et nous hésitons à le dire— répartis pour
en faire plusieurs dons. Dans une certaine mesure, c’est inévitable,
lorsqu’un membre d’un couple fait une contribution. L’époux
ainsi que l’épouse pourraient faire un don.

Si on tient à respecter la loi, il faut trouver le moyen d’en faire
plus avec moins ou bien il faut changer ses stratégies de
financement, en l’absence de ce que vous avez qualifié de
subventions, telle une augmentation au niveau des dispositions
pour le temps d’antenne gratuit, des choses qui n’ont aucune
incidence sur les deniers publics. Ce sont des ondes publiques
pour lesquelles nous accordons des licences aux radiodiffuseurs,
donc il faudrait que la licence soit assortie d’une exigence
particulière.

[Français]

Le sénateur Joyal: Monsieur Côté, si je comprends bien la Loi
électorale du Québec, en période électorale, les dépenses des
représentants des partis qui sont membres du bureau de scrutin, le
jour du vote, sont assumées par la loi provinciale. Est-ce exact?

M. Côté: Le jour du scrutin, oui.

Le sénateur Joyal: Évidemment, l’une des grandes dépenses
électorales pour un candidat, c’est le paiement des représentants
au bureau de scrutin. Est-ce qu’on ne devrait pas considérer qu’en
réduisant les contributions à 1 000 $ et en ne les indexant pas —
comme la loi ne le prévoit pas non plus, en pratique —, on ne
devrait pas compenser une partie des frais de campagne des
candidats, de telle manière à ce qu’il y ait moins de pression sur les
candidats pour aller chercher d’autres sources de financement
ailleurs dans le système?

Au Québec, quel a été l’effet que les frais des représentants des
partis soient assumés par le budget du directeur général des
élections?
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Mr. Côté: It has almost always worked that way. There was a
time when it was challenged, when representatives could no longer
be paid. The act was amended by changing the designation, but
the process remained the same. The political party representatives
seated at the table are paid. That is how it works in Quebec and if
I understand correctly, that is what you would like to see at the
federal level as well.

Senator Joyal: It seems to me that if contributions are limited
to $1,000, then it becomes harder to raise more money and
candidates will have to seek a larger number of individual
contributions. Since a candidate needs to raise at least enough
money to cover allowable expenses, would it not be advisable to
reduce some of the current expenditures, the ones that the
candidates must assume, so that the available funds might cover
print or media advertising which, as you have mentioned,
becomes more expensive from one year to the next while the
fundraising capacity and budget restrictions make it ever more
difficult to deal with these increases?

Mr. Côté: You are quite right, that would be a way to mitigate
the effect of a drop in contributions. There is a belief — and I do
not know if it is limited to Quebec — that it is easier and more
expedient to attract donations from individuals.

It is not all that easy and it does not serve all purposes. It is a
tough job and it requires a great deal of work by all political
parties and all candidates. It is part of our system and there is
nothing wrong with it, however, you can only ask volunteers to
do so much. We rely heavily on volunteers, but there are never
enough of them for an incumbent’s fundraising campaign, for
example. It is something that we cannot do without, but there are
limits to what we can expect to receive free of charge.

Any reduction in the contribution limits will have a direct
effect on the total revenue of political parties and of the
candidates themselves.

There is something else to keep in mind with respect to the
representatives. On Election Day, two officers are important: the
deputy returning officer and the clerk. However, political party
representatives are also essential for supervision and monitoring
in order to avoid a repetition of some of the situations that were
experienced a few years ago.

Generally speaking, the representatives are conscientious and
respect the Chief Electoral Officer’s guidelines. They are an
important part of the process. Their role has to be well defined,
and the government should compensate the representatives who
work on Election Day.

[English]

The Chairman: Honourable senators, there are no further
questions to put to these two witnesses at this time.

M. Côté: Je dirais que cela a pratiquement toujours été comme
cela. Il y a une période où il y a eu une contestation, où les
représentants ne pouvaient plus être rémunérés. On a modifié la
loi en changeant la désignation, mais c’est le même processus. Ce
sont les représentants des partis politiques à la table qui sont
rémunérés. C’est la situation au Québec et si je comprends bien,
c’est celle que vous aimeriez avoir aussi au fédéral.

Le sénateur Joyal: Il me semble que si on réduit les
contributions à 1 000 $, on réduit évidemment la possibilité
d’aller chercher un peu plus d’argent et il faut nécessairement
multiplier le nombre de contributions. Compte tenu du besoin
d’aller chercher un montant qui correspond globalement aux
dépenses permises, est-ce qu’on n’aurait pas intérêt à réduire
certaines dépenses actuelles, qui sont assumées par les candidats,
de sorte que les fonds disponibles puissent payer les frais de
publicité ou de diffusion qui, comme vous l’avez mentionné,
augmentent considérablement d’année en année, alors que les
capacités d’aller chercher les fonds et les limites au budget sont un
frein, en pratique, à la possibilité de pouvoir faire face à ces
augmentations?

M. Côté: Vous avez tout à fait raison, ce serait une façon
d’atténuer l’effet de diminution des contributions. Une espèce de
mythe — je ne sais pas si c’est seulement au Québec — veut
qu’obtenir des contributions des individus est facile et répond à
tous les besoins.

Ce n’est pas facile et cela ne répond pas aux besoins. Il s’agit
d’un travail ardu, considérable de la part de tous les partis
politique et de tous les candidats. Cela fait partie de notre système
et ce n’est pas mauvais, mais par contre, il y a des limites au
travail des bénévoles. On fait souvent appelle aux bénévoles mais
ce n’est pas suffisant, par exemple, lors d’une campagne de
souscription pour la réélection d’un candidat. C’est une chose
dont on ne devrait pas se passer à l’avenir, mais il y a des limites à
ce qui peut être obtenu bénévolement.

Si on réduit les limites des contributions, il y aura une
diminution normale des revenus globaux soit des partis politiques
soit des candidats.

Il y a un autre élément important lorsque vous parlez des
représentants. Le jour du vote, deux officiers sont importants: le
scrutateur puis le greffier. Cependant, les représentants des
candidats des partis politiques jouent un rôle essentiel de
surveillance et de contrôle de sorte qu’on ne peut pas se
retrouver dans des situations que l’on pouvait rencontrer il y a
plusieurs années.

Les représentants, règle générale, font leur travail
consciencieusement en respectant les directives du directeur
général des élections. Leur rôle est essentiel au processus. Il faut
bien encadrer ce rôle, et l’État devrait verser une contribution à
ces représentants le jour du vote.

[Traduction]

Le président: Honorables sénateurs, vous n’avez plus de
questions pour ces deux témoins.
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On behalf of the committee, Mr. Freeman and Mr. Côté, I
would like to thank you very much for coming and sharing with
us the benefit of your knowledge and experience over many years
of studying these particular topics. It has been very useful to us
and we deeply appreciate it.

Honourable senators, that brings us to the end of our
deliberations for this week. There will be no deliberations next
week, and so the matter will now be adjourned until Monday,
September 18, at 9:00 in the morning.

The committee adjourned.

Monsieur Freeman et monsieur Côté, au nom du comité, je
tiens à vous remercier pour votre participation et pour nous avoir
fait part du fruit de vos connaissances et de vos années
d’expérience dans ces domaines particuliers. Votre témoignage
nous a été des plus utiles et nous vous en sommes très
reconnaissants.

Honorables sénateurs, nous avons terminé nos délibérations
pour cette semaine. Puisqu’il n’y aura pas de réunion la semaine
prochaine, le comité s’ajourne maintenant jusqu’au
lundi 18 septembre, à 9 heures.

La séance est levée.
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Animal Alliance Environment Voters Party of Canada:

Stephen Best, directeur.

Parti Action Canadienne :
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TÉMOINS

Le jeudi 7 septembre 2006 (séance du matin)

Parti conservateur du Canada :

Michael D. Donison, directeur exécutif.

Parti libéral du Canada :

Steven MacKinnon, directeur national.

Bloc Québécois :

Gilbert Gardner, directeur général;

Martin Carpentier, directeur de l’organisation.

Le jeudi 7 septembre 2006 (séance de l’après-midi)

Bloc Québécois :

Gilbert Gardner, directeur général;

Martin Carpentier, directeur de l’organisation.

Parti Vert du Canada :

Jean Langlois, directeur exécutif.
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WITNESSES

Thursday, September 7, 2006 (morning meeting)

Conservative Party of Canada:

Michael D. Donison, Executive Director.

Liberal Party of Canada:

Steven MacKinnon, National Director.

Bloc Québécois:

Gilbert Gardner, General Director;

Martin Carpentier, Organization Director.

Thursday, September 7, 2006 (afternoon meeting)

Bloc Québécois:

Gilbert Gardner, General Director;

Martin Carpentier, Organization Director.

Green Party of Canada:

Jean Langlois, Executive Director.
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